UNIVERSITY OF EDUCATION, WINNEBA

ASSESSMENT OF HEAVY METALS IN SELECTED

DUMPSITE SOILS AND PLANTS IN KUMASI AND ASANTE

MAMPONG, GHANA

KWABENA KYERE

DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY



UNIVERSITY OF EDUCATION, WINNEBA COLLEGE OF AGRICULTURE EDUCATION

MAMPONG-ASHANTI

HEAVY METAL ASSESSMENT IN SELECTED DUMPSITE SOILS AND PLANTS

IN KUMASI AND ASANTE MAMPONG, GHANA

KWABENA KYERE



A THESIS IN THE DEPARTMENT OF CROP AND SOIL SCIENCES EDUCATION, FACULTY OF AGRICULTURE EDUCATION, SUBMITTED TO THE SCHOOL OF GRADUATE STUDIES IN PARTIAL FULFILLMENT OF THE REQUIREMENTS

FOR THE AWARD OF THE DEGREE OF

DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

(SOIL SCIENCE)

IN THE UNIVERSITY OF EDUCATION, WINNEBA

JULY, 2021

DECLARATION

STUDENT'S DECLARATION

I, Kwabena Kyere declare that this dissertation with the exception of quotations and references contained in published works which have all been identified and acknowledged is entirely my own original work and it has not been submitted either in part or whole for another degree elsewhere.

SIGNATURE.....

DATE.....

SUPERVISORS' DECLARATION

We, hereby declare that the preparation of this work was supervised in accordance with the guidelines for supervision of thesis as laid down by the University of Education, Winneba.

PROF. KOFI AGYARKO (PRINCIPAL SUPERVISOR)

SIGNATUDE.	Allon FOR	
SIGNATURE:		

DATE:

PROF. GODFRED DARKO (CO-SUPERVISOR)

DR. RICHARD KOTEI (CO-SUPERVISOR)

SIGNATURE:

DATE:

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

My profound gratitude goes to the Almighty God for His guidance and protection throughout the course. I am also grateful to my Principal Supervisor, Prof. Kofi Agyarko (Acting Dean, College of Agriculture Education (CAGRIC), UEW, Mampong Campus), and Co-Supervisors, Dr. Richard Kotei, (Head of Department; Agric Mechanisation, University of Education, Mampong Campus) and Prof. Godfred Darko, Head of Chemistry Department (KNUST) who resourcefully and untiringly supervised this work by giving their priceless guidance and constructive criticisms. Their valuable suggestions especially during the writeup were particularly helpful.

I am also indebted to Prof. Matt Dodd (School of Environment and Sustainability, Royal Roads University, Canada), Prof. Kagya Agyemang (Principal - CAGRIC, UEW), Mr. Emmanuel Kwasi Asiedu (Senior Lecturer, CAGRIC, UEW), Dr. Mrs Margaret Essilfie, Dr. Isaac Abunyewah, Dr. Stephen Larbi - Koranteng, (Head of Department; Crops and Soil Sciences Education). I also acknowledge the support of Messrs Kofi Amponsah, Otabil and Anthony Anaba for their suggestions and support in terms of equipment and technical advice.

I am grateful to Dr. Kwabena Atakorah and Mr Osei Yaw Bennette, Mr. Adepa (UEW -Mampong Laboratory technician) for their assistance. My sincere gratitude to Mr. Anthony Abutiate (CSIR - Soil Research Institute, Analythical Chemistry Department), Ivy (PhD Candidate of UEW, Mampong), Dr. OPoku Gyamfi, Obiri Yeboah, Thelma, Ida, Lily all of Chemistry department, KNUST. To my siblings Kwabena Poku and Vivian Jhonson. I say a big thank you.

DEDICATION

This work is dedicated to my wife (Mrs. Evelyn Tuffour Kyere) and my children (Kwasi Asiedu Kyere, Kofi Nimako Kyere) and my parents (Grace Adwoa Serwaa and Richard Berchie).



TABLE OF CONTENTS

DECLARATION	iii
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	iv
DEDICATION	V
TABLE OF CONTENTS	vi
LIST OF TABLES	xi
LIST OF FIGURES	xiv
LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS	XV
ABSTRACT	xvi
CHAPTER ONE	1
1.0 INTRODUCTION	1
1.1 Background to the study	1
1.2 Problem Statement and Justification	3
1.3 Objectives of the studies	5
CHAPTER TWO	6
2.0 LITERATURE REVIEW.	6
2.1 Waste Dumpsite Soils	6
2.1.1 Uses of dumpsite soils	
2.1.2 Physicochemical properties of dumpsite soils	9
2.2 Dumpsites farmers' awareness of soil physicochemical properties	
2.2.1 Socio - demography of farmers in Ghana	
2.2.2 Reasons for farming on dumpsites	
2.2.3 Farmers' awareness of dumpsites soil physicochemical properties	
2.2.4 Farmers' awareness and perceived effects of heavy metals contamination	in soils and
plants and its related ailments	
2.3 Heavy metals	
2.3.1 Sources of Heavy Metals in Dumpsite soils	
2.3.2 Essential Heavy Metals	
2.3.3 Non - Essential Heavy Metals	

2.4 Availability of Heavy metals in soils and uptake by plants on dumpsites	33
2.4.1 The role of soil properties on metal availability in soils	37
2.4.2 Plant related factors	15
2.4.3 Effects of heavy metals on Soil	16
2.4.4 Effects of heavy metals on plants4	ł7
2.4.5 Effects of heavy metals on human and animal health4	1 7
2.5 Crop Production on dumpsites4	18
2.5.1 Plantain (Musa sapientum) farms on dumpsites4	19
2.5.2 Cocoyam (Xanthosoma sagitifolium) farms on dumpsites	50
2.5.3 Lettuce (Lactiva sativa) farms on dumpsites	52
2.6 Evaluation of soil heavy metal pollution	56
2.6.1 Geoaccumulation Index (Igeo)	56
2.6.2 Enrichment Factor (EF)	58
2.6.3 Relative top soil enrichment factor (RTEF)	50
2.6.4 Transfer ratio (TR)	51
2.6.5 Translocation factor (TF)	52

CHAPTER THREE	64
3.0 MATERIALS AND METHODS	64
3.1 Study 1 – Farmer's Awareness of Dumpsites Soil Physicochemical Properties	64
3.1.1 Locations of study	64
3.1.2 Climate and Vegetation	65
3.1.3 Demography	65
3.1.4 Soil Types	65
3.1.5 Sampling procedure	67
3.1.6 Data collection	67
3.2 Study Two - Assessment of heavy metals levels in Selected Soils and their	
accumulation levels in plantain and cocoyam	67
3.2.1 Locations	67
3.2.1 Soils	68
3.2.2 Climate	68

3.2.4 Treatments
3.2.5 Soil sample collection
3.2.6 Plant sample collection
3.2.7 Soil analytical methods
3.2.8 Physicochemical analysis under Study Two71
3.2.9 Heavy metals analysis
3.3 Data analysis
3.4 Study Three (Field Experiment) - Evaluation of heavy metals contamination in
dumpsite soils and accumulation in selected plants under field conditions79
3.4.2 Experimental Design and Treatments
3.4.3 Management / Cultural Practices
3.4.4 Soil samples collected and analysis
3.4.5 Plant sample collected and analysis
3.4.6 Data analysis
3.5 Techniques to evaluate the pollution of soils by heavy metal
3.5.1 Geoaccumulation index (Igeo)
3.5.2 Enrichment factor (EF)
3.5.3 Relative top soil enrichment factor (RTEF)
3.5.4 Transfer ratio (TR)
3.5.5 Translocation Factor (TF)
CHAPTER FOUR
4.0 RESULTS
4.1 Study 1: - Farmers' Awareness of soil physicochemical Properties
4.1.1 Socio - demographic characteristics of dumpsite farmers in the three communities
4.1.2 Reasons for farming on dumpsites
4.1.3 Farmers awareness of the physicochemical properties of dumpsite soils91
4.1.4 Farmers awareness of the effects of soil metals contamination on human and animal
health93
4.1.5 Chi - square (χ^2) test analysis on association between dumpsites farmers' soil
physicochemical knowledge and other selected variables

4.2 Study 2: - Assessment of heavy metals level in selected soils and their accumulation
levels in plantain and cocoyam97
4.2.1 Soil physicochemical properties of soils
4.2.2 Heavy metals level in selected dumpsites soil at different depths
4.2.3 Heavy metals level in plants
4.2.4 Relationships among heavy metals and other soil properties111
4.3 Study Three (Field Experimentation):- Evaluation of heavy metals contamination in
dumpsite soils and selected plants under field conditions116
4.3.1 Physicochemical properties of soils in pots under field conditions
4.3.2 Total metals levels in soils in pots under field conditions
4.3.3 Heavy metals levels in lettuce shoots and roots at harvest under field conditions120
4.3.4 NPK levels in lettuce plant in pots at harvest
4.4 Techniques to assess pollution of soils by heavy metals
4.4.1 Evaluation of heavy metals contamination on the field at $0 - 15$ cm and $15 - 30$ cm128
4.4.2 Evaluation of heavy metals contamination in soils under field conditions
CHAPTER FIVE
5.0 DISCUSSION
5.1 Study One: - Dumpsite farmers' awareness of soil physicochemical propereties
dumpsites
5.1.1 Socio - demographic characteristics of dumpsite farmers in three communities149
5.1.2 Reasons for farming on dumpsites
5.1.3 Farmers awareness of dumpsites soil physicochemical properties
5.1.4 Sources of knowledge acquisition for soil physicochemical characteristic by dumpsite
farmers151
5.1.5 Farmers awareness of soil metals contamination on human and animal's health152
5.1.6 Chi - square (χ^2) test analysis of association between dumpsites farmers'

- physicochemical knowledge and other variables.....154
- 5.2.1 Soil physicochemical properties of selected soils at Mampong and Kumasi155

5.2.2 Heavy metals level in selected dumpsites soil at different depths157
5.2.3 Heavy metals level in plants172
5.2.4 Relationship between soil physicochemical properties and soil total heavy metals at
the studied sites
5.3 Study Three: - Evaluation of heavy metals contamination in dumpsite soils and
accumulation in selected plants under field conditions in a pot experiment202
5.3.1 Physicochemical properties of soils in pots under field conditions
5.3.2 Heavy metals level in soils in pots under field conditions
5.3.3 Heavy metals level in lettuce shoots and roots in pots at harvest under field conditions .219
5.3.4 NPK levels in lettuce plant at harvest
5.4 Techniques to assess pollution of soils by heavy metals
5.4.1 Evaluation of heavy metals contamination on the field
5.4.2 Evaluation of heavy metals contamination in soils under field conditions

CHAPTER SIX	242
6.0 CONCLUSION AND RECOMMENDATION	242
6.1 Conclusion	
6.2 Recommendations	
LDUCATION FOR SERVICE	

REFERENCES	
APPENDICES	

LIST OF TABLES

TABLES

PAGES

Table 2.1 Relationship between cation exchange capacity (CEC) and soil texture	.43
Table 2.2 Metal concentration (mgkg ⁻¹) in cocoyam from Atinkankan dumpsite	.51
Table 2.3 Metal concentration levels in cultivated lettuce (Lactuca sativa L.)	.53
Table 2.4 Allowable concentration limit of heavy metals in soils and plants (mgkg ⁻¹)	.53
Table 2.5 FAO/WHO guidelines for metals in food / vegetables	.54
Table 2.6 Concentration ranges of metals (mgkg ⁻¹) in soils and plants and critical	
concentrations in plants	.54
Table 2.7 WHO/FAO heavy metals threshold in soils	.55
Table 2.8 Heavy metal permissible (mgkg ⁻¹) limits in plants	.55
Table 2.9 Permissible limit for total metals (mgkg ⁻¹) in various soil pH ranges in UK and	
Germany	.56
Table 2.10 Geoaccumulation index classification	.58
Table 2.11 Classification of pollution indices - Enrichment Factor (EF) and Relative Top	
soil Enrichment Factor (RTEF)	.60
Table 3.1 Fertility status of soils in Ashanti region, Ghana	.66
Table 3.2 Soil physicochemical properties of the six studied soil sites	.66
Table 3.3 Treatments – dumpsites and their Corresponding background soils	.69
Table 4.1 Socio-demographic characteristics of dumpsite farmers in three communities	.90
Table 4.2 Farmers reason for farming on dumpsites	.91
Table 4.3 Farmers responses to specific features used for describing dumpsite soils in three	
communities	.92
Table 4.4 Sources of knowledge acquisition on soil physicochemical properties	.93
Table 4.5 Farmers awareness about the effect of soil metals contamination on human and	
animal health	.94
Table 4.6 Responses by farmers on perceived ailments that commonly affect man as a	
result of soil toxic elements contamination	.94
Table 4.7 Chi - square (χ^2) test analysis on association between dumpsites farmers' soil	
physicochemical knowledge and selected variables	.96

Table 4.30 Geoaccumulation index (I geo) and contamination intensity for soils in pots	
under field conditions1	41
Table 4.31 Enrichment Factor (EF) values and Contamination categories for soils in pots	
under field conditions1	43
Table 4.32 Transfer ratio (TR) values of metals in lettuce in pots under field conditions1	46
Table 4.33 Translocation factor (TF) values of lettuce in pots under field conditions	48



LIST OF FIGURES

FIGURE	PAGE
Fig. 3.1 The site map of studied locations in Ashanti region, Ghana.	64
Figure 3.2 Dumpsites soil sampled locations in Ashanti region, Ghana	70
Figure 3.3 Background soils locations in Ashanti region, Ghana	70
Figure 4.1 Farmers awareness of their soils' physicochemical properties	92



LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

CSIR – SRI	Council for Scientific and Industrial Research - Soil Research Institute
MOFA	Ministry of Food and Agriculture
Igeo	Geoaccumulation Index
EF	Enrichment Factor
RTEF	Relative Top soil Enrichment Factor
TR	Transfer Ratio
TF	Translocation Factor
KYE	Kyeremfaso dumpsite soil
UEW	University of Education Winneba, Mampong forest background soil
SUA	Suame magazine Kumasi dumpsite soil
MED	Meduma Kumasi background soil
AYE	Ayeduase Kumasi dumpsite soil
KNUST	Kwame Nkrumah University of Science and Technology botanical gardens
	Background soil

ABSTRACT

This study investigated dumpsite farmers' soil physicochemical knowledge, heavy metals and their pollution levels in selected dumpsites and background soils and plants in Kumasi and Asante Mampong, Ghana (latitude 5° 50' 7.46" N, longitude 0° 15' 2.25" W). Chi square (χ^2) test showed that dumpsites farmers' soil knowledge had no association (p = 0.21) with farmers' educational level but showed a significant (p = 0.02) association with farmers awareness that dumpsites soil contain toxic elements; and (p = 0.03) farmers awareness that plants on dumpsites absorb toxic elements. Metals level were determined in soils at 0 - 15 cm and 15 - 30 cm depths with edible parts of plantain and cocoyam; 0 - 30 cm depth of sampled soils in pots with lettuce under field conditions using an XL3t GOLD XRF mass spectrometer. Physicochemical properties of dumpsite soils were higher than that of background soils. Cr, Fe, Ni, Cu, Zn, As, Cd, Hg and Pb were higher by 15 – 25 %. Soil Cu, Zn and Hg at 0 - 15 cm and 15 - 30 cm; soil Ni, Zn and Hg in pots from Magazine dumpsite were all above WHO (2015) limits in soils. Cr, Fe and Hg in plantain leaves and fruits from Magazine dumpsite; Hg in cocoyam leaves from Kyeremfaso dumpsite, and Hg in cocoyam corms from Magazine dumpsite; Cr, Fe, Ni and Cd in lettuce shoots and roots in pots in Magazine dumpsite were above allowable levels by FAO/WHO (2011). Cr and Cd; Fe and Zn; Ni and Cu; Cu, Zn and As; Zn and As; As and Pb; Hg and Pb association showed they have similar contamination sources. Cr and Fe; Cu, Cr and Zn showed antagonistic and synergistic type of behavior. Soil pH, SOM, CEC, Clay and soil available P influenced Cr, Fe, Ni, Cu, Zn, As and Cd. Pollution indices (Igeo, EF, RTEF, TR and TF) indicated very high contamination for Fe, Cu, Zn and Hg in the order of KYE < AYE < SUA. Education on dumpsites farming must be intensified and excavate dumpsites to landfill sites.

CHAPTER ONE

1.0 INTRODUCTION

1.1 Background to the study

The population of Ghana has been estimated to be growing annually at a rate of 2.3% (GSS, 2013). This exponential growth in population, coupled with other issues associated with growing economies has posed a significant stress on the environment (Ahlijay, 2015) especially on lands for farming and other urban infrastructure and services (Owusu-Sekyere *et al.*, 2013). Dumpsites in Ghana are usually turned into other land uses such as crop cultivation, while some are excavated for soil amendment because they are known of the rich mineral and organic matter known to be rich in soil nutrients and organic matter for plant growth (Ogunyemi *et al.*, 2003; Akanchise *et al.*, 2020).

The decline in soil fertility coupled with comparatively high cost of chemical fertilizers have all contributed in making dumpsites soil better choice and alternative source of nutrient rich soils for backyard farmers as an. Owusu- Sekyere *et al.* (2013a) and Mwingyine (2008) have found that dumpsites are commonly used for direct cultivation of vegetables and also as good source of compost to support mainland agricultural activities because in most third world countries, dumpsite soils comprise of higher proportion (50 - 90 %) of organic matter materials (Asomani - Boateng and Murray, 1999). Currently, considerable pollutions from refuse disposal activities of man have introduced heavy metals into the soil environment and as a result have attracted the attention of researchers and policy makers. Heavy metals in the soil environment are of great ecological significance due to their toxicity at certain concentrations, translocation through food chains and their non - biodegradable nature

accounts for their accumulation in the biosphere (Aekola *et al.*, 2008). Human electronic waste materials on dumpsites such as plastics, paper, metal rubbish and batteries which are known to be sources of heavy metals are hazardous to man and his environment (Alloway and Ayres, 1997; Pasquini and Alexander, 2004; Woodbury, 2005). Heavy metals are non - biodegradable, can undergo global ecological circles (Aekola *et al.*, 2008) and have toxic effects on living organisms at certain levels of concentrations. These dumpsites would help identify how the plants found on them are exposed to heavy metals (Opaluwa *et al.*, 2012).

Available plant nutrients in the soil solution may also be found in soils polluted with municipal, domestic or industrial wastes which may be bio - accumulated in roots, stems, fruits, grains and leaves of the crops (Fatoki, 2000) or in the form of mobile ions present in the soil or through foliar absorption (Opaluwa *et al.*, 2012), and may finally find their way into human food chain.

Agbeshie *et al.* (2020) conducted a study in Sunyani Municipality to determine the risk of heavy metal pollution and physicochemical properties of soils at a waste dumpsite. They found from the fifteen soils sampled at 0 - 30 cm depth found that the soil at the dumpsite was contaminated with Fe (< 30 mgkg⁻¹), but was within the permissible limits recommended by FAO / WHO (2001). Agbeshie *et al.* (2020) used geoaccumulation index (I geo) assessment module and found that, dumpsites soil studied were moderately to strongly contaminated with heavy metals. Akanchise *et al.* (2020) studied the distribution of heavy metals in soils from abandoned dumpsites in Kumasi, Ghana and found that, there were moderate concentrations of heavy metals (As, Cd, Cr, Cu, Pb, Hg, Ni and Zn) in dumpsite

soils at Amakom and Kronum with few of the metal concentrations exceeding International soil quality guidelines while geoaccumulation index showed generally no pollution.

In Ghana, a study conducted in Accra, Kumasi, Mampong and rural community dumpsites by Agyarko *et al.* (2010) found that, the levels of Iron and Nickel loads in plants from the refuse dump soils in Accra, Kumasi and Asante Mampong were beyond the normal ranges of 40 –500 ug g⁻¹ (Fe) and 0.02-5.00 ug g⁻¹ (Ni). Stewart *et al.* (1974) shared a similar view. These metals might also end up in the sink when they are leached out from the dumpsites (Opaluwa *et al.*, 2012).

Plants on polluted soils absorb heavy metals in the form of free moving ions in the soil through plants xylem and phloem vessels where they are bi-accumulated in their leaves, stem, fruits, grains and the root of the plant (Adebiyi *et al.*, 2018). However, a higher concentration of heavy metals in the soil can result in higher level of uptake by the plant (Ebong *et al.*, 2008). Critically examining these dumpsite soils, background soils and plants found on them and their safety levels in crops is important because of the high demand for human consumption in Ghana.

1.2 Problem Statement and Justification

The use of soils on and around dumpsites in rural and urban areas in Ghana is common for food production especially vegetables (Abgeshie *et al.*, 2020). The continues use of both active and abandoned dumpsites into other land uses such as crop cultivation and as soil amendment because of the rich mineral and organic matter content (Akanchise *et al.*, 2020),

without the knowledge of the risk associated with heavy metals uptake by plants (Abgeshie *et al.*, 2020) couple with its excess accumulation in the environment threatens the health of plants and animals because metals exert biological effects on all life forms (Luo *et al.*, 2012; Cai *et al.*, 2015). Backyard farming on dumpsite soils in the Ashanti region of Ghana is gaining popularity due to the fact that some of these wastes at the dumpsites provide nutrients for healthy and increased plant growth and such positive effect encourages continued backyard farming on dumpsite soils. The evaluation of heavy metal contamination is an important component of risk assessment at waste dumpsites (Agbeshie *et al.*, 2020) as it may help to reduce the possible accumulation of toxic metals in the food chain in affecting healthy crop production in Ghana.

Studies conducted on the use of dumpsites and their soils for gardening have been helpful. However, going into other areas of interest, backyard farming activities on dumpsite soils are full of prospects and challenges and it has caught the attention of researchers, policy makers and farmers in developing countries like Ghana. A possible way of realizing these prospects and overcoming the challenges is by committing more resources and expertise into a comprehensive study on the use of dumpsite soils in Ashanti region of Ghana. The plant nutrition prospects of dumpsite soils and the pollution levels on these farmlands need much attention in order to supplement the efforts of farmers. The use of dumpsite soils as alternative farm land in urban and peri-urban settlements in Ghana due to inadequate arable lands has caught much attention in a developing country like Ghana. It is believed that, this study may help by informing farmers farming on dumpsite soils about the useful soil nutrients and other toxic nutrients in these soils. Although dumpsite soils serve as an alternative farmlands in some areas in Ashanti region, toxic metals level in dumpsites need to be considered before crop production in order to enable farmers realize the full potential of dumpsite soils to boost crop production in Ghana for food and poverty alleviation.

Hypothesis:

- 1. Farmers farming at dumpsites are aware of risk of heavy metals in such soils
- 2. Dumpsites contained heavy metals above toxic levels
- 3. Plants grown at dumpsites can absorb heavy metal posing risk to the food chain.
- 4. Crops grown at agricultural fields amended with dumpsites soil or compost can accumulate heavy metals posing risk to human health through the food chain.

1.3 Objectives of the studies

The main objective of the study was to assess the concentration levels of some heavy metals in selected dumpsites and background soils and plants in selected urban and rural dumpsites in the Ashanti Region of Ghana.

The specific objectives were to:

- 1. Assesss dumpsites farmers' knowledge of soil physicochemical properties of dumpsites
- 2. Assess some heavy metals in selected dumpsites and background soils.
- 3. Assess the accumulation levels of heavy metals in plantain and cocoyam grown at selected refuse dumpsites and background soils
- 4. Evaluate heavy metal levels in soils and lettuce plants grown in pots containing dumpsite soils under field conditions

CHAPTER TWO

2.0 LITERATURE REVIEW

2.1 Waste Dumpsite Soils

A waste dumpsite is where waste materials are disposed of and is the oldest form of waste management (Ibrahim *et al.*, 2013) in Ghana. Waste dumpsite contains high concentrations of heavy metals and are later absorbed and accumulated by the plants growing within such sites (Hammed *et al.*, 2017) more than their counter parts found on normal agricultural soils in Ghana, most among them are vegetables which are the most exposed food crops to environmental pollution due to aerial burden (Jolly *et al.*, 2013). In modern times, pollutions from the activities of human have introduced some of these heavy metals into the ecosystem (Opaluwa *et al.*, 2012) while others occur naturally in the ecosystem with large variations in concentrations. However, they may occur naturally in low concentration and are found to be toxic even at low concentrations (Dinis and Filiza, 2011). When these metals slowly accumulate and distribute in the soil profiles over time, the soil can act as a long term sink for these toxic metals (Amesaki, 2018).

Dumpsite soils contain heavy metals such as copper (Cu), iron (Fe), mercury (Hg), silver (Ag), lead (Pb) and chromium (Cr) (Tafera *et al.*, 2018), which persist and accumulate over a long time in soils and vegetations and thus resulting to serious environmental pollution (Mtunzi *et al.*, 2015). Many areas near urban centres where wastes are dumped contain high concentrations of heavy metals in their ecosystem (Adelekan and Abegunde, 2011) and their deposits in the soil are not degraded and may persist in the soil environment for a long time causing serious environmental pollution (Oyelola, 2009). In these dumpsites, heavy metals

such as cadmium (Cd), Copper (Cu), Cromium (Cr), lead (Pb), Zinc (Zn) and Nicked (Ni) are usually found due to remains from metals and other products (Shayley *et al.*, 2009) and the plants grown on them have the tendency of taking metals (Orji *et al.*, 2018). The dumpsite wastes contain heavy metals so their presence and subsequent uptake by food crops can pose serious human health risk (Darko *et al.*, 2020).

The distribution of heavy metals on waste dumpsite soils in Ghana is related to the population of the rural and urban dwellers, their standard of living, consumption pattern and industrial development. Agyarko et al. (2010) studies in Accra, Kumasi and Adidwan where refuse dump soils varied in concentrations of most metals like Cd, Hg, Pb, Cu, Zn, Mo and As and attributed those differences in concentration to the fact that, metals found in the cities (Accra and Kumasi) and a municipal (Mampong) were higher than those from Adidwan - a rural settlement due to the higher population and industrial activities in cities and municipalities coupled with higher level of assorted waste than in rural settlement. Ebong et al. (2008) shared a similar view by attributing such differences to living standard, consumption patterns and level of industrial development between cities and rural communities. Bamidele et al. (2014) have also asserted to the fact that differences in physical and chemical properties of soils within dumpsites and background sites might be due to economic activities of the people within the rural, urban towns and cities. Metals like As, Cd, Co, Cu, Fe, Hg, Mn, Pb, Ni and Zn found in such rural and urban wastes (Sule et al., 2019) are critical measurement parameters for assessing the risks of refuse dump soils (Hammed et al., 2017) especially metal accumulation at the top soil (Moses, 2006) which if not checked can cause a more widespread contamination of soil, sediments and vegetables

(Jafaru *et al.*, 2015). Generally, top soil layer contains the largest amount of pollutants (Addis and Abebaw, 2017).

2.1.1 Uses of dumpsite soils

The soil which is a primary recipient of solid wastes (Nyle and Ray, 1999) receives tonnes of these wastes from industrial, domestic and agricultural sources (Ogunmodede and Adewole, 2015). These wastes end up interacting with the soil system changing their physical and chemical properties (Piccolo and Mbagwu, 1997). For instance, especially soil organic matter in dumpsites help to influence the degree of aggregation and aggregate stability by reducing soil bulk density and increasing soil total porosity and hydraulic conductivity in heavy clay soils (Ogunmodede and Adewole, 2015).

Soils found on dumpsites, sites for disposal of waste materials (Musa *et al.*, 2019) are used as farmlands and is a common practice in urban and sub-urban communities within developing countries (Musa *et al.*, 2019) such as Ghana because when some of these waste decay they enhance soil fertility (Ogunyemi *et al.*, 2015). Akanchise *et al.* (2020) reported that, sometimes, soils from dumpsites are excavated for soil amendments elsewhere because of the rich mineral and organic content. However, a considerable proportions of plastics, papers, metals and batteries known to be hazardous to man and his environment are present on dumpsites (Pasquini and Alexander, 2004; Wood bury, 2005).

In Ghana, dumpsite soils are commonly used for farming activities (Jafaru *et al.*, 2015). Agyarko *et al.* (2015) reported in their study that plants on dumpsites perform better than

those found in the surrounding areas. Dumpsite soils found to support plants growth also have the tendency to be taken up by plants (Orij *et al.*, 2018). The nutritional supports from dumpsites for plants affirms the reason why dumpsite soils are used in nursery pots for raising seedlings despite toxic metals contamination in them (Jafaru *et al.*, 2015) while other organic components from dumpsites are collected and apply on farmlands as manure by farmers (Ebong *et al.*, 2008). It is common to see crops grown around dumpsites despite the presence of heavy metals and their subsequent uptake by food crops can pose serious human health risk (Darko *et al.*, 2020).

Heavy metal loads from refuse dump soils studied by Ogunmodede and Adewole (2015) reported to be higher in concentration than in the control (background) values especially for chromium (Cr), iron (Fe), nickel (Ni), copper (Cu) and zinc (Zn) and they attributed this to the fact that, refuse dumps receive considerable waste proportions of product packaging, waste cloths, glass and bottles, newspapers, paints, batteries, industrial dust, ash, tyre, metal cans and containers, medical waste, abandoned vehicles and insulations which are known to be sources of metals (Woodburry, 2005).

2.1.2 Physicochemical properties of dumpsite soils

Soil physicochemical parameters like texture and organic matter contents are important with regards to the forms of heavy metals present and their bioavailability (Audinalp and Cresse, 2009). Heavy metals which form part of dumpsites soil chemical composition are metallic chemical elements that have relatively high density and are toxic at low concentrations (Ambika *et al.*, 2016). Dumpsites soils may also comprise of other materials that contain

heavy metals and as a result are of great concern (Olakunle *et al.*, 2018) to farmers and consumers in Ghana. Soil which is one of the important natural resource which provides the main mineral elements for plant growth and crop production (Uma *et al.*, 2016) is without contamination from waste materials found on them but on the contrary, essential mineral materials from these wastes also help to increase nitrogen, pH, CEC, Base saturation and organic matter (Anikwe and Nwobodo, 2001). Organic components of these wastes can provide nutrients for increased plant growth because, dumpsites are known to be rich in soil nutrient for plant growth and development (Ogunmodede and Adewole, 2015) as decayed and composted wastes enhance soil fertility (Ogunyemi *et al.*, 2003).

Organic matter influences the concentration of heavy metals in soil through the release of heavy metals such as Pb and Hg bonded to organic matter in addition, there is a reduction in heavy metal levels in soils especially in the soil surface by forming complexes (Ashworth and Alloway, 2004). Most refuse dumpsites contain considerable amount of ash, and some of these ash are dumped while others are produced from the burning of refuse on dumpsites from time to time to get rid of organic materials, and this activity help to oxidize the metals content (Nurudeen and Aderibigbe, 2013). Wastes end up interacting with the soil system thereby changing the physical and chemical properties (Piccole and Mbagwu, 1997). Soil organic matter has also been found by Ogunmodede and Adewole (2015) to influence the degree of aggregate stability, reduction in soil bulk density, increase soil total porosity and hydraulic conductivity in heavy clay soils. In an earlier study, the enhanced levels of cadmium (Cd) in dumpsites was attributed to large deposits of PVC plastics, nickel cadmium batteries, insecticides, motor oil and the disposal of sewage in dumpsites (Jarup,

2003). Other chemical properties of dumpsites soil with respect to heavy metals were in these concentrations: Fe (1059.2 mgkg⁻¹) in sub-surface soils (15 - 30 cm) also comprise of control soils (uncontaminated soils) with Fe (665.3 mgkg⁻¹); Pb (99.1 mgkg⁻¹ and 95.2 mgkg⁻¹); Ni (308.5 mgkg⁻¹ and 5.9 mgkg⁻¹); Cr (2.2 mgkg⁻¹ and 2.1 mgkg⁻¹) as reported by Ukpong *et al.* (2013). Dumpsite soils physicochemical properties play a major role in soil nutrition as they can be used as a nutrient rich soil indicator (Tripathi and Misra, 2012), because nearly all human activities generate waste; and the way in which wastes are handled and disposed of can pose risks to the environment and public health (Zhu *et al.*, 2008). On dumpsites, an organic matter which is an important soil chemical property was reported in a study by Tripathi and Misra (2012), to be at 0.39 - 0.58% as compared to their adjoining areas (0.32 - 0.58%) and attributed it to the presence of many organic waste residue which end up adding organic matter after decay and an inorganic waste will produce high bulk density in a dumpsite and may reduce root length and limit root penetration in a dump soil.

Tripathy and Misra (2012) found that, soil texture plays a very important role in plant species establishment and development and also influences other physical parameters of the soil. Another way which is beneficial to a dumpsites farmer is a situation where a dumpsites soil does not only accumulate organic matter but also results in a buildup of the soil organic matter content. Engege and Lemoha (2012) found that, dumpsite soil showed variability in soil properties with depth because there was a significant ($P \le 0.05$) difference in heavy metal content, exchangeable cations, soil pH as well as bulk density with respect to soil depth.

2.2 Dumpsites farmers' awareness of soil physicochemical properties

2.2.1 Socio - demography of farmers in Ghana

In Ghana, farming activities in some communities are dominated by males and majority of these farmers are below 51 years of age (Agyarko *et al.*, 2011) an indication that an active age group are actively involved in farming in Ghana. Other similar study has reported of a male (65%) dominated farming activity as compared to female (35%) minority with a youthful average age of 43 years in farming while the majority (77.8%) are educated up to the primary school level (Dawoe *et al.*, 2012). A study has found that, farmers' knowledge of their soils was not influenced by their main source of income, gender, education and age (Sierra *et al.*, 2016).

2.2.2 Reasons for farming on dumpsites

Soil is one of the most important resources of nature where plants grow for their day to day nutrient needs (Tale and Ingole, 2015). An assessment of the phenomenon of residential development close to a solid waste dumpsites at Pantang, found that farmers farm on dumpsites because, dumpsites land are fertile due to the decomposition of refuse (organic materials), other reason was that it is a way of protecting their lands from intrusion while other respondents said it is the only idle land available and renting a dumpsite land is relatively cheaper was also a reason (Ahlijah, 2015).

Wunzani *et al.* (2019) found that, soils from dumpsites are rich with plants micronutrients and macronutrients and those refuse dumps from dumpsites can be used as compost for soil amendment. Farmers, especially in a developing country like Ghana, as observed by

Monohara and Belagali (2014) that compost of solid wastes contain a considerable variety of micro and macro nutrients as well as relatively stable source of organic matter essential for plant growth. In addition, agricultural application of municipal solid wastes (MSW) as a natural source for plant and soil conditions is the most cost effective option (Bamidele *et al.*, 2014) for local farmers. Dumpsites are easily accessible land in addition to the perception that its high plant nutrient content are used up by crops planted as affirmed by Amadi *et al.* (2013) that, soils obtained from dumpsites are used for plantings of vegetables and other food crops. In developing country, like Ghana have a local soil physicochemical knowledge in which site previously used as dumpsites are often converted to farmlands as observed by Onwughara *et al.* (2010).

2.2.3 Farmers' awareness of dumpsites soil physicochemical properties

Farmers and Scientists understand soil fertility in different ways because scientists sometimes take account of the soil's nutrient status, without considering its physical properties, but farmers' perception of soil fertility are not limited to nutrient status alone but also physical properties (Corbeels *et al.*, 2000). An understanding of physical and chemical condition of any soil is essential for proper implementation of many management practices so the physicochemical idea of soil is very important because both physical and chemical properties affect the soil productivity example, this physico-chemical idea of a soil is based on various parameters like pH, electrical conductivity, texture, moisture, temperature, soil organic matter, available nitrogen, phosphorus and potassium (Tale and Ingole, 2015).

African farmers in the rural areas to whom development efforts are directed have their own body of knowledge that enables them arrive at decisions, which could help better their lots (Kolawole, 2002). African farmer's knowledge on a fertile soil can be likened to a modern concept of a quality soil which is the ability of a soil to sustain plant and animal productivity, to increase quality water and air and to contribute to plant and animal health (Doran and Zeiss, 2000). Farmers in Ethiopia in a similar study used a local system to classify their soils according to colour, texture and certain physical characteristics indicating that farmers are aware of their soils physicochemical properties (Corbeels *et al.*, 2000).

The Ghanaian farmer knows indigenous soil science with sets of information about the soils they farm on especially the fertility status of their soils by using crop yield, colour of soil, vegetation cover, soil depth, soil organic matter and activities of soil organisms (Agyarko *et al.*, 2011) as evidence of their soil physicochemical knowledge. In order to achieve high yield for their crops due to known and unknown reasons, farmers have resorted to farming on both open and closed dumpsites in Ghana and have proven to increase crop yield. However, the contamination levels of toxic metal elements in dumpsites farmlands have been given less attention to the detriment of healthier food production

In Ashanti region, a similar study reported that farmers have specific indicators they use for assessing their soils as fertile (high soil nutrient content) and infertile (low soil nutrient content) example, crop yield, dark soil colour, earthworms (fertile soil); slow plant growth pale soil colour, few worm casts (infertile soil) (Dawoe *et al.*, 2012).

2.2.3.1 Sources of knowledge acquisition on soil physicochemical properties by

dumpsite farmers

A bunch of studies have been found regarding farmers' preferences and use of information sources (Gupta and De, 2011; Sakib *et al.*, 2015; Rahman *et al.*, 2016) to maximise yield on their farmlands. Farouque *et al.* (2019) concluded in their studies that friends and neighbours play important role in disseminating farming information. Dumpsites farmers' perceived awareness of their soils' physicochemical properties are believed to have got their information from other sources as earlier asserted by De Souza *et al.* (2016) that soil properties information that farmers are familiar with are based on observation and life experience over time, which is accumulatively transmitted over generations.

Farmers locally have acquired knowledge from generations of experience and experimentation that fit local conditions (Laekemariam *et al.*, 2017). Rehman *et al.* (2013) reported in their study that the print media and fellow farmers were the major information source to farmers. Sumane *et al.* (2017) shared a similar finding that, farmers are from farming families, so they obtain their initial agricultural knowledge from their parents, grandparents and other farmers due to the fact that, they see their colleague farmers a reputable experts, particularly due to their practical experience in similar conditions. Other knowledge acquisition for farmers is social networks regarding soil fertility issues and other farmers can access information when frequently visit personal localite (e.g. friends) or cosmopolite (e.g. agriculture office).

2.2.4 Farmers' awareness and perceived effects of heavy metals contamination in soils and plants and its related ailments

Reported effects of heavy metals by farmers contamination in soils and lands can be related to measured common sources of soil contamination (hazardous heavy metals / metalloids) through atmospheric deposition, organic manure, mineral fertilizers, pesticides, industrial sewage discharge and industrial solid waste, municipal agriculture and food waste, coal ash, dumps, logging and timber industry waste paints and other decorative materials commodity impurities, etc (Nriagu and Payna 1988; Yongsheng, 2008; Zhang *et al.*, 2011, Allowey, 2012, Vodyganitskii, 2013, Su *et al.*, 2014). It is reported that about 61.33% of community members studied are aware environmentally friendly agriculture increase growth, quality and productivity of agricultural land (Atmojo, 2010; Utari *et al.*, 2018) and dumpsites farmlands.

Pradika *et al.* (2019) found that people's awareness, reportedly, of heavy metal contaminations on agricultural land is still low. Also people's knowledge and awareness of heavy metals are still low, while community's awareness of environmentally friendly agriculture is high (Atmojo, 2010). However, Coffie (2010) has explained by the fact that landfill site contain dumpsite materials in addition to high prevalence rate of infectious diseases like malaria, cholera, diarrhea and typhoid fever within those communities. At Dompoase dumpsites in the Kumasi Metropolis, within Ashanti region of Ghana, increased self-reported health symptoms such as fatigue, sleepless, and headaches were among residents near the landfill sites (Owusu-Sekyere *et al.*, 2013a)

2.3 Heavy metals

Heavy metals are described as those metals with specific gravity higher of more than 5gcm⁻³ (Leah *et al.*, 2014). Lenntech (2004) and Duruibe *et al.* (2007) have also explained that, heavy metals refer to any metallic element that has a relatively high density and is toxic or poisonous even at low concentration. Alamgir (2017) also defined heavy metals as any element that has a silvery luster and is a good conductor of heat and electricity. The most common of these metal elements are Copper, Nickel, Chromium, Lead, Cadmium, Mercury, and Iron. Leah *et al.* (2014) have reported that, some elements such as iron and nickel are essential to the survival of all forms of life if they are low in concentrations, in addition to elements like lead, cadmium and mercury which are toxic to living organisms even in low concentrations.

Heavy metals have attracted much concern because of a lot of reasons. Considerable number of them, such as arsenic, cadmium, lead, chromium, nickel, cobalt and mercury are of concern primarily because they harm soil organisms, plants, animals and human beings (Adelekan and Alowode, 2011). The presence of heavy metals in the environment is of great ecological significant due to their toxicity at certain concentrations, translocation through food chains and non-biodegradation which is responsible for their accumulation in the biosphere (Aekola *et al.*, 2008). Metals like iron, tin, copper, manganese and vanadium occur naturally in the environment and could serve as plant nutrient on their concentrations (Opaluwa *et al.*, 2012). Other metals like mercury, lead, cadmium silver, chromium and many others indirectly distributed as a result of human activities could be very toxic even at low concentrations and can undergo global ecological circles (Aekola *et al.*, 2012). The increasing ecological and global public health concerns about heavy metal contamination are not only exposed to soil and plants, but through human consumption of contaminated farm products, the use of heavy metals in several industries in agriculture, domestic and technological applications (Bradi, 2002). A study in Poland showed heavy metals concentration of Pb (12.5 - 659 mgkg⁻¹), Zn (38.1 - 2103 mgkg⁻¹) and Cu (12.9 - 595 mgkg⁻¹) in 180 allotment garden soils in Wroclaw, and these metals concentration levels depended mainly on the nearby location of industrial pollution sources, with variations in the amount of organic matter soil pH, and the content of plant available macronutrients (Kabala *et al.*, 2009). Heavy metals occupy a special position in soil chemistry because they play very important physiological roles in nature (Akpoveta *et al.*, 2010; Oves *et al.*, 2016).

2.3.1 Sources of Heavy Metals in Dumpsite soils

Heavy metals occur in soils (Franzen *et al.*, 2004) and in the ecosystem with large variations in concentration. Heavy metals are not degradable, and as a result may persist and accumulate over a long period in soils and vegetation resulting in serious pollution of the soil environment (Mtunzi *et al.*, 2015). Dumpsite soils are perceived as fertile soils and a valuable asset which creates a congenial climate for crop production but due to human wastes disposal activities, dumpsite soils have become a receptor of many pollutants including pesticides, fertilizers, particulate matters and heavy metals (Maneyahilishal *et al.*, 2018). However, if a soil's capacity to hold or retain heavy metals is exceeded, the soil begins to act as a source for heavy metals (Selim, 2013). The contamination of soils by different pollutants has significant influence on human health processes (Rhaman *et al.*,

2015). Since heavy metals are not degradable, they persist and accumulate over a long period in the soils and vegetation resulting in serious environmental pollution (Mtunzi *et al.*, 2015). Heavy metals occur in soils naturally (Franzen *et al.*, 2004), in the ecosystem with large variations in concentration.

In modern times, pollutants from the activities of humans have introduced some of these heavy metals into the ecosystem (Opaluwa et al., 2012). They are also found to occur naturally in the soil environment from the pedogenetic processes of weathering of parent materials at levels that are regarded as trace (< 1000 mgkg⁻¹) and rarely toxic (Kabata -Pendias and Pendias, 2001; Pierzynski et al., 2002; Wuana and Okieimen, 2011)). A soil which most often than not suffers from these metal contaminants has been described by Nyle and Ray (1999), as a primary recipient of solid wastes. Tonnes of these wastes are from a variety of sources including: industry, domestic and agricultural activities which find their way into the soil (Ogunmodede and Adewole, 2015). Sources of soil metal contamination affecting predominantly agricultural soils include fertilizers, pesticides, sewage sludge, organic manures and composts (Singh, 2001). In addition, heavy metals accumulate in soils in some localized areas of human activities when compared with areas that have remained under virgin conditions. Some of the anomalous accumulation may also be geology - related (Thornton, 1980). Also, hazardous materials like plastics, papers, batteries, electric bulbs and bottle caps are known to contain heavy metals (Amusan *et al.*, 2005; Akpoveta et al., 2011; Kolo et al., 2014) and similar materials are also found on dumpsites in Ghana. Some human activities such as waste disposal, mining, smelting and fertilizer applications also release heavy metals into the environment (Dinis and Fiuza, 2010;
Ato *et al.*, 2010). Other sources of heavy metals pollution have also been reported from compost application (Hogarh *et al.*, 2008; Jordâo *et al.*, 2006) and urban top soils (Darko *et al.*, 2017).

The indiscriminate disposal of wastes (organic and inorganic) in rural and urban settlements coupled with farming on dumpsites soils pose risk to nature, and it is due to the fact that, most soils of rural and urban environments may accumulate one or more of the heavy metals above defined background values high enough to cause risks to human health plants, animals ecosystem or other media (D'Amore *et al.*, 2005). It has been explained that, the reason why heavy metals become contaminated in the soil environment is that their rates of generation via man made cycles are more rapid relative to natural ones; the concentrations of the metals in discarded products are relatively high compared to those in the receiving environment (D'Amore *et al.*, 2005). On most dumpsites, loads of contaminants that are usually greater than in the surrounding sub-urban or rural areas due to the concentration of anthropogenic activities of urban settlements (Charlesworth *et al.*, 2003). It is estimated that heavy metals release from all sources worldwide is around (in metric tons) 22,000 of Cd, 939,000 of Zn (Singh *et al.*, 2003).

2.3.1.1 Application of metal - based pesticides and fertilizers

Anthropogenic (human activity) materials such as pesticides and insecticides contaminate the soil environments with heavy metals like Co, Cu, Fe, Mn, Mo, Ni and Zn but are also needed in metal elements deficient soils which help in healthy plant growth (Lasat, 2000). Crops may be supplied with metal elements in addition to the essential soil elements as a foliar spray, however, about 10% of the chemicals have approval for use as insecticides and fungicides in United Kingdom where they were based on compounds like Cu, Hg, Mn, Pb or Zn in pesticides such as copper containing fungicidal sprays such as Bordeaux mixture (copper sulphate) and copper oxychloride (Jones and Jarvis, 1981).

2.3.1.2 Application of Manures and Biosolids

Farmers in Ghana greatly use manures on their farmland, with the use of numerous biosolids like livestock manures, composts and municipal sewage sludge to land inadvertently leads to the accumulation of heavy metals such as As, Cd, Cr, Cu, Pb, Hg, Ni, Se, Mo, Zn, Ti, Sb and others in the soil (Basta *et al.*, 2005). Some of these heavy metals relative to their properties are used as growth promoters in animal nutrition but when used at high concentrations may cause metal contamination of soil in the long run (Sumner, 2000).

2.3.1.3 Air - born source

Soil heavy metal contaminants classified as air-born may include stack vapour stream and some fugitive emissions such as dust from waste piles (Raymond and Okieimen, 2011). Others sources of Cr and As are contaminated through atmospheric deposition, Fe and Cr ions through soil erosion, leaching of many heavy metals, sediments re-suspension, Hg and Pb through evaporation from water resources to soil and underground water, natural phenomenons such as weathering and volcanic eruptions have all contributed to heavy metal pollution (Bradi, 2002; Duffus, 2002; He *et al.*, 2005).

2.3.1.4 Industrial Processes

Wastes are any discarded or abandoned materials that can be solid, liquid, or semi - solid and are always sourced from homes, schools, hospitals and other business areas (Buszewski et al., 2000). In addition, wastes disposed on sites through human activities in industry such as textiles tanning, petrochemicals from accidental oil spills or utilization of petroleum based products and other pharmaceutical facilities are highly variable in composition although some are disposed off on land, and few have benefits to agriculture or forestry (Raymond and Okieimen, 2011). Many industrial products contain metals like Cr, Pb, and Zn which are potentially hazardous because of their contents are referred to as toxic inorganic compound contain lower plant essential nutrients and with no soil conditioning properties (Sumner, 2000). Other metal industrial sources include metal burning in power plants, petroleum combustion, nuclear power stations, high tension lines, plastics, textiles, microelectronic wood preservation and paper processing plants (Arruti et al., 2010; Pacyna, 1996). Electrical and electronic parts such as copper pipes and alloy from vehicle scraps littered for a long time on the soil gradually rust and leach into the soil causing phytotoxicity (Nwachuku et al., 2010).

2.3.2 Essential Heavy Metals

There are eighteen essential heavy metals out of fifty-three total heavy metals which are naturally occurring (Mistra, 2015). Essential heavy metals are needed in trace amounts by living things for their physiological processes (Ehi and Uzu, 2011). Plants usually need a continuous nutritional supply in order to remain healthy and any shortage leads to deficient symptoms (Oves *et al.*, 2016). Metals which are essential to plants are required by plants to

complete their life cycles. At higher concentrations, the essential heavy metals are hazardous to plants and animal (Ehi and Uzu, 2011), especially when Fe, Cu, Zn, Mn and Ni concentrations exceed the recommended standards (Afzal *et al.*, 2013). WHO (1996) found that, metals like Co, Cu, Cr, Fe, Mg, perform various biochemical and physiological functions. These metals are considered as trace elements because of their presence in trace concentrations (ppb range to less than 10 ppm) in various environmental matrices (Kabata - Pendias *et al.*, 2001).

Plants in general need many different metals and other elements for growth, development and reproduction, but metals which are naturally present in the soil have increased in concentrations to pollution levels as a result of human activities ranging from mining and agriculture to sewage processing and heavy metal industry (Giovanni *et al.*, 2014). Mengel *et al.* (2001) have earlier reported that, there are fourteen mineral elements which are essential to all plants in addition to water, oxygen and carbon dioxide. Metals like, cobalt (Co), chromium (IV) (Cr⁺⁴), copper (Cu), Iron (Fe), manganese (Mn), Molybdenum (Mo), Selenium (Se), and Zinc (Zn) help in regulating human metabolism (Lokeshappa *et al.*, 2012). Most heavy metals are necessary for growth and normal functions of both plants and animals at trace amounts such as Fe, Zn, Mn, Cu, Co and Ni but large amount of any of them may cause acute or chronic toxicity (Addis and Abebaw, 2017). Some essential metals serve as soil conditioners which are of great importance due to their universal medium which supply essential nutrients for plant growth (Pujar *et al.*, 2012; Tripathi *et al.*, 2015).

2.3.2.1 Chromium (Cr)

Chromium is one of the less common elements and does not occur naturally in elemental form but only in compounds (Wuana and Okieimen, 2011), at high concentrations, chromium is toxic and carcinogenic (Chisti et al., 2011). Chromium mobility depends on sorption characteristics of the soil, including clay content; iron oxide content and the amount of organic matter present (Wuana and Okieimen, 2011). Chromium behaviour in soils is controlled by soil pH and redox potentials, especially under moderately oxidizing and reducing conditions and near neutral pH values the element's mobility is low (Kabata -Pendias, 2000). Also, permissible daily dietary intake of chromium by man is 0.2 mgday⁻¹ (WHO, 1998). The adsorption of chromium (VI), (Cr⁶⁺) increases with increasing pH (Kabata - Pendias, 2000) and high doses of chromium causes liver and kidney damages and chromate dusts are known to be carcinogenic (Yaylah - Abanuz, 2011) which is also associated with allergic dermatitis in humans (Scragg, 2006) and it is well known to play a vital role in the metabolism of cholesterol, fat and glucose (Afzal et al., 2013). Excess concentration of chromium can affect the roots of plants resulting in wilting of the plant and plasmolysis in root cells (Vijayaragavan et al., 2011). Onyedika (2015) has also reported that chromium concentration level at a dumpsite ranged from 33.01 - 48.02 mgkg⁻¹ and these values were below the world's soil average (59.50 mgkg⁻¹) there were four times higher than that of the control sites which suggested possible anthropogenic sources of chromium in the urban soils.

2.3.2.2 Iron (Fe)

Iron is the most abundant element in the earth's crust (Onyedika, 2015). This is the reason why iron is used as a reference element following the assumption that its content in the crust has not been disturbed by anthropogenic activity, and it has been chosen as the element of normalization with its natural sources (98%) vastly dominate input (Tippie, 1984), with its global terrestrial abundance being calculated to be around 45% and it is not considered a trace element in rocks and soils (Onyedika, 2015) but as the most abundant and an essential constituent for all plants and animals (Shah *et al.*, 2013), Iron is also responsible for anaemia and neuronegative conditions in human being (Fuortes and Schenck, 2000).

Iron plays a special role in the behaviour of several trace elements and is in the intermediate position between macro and micro nutrients in plants, animals and in humans (Kabata - Pendias, 2011). The major sources of Iron are the iron oxides such as minerals hematite, magnetite and taconite (Onyedika, 2015). Iron concentration in 0 - 15 cm depth (427.00 mgkg⁻¹) was highest as compared to 15 - 30 cm depth (424.90 mgkg⁻¹) on the same soil but lowest on a control soil with 345.50 mgkg⁻¹ (0 - 15 cm depth) (Olowookere *et al.*, 2018). This result has been attributed to the fact that, accumulations of heavy metals are concentrated at the soil - surface than the sub-surface (Amadi *et al.*, 2012; Olalode *et al.*, 2014) and their accumulation on the soil surface may be attributed to the presence of metallic substance in the earth crust, as well as Fe bearing waste (Olayiwola *et al.*, 2017). Agbeshie *et al.* (2020) reported in their study that, Fe metals generally showed mobility from a dumpsite location to a down - site location. Obasi *et al.* (2012) share a similar report about Fe movement in soil and associated it with their high mobility.

2.3.2.3 Nickel (Ni)

Nickel is one of the many metals widely distributed in the environmentwhich may be released from both natural sources and anthropogenic activity with input from both stationary and mobile sources (Orj *et al.*, 2018). It has been considered to be an essential trace element for human and animal health (Hassan *et al.*, 2012). Ipeaiyeda *et al.* (2007) studies produced 11.5 mgkg⁻¹ of nickel concentration, and 16.52 - 17.24 mgkg⁻¹ nickel concentration in an automobile mechanic waste dump soil in Nigeria (Iwegbue *et al.*, 2006). Many authors like Hameed *et al.* (2012) have described nickel as an essential element for plants and animals. At high levels, nickel becomes toxic and causes severe diseases like loss of body weight, loss of vision and heart and liver failure, as well as skin irritations (McGrath and Smith, 1990). Alloway (1995) has given 20 mgkg⁻¹ of nickel as the world's average concentration in soil, but calculated world mean of unpolluted soil is 34 mgkg⁻¹ (Kabata - Pendias and Pendias, 2001). As earlier said by Poggio *et al.* (2009), nickel toxicity in human beings is not very high but can cause respiratory diseases. WHO (2005) have also recommended routine requirement for mankind at 1 mgday⁻¹.

Alloway (1995) discussed that, many domestic cleaning products such as soap (100 - 700 mgkg⁻¹) and powdered bleach (800 mgkg⁻¹) may prove to be important sources of nickel in urban soil. Other sources of nickel include food stuffs such as chocolate, automobile batteries and various paint wastes (Onyedika, 2015). Nickel finds its way into the ambient air as a result of the combustion of coal, diesel oil and fuel oil and the incineration of waste and sewage (Cempel *et al.*, 2006). Nickel concentration in polluted soil may range from 20 - 30 fold (200 - 26,000 mgkg⁻¹) higher than the overall range (10 - 1000 mgkg⁻¹) found in

natural soil (Izosimora, 2005). Ogunmodede *et al.* (2015) reported that, nickel concentration in a dumpsite soil studied ranged from 89.76 - 118.35 mgkg⁻¹ and in a control soil site recorded 20.84 mgkg⁻¹. In another study, Rahman *et al.* (2005) have found that excess Ni²⁺ in soil causes various physiological alterations and diverse toxicity symptoms such as chlorosis and necrosis in different plant species. Nickel is widely used in electroplating and in the manufacture of batteries (Hameed *et al.*, 2013).

2.3.2.4 Copper (Cu)

Copper is an essential nutrient that play key roles in photosynthesis, respiration, carbon and nitrogen metabolism and protection against oxidative stress (Giovanni *et al.*, 2014) and its addition is a necessity for many enzymes (Shah *et al.*, 2013; Ngange *et al.*, 2013) and as a macro nutrient for plants (Ngange *et al.*, 2013). Cu is used in numerous applications because of its physical properties (Hameed *et al.*, 2013). In plants there are about 50 % of copper which is localized in the chloroplast (Banerjee, 2003). Cu is indeed essential, but in high doses can cause anaemia, liver and kidney damage (Wuana and Okienimen, 2011). The solubility of copper is drastically increased at pH 5.5 (Martinez and Motto, 2000). Cu normally accumulates in the surface horizons, a phenomenon explained by the bioaccumulation of the metal and recent anthropogenic sources (Hameed *et al.*, 2013). As the third most used metal in the world (Greany, 2005), an essential micronutrient like Cu is required in the growth of both plants and animals (Wuana and Okienimen, 2011).

The worlds' scale value of non-polluted soil of 24 mgkg⁻¹ is reported by Kabata - Pendias and Pendias (2001) and though the toxicity for humans is not very high (Poggio, 2009),

excess effects of copper on plants are reactive oxygen species (Seacat *et al.*, 2002), stunted growth inhibition of lateral development (Llorens *et al.*, 2002). In addition their excess results in photosynthesis inhibition (Patsikka *et al.*, 2002; Maksymiec and Baszynski, 1999). High concentration of copper causes metal fumes fever, hair and skin discolorations, dermatitis, respiratory tract diseases and some other fatal diseases in human beings (Khan *et al.*, 2008). The permissible level of copper intake in food is 2 - 3 mgday⁻¹ (WHO, 2005). Toxic levels are naturally present in some soils or may be derived from anthropogenic activities such as the use of copper containing fungicides, urban wastes management and industrial activity (Giovani *et al.*, 2005). The mean value levels of copper concentration in plant tissue have been found to be 0.26 mgkg⁻¹, 0.37 mgkg⁻¹ and 0.56 mgkg⁻¹ for roots stems and leaves respectively while that of soil were 0.48 mgkg⁻¹ (0 - 15 cm depth) and 0.32 mgkg⁻¹ (15 - 30 cm depth) (Ngange *et al.*, 2013).

2.3.2.5 Zinc (Zn)

Zinc is an essential growth element for plants and animals but can be toxic at elevated concentration (Akobundu and NwanKwaola, 2013) and their excessive concentration in soil lead to phototoxicity as it is a weed killer (Preda and Cox, 2002; Aboud and Nandini, 2009). Zinc has an important role in DNA synthesis, normal growth, brain development, bone formation and wound healing and at high levels, zinc is neurotoxin (Adelekan and Abegunde, 2011). The world range for total zinc concentration in soils is between 10 - 300 mgkg⁻¹ (Alloway, 1995) and an average of 100 mgkg⁻¹ have been reported for unpolluted soils (Kabata – Pendias and Pendias, 2001).

Zinc may be derived from mechanical abrasion of vehicles, as they are used in the production of brass alloy itself and come from brake linings, oil leak sumps and cylinder heads gaskets (Jiries *et al.*, 2001). The anthropogenic sources of zinc are related to industries and the use of liquid manure, composted materials and agrochemicals such as fertilizer and pesticides in agriculture (Romic and Romic, 2003). Environmental contamination of zinc is mainly related to anthropogenic input (Onyedika, 2005) and these anthropogenic sources of zinc are related to manure, composted materials and agrochemical such as fertilizers and pesticides in agriculture (Romic and Romic, 2003). Other studies have also linked high zinc levels in urban soils to accumulation from garden fertilization, traffic and industry input (Imperato *et al.*, 2003).

Zinc concentrations are rising unnaturally, due to anthropogenic additions because most zinc is added during industrial activities such as mining, coal and waste combustion and steel processing in addition to some foodstuffs, while some plants inability to handle an uptake of zinc already in their system through an accumulation (Wuana and Okieimen, 2011), negatively influence the activities of microorganism and earthworms retarding the breakdown of organic matter (Greany, 2005). Olowookere *et al.* (2018) have found a high concentration of 22.6 mgkg⁻¹ of zinc at 0 - 15cm depth, as compare to a concentration of 21.0 mgkg⁻¹ at 15 - 30cm depth and that of a control site at 21.1 mgkg⁻¹. Ngange *et al.* (2013) have earlier reported that, the concentration of zinc in their work ranged from 0.15 -1.70 mgkg⁻¹ at depth of 0 - 15 cm and from 0.11 - 1.40 mgkg⁻¹ at depth of 15 - 30 cm soil. The mobility of zinc in soils is dependent on its speciation, the soil pH and content of organic matter (IPCS, 2001).

2.3.3 Non - Essential Heavy Metals

The contamination of agricultural soils by metals has become an environmental concern due to their potential adverse ecological effects (Ngange *et al.*, 2013). The Non-essential metals are considered as soil pollutants due to their acute and chronic toxic effect on plants grown on such soils (Nagajyoti *et al.*, 2010). Metals like antimony (Sb), arsenic (As), cadmium (Cd), lead (Pb), mercury (Hg), have established biological functions and are considered as non - essential metals (Chang *et al.*, 1996). The distribution and uptake of toxic nutrients within plants tissues according to their need for essential mineral nutrients in sufficient amount avoids the accumulation of non-essential elements and toxic levels of essential elements (Williams and Salt, 2009). This is due to the fact that, there exist a very narrow range of concentrations between beneficial and toxic effects of metals (Tchounwou *et al.*, 2008).

2.3.3.1 Arsenic (As)

Arsenic is a non - essential metal element and is not only carcinogenic but also has no nutritional value for plant and animal (Amadi *et al.*, 2010). Ngange *et al.* (2013) also explained that, arsenic is not a plant nutrient and its accumulation in plants is toxic to animals and human that feed on these plants. An earlier work by Mensah *et al.* (2017) found 3.67 mgkg⁻¹ of arsenic concentration at e-waste dumpsites, Korle lagoon. A similar work also produced an arsenic value of 17.08 mgkg⁻¹ in e-waste dumpsite in South China (Predhan and Kumar, 2014). Ngange *et al.* (2013), reported in their work a mean level of concentration of arsenic in their soil samples at 0.03 mgkg⁻¹ at 0 - 15 cm and 15 - 30 cm depth, while plant parts were 0.02 mgkg⁻¹ for roots, stems and leaves. The arsenic

concentration in the soil is within the target value of 3.9 mgkg⁻¹ and 0.2 mgkg⁻¹ reported by Dutch (2005) as intervention values for standard soils and water (Pagmantidis *et al.*, 2008).

2.3.3.2 Cadmium (Cd)

Cadmium is not required for plants growth (Ngange *et al.*, 2013) and it is extremely toxic even at low concentration (Shah *et al.*, 2013). Cadmium is one of the big three heavy metal poisons and is not known for any essential biological function (Wuana and Okieimen, 2011). Food intake and tobacco smoking are the main routes by which cadmium enters the human body (Manahan, 2003). Nurudeen and Aderibigbe (2013) reported in their work a highly contaminated value at 19.35 mgkg⁻¹ as a result of dumping and burning of refuse at dumpsite from time to time. Opaluwa *et al.* (2012) also found 0.48 mgkg⁻¹ and 0.84 mgkg⁻¹ (at study sites respectively). Soil values of cadmium at an average rate of 0.41 mgkg⁻¹ had also been reported by Kabata - Pendias (2011). Soil cadmium levels may be from different origins such as agricultural amendment, sludge and atmospheric deposition (Alloway, 1995), the burning of fossil fuels and tyres, the use of lubrication oils, vehicle wheels, application of solid wastes from industries and home, sewage sludge, waste water irrigation and phosphate fertilizer application (Kisku *et al.*, 2000).

Cadmium exposure is found to be associated with renal failure due to high accumulation in the kidney (Kazi *et al.*, 2008). Mensah *et al.* (2017) have reported of cadmium concentration of about 103.70 mgkg⁻¹ in an e - waste site at the Korle Lagoon area of Accra Ghana. A cadmium level in world soils is around 3 mgkg⁻¹ as reported by WHO (Chiroma *et al.*, 2014).

2.3.3.3 Mercury (Hg)

Mercury contamination in soils is believed to be from a base - metal processing and some chemical industrial activities and also from mining activities, sewage wastes and the use of fungicides (Yaylah - Abanuz, 2011). Mercury concentration in uncontaminated soils are found to be from 0.04 - 0.08 mgkg⁻¹ in Israel (Greany, 2005). According to Wuana and Okieimen (2011), the release of mercury from coal combustion is a major source of mercury contamination and is associated with kidney damage (Scragg, 2006), and acidic conditions (pH < 4) which favour the formation of methyl mercury whereas higher pH values favour precipitation of HgS_(s) (Wuana and Okieimen, 2011).

2.3.3.4 Lead (Pb)

Lead is a non-essential metal element which is extremely toxic at low concentration (Afzal *et al.*, 2013). It can cause learning disabilities and hyperactivity in children (Hunt, 2003). It is known that lead containing dust particles take time in the atmosphere and deposit quickly in the near vicinity of roads, hence contributing to further accumulation of lead on the roadside soil surface (Al - Chalabi and Hawker, 2000). Pb has been shown to accumulate to high levels in urban environments from a range of sources including that derived from leaded petrol (Moller *et al.*, 2000), calcium carbonate particles or in phosphate concentrations (Kabata - Pendias and Pendias, 2001). The species of lead vary considerably with soil type; it is mainly associated with clay minerals, magnesium oxides, ironoxides, aluminum hydroxides and organic matter (Hameed *et al.*, 2013). The worlds' average Pb in unpolluted soil is 44.0 mgkg⁻¹ (Kabata - Pendias and Pendias, 2001). Lead can enter the environment especially through numerous activities (mining, smelting and manufacturing)

and can be toxic to human health (Poggio *et al.*, 2009). The most serious source of exposure to soil lead is through direct ingestion of contaminated soil or dust and as a result higher concentrations are more likely to be found in leafy vegetables and on surface of root crops (Wuana and Okieimen, 2011). Rosen (2002) had earlier found that, soil lead levels above 300 mgkg⁻¹ is from lead contaminated soil or dust deposits on the plants rather than from uptake of lead by plants. Generally, it has been considered safe to use garden produce grown in soils with total lead levels less than 300 mgkg⁻¹ (Wuana and Okieimen, 2011). Further studies conducted by Kabata - Pendias (2011), also found that, the worlds' calculated average of lead on unpolluted soils has concentration level of 27.00 mgkg⁻¹ and although lower than a value given by Onyedika (2015), in residential area (136.76 mgkg⁻¹); industrial area (159.67 mgkg⁻¹), while lead concentration on a dumpsite soil at different depths were; 0 - 15 cm (1.3 mgkg⁻¹), 15 - 30 cm soil depth (0.7 mgkg⁻¹) and on control or uncontaminated sites was 1.1 mgkg⁻¹ and showed a significant (P \leq 0.05) differences between each of the sites (Olowookere *et al.*, 2018).

2.4 Availability of Heavy metals in soils and uptake by plants on dumpsites

Soil is a precious natural resource upon which economic activity like agriculture and existence of life depend (Getachew and Habtamu, 2015) but its properties and quality can be adversely affected by the over concentration of waste released from agriculture, industry, municipal and individual household (Soffianian *et al.*, 2014). These wastes deteriorate the quality of soil and influences sustainable development (Getachew and Habtamu, 2015). The situation by which accumulation of heavy metals are concentrated at the soil-surface than the sub-surface is reported by Amadi *et al.* (2012) and Ololade (2014) in that, soils show

remarkably high levels of metals such as copper, iron, and zinc which decrease with depth, and is the reason why surface soils have been found as better indicators for metabolic burdens (Anikwe and Nwobodo, 2002). An understanding of the occurrence and availability of heavy metals and metabolic burdens in soils are of major importance to environmental health, crop and livestock production, food and water quality and ecotoxicology.

Heavy metal dynamics in soils are complex, and the bioavailability, mobility, and toxicity of metals in the soil fractions are influenced by variety of factors including the properties of both the soil and the metal (Adriano *et al.*, 2004; Buekers, 2007; Naidu and Bolan, 2008). Therefore, an understanding of the effects of soil properties on the behaviour of heavy metals in the soil is essential for assessing the extent of the soil contamination with metals (Alamgir, 2017) from dumpsites. Heavy metals, once entered the soil can undergo a number of processes that may be retained in soil solution as free ions or complexed to inorganic or organic ligands; adsorbed onto soil surfaces; hydroxides and carbonates; or fixed chemically as solid compounds (Lasat, 2000). The metals may also subject to plant uptake, transport through the vadose zone, and diffuse into porous materials (Alamgir, 2017).

The concentration or availability of metals in soil is controlled by various physical and chemical processes such as exchange, adsorption and desorption, complexation, precipitation and dissolution, oxidation, reduction, sequestration and occlusion, diffusion and migration, metal competition, biological immobilization and mobilization and plant uptake (Kabata - Pendias, 2010; Wuana and Okieimen, 2011).

Alamgir (2017) discussed that, metal behaviour in soils is a dynamic process and bioavailability of metal is regulated by physical, chemical and Biological properties of soils. Many other elements such as lead (Pb), Cadmium (Cd), chromium (Cr) and mercury (Hg) can also be found in vegetables and accumulate in the food chain (Pan *et al.*, 2016). Plants like vegetables can take up these metals by absorbing from polluted soils and by atmospheric deposition of particulate matter from different sources and are first absorbed in the apoplast of roots and transported further into other parts of the plant cells (Gupta *et al.*, 2019). Plants roots uptake of metals is controlled by many factors such as soluble contents of trace elements (metals) in soil, soil pH, organic matter, cation exchange capacity, plant growth stages, crop type, fertilizers and soil type etc. (Lente *et al.*, 2014; Yadav *et al.*, 2018).

A soils redox potential which determines the tendency of the soil solution to accept or donate electrons (Sheoran *et al.*, 2016) is very important because, Gupta *et al.* (2019) found that, metals are present in their ionic forms in the soil solution. Thus, the mobility of such metals from soil to plants depend on their oxidation state for example, Cr exists in two oxidation states of which the reduced form (Cr^{+3}) is quite insoluble in water while Cr^{+6} is highly soluble and readily available in the soil solution to the plants (NRC, 2003).Transportation plays a significant role in metals or trace elements accumulation in plants in that, trace elements are transported to the ground part of the plant and then accumulated under the effect of transpiration (Gupta *et al.*, 2019). Also, when transpiration is flourishing, plant accumulates more trace elements and its enrichment capacity is also stronger (Hao *et al.*, 2012). Gupta *et al.* (2019) found that, leafy vegetables accumulate

much higher content of trace elements than other vegetables and crops due to higher translocation and transpiration rate. The transfer of metals from root to stem and then to fruit during the transpiration and translocation process is longer in non-leafy vegetables and results in lower accumulation (Itanna, 2002; Khan *et al.*, 2009).

Plants absorb essential and non - essential elements from the soil in response to concentration gradient and selective uptake of ions or by diffusion (Peralta - Videa et al., 2009). Also metal distribution in plants is quite heterogeneous and is controlled by genetic environmental and toxic factors (Natasa et al., 2015). The dynamics of heavy metals in plant - soil interactions depend mainly on the level of soil contamination and plant species (Guala et al., 2001). Different plant parts contain different heavy metals (Natasa et al., 2015) because plants absorb heavy metals from the soil through the root and from the atmosphere through above ground vegetative organs (Mmolawa et al., 2011). Ukpong et al. (2013) shares a view that, in order for root uptake of heavy metals to occur, a soluble species must exist adjacent to the root membrane for some finite period and also concluded that, the waste dumpsites worked on had higher concentration of heavy metal than control site and that of the surface soil (0 - 15 cm) than subsurface soil (15 - 30 cm) depth, by extension this means that, deep rooted crop might have lower metal than shallow rooted crop. Amusan and Olawale (2005) found that, the rate of metal uptake by plants could be influenced by factors as metal species, plant species, soil pH, CEC, organic matter, soil texture and interaction among the target elements.

2.4.1 The role of soil properties on metal availability in soils

The soil is one of the most important natural resource which provides the main mineral elements for plants growth and crop production (Uma et al., 2016). The formation of 1cm top soil layer requires 100 - 400 years (Deshmukh, 2012). The physicochemical properties of metal ions that influence metal sorption rate include atomic weight, ionic radius, hydrated ion radius, electronegativity, reduction potential and covalent bonding couple with metals behaviour in soils as a dynamic process and how its bioavailability is regulated by physical, chemical and biological properties of the soil (Alamgir, 2017). Kirmanni et al. (2011) noted that, large number of factors control metal accumulation and bioavailability associated with soil and climatic conditions, plant genotype and agronomic management. Some recent studies have indicated that, there is a significant impact of carbonates on the sorption and retention of metals (Shirvani et al., 2006; Ahmed et al., 2008; Irha et al., 2009). All the physicochemical and biological properties are useful but the factors considered most important are: soil pH, soil texture, clay mineralogy, organic matter, redox potential, and cation exchange capacity (CEC) (Adriano, 2001; Bolan et al., 2013; Selim, 2013). Several studies have indicated the possibility of the combined effects of soil properties on metals sorption and desorption (Harter and Naidu, 2001; Appel and Ma, 2002; Dutta et al., 2011).

2.4.1.1 Soil pH

The soil pH is defined as the negative logarithm of the hydrogen concentration (Alamgir, 2017) and generally has the greatest effect of any single factor on the solubility or retention of metals in soils (Ghosh and Singh, 2005; Alloway, 2012). Soil pH or hydrogen ion concentration is an important quality of natural soils (Umar *et al.*, 2016). The soil pH of

natural soil has 7 - 8.5 but a variation may be due to biological activity, temperature, disposal of municipal waste (Oyedele *et al.*, 2008). Umar *et al.* (2016) further explained that, soil pH directly affects the life and growth of plant soil.

Soil pH is a master variable influencing the chemical, physical and biological properties of soil (Chakraborty, 2015; Neina, 2019) as in the case of a metal like cadmium whose uptake by plants is enhanced by low soil pH (Rajkumar et al., 2012). A study has established that, with increasing soil pH, the solubility of most trace elements will decrease leading to low concentration in soil solution (Kabata - Pendias, 2011). At acidic pH medium, more protons (H^{+}) are available to saturate metal binding sites; therefore, metals are less likely to form insoluble precipitates (Alamgir, 2017). Generally metal sorption increases with increasing pH and when pH falls below 5, metals mobility is enhanced as a result of the increased proton concentration (Mclaughlin et al., 2000; Paulose et al., 2007). Metal availability is relatively low when pH is around 6.5-7, (Adelekan and Alawode, 2011), but lower pH would favour availability, mobility and redistribution of metals example Pb and Cd in the various fractions (Oviasogie and Ndio Kwere, 2008). Proshad et al. (2018) share a similar view that, at low soil pH (pH \leq 5), solubility of hazardous elements are increased. Eze *et al.* (2018) have further reported that, heavy metals are generally more mobile at pH < 7 than pH> 7. At basic conditions, metal ions can replace such protons to form other species, such as hydroxo - metal complexes (Olaniran et al., 2013). Desorbing protons can leave negatively charged groups at the surface, which act as Lewis bases that coordinate metal ions (Alamgir, 2017) and the adsorbed protons can form proton bonds between surface groups and metal

complexes and generate positive charges at the surface repelling or attracting respectively positively or negatively charged metal complexes (Selim and Kingery, 2003).

Alamgir (2017) concluded that, soil pH increases are often correlated with mineralogy, changes in solution chemistry and base cation concentration at high pH; at lower pH there is high acidic cation concentration and higher metal solubility. Gupta *et al.* (2019) have found that pH is considered to be the main factor which affects the solubility of metals in the soil and this assertion was earlier confirmed by Sheoran *et al.* (2016) that, metal decreases at high pH and increases at low pH values. A decrease in soil pH increases the mobility of positively charged heavy metals as a result of proton competition with these metals and decrease in negative binding sites (Horckmans *et al.*, 2007) and under alkaline (increase pH) conditions, functional groups present in soil organic matter, dissociate, thereby increasing the bioavailability of heavy metals that are bound to organic matter (Fine *et al.*, 2005).

2.4.1.2 Soil Texture and Clay Mineralogy

Soil texture and mineral types play an important role in mobility of metals in soil and it reflects the relative amounts of sand, silt and clay particles in a soil (Alamgir, 2017). The texture of soil influences the solubility and bioavailability of metals in the soil and this is due to the fact that, the availability of trace elements is highest in loamy sand followed by clay loam, and find-textured clay soils (Gupta *et al.*, 2019). Sheoran *et al.* (2010) further discussed that, trace elements retainability is higher in fine-textured soils (clay and clay loam) as compared with coarse - textured soils (sand) due to the presence of more pore spaces in sand. Clay fraction of a soil contain particles less than 0.002 mm in size, particles

less than 0.001mm are the soil colloids and the most active portion of the soil which largely determines the physical and chemical properties of a soil, clay has a high sorption capacity and a strong ability to bind metallic elements due to their large specific area, clay has chemical and mechanical stability, clay is layered structured and have high cation exchange capacity (CEC) (Alamgir, 2017). The larger pore space and lower sorption capacity cause sandy soils to weakly absorb heavy metals unlike clay soils with high sorption capacities that play an importance role in metals absorption by plants (Alamgir, 2017).

2.4.1.3 Soil Organic Matter

Organic carbon in soils consists basically of humic substances which are formed by decomposition of organic matter and the humic substances from organic source have a powerful complexing and chelating entities whose sorption characteristics or properties depend on their chemical composition (Nurudeen and Aderibigbe, 2013). Soil organic matter comprises of non-humic substances and humic substances, the humic substances or humus is comprised of humic and fulvic acids (Gupta *et al.*, 2019). The main mechanisms involved in the retention of metals by organic matter are complexation and adsorption but their sphere and ion exchange reaction may also take place sometimes (Evans, 1989). McBride *et al.* (2015) reported no correlation between organic matter and specific metals like lead (Pb) and arsenic (As). Soil organic matter has been of particular interest in studies of heavy metal sorption by soils, because organic matter is known to form strong complexes with heavy metals which has a high affinity for humic acids, organo-clays, and oxides coated with organic matter (Connell and Miller 1984: Elliot *et al.*, 1986; Faffney *et al.*, 1996; Karaca, 2004; Ghosh and Singh, 2005).

Soil organic matter serves as a reactive adsorbent pool for trace metals, due to their high surface area and their high reactivity associated with various S-O- and N-functional group. Organic matter can reduce or increase the bioavailability of heavy metals in soil through immobilization or mobilization by forming various insoluble or soluble heavy metal organic complexes (Alamgir, 2017). The complexation reaction follows the formula;

$$R - L^{1+} + M^{m+} \rightarrow R - L - M^{m+1-}$$
 (2.1)

Where R is the C - chain, L the active group which actually binds, M the metal, and m +1 are the valencies of metal and ligand, respectively. The effect of soil organic matter on metals in soils depends on its amounts, composition, and dynamics (Alamgir, 2017). Soil organic matter is important for the retention of metals in the soil thereby decreasing mobility, bioavailability and enhances the usefulness of soil for agricultural purposes (Akpoveta *et al.*, 2010). Several studies have indicated that the reactions between organic acid and heavy metals are related to the amount and place of the carboxyl and hydroxyl groups (Shan *et al.*, 2002; Gao *et al.*, 2003: Schwab *et al.*, 2008). Generally citric acid is the most effective in terms of desorption of different metals (Cu, Ag, Pb, Cd, Zn), followed by malic > acetic > tartaric > oxalic acid as organic acid with more carboxyl group form more stable ligand (Vranova *et al.*, 2013; Yan *et al.*, 2014), the more stable of the ligand formed the more difficulty for it to be adsorbed by the soil and sediment, and thus metal leaching is much easier (Gao *et al.*, 2003).

The binding of heavy metals by organic matter is a complex process, due to the diversity of its connections with the mineral phase (Harter and Naidu; 2001; Lamb, 2010). Organic matter which is described as the level of mineral elements for plant development and growth

(Odai *et al.*, 2008) has been classified for cultivation as; < 2.0% as low; (values below critical limits); 2.1 - 3.0% as medium (values above critical limit) and > 3.1 as high (Enzezer *et al.*, 1988). Most organic matter contents in dumpsites soils are high and Odai *et al.* (2008), explained that, dumpsites receives much organic wastes and this confirms why farmers consciously choose to farm on such sites. Eze *et al.* (2018) reported that, high values of soil organic matter in dumpsite soils may be to due high anthropogenic activities such as indiscriminate dumping of refuse and decomposition of dead plants. Qadir *et al.* (2008) also affirmed that, dumpsites have higher organic matter contents.

2.4.1.4 Cation Exchange Capacity (CEC)

Cation exchange capacity (CEC) is a dominant factor in heavy metals retention and is defined simply as the sum total of exchangeable cations that a soil can adsorb or the number of cation adsorption sites per unit weight of soil expressed as centimoles per kg (cmolkg⁻¹) (Alamgir, 2017). CEC is a factor that plays a vital role in the availability of metals in soil (Gupta *et al.*, 2019). The soil with low CEC such as sand has less binding power to metals and other cations as compared to the soil with high CEC such as clay (Bhargava *et al.*, 2012). Soil CEC levels increase concomitantly with increasing soil clay content, while the availability of metal ions decreases (Gupta *et al.*, 2019). CEC for clay soils usually exceeds 30 cmolkg⁻¹ while the value ranges from 0 - 5 for sandy soils (Alamgir, 2017). The capacity of soils for adsorbing heavy metals is correlated with their CEC (Fontes *et al.*, 2000; Harter and Naidu, 2001). The greater the CEC values, the more exchange sites of soil minerals will be available for metal retention (Alamgir, 2017).

CEC (meq100g ⁻¹)	Soil Texture
3 - 5	Sands
10 - 15	Loams
15 - 25	Silt Loams
20 - 50	Clay and Clay Loams
50 - 100	Organic soils

Table 2.1 Relationship between cation exchange capacity (CEC) and soil texture

Source: Culman et al. (2019).

2.4.1.5 Oxidation - reduction potential

Oxidation - reduction potential (redox potential) is one of the critical factors regulating the speciation and bioavailability of metals in soils (Alamgir, 2017). The redox potential of soil determines the tendency of the soil solution to accept or donate the electrons (Sheoran *et al.*, 2016). Alamgir (2017), further explained that oxidation and reduction (redox potential) reactions are common in soils which occur together because as an electron cannot exist as an isolated entity; it is transferred from one species (the reductant) to another (the oxidant).

Several metals are present in their ionic forms in the soil solution thus the mobility of such metals from soil to plants depends on their oxidation state for example, Cr exists in two oxidation states of which the reduced form i.e Cr⁺³ is quite insoluble in water while the oxidized form (Cr⁺⁶) is highly soluble and readily available in the soil solution to the plants (NRC, 2003). The extent to which a soil is reduced or oxidized is generally assessed by the values of 'Eh and Pe' where 'Pe' is a redox potential which is expressed in terms of electrochemical energy (millivolts) and assumes a system at thermodynamic equilibrium

(Alamgir, 2017). Oxidized soils have values ranging from +400 to +700 mV while reduced soils may have values from -250 to -300 mV (Roberts *et al.*, 2005).

Redox reactions play a major role in the formation and reactivity of some soil oxides (Fe and Mn) responsible for metal sorption and also controls the chemical speciation of several metalloid contaminants (As, Cr and Se) thus affecting sorption (McLaughlin *et al.*, 2000). Generally reducing conditions cause a reduction in heavy metal mobility (Kabata - Pendias and Pendias, 1991; Gonsior *et al.*, 1997). Oxidation – reduction reactions may not only affect the partitioning of redox-active trace metals like Cr, or Mo, but also of redox stable metals like Zn, Cu, or Ni, in soil or aquatic environments (Lander and Reutherr, 2004).

2.4.1.6 Interaction with other metals

The presence of certain trace elements affects the availability of other metals in the soil and hence in the plant (Gupta *et al.*, 2019). Antagonistic and synergistic behaviour thus exists among trace elements (Chibuike and Obiora, 2014), example, Cd is reported to antagonize the inhibitory effect of Zn on the total amount of mineralized carbon (Salgare and Acharekar, 1992). Similarly, Cu and Zn, as well as Ni and Cd, have been reported to compete for the same membrane carriers in plants (Clarkson and Luttge, 1989). Lead availability is affected by the other metals and reduced when interacting with Cd, Cr, Cu, Ni and Zn due to antagonistic effect (Orronoa *et al.*, 2012). Despite the fact that presence of one trace elements affects the presence of another one, different species of some metal also affect each other (Abedin *et al.*, 2002).

2.4.2 Plant related factors

An uptake and accumulation ability of different trace elements (heavy metals) is dissimilar in different vegetables (Yadav *et al.*, 2018) and crops in general, due to the difference in physiology, morphology and anatomy of each plant, leaf inclination angle and branch density (Shahid *et al.*, 2016) are some morphological characters which affect the foliar uptake of trace elements. Like root uptake, foliar uptake of trace elements may occur in a dose dependent manner (Gupta *et al.*, 2019). Xiong *et al.* (2014) suggested that small particles might diffuse through both the stomatal and cuticular pathways to enter the plant. Leaf penetration through stomatal pathway is generally easier because the cuticle of the substomatal cells is comparatively thinner compared to external one (Roth - Nebel, 2007). The plant with numerous thin roots has high accumulation capacity of trace elements than one with few thick roots (Chandran *et al.*, 2012).

Transpiration also plays a significance role in trace elements accumulation in plants (Gupta *et al.*, 2019) because when transpiration is flourishing, plant accumulates more trace elements and its enrichment capability is also stronger (Hao *et al.*, 2012). Leafy vegetables accumulate much higher translocation and transpiration rates (Gupta *et al.*, 2019). The transfer of metals from root to stem and then to fruit during the transpiration and translocation process is longer in non-leafy vegetables and results in lower accumulation (Itanna, 2002; Khan *et al.*, 2009): Plants absorb essential and non - essential elements from the soil in response to concentration gradient and selective uptake of ions or by diffusion (Peralta -Videa *et al.*, 2009).

2.4.3 Effects of heavy metals on Soil

Heavy metal pollution of the soil is caused by various metals especially Cu, Ni, Cd, Zn, Cr and Pb (Hinojosah *et al.*, 2004) whose accumulation is an important requirement in environmental science (Nurudeen and Aderibigbe, 2013). Heavy metals sorption in soil is influenced by factors such as clay, pH, CEC and organic matter content (Adekunle *et al.*, 2007). Metals pollution occur largely from industrial domestic and agricultural wastes as well as composition of fossil fuels by automobiles and (Nurudeen and Aderibigbe, 2013). The adverse effects of heavy metals on soil biological and biochemical properties are well documented (Singh and Kalamdhad, 2011). Soil properties like organic matter, clay contents and pH having major influences on the extent of the effects of metals on biological and biochemical properties (Speira *et al.*, 1999). The soil enzymes activities are influenced in different ways by different metals due to the different chemical affinities of the enzymes in the soil system (Karaca *et al.*, 2010).

An increase in metal concentrations adversely affects soil microbial properties such as respiration rate and enzyme activities (Singh and Kalamdhad, 2013). The contamination of soil by heavy metals are of global concern and present a serious problem (Muniatu and Otiato, 2010; Panagos *et al.*, 2011) because soils contamination had shown to inhibit soil microbial activities and in turn reducing soil fertility, inhibiting the germination of certain seeds and producing nutrient imbalance in plants with adverse effect on synthesis and functioning of many biologically active compounds (Nurudeen and Aderibigbe, 2013).

2.4.4 Effects of heavy metals on plants

Plants have a natural propensity to take up metals (Achazai *et al.*, 2011). Heavy metals effect on the growth of plants varies according to the particular heavy metal involved in the process (Chibuike and Obiora, 2014). The uptake of heavy metals by plants and subsequent accumulation along the food chain is a potential threat to animal and human health (Sprynskyy *et al.*, 2007). These heavy metals are potentially toxic are to plantsand thus resulting in chlorosis, weak plant growth, yield depression and may even be accompanied by reduced nutrient uptake and reduced activity to fix molecular nitrogen in leguminous plants (Guala *et al.*, 2010). Elevated lead (Pb) in soils may decrease soil productivity and a very low lead (Pb) concentration may inhibit some vital plant processes, such as photosynthesis, mitosis and water absorption with toxic symptoms of dark green leaves, wilting of older leaves, stunted foliage and brown shoot roots (Bhattachargya *et al.*, 2008).

2.4.5 Effects of heavy metals on human and animal health

Utilization of food crops contaminated with heavy metals is a major food chain route for human exposure (Singh and Kalamdhad, 2011). Heavy metals become toxic when they are not metabolized by the body and accumulate in the soft tissues (Sobha *et al.*, 2007). Ingestion of toxic metals like chromium has undesirable impacts on humans and the associated harmful impacts become perceptible only after several years of exposure (Khan *et al.*, 2008). Cadmium toxicity on large organs like liver, placenta, kidneys, lungs, brains and bones have been identified (Sobha *et al.*, 2007). Clinical signs of Zn toxicosis have been reported as vomiting, diarrhea, bloody urine, yellow mucus membrane, liver failure, kidney failure and anaemia (Duruibe *et al.*, 2007).

Excessive human intake of Cu may lead to severe mucosal irritation and corrosion, widespread capillary damage, hepatic and renal damage and central nervous system irritation followed by depression (Singh and Kalamadhad, 2011). Excessive Ni exposure may vary from skin irritation to damage to the lungs, nervous system, and mucos membranes (Argun *et al.*, 2007). Acute Pb poisoning may result to a dysfunction in the kidney, reproductive system, liver and brain which may lead to sickness and death (Odum, 2000). Cr is toxic and has no known function in human biochemistry and physiology (Singh and Kalamdhad, 2011). As inhibits the production of adenosine triphosphate (ATP) during respiration (Singh and Kalamdhad, 2011). Heavy metals are not only harmful to people who work (farm) on contaminated soils, but people who have been living in nearby areas (Abishek and Surrendra, 2016) and consumers of farm products from those areas. Although Cu is needed for biochemical process in crops, increased concentration of Cu is detrimental to human health (Tariq *et al.*, 2016).

2.5 Crop Production on dumpsites

Many dumpsites in the rural and urban communities in Ghana including abandoned refuse dumpsites are used for cultivation of crops especially vegetables (Twumasi *et al.*, 2016). The constructions of roads and buildings have been blamed for the losses of otherwise agricultural lands (Kugelman, 2012). Most Ghanaian communities over the years have promoted backyard farming (Appeaning, 2010) because many families in these rural and urban communities depend upon backyard farming (Zezza and Tasciotti, 2010) which include both livestock and crops (Cofie *et al.*, 2005). The activities of backyard dumpsite farmers are not without soil pollution problems which are full of serious health implications

especially with regards to crops grown on such soils (Steffang *et al.*, 2017; Nwaogu *et al.*, 2014). However, these dumpsites are commonly used for direct cultivation of vegetables and also as a good source of compost to support mainland agricultural activities (Owusu - Sekyere *et al.*, 2013; Mwingyine, 2008). Both active and closed dumpsites in Ghana are all utilized since these soils are considered as nutrient rich by farmers in Ghana using wide range of crops from vegetables to tree crops for food, medicinal and other economic use.

2.5.1 Plantain (Musa sapientum) farms on dumpsites

Plantain is a tree - crop herb belonging to the Musaceae family with high starchy fruits which serve as a staple crop in most parts of the tropics including Nigeria (Iniobong and Uduakobong, 2017) and Ghana. Plantain is one of the common food tree crops found on dumpsites in Ghana, the reason being that they thrive well in waste dumpsites soils (Iniobong and Uduakobong, 2017). Plantain fruits have high fibre content which makes it a diet for lowering blood cholesterol and relieving of constipation thereby putting colon cancer at bay (Okareh, 2015). In Ghana, apart from human feeding on the mature fruits, the fresh leaves are also used to feed livestock. Plantain has a high demand for organic matter and thrives well in waste dumpsites where they produce healthy bunches of fruits (Iniobong and Uduakobong, 2017). Leachates from these dumpsites contribute to heavy metals in the soil (Ukpong et al., 2013) and it is the commonest occurring group of soil contaminant (Ideria et al., 2010). In Ghana, due to scarcity of arable lands in urban areas plantain is cultivated in dumpsites in densely populated cities and rural communities, most especially in strategic locations where all sorts of solid waste materials are dumped (Iniobong and Uduakobong, 2017).

Higher levels of heavy metals such as lead, cadmium were found to be higher in waste dumpsites soils than in soils, some distances away from the dumpsites (Ukpong *et al.*, 2013; Amos - Tautau et al., 2014; Olufunmilayo et al., 2014; Tanee and Eshami - Mario, 2015) and growing plantain in such dumpsites absorbed these heavy metals along with other nutrients and accumulated them in their fruits. It was found out that all the dumpsites fruits had significantly (p = 0.05) higher heavy metals contents than those from the control site for example: dumpsite fruits Pb levels (7.63 - 8.67 mgkg⁻¹), control site fruits Pb (1.13 mgkg⁻¹); dumpsite site Cr levels (6.59 - 7.33 mgkg⁻¹), control site fruits Cr levels (2.23 mgkg⁻¹); dumpsites fruits Ni levels (2.66 - 3.36 mgkg⁻¹), control site fruits Ni levels (1.14 mgkg⁻¹); dumpsites fruits Cu levels (2.44 - 5.26 mgkg⁻¹), control fruits Cu levels (2.00 - 3.22 mgkg-1) (Iniobong and Uduakobong, 2017). Plantain has shown the ability to absorb metals and metals concentrations in their leaves have also showed a good correlation with the concentration of metals in soil (Bekteshi and Bora, 2013). Plantain and banana (Musa spp) roots feed well between 20 - 40 cm in depth (though roots have been found to reach 1.5 - 1.8 m deep in exceptional soils) (Draye et al., 2005; Turner et al., 2007).

2.5.2 Cocoyam (Xanthosoma sagitifolium) farms on dumpsites

Soil which serves as a vital resource for sustaining basic human needs (Ogunmodede and Adewole, 2015) also serves as a sink and recycling factory for both liquid and solid wastes (Wild, 1995). In the Ashanti region of Ghana, Cocoyam is one of the commonest crops found on dumpsites. (Asomani - Boateng and Murray, 1995) and these are known to contain toxic metal elements as a result of human activities and some of these materials are inorganic and as a result are not biodegradable and have toxic effects on living organisms at

certain level of concentration (Ogunmodede and Adewole, 2015). However, most edible crops are indiscriminate in their extraction of nutrients from the soil and thus will extract the non - desirable heavy metals alongside the required essential nutrients to man, may cause blood and bone disorders, kidney damage and decreased mental capacity and neurological damage (NIEHS, 2004; Ogunmoded and Adewole, 2015).

Table 2.2 Metal concentration (mgkg⁻¹) in cocoyam from Atinkankan dumpsite

Plant	Parts	Cd	Cr	Cu	Fe	Ni	Pb	Zn
Cocoyam	Tuber	5.20 <u>+</u>	BDL	11.05 <u>+</u>	110.00 +	BDL	46.04 <u>+</u>	92.00 <u>+</u>
		0.01		0.01	0.01		0.02	0.00
	Leaf	7.30 <u>+</u>	1.00 <u>+</u>	0.01 <u>+</u>	68.12 <u>+</u>	6.03 <u>+</u>	30.10 <u>+</u>	48.70 <u>+</u>
		0.01	0.01		0.02	0.01	0.00	0.00

BDL - Below detectable limit. Source: Ogunmodede and Adewole (2015).

Amusan *et al.* (2005) have reported that crops like cocoyam differ in their ability to uptake metals as soils are able to biodegrade almost all organic compounds found in waste by converting them into harmless substances unlike inorganic substances which are non - biodegradable, persist and accumulate in the soil (Ukpong *et al.*, 2013). Therefore, dumpsites used as fertile grounds for the cultivation of crops results in increased uptake of heavy metals either as mobile ions or through foliar absorption (Amusan *et al.*, 2005). Cocoyam root system is fibrous and lies mainly at a soil depth of up to 1 m (Onwueme, 1994; Onyeka, 2014).

2.5.3 Lettuce (Lactiva sativa) farms on dumpsites

Lettuce production on dumpsites agricultural lands contribute to production of vegetables especially in urban communities where arable lands are scarce (Dubbeling and De Zeeuw, 2011) and most of these vegetables like lettuce used for cultivation are hyper accumulators of most of the essential heavy metals (Singh *et al.*, 2012) and non- essential heavy metals such as lead and cadmium (Twumasi *et al.*, 2016). Dumpsites used in agriculture for crops like lettuce cultivation are an important source of dangerous heavy metals derived from components of industrial products (Fuge, 2013; Wuana and Okieimen, 2011) and thus agricultural activities on such lands provide entry route for heavy metals in the food chain (Twumasi *et al.*, 2016). Most leafy vegetables like lettuce are hyper accumulators of some non - essential heavy metals (Singh *et al.*, 2012). Higher concentrations of heavy metals have earlier been detected in fruits and vegetables harvested from waste dumpsites (Imasuen and Omorogiera, 2013; Cortez and Ching, 2014; Tanee and Eshalomi - Mario, 2015).

When plants like lettuce are cultivated on these dumpsites soils, they absorb some of these heavy metals and bioaccumulate them in their roots, stems, fruits, grains and leaves (Fatoki, 2000). A study on a dumpsite and a control site found that, metal concentrations in lettuce on dumpsites found Cd level (0.13 - 0.67 mgkg⁻¹) higher than control site lettuce Cd level (0.010 mgkg⁻¹ Cd) while control soil Cd level (0.243 - 13.623 mgkg⁻¹) was lower than Cd level ranged in dumpsite soil (90.013 - 7.197 mgkg⁻¹) (Twumasi *et al.*, 2016). A report indicates that maximum allowable level of Cd in soil is supposed to be 0.27 mgkg⁻¹ in lettuce 0.02 mgkg⁻¹, Cd level in fruity vegetable was 0.05 mgkg⁻¹; Cd while Pb maximum allowable level in soil is 0.420 mgkg⁻¹, in lettuce 0.3 mgkg⁻¹ Pb and in fruity vegetable it is

expected to be 0.1 mgkg⁻¹ Pb (FAO / WHO, 2011). Lettuce has a rooting depth of up to 0.3 m at harvest (Thorup-Kristensen, 2001).

Heavy metals	Mean concentration of metal (mgkg ⁻¹)
Cu ²⁺	8.00
Fe ²⁺	384.412
Mn^{2+}	26.113
Zn^{2+}	76.457
Pb^{2+}	5.942
Ni ²⁺	3.083
Cd^{2+}	5.633
Source: Kabir et al. (2011).	

Table 2.3 Metal concentration levels in cultivated lettuce (Lactuca sativa L.)

Table 2.4 Allowable concentration limit of heavy metals in soils and plants (mgkg⁻¹)

Metals	Concentration in soil (mgkg ⁻¹)	Concentration in plants (mgkg ⁻¹)
Р	100.00	0.30
Cr	100.00	-
Ni	52.00	67.00
Cu	10.00	73.00
Cd	3.00	0.10
As	20.00	-

Source: WHO / FAO (Chiroma et al., 2014): in Iniobong and Uduakobong (2017).

Metals (mgkg ⁻¹)	levels in plants (mgkg ⁻¹)	Normal range in plant (mgkg ⁻¹)
Cd	1	< 2.4
Cu	30	2.5
Pb	2	0.50 - 30
Zn	60	20 - 100
Fe	48	400 - 500
Ni	-	0.02 - 50
As	30	0.5 - 20

Table 2.5 FAO/WHO	guidelines	for metals in	food / vegetables
	0		0

Source: FAO/WHO (2011).

Fable 2.6 Concentration ranges of metal	s (mgkg ⁻¹) in soils and plants and critical
--	--

Metals	Normal range in soils	Normal range in plants	Critical plant concentration
	(mgkg ⁻¹)	(mgkg ⁻¹)	(mgkg ⁻¹)
Cr*	5 - 1500	0.03 - 14	5 - 30
Fe [#]	5000 - 100 000	40 - 500	-
Ni [*]	2 - 750	0.02 - 5	15 - 50
Cu [*]	2 - 250	5 - 20	20 - 100
Zn^*	1 - 900	1 - 400	100 - 400
As^*	0.1 - 40	0.02 - 7	5 - 20
Cd^*	0.01 - 2	0.1 - 2.4	5 - 30
Hg^{*}	0.01 - 0.5	0.005 - 0.17	1 - 3
Pb^*	2 - 300	0.2 - 20	30 - 300

concentrations in plants

Source: *Radojevic and Baskin (2006); #Stewart et al. (1974).

Metals	Soil metal limit (mgkg ⁻¹)	
Cr	-	
Fe	-	
Ni	50.00	
Cu	100.00	
Zn	300.00	
As	20.00	
*Cd	3.00	
Hg	2.00	
Pb	5.00	

Table 2.7 WHO/FAO heavy metals threshold in soils

WHO/FAO (2001); FAO/WHO (2007) *

Table 2.8 Heavy metal permissible (mgkg⁻¹) limits in plants

Metal	Level	Level
Ni	10 **	50***
Cr	1.30**	70***
Cd	0.02**	0.35***
Cu	10**	100***
Pb	2**	100***
Zn	50**	*300
Fe	20**	-
Fe	20**	-

***FAO/WHO (2007); **FAO/WHO (2009); *(Shal et al., 2011).
	UK (1989)	Germany (1992)			
Metal	pH 6 - 7	рН 5.5 - 6	pH 5 - 5.5	рН 6 - 7	pH 5 - 6	
Zn	300	250	200	200	150	
Cu	135	100	80	60	60	
Ni	75	60	50	50	50	
Cd	3	3	1.5	1.5	1.0	
Cr	400	400	100	100	100	
Pb	300	300	100	100	100	

Table 2.9 Permissible limit for total metals (mgkg⁻¹) in various soil pH ranges in UK

and Germany

Permissible limits Adapted from (Ghorbani et al., 2006).

2.6 Evaluation of soil heavy metal pollution

A soil pollution index is a powerful tool for processing, analyzing and carrying raw environmental information to decision makers, managers, technicians and the public (Caeiro *et al.*, 2005). Gong *et al.* (2008) have classified pollution indices into two main types (i) single indices and (ii) integrated indices and some of the single indices identified and used in this studies were geoaccumulation index, enrichment factor, relative top soil enrichment factor, transfer ratio and translocation factor.

2.6.1 Geoaccumulation Index (Igeo)

An index of geo- accumulation was originally defined by Muller (1969) in order to determine and define metal contamination in sediments (Banat *et al.*, 2005). The Igeo – accumulation index was distinguished into seven classes by Muller (1996); (Buccolieri *et al.*, 2006): Igeo ≤ 0 , class o, unpolluted: $0 < Igeo \leq 1$, class 1; from unpolluted to moderately

polluted; 1 < Igeo < 2, class 2 moderately polluted: $2 < Igeo \le 3$, class 3, from moderately to strongly polluted; $4 < Igeo \le 5$, class 5, from strongly to extremely polluted; and Igeo 75, class 6, extremely polluted . Igeo is considered as an effective tool for assessing contamination from hazardous element and one of the most important purpose of assessing geo - accumulation index (Igeo) is to characterise the level of pollution in soil (Proshad *et al.*, 2018).

The toxic levels of heavy metals (transferred from soil to plants) may be classified according to their capacity of being transferred from soil to plants (Sule et al., 2019), because the concentration of heavy metals present in plant tissues as a fraction of total metal concentration in the soil reflects its bioavailability (Misra et al., 2009). Many studies have reported data on, especially, the transfer of heavy metals from soil to plants and vegetables through roots and shoots (Uchido et al., 2009). In order to simplify the pollution levels, in the dumpsites and non-dumpsites soils, pollution index; geoaccumulation index, may be considered as an effective tool for assessing degree of contamination from hazardous element (Islam *et al.*, 2018). This technique is used universally for determination of soil metal concentrations nowadays (Santos et al., 2003). Islam et al. (2018) have reported that, one of the most important purposes for assessing metal concentrations is to characterize the level of pollution from soil. Forster et al. (1993); Umme et al. (2016), explained that, to quatify the degree of pollution in a refuse dump soils, Geoaccumulation index (Igeo) was used. The Igeo was determined by the following equation (Miller, 1969; Bozke et al., 2004; Agyarko et al., 2014).

 $I_{geo} = In (Cn / 1.5 x Bn)$ (2.2)

Where: Cn - measured concentration of metal in the refuse dump soil in mgkg⁻¹, Bn - background value of heavy metal (mgkg⁻¹); and 1.5 background matrix concentration factor. The degree of pollution of the soils (Refuse dump soils) by the metals was assessed (Table 2.10) using the Geoaccumulatuion index (I geo) classification by Forstener *et al.* (1993).

I geo - Index	I geo - class	Contamination intensity
< 0	0	practically uncontaminated
0 – 1	1	uncontaminated to moderate
1 - 2	2	moderate
2 - 3	3	moderate to strong
3 - 4	4	strong
4 - 5	5	Strong to very strong
> 5		Very strong

Table 2.10 Geoaccumulation index classification

Source: Forstener et al. (1993); Buccolieri et al. (2006).

2.6.2 Enrichment Factor (EF)

To determine anthropogenic input of metals in soils and sediments, an enrichment factor is used as an appropriate technique (Ali *et al.*, 2013). The enrichment factor (EF) was initially developed to speculate on the origin of elements in the atmosphere and precipitation of seawater Due *et al.* (1975). It was progressively extended to the study of soils, lake sediments, peat, tailing, and other environmental materials (Reimann and Di Caritat, 2005). An enrichment factor (EF) was calculated as the following in preference (Buat - Menard and Chesselet, 1979):

$$EF = \frac{Cn (Sample)/Cref (Sample)}{Bn(background/Bref (background)}$$
(2.3)

Where;

Cn - content of the examined elements in the examined environment

Cref - content of the examined elements in the reference environment.

Bn - content of the reference element in the examined environment

Bref - Content of the reference element in the reference environment.

It is assumed that the considered reference element should have little variation in occurrence and present very small amount in the study environment. However, a geochemical characteristics element occurring in high concentration may be used, but should have no synergistic or antagonistic effect towards the examined element such as Sc, Mn, Al and Fe have been commonly used as reference elements (Loska et al., 1997). Franco - Uria et al. (2009) found that, to assess the magnitude of hazardous elements in the environment, the enrichment factor is assumed an impressive tool, for determination of anthropogenic influences of hazardous elements in soil. According to Birch and Olmos (2008), an EF > 1.5is an indication of human influence, an EF of 1.5 - 3 indicates minor human influence; 3 - 5 indicates moderate human influence; 5 - 10 indicates severe human influence, whilst > 10indicates very severe modification. In computing for the EF, the enrichment of the dumpsites was analyzed by using the concentration of the control (uncontaminated) samples being taken as the reference immobile (acceptable normalization) (Eze, 2015). Ghrefat et al. (2011) reported that, enrichment factor (EF > 1) greater than 1 suggest that the sources are more likely to be anthropogenic or human induced.

Tippie (1984) explained that, Fe chosen as the element of normalization was because of its natural sources (98%) which vastly dominate its input, Eze (2015) also confirmed Fe as a

suitable immobile element. Liu *et al.* (2005) have also reported of using either Fe or Mn. On the basis of the enrichment factor; five contamination categories are generally recognized: EF < 2, depletion to mineral enrichment; $2 \le EF < 5$, moderate enrichment: $5 \le EF < 20$, significant enrichment; $20 \le EF < 40$, very high enrichment; and EF > 40, extremely high enrichment (Sutherland, 2000; Yongming *et al.*, 2006).

2.6.3 Relative top soil enrichment factor (RTEF)

A relative top soil enrichment factor which may be attributed to trace elements or heavy metals recycling by plant and retention by organic matter (Siegel, 2002) can be calculated from this:

RTEF = Total metal contents at 0 - 15 cm depth / Total metal content at 15 - 30 cm depth

(2.4)

(Colbourn and Thornton, 1978).

Table 2.11 Classification of pollution indices - Enrichment Factor (EF) and Relative

Top soil Enrichment F	Factor (RTEF)
-----------------------	---------------

EF	Category	RTEF	Interpretation
EF < 2	no mineral enrichment	$1 \leq \text{RTEF} < 2$	no contamination
$2 \leq EF < 5$	moderate enrichment	RTEF > 2	contamination
$5 \leq EF < 20$	significant enrichment	RTEF > 2	contamination
$20 \leq EF < 40$	very high enrichment	RTEF > 2	contamination
EF > 40	extremely high enrichment	RTEF > 2	contamination

Source: (Sutherland, 2000; Yongming et al., 2006; Ngange et al., 2013).

2.6.4 Transfer ratio (TR)

Transfer ratio is the ratio of the heavy metal concentration in a crop to the total heavy metal concentration in the soil at the site (Chamberlain, 1983; Harrison and Charmaine, 1989; Smith 1996). Transfer factor may also be defined as the ratio of the concentration of metals in plants to the total concentration of that metal in the soil (Hammed et al., 2017). Natasa et al. (2015) explained that TR, signifies the amount of heavy metal in the soil that ended up in the vegetable crop (Odai et al., 2008). Transfer ratio or factor from soil to plan is a key module of human exposure to heavy metals through food chain (Eze et al., 2018). Hammed et al. (2017) in a heavy metal content investigation at 0 - 30 cm soil depth with maize plant found that, the level of heavy metals transfer for site A was in order Cu > Cd > As > Fe >Co > Pb > Zn > Ni while for site B, was Cd > Cu > Fe > Co > As > Pb > Ni > Zn. So the transfer ratio / factor for plants on the dumpsites were higher than TR for plants on background or non-dumpsites (Hammed et al., 2017). However, Agyarko et al. (2010) reported higher transfer ratio values on background soils than on dumpsite soils with high metals load and attributed it to the fact that some soil factors apart from the total soil content of the metals also affect the rate of metal uptake by plants specifically higher levels of organic matter, available phosphorus (phosphates) and exchangeable cations such as Ca and Mg might have affected the metals level and subsequently leading to lower transfer ratios of the metals in the refuse dump soils than the background soils

The Transfer Ratio (TR) of metals from dumpsites soil to plant is calculated using the formular: $TR = (C_{plant} / C_{soil})$ (2.5) Where: C_{plant} - concentration of metals in plants, C_{soil} - concentration of metals in soil (Lokeshwari and Vhandrappa, 2006). Transfer ratio or factor (TF) may also be calculated as a ratio of concentration of a specific metal in plant tissue to the concentration of some metal in soil both in same units (Rangmaekar *et al.*, 2013a).

Natasa *et al.* (2015) found translocation and accumulation of Cd, Pb, Cu in ten different crops and indicated highest transfer factor of Cu (0.1 - 1.0), Pb (0.01 - 0.1) and further explained that, transfer factor (TF) decreases when plants are grown in soils with higher level of heavy metals. Transfer factor with higher values (> 1) indicates higher absorption of metal from soil by the plant, whiles lower values (< 1) indicate poor response of plants towards metal absorption and the plant can be used for human consumption (Rangmaekar *et al.*, 2013b). Jolly *et al.* (2013) and Chindo *et al.* (2016) indicated in their work that Cu with the highest transfer factor (0.86) could be explained with the fact that factors such as pH, exchange binding capacities, climate change and morphology of the plant might have contributed to low transfer factor values on dumpsites soils. Cui *et al.* (2004), earlier, also found that, plant species, physiological stage, uptake capacity, growth rate are among the major determinants of metal transfer from a soil to the crop.

2.6.5 Translocation factor (TF)

The translocation of metals from one part of a vegetable (crop) to another part of the plant is a function of root shoot transport, which can be expressed as the translocation factor (TF) (Gosh and Singh, 2005). It is expressed as:

 $TF = (C_{shoot} / C_{root})$ (2.6)

Where, C _{shoot} is the concentration of the metal in the above ground portion of the vegetable (crop); C _{root} is the metal concentration in the below ground portion (Gosh and Singh, 2005). A plant will have a high capacity to transport element from root to shoot when the above ground concentration is higher than the below ground concentration (Nafiu, 2010).



CHAPTER THREE

3.0 MATERIALS AND METHODS

3.1 Study 1 – Farmer's Awareness of Dumpsites Soil Physicochemical Properties

3.1.1 Locations of study

Study one interviewed farmers from three dumpsites communities at Mampong - Kyeremfaso dumpsite (Lat. 7° 05' 27.9'' N, Long. 1° 24' 19.2'' W); Kumasi - Suame Magazine dumpsite (Lat. 6° 43' 26.9'' N, Long. 1° 37' 22.6'' W) and Kumasi - Ayeduase dumpsite (Lat. 6° 40' 31.29'' N, Long. 1° 33' 42.9'' W) within the Ashanti region of Ghana (Lat. 5° 50' 7.46''N, Long. 1° 15' 2.25'' W). Figure 3.1 shows the locations of the dumpsites within the Kumasi Metropolis and Mampong Municipal.



Fig. 3.1 The site map of studied locations in Ashanti region, Ghana.

3.1.2 Climate and Vegetation

The Ashanti region of Ghana experiences double maxima rainfall in a year, with peaks in May/June as the major season and October as the minor season. Mean total annual rainfall ranges from is between 1100 mm to 1800mm. The mean annual temperature ranges between 25.5° C in the southern districts and 32° C in the northern parts of the region. Humidity is high averaging about 85% in the southern districts and 65% in the northern part of the region (MOFA, 2020).

3.1.3 Demography

The study locations are within Ashanti region of Ghana with a population of 3,612 950 (19.1 % of the national total (Ghana Population Census, 2000). The sex ratio (Male: Female) for the entire region was 1 : 0.98. The population density is 148.1 persons / km² (Ghana Population Census, 2000) and is higher than the national average of 79.3. The regions' population growth rate of 3.4% is above the national average of 2.7%. The economically active population (15 – 49 years) in the region is 1,612,467 (representing 19.45% of national figure of 8,292,114 (Ghana Population Census, 2000). Of this 706,888 are engaged in agriculture (farming, forestry, fishing and hunting), representing 43.8. Sex ratio; 50% males and 50% females. Approximately 65% of the total population depends on agriculture for their livelihood (Ghana Statistical Service, 2016).

3.1.4 Soil Types

Soils in Ashanti region are mainly of two types; Forest Ochrosols found in the southern districts while the Savanna Ochrosols are confined to the northern districts. The pH and nutrient status of the soils will support crop production (Table 3.1) (CSIR - Soil Research

Institute, 2020). The physical characteristics outlined (Table 3.2) showed that the soil bulk density and texture classification can support food and cash crops (Field data).

Locations	Soil Types	Soil pH	Organic matter	Total N	Available P	Soil pH	
			(%)				
Offinso –	Savanna	5.3 - 7.8	1.5 - 3.0	0.2 - 0.3	0.12 - 12	50 - 100	
Ejura	Ochrosols						
(Northern							
District)							
Kwadaso-	Forest	4.3 - 7.0	1.5 - 3.0	0.1 - 0.2	0.12 - 12	50 - 100	
Juaso,	Ochrosol						
Obuasi							
(Southern							
District)							
Source: Soil Research Institute, CSIR - Kumasi (2020).							

	Table 3.1	Fertility	status	of soils	in Ash	1anti re	egion, (Ghana
--	-----------	-----------	--------	----------	--------	----------	----------	-------

Table 3.2 Soil physicochemical properties of the six studied soil sites

Treatment	BD	Sand	Silt	Clay	Texture
/ Location	(gcm^{-3})	(%)	(%)	(%)	
1 / Mampong Kyeremfaso	1.54	94.00	2.00	4.00	Sand
2 / Mampong UEW forest	1.58	88.00	6.00	6.00	Sand
3 / Kumasi Suame	1.12	94.00	2.00	4.00	Sand
4 / Kumasi Meduma	1.61	68.00.	10.00	22.00	Sand Clay Loam
5 / Kumasi Ayeduase	1.59	80.00	16.00	4.00	Loamy Sand
6 / Kumasi KNUST	1.41	86.00	10.00	4.00	Loamy Sand
a					

Source: Field data.

3.1.5 Sampling procedure

A purposive sampling technique was used during a preliminary visit to the communities and the available dumpsites and hundred farmers were selected. They were dumpsite farmers within Kumasi and Mampong. Fifty respondents were identified from Mampong -Kyeremfaso dumpsite community within the Mampong Municipal; thirty respondents were identified at Kumasi - Suame dumpsite community within the Kumasi Metropolis and twenty respondents were identified from Kumasi - Ayeduase dumpsite community also within Kumasi Metroplolis. The

3.1.6 Data collection

Data was collected using a semi - structured questionnaire which was administered to fifty dumpsite farmers at Kyeremfaso dumpsite a rural community within Mampong municipal, thirty dumpsite farmers at Kumasi - Suame Magazine and twenty dumpsite farmers at Kumasi Ayeduase. The data was analyzed with SPSS (Version 21) (Analytical Software, 2018).

3.2 Study Two – Assessment of heavy metals levels in Selected Soils and their accumulation levels in plantain and cocoyam

3.2.1 Locations

The study was conducted at Mampong - Kyeremfaso dumpsite (KYE) (Lat. 7° 05' 27.9'' N, Long. 1° 24' 19.2'' W) with corresponding Mampong University Education Winneba forest, background site (UEW), (Lat. 7° 04' 57.78'' N, Long. 1° 23' 44.98'' W); Kumasi - Suame magazine dumpsite (SUA) (Lat. 6° 43' 26.9'' N, Long. 1° 37' 22.6'' W) with corresponding

Kumasi - Meduma background site (MED) (Lat. 6° 46' 50.9'' N, Long. 1° 36' 30.9'' W); Kumasi - Ayeduase dumpsite (AYE) (Lat. 6° 40' 31.29'' N, Long. 1° 33' 42.9'' W) with corresponding Kumasi Kwame Nkrumah University of Science and Technology botanical gardens, background site (KNUST) (Lat. 6° 41' 30.28'' N, Long. 1° 33' 36.2'' W). The study locations are all found within the Ashanti region of Ghana (Lat. 5° 50' 7.46''N, Long. 0° 15' 2.25'' W) which is centrally located in the middle belt of Ghana. It shares boundaries with six of the sixteen political regions VIZ :- Bono, Bono East, and Ahafo regions in the north, Eastern region in the east, Central region in the south and Western region in the south west.

3.2.1 Soils

The soil physical characteristics of the various study sites are outlined in Table 3.2 and support farmers in their year long crop production (Field data).

3.2.2 Climate

Refer to study one for a detailed description of the study soil sampling sites climate.

3.2.4 Treatments

There were six locations from which the sites were sampled for analysis. These comprised three (3) background (control site) soils with their corresponding dumpsites soil. An average distance of 2 km was between every dumpsite and its corresponding background site within the Ashanti region (Table 3.3).

Dumpsite / GPS Coordinates	Corresponding Background site / GPS Coordinates
Mampong Kyeremfaso (T1) /	Mampong UEW forest (T2) /
Lat. 7° 05' 27.9'' N	
Long. 1° 24' 19.2'' W	Lat. 7° 04' 57.78'' N
	Long. 1° 23 [°] 44.98'' W
Kumasi Suame Magazine (T3) /	Kumasi – Meduma (T4) /
Lat. 6° 43' 26.9'' N	Lat. 6° 46' 50.9'' N
Long. 1° 37 22.6" W	Long. 1° 36 30.9'' W
Kuamsi – Ayeduase (T5) /	Kumasi – KNUST Botanical garden (T6) /
Lat. 6° 40' 31.29'' N	Lat. 6° 41' 30.28'' N
Long. 1° 33' 42.9'' W	Long. 1° 33 [°] 36.2 [°] W
Source: Field data.	
3.2.5 Soil sample collection	VION FOR SERVICE

Table 3.3 Treatments – dumpsites and their Corresponding background soils

In Study two, soil samples were collected from 0 - 15 and 15 - 30 cm of soil depths. Five (5) sampling spots from each of the six (6) locations included three (3) dumpsites and three (3) background sites giving a total of sixty (60) soil samples for the two sampling depths collected from February to March, 2019. Systematic sampling technique was used to locate the sampling spots at 5 m distance between each sampling spot around the dumpsites and the background / control sites. There was an average distance of 2 km between each dumpsite and a background site. Soil cores containing plastics, scrap metals and other materials were separated before crushing the soil sample in a porcelain mortar and passed through a 2 mm sieve and placed in a zip - lock bags for detailed analytical studies.





Source: Field data





Figure 3.3 Background soils locations in Ashanti region, Ghana

3.2.6 Plant sample collection

In study two, plantain and cocoyam young apical leaves with their fruits and corms samples were collected from all dumpsites and background sites, washed with deionized water and oven dried at 60 °C for 24 hours and ashed in furnace at 450 °C before bagging in a zip - lock bag for analysis. Similar plantain and cocoyam leaves, fruits and corms which were taken at approximately 2 km away from each dumpsite served as the basis of comparison from a non - polluted source (Sekara *et al.*, 2005).

3.2.7 Soil analytical methods

The soils for study two were collected in triplicates for a routine soil physicochemical properties determination at the UEW, Mampong campus general laboratory, CSIR - Soil Research Institute, Kwadaso Chemistry laboratory and KNUST SHEATH Chemistry laboratory. The soil samples were air - dried, ground and passed through a 2 - mm mesh sieve before analysis.

3.2.8 Physicochemical analysis under Study Two

3.2.8.1 Physicochemical analysis

Physicochemical properties of the studied site soils were; particle size analysis, bulk density, soil pH, total organic carbon, total nitrogen, available phosphorus, available potassium, CEC, ECEC, Base saturation, Exchangeable acidity.

3.2.8.2 Soil pH

Soil pH was determined in a 1:2.5 suspension of soil and water using an Hl 9017 Microprocessor pH meter. A 20 g soil sample was weighed into 100 ml polythene bottle. To this 50 ml distilled water was added from a measuring cylinder and the bottle capped. The solution was shaken on a reciprocation shaker for two hours. After calibrating the pH meter with buffer solutions at pH 4.0 and 7.0, the pH was read by immersing the electrode into the upper part of the suspension (Rowel, 1994) .

3.2.8.3 Bray's No 1 Phosphorus (Available phosphorus)

The readily acid – soluble forms of P were extracted with a HCI: NH4F mixture called the Bray's No.1 method as described by Bray and Kurtz (1945) and Olsen and Sommers (1982). Phosphorus in the extract was determined on a spectrophotometer by the blue ammonium molybdate method with ascorbic acid as reducing agent. A 2.0 g soil sample was weighed into a shaking bottle (50 ml) and 20 ml of extracting solution of Bray-1 (0.03 M NH4F and 0.025 M HCl) was added. The sample was shaken for one minute by hand and then immediately filtered through a fine filter (Whatman No. 42). One ml of the standard series, the blank and the extract, 2 ml boric acid and 3 ml of the coloring reagent (ammonium molybdate and antimony tartarate solution) were pipetted into a test tube and homogenized. The solution was allowed to stand for 15 minutes for the blue colour to develop to its maximum. The absorbance was measured on a spectronic 21D spectrophotometer at 660 nm wavelength.

A standard series of 0, 1.2, 2.4, 3.6, 4.8 and 6 mg P/l was prepared from a 12 - mg/l stock solution by diluting 0, 10, 20, 30, 40 and 50 ml of 12 mg P/l in 100 ml volumetric flask and made to volume with distilled water. Aliquots of 0, 1, 2, 4, 5 and 6 ml of the 100 mg P/l of the standard solution were put in 100 ml volumetric flasks and made to the 100 ml mark with distilled water.

Calculations:

P(mg/kg) = (3.1)

Where; a = mg/l P in sample extract; b = mg/l P in blank; s = sample weight in gram;

mcf = moisture correcting factor; 20 = ml extracting solution,

6 = ml final sample solution

3.2.8.4 Total Organic Carbon

The organic carbon (OC) content of the soil was determined using the Walkley - Black Wet Oxidation Method, (Page *et al.*, 1982). In this analysis, 2.0 g of soil sample was weighed into a 500 ml Erlenmeyer flask. 10 ml of 1.0 M potassium dichromate (K₂Cr₂O₇) was added by means of a pipette followed by 20 ml of concentrated sulphuric acid (H₂SO₄). The conical flask was swirled for about a minute in a fume chamber (owing to the evolution of gas) and allowed to stand on an asbestos sheet for 30 minutes. Two hundred milliliters (200 ml) of distilled water was added and swirled to ensure thorough dilution, 10ml orthophosphoric acid (H₃PO₄), and, finally 2.0 ml diphenylamine indicator was added. The excess Cr₂O₇ in suspension was back titrated with 1.0 N ferrous sulphate solution. Near the end point, the purple colour changed University of Education, Winneba http://ir.uew.edu.gh

rapidly to green. A blank solution was also prepared in the same way. The percentage carbon of soil samples from each spot and depth was determined from the formula;

% Total
$$OC = \frac{(m.e.K_2Cr_2O_7 - m.e.F_eSO_4) \times 0.003 \times (f) \times 100}{Weight of soil}$$
 (3.2)

Where, $m.e. = Normality of solution \times ml of solution$ used, 0.003 is m.e. weight of C and f (correction factor) = 1.33

SOC content was characterized based on method used by Nelson and Sommers (1982). Soil Organic Matter (SOM) was converted by multiplying soil organic carbon level by conversion factors ranging from 1.73 to obtain organic matter values (Baldock and Nelson, 2000).



3.2.8.5 CEC

A 5g of soil sample was weighed and transferred into a 50-ml centrifuge tube. A 25 ml or 1.0M sodium acetate solution was added to the tube and a stopper was fixed and shaken in a mechanical shaker for 5 minutes. The solutions were centrifuged at 2000 rpm for 5 minutes till supernatant liquid is clear. The liquid was decanted and the extraction was repeated three times. The mechanical shaker, the centrifuge, and decantation process with ethanol was repeated until the electrical conductivity (EC) of the decant read less than 40 mS/cm (FAO, 2008).

3.2.8.6 Particle Size Analysis

The particle size analysis was determined by the hydrometer method after dispersion in sodium hexametaphosphate solution (Day, 1965). Samples for particle size analysis

University of Education, Winneba http://ir.uew.edu.gh

were taken from the 0 - 30 cm depth. This method was used because it allows for the non-destructive sampling of suspensions undergoing settling and also, provides for multiple measurements on the same suspension so that detailed particle-size distribution can be obtained with minimum effort. 51 g of air-dried soil from each plot were weighed into milk-shake cup bottles. 10 ml of 5 % Calgon (Sodium hexametaphosphate) alongside with 100 ml of distilled water were added to the soil. The Calgon served as a dispersing agent for the soil particles. The mixture was shaken with a mechanical shaker for 20 minutes and the content was poured into a 1000 ml measuring cylinder, the milk-shaped bottle cap was rinsed with distilled water and added to the content to reach the 1000 ml mark. The cylinder with the content was shaken to distribute the particles equally throughout the suspension and first hydrometer and temperature readings were taking after 40 seconds. The suspension was left to stand for three (3) hours to allow the soil particles to settle. Hydrometer and temperature readings were taken after three hours and the percent fractions of each soil component was calculated as follows:

% Sand =
$$100 - [H_1 + 0.2(T_1 - 20) - 2] \times 2;$$
 (3.3)

$$\% Clay = H_2 + [0.2(T_2 - 20) - 2] \times 2;$$
(3.4)

$$\% Silt = 100 - (\% Sand - \% Clay);$$
(3.5)

Where, H_1 is the first hydrometer reading after 40 seconds; H_2 is the second hydrometer reading after three hours, T_1 is the first temperature reading after 40 seconds and T_2 is the second temperature reading after three hours. The textural class was determined using the textural triangle.

3.2.8.7 Soil Bulk Density

Bulk density was determined for 0-15 cm depth which is within the zone of active root activity for most food crops grown on the plots. The core method was used (Blake, 1965). The core sampler was driven into the soil to the desired depth of 0 - 15cm. It was then carefully removed to preserve a known volume of soil as it existed in situ. The sample was dried at 105 °C for 24 hours in an oven. The volume of the core sampler was measured and the weight of sample determined before and after drying. The bulk density was then calculated from the formula:

Volume of sample

Four bulk density determinations were made for each treatment and their respective mean values were calculated. Sample calculation is shown in the Appendix B.

3.2.9 Heavy metals analysis

3.2.9.1 Soil sample collection and preparation

The soil samples were picked at 0 - 15 cm and 15 - 30 cm depths with a soil auger from Mampong - Kyeremfaso dumpsite, Mampong - UEW forest background soil, Kumasi -Suame magazine dumpsite, Kumasi - Meduma background soil, Kumasi - Ayeduase dumpsite and Kumasi - KNUST botanical gardens background soil. The soils collected were thoroughly mixed for a uniform mixture from all the study sites. The samples collected were placed in 15 cm x 15 cm zip lock bags for detailed analysis.

University of Education, Winneba http://ir.uew.edu.gh

A total of 120 soil samples were picked from the six dumpsites and three background soils at 0 - 15 cm and 15 - 30 cm soil depths, respectively between February and March, 2019 in the dry season. Systematic sampling technique was used to locate the soil sampling spots at 5 m distance between each spot around each of the dumpsite and background soils. The soil samples were crushed in porcelain mortar, thoroughly mixed and passed through 2 mm mesh sieve and placed in about 15 cm x 15 cm zip lock bags for detailed analysis. The soil samples were further prepared by weighing 0.5 g of soil samples into a porcelain crucible and ignited at 45 °C in furnace to destroy organic matter, then digested twice with 10 ml of a mixture of 1:1 mixture of concentrated HNO₃ and HF IN A 100 ml polypyrene beaker and placed over a water bath for evaporation till dryness. The residue was dissolved in 20 ml of 2 M HNO₃ and diluted to the mark in 100 ml volumetric flask. This was done at the Chemistry Research laboratory of the KNUST, Ghana.

Heavy metals concentration in soils was determined using X-Ray Fluorescence spectroscopy (XRF) system where Cr, Fe, Ni, Cu, Zn, As, Cd, Hg and Pb were quantified: The results were expressed as milligrams per kilogram (mgkg⁻¹) of the dry matter in soils sampled from all the sites according to standards of US - EPA (2007).

3.2.9.2 Plant sample preparation

Sampled plantain and cocoyam leaves and fruits from three dumpsites and three control sites in experiment two were washed with deionized water and oven dried at 50 °C for 24 hours and ashed at 450 °C before bagging into a zip lock bags for XRF and AAS heavy metal analysis. Similar work was done on all plant leaves and fruits sampled from background sites approximately about 2 km away from dumpsites in order to serve as the basis of comparison from non-polluted source (Sekara *et al.*, 2005) in studies two and three.

3.2.9.3 Laboratory analytical studies

Heavy metal concentration determination was carried out using X-ray fluorescence spectroscopy (XRF) system where Cr, Fe, Ni, Cu, Zn, As, Cd, Hg and Pb were quantified: The results were expressed as milligrams per kilogram (mgkg⁻¹) of dry matter in soils and plants sampled from all the sites. The soil metals and routine characteristic was carried out at both KNUST SHEATH chemistry department laboratory and the CSIR chemistry laboratory, Kwadaso, Kumasi.

3.2.9.4 Soil and Plant laboratory analysis for study two

3.2.9.4.1 XRF Analyses

Heavy metals in soils and plants samples process begins with drying of plantain leaves and fruits, cocoyam leaves and corms samples in study two. Individual plants sampled were ground into powdered form and sieved with 0.002 mm sieve. Samples were examined using a Niton XL3t GOLD field portable X-ray fluorescence (FP-XRF) spectrometer following the United States Environmental Protection Agency Method 6200 protocols (US - EPA, 2007; Darko *et al.*, 2020). A portion of the sieved sample was placed in a small (~ 30 mm) polyethylene container with a propylene film so that it was three-quarters full. It was then placed in the instrument shroud and scanned for 180 seconds (Rweyemanu *et al.*, 2020). Average recoveries obtained by running 3 reference materials (NIST 2709a) were always \geq 75 \pm 5 %. Reproducibility tests conducted by analyzing 9 replicate samples generated

average relative percent difference of 21% for As, 11% for Cr, 7.5% for Cu, 9.2% for Ni, 13% for Pb, and 7.7% for Zn indicating satisfactory reproducibility. Typically, the FP-XRF gives results of 24 elements but Cr, Fe, Ni, Cu, Zn, As, Cd, Hg, Pb were the toxicologically important ones used in this study. The method detection limits varied widely between the metals. Optimization of the XRF to generate useable data was also conducted in the study (Davidson, 2013).

3.3 Data analysis

The soils, plantain and cocoyam data generated were analysed with GENSTAT (Version 16) Analytical Software, (2016). Data were subjected to analysis of variance (ANOVA) and Fisher's Least Square Difference (LSD) was used to separate the treatment means at 5% (p < 0.05) probability level.

3.4 Study Three (Field Experiment) - Evaluation of heavy metals contamination in dumpsite soils and accumulation in selected plants under field conditions

3.4.1 Locations

Study Three was conducted on a field in a pot experiment with soil sampled at 0 - 30 cm of depth from the six locations (Mampong - Kyeremfaso dumpsite, Mampong - UEW forest background soil, Kumasi - Suame magazine dumpsite, Kumasi - Meduma background soil, Kumasi - Ayeduase dumpsite soil, Kumasi - KNUST botanical gardens background soil). Lettuce seedlings were planted in pots filled with the sampled soils under field conditions at the Multi - purpose nursery site of the College of Agriculture Education, University of Education Winneba, Mampong - Ashanti Campus (Lat. 7° 08' N, Long. 1° 24' W) located in

the forest - Savanna transition zone of Ghana. The site has an altitude of 457.5 m above sea level.

3.4.2 Experimental Design and Treatments

A Randomized Complete Block Design (RCBD) with six (6) treatments and three replications was used. The treatments were made up of the soils from the six locations: -(i) Mampong - Kyeremfaso dumpsite soil, (ii) Mampong - UEW forest background soil, (iii) Kumasi - Suame magazine dumpsite soil, (iv) Kumasi - Meduma background soil, (v) Kumasi - Ayeduase dumpsite soil and (vi) Kumasi - KNUST botanical gardens background soil.

3.4.3 Management / Cultural Practices

Lettuce variety 'Eden' (65 - day early maturing variety) seeds were procured from a certified agrochemical seller (Kyeiwaa Agrochemical) at Mampong Ashanti. The seeds were nursed under best nursery conditions for three weeks before transplanted onto 30 kg capacity experimental trays each measuring 0.5 m x 0.5 m x 0.1 m filled with soils sampled from the six study sites. Lettuce seedlings were transplanted on to their experimental pots at 20 cm x 15 cm planting distance. Samples of the soil were taken in triplicates at day of experiment and at harvest (6 weeks) for laboratory physical and chemical analytical studies.

3.4.4 Soil samples collected and analysis

The soils sampled in triplicates at a depth of 0 - 30 cm from the six location sites were analysed for a routine soil physichochemical properties at the laboratories of UEW, Mampong campus general laboratory, CSIR - Soil Research Institute, at Kwadaso Chemistry laboratory and KNUST SHEATH Chemistry laboratory. The soil samples were air - dried, ground and passed through a 2 - mm mesh sieve and kept in zip lock bags before analysis.

3.4.5 Plant sample collected and analysis

Lettuce leaves and roots in pots at harvest were sampled and washed in deionized water, dried and ground for laboratory analytical studies. Refer to Study Two for details.

3.4.6 Data analysis

Soils, lettuce leaves and roots data generated were analysed with a GENSTAT (Version 16) Analytical Software, (2016). Data were subjected to analysis of variance (ANOVA) and Fisher's Least Square Difference (LSD) was used to separate the treatment means at 5% (p < 0.05) probability level.

3.5 Techniques to evaluate the pollution of soils by heavy metal

In order to quantitatively check and describe the concentration trend of metals in the soils and plants studied, the following indexes were used to assess the pollution of heavy metals in dumpsite soils and plants in Studies Two and Three: - Geoaccumulation index (I-geo), enrichment factor (EF), relative top soil enrichment factor (RTEF), transfer ratio (TR) and translocation factor (TF).

3.5.1 Geoaccumulation index (Igeo)

This model was employed to quantify the degree of pollution in the refuse dump soils. The geoaccumulation index was calculated as:

 $I_{geo} = In (C_n / 1.5 \times B_n)$ (3.7)

Where C_{n-} measured concentration of metal in the refuse dump soil (mgkg⁻¹);

 B_n – background value of heavy metal (mgkg⁻¹); and 1.5 - background matrix correction factor

(Förstener et al., 1993; Sutherland, 2000; Agyarko et al., 2010).

3.5.2 Enrichment factor (EF)

The enrichment factor (EF) was calculated as;

 $EF = C_n (sample) / C_{ref} (sample)$

 B_n (background) / B_{ref} (background)

Where C_n - is the content of the examined element in the examined environment (dumpsite soil)

(3.8)

C_{ref} - is the content of the examined element in the reference environment (background soil) B_n - is the content of the reference element in the examined environment (dumpsite soil) B_{ref} - is the content of the reference element in the reference environment (background soil) (Buat - Menard and Chesselet, 1979; Agyarko *et al.*, 2014).

3.5.3 Relative top soil enrichment factor (RTEF)

A relative top soil enrichment factor can be calculated from this relation;

RTEF = Total metal contents at 0 - 15 cm depth /

Total metal content at 15 - 30 cm depth (3.9)

(Colbourn and Thornton, 1978).

3.5.4 Transfer ratio (TR)

All the metals in the different samples were quantified using the transfer ratio (TR):

Transfer Ratio (TR) = C_{plant} / C_{soil} (3.10)

Where; C plant – is the concentration of a specific metal in the plant (mgkg⁻¹);

C soil – is the concentration of that metal in the soil (Hasan *et al.*, 2003)

3.5.5 Translocation Factor (TF)

The translocation of metals from one part of a vegetable (crop / plant) to another part of the plant is a function of root shoot transport, which can be expressed as the translocation factor (TF): - $TF = C_{shoot} / C_{root}$ (3.11)

Where, C _{shoot} is the concentration of the metal in the above ground portion of the vegetable (crop); C _{root} is the metal concentration in the below ground portion (Gosh and Singh, 2005).

CHAPTER FOUR

4.0 RESULTS

4.1 Study 1: - Farmers' Awareness of soil physicochemical Properties

4.1.1 Socio - demographic characteristics of dumpsite farmers in the three communities Out of the total farmers (100) interviewed at all the three communities, majority 75% were males and 25 % were females (Table 4.1). Farmers age groups showed that, majority (79 %) of them were aged between 36 - 45 years followed by a 26 - 35 years (18 %). Farmers between 46 - 55 years were few (2 %), and only one percent (1 %) below 25 years. Majority of farmers (52 %) were married, 38 % being single, two percent (2 %) were divorced, widowed (6 %) and co - habitation (2 %) in that order. Only four percent (4 %) had not received formal school education, eight percent (8 %) have had education up to the tertiary level and 19 % have had primary education, 31 % have had senior high school education with the majority (38 %) of farmers with a middle / junior high school education (Table 4.1).

Farmers	Number of Respondents						
demographic	Kyeremfaso	Suame	Ayeduase	Frequency	Percentage		
characteristics	community	community	community		(%)		
Gender							
Male	35	24	16	75	75		
Female	15	6	4	25	25		
Total	50	30	20	100	100		
Age (years)							
< 25	0	1	0	1	1		
26 - 35	6	7	5	18	18		
36 - 45	42	22	15	79	79		
46 - 55	2	0	0	2	2		
Total	50	30	20	100	100		
Marital status							
Married	35	10	7	7	52		
Single	10	180	10	10	38		
Divorced	0	1	1	1	2		
Widowed	5	0	1	1	6		
Co-habitation	0	1	1	1	2		
Total	50	30	20	100	100		
Level of education							
No formal education	2	2	0	4	4		
Primary	10	5	4	19	19		
Middle/JHS	30	5	3	38	38		
SHS	8	18	5	31	31		
Tertiary	0	0	8	8	8		
Total	50	30	20	100	100		

Table 4.1 Socio-demographic characteristics of dumpsite farmers in three communities

4.1.2 Reasons for farming on dumpsites

Majority (63 %) of the farmers interviewed at Kyeremfao Mampong, Suame Kumasi and Ayeduase Kumasi showed that, the fertility level of dumpsite soils informed their decision to farm on them. Others 20 % indicated that, dumpsites were the only available land they could access. While 17 % indicated that, dumpsite farmlands are given at cheap cost and that attracted them to grow their crops (Table 4.2).

	Nu				
Responses	Kyeremfaso	Suame	Ayeduase	Frequency	Percentage
	community	community community			(%)
		F 0 1			
Fertile soil	40	13	10	63	63
Only available lan	ıd 5	9	6	20	20
Cheap cost of land	1 5	8	4	17	17
Total	50	30 AllON FOR SERVIC	20	100	100

 Table 4.2 Farmers reason for farming on dumpsites

4.1.3 Farmers awareness of the physicochemical properties of dumpsite soils

Majority (81 %) of farmers were aware of their dumpsites soils' physicochemical properties while 19 % responded otherwise that they were not aware of their soils' physicochemical properties (Figure 4.1). Farmers interviewed from the three communities used specific features to describe their soils' physicochemical properties. Majority (66%) of the farmers described their soil as a high nutrient content soil with only six percent (6 %) describing the soil as a low nutrient content. Twenty eight percent (28 %) of thefarmers indicated their soils had traces of heavy metals in them (Table 4.3).

University of Education, Winneba http://ir.uew.edu.gh



Figure 4.1 Farmers awareness of their soils' physicochemical properties

Table 4.3 Farmers responses to specific features used for describing dumpsite soils in

three communities		0			
	Num	ber of Respond	lents		
Indicators	Kyeremfaso	Suame	Ayeduase	Frequency	Percentage
	community	community	community		(%)
High soil nutrient content	43	11	12	66	66
Low soil nutrient content	3	2	1	6	6
Heavy metals present	4	17	7	28	28
Total	50	30	20	100	100

4.1.3.1 Sources of knowledge acquisition on soil physicochemical properties by

dumpsite farmers

Farmers were interviewed about their knowledge on dumpsites soil's physicochemical properties. Majority (40%) of farmers reported they got their knowledge from other

colleague farmers, 30 % from extension officers, 16 % from the media and 14 % indicated that they got their knowledge from non - governmental organizations (NGO) (Table 4.4).

Sources of	Number of Respondents							
knowledge	Kyeremfaso	Suame	Ayeduase	Frequency	Percentage			
acquisition	community	community	community		(%)			
Extension officer	21	4	5	30	30			
NGO	6	4	4	14	14			
Media	9	6	1	16	16			
Other farmers	14	16	10	40	40			
Total	50	30	20	100	100			

Table 4.4 Sources of knowledge acquisition on soil physicochemical properties

4.1.4 Farmers awareness of the effects of soil metals contamination on human and

animal health

A total number of hundred (100) farmers were interviewed and out of that, ninety four percent (94%) were aware that soil metal elements contamination affects human and animal health. Only six percent (6%) were not aware or had any knowledge of any health effect of soil metal contamination on human and animal health (Table 4.5).

Table 4.5 Farmers awareness about the effect of soil metals contamination on human

and animal health

	Numł				
Responses	Kyeremfaso	Suame	Ayeduase	Frequency	Percentage
					(%)
Aware	47	29	19	94	94
Not aware	3	1	1	6	6
Total	50	30	20	100	100

On perceived ailments that commonly affect man as a result of soil metals contamination, majority (37 %) mentioned skin rashes, 26 % mentioned cough, 24 % indicated diarrhea and (13 %) cited cholera (Table 4.6).

Table 4.6 Responses by farmers on perceived ailments that commonly affect man as a result of soil toxic elements contamination

Responses	Kyeremfaso	Suame	Ayeduase	Frequency	Percentage (%)
Cholera	8	3	2	13	13
Diarrhea	15	4	5	24	24
Cough	13	9	4	26	26
Skin rashes	14	14	9	37	37
Total	50	30	20	100	100

4.1.5 Chi - square (χ^2) test analysis on association between dumpsites farmers' soil physicochemical knowledge and other selected variables

The Chi - square (χ^2) test studies showed that dumpsites farmers' soil physicochemical knowledg and other variables like dumpsites farmers' educational level ($\chi^2 = 1.83$) showed no significant (p = 0.21) relationship, dumpsites farmers' soil physicochemical knowledge relationship with dumpsites farmers' reasons for farming on dumpsites ($\chi^2 = 1.21$) was also not significant (p = 0.55), dumpsites farmers' soil physicochemical knowledge association with sources of dumpsites farmers' soil physicochemical knowledge ($\chi^2 = 6.38$) showed no significant (p = 0.17), dumpsites farmers' soil physicochemical knowledge association with an awareness that dumpsite soils contain toxic elements ($\chi^2 = 8.24$) were significant (p = 0.02). Similarly, dumpsites farmers' soil physicochemical knowledge association with an awareness that plants on dumpsites absorb toxic elements (($\chi^2 = 10.97$) showed a significant (p = 0.03) relationship (Table 4.7).

Table 4.7 Chi - square (χ^2) test analysis on association between dumpsites farmers' soil

Variables	$\chi^2 - value$	P - value	Significance
Farmers educational	1.83	0.21	Not significant
level			
Farmers' reasons for	1.21	0.55	Not significant
farming on dumpsites			
Sources of dumpsites	6.38	0.17	Not significant
farmers' soil			
physicochemical			
knowledge			
Awareness that	8.24	0.02	Significant
dumpsites soil contain			
toxic elements	M	IN IN	
	EDUCATION FOR	SERVICE	
Awareness that plants	10.97	0.03	Significant
on dumpsites absorb			
toxic elements			

physicochemical knowledge and selected variables
4.2 Study 2: – Assessment of heavy metals level in selected soils and their accumulation levels in plantain and cocoyam.

4.2.1 Soil physicochemical properties of soils

The soil physicochemical analytical studies conducted showed that Mampong Kyeremfaso dumpsite soil (KYE) and a Mampong UEW background soil (UEW) have a sand texture. Kumasi Suame dumpsite soil (SUA) has a sand texture, while Kumasi Meduma background soil (MED) was sandy clay loam in texure. Both Kumasi Ayeduas dumpsite soil (AYE) and Kumasi KNUST botanical gardens background soil (KNUST) showed loamy sand texture. There was no significant difference between soil bulk densities of KYE (1.54 gcm⁻³) and UEW (1.58 gcm⁻³), SUA (1.12 gcm⁻³) and MED (1.61 gcm⁻³), AYE (1.59 gcm⁻³), KNUST (1.41 gcm⁻³) (Tables 4.8).

The soil pH value which was higest in KYE (9.04) and lowest in KNUST (6.07) was significantly different (p = 0.01) among the sites. Total organic carbon (TOC) was highest in SUA (10.83 %) followed by MED (2.08%), but lowest in AYE (1.56 %). TOC values were significantly different (p = 0.01). Total organic matter (TOM) showed a similar trend with highst value in SUA (18.69%) and lowest in AYE (2.69 %). The TOC values were significantly different (p = 0.01). Total N was higher in AYE (0.30%) but lowest in KNUST (0.15%). The Toatl N values were generally not significantly different (p = 0.51) (Table 4.8) from each other. Available P was highest in KYE (790.43 mgkg⁻¹) and lowest in AYE (3.08 mgkg⁻¹). The available P values recorded were generally significantly different (p = 0.02) (Table 4.8).

Exchangeable cation was high especially Ca in KYE (12.99 meq100g⁻¹) than in UEW (5.33 meq100g⁻¹), SUA (59.64 meq100g⁻¹) in MED Kumasi background soil (13.63 meq100g⁻¹) and lower in AYE (2.56 meq100g⁻¹) than in KNUST (35.15 meq100g⁻¹) with a generally significant difference (p = 0.01). A similar trend was observed for Mg, K and Na (Table 4.8). Exchangeable acidity was higher in KNUST (1.20 meq100g⁻¹) and lower in both KYE (0.02 meq100g⁻¹) and AYE (0.02 meq100g⁻¹) with a significant difference (p = 0.03). CEC was high in SUA (39.34 meq100g⁻¹) and lower in AYE (7.38 meq100g⁻¹). ECEC was higher in SUA (111.75 meq100g⁻¹) and lower in AYE (4.23 meq100g⁻¹) with a significant difference (p = 0.01). Base Saturation was higher in SUA (99.91 %) and lower in UEW (96.73 %) (Table 4.8).



							Exchangeable cations								
						Total	Available	Са	Mg	K	Na	Exchangeable	CEC	ECEC	Base
Location	Texture	B.D	pН	T.O.C	T.O.M	Ν	Р					acidity			saturation
		(gcm ⁻³)													-
					(%)		(mgkg ⁻¹)				(mea	q100g ⁻¹)			(%)
KYE	Sand	1.54	9.04	1.91	3.29	0.16	790.43	12.99	3.83	0.85	2.57	0.02	8.58	20.26	99.90
UEW	Sand	1.58	6.10	1.73	2.98	0.17	17.77	5.33	1.49	0.32	0.26	0.25	8.96	7.65	96.73
SUA	Sand	1.12	6.67	10.83	18.69	0.21	73.58	59.64	44.73	405	3.22	0.10	39.34	111.75	99.91
MED	Sand	1.61	7.95	2.08	3.59	0.17	118.45	13.63	1.49	0.45	1.01	0.05	18.18	16.63	99.10
	Clay														
	Loam						66								
AYE	Loamy	1.59	8.40	1.56	2.69	0.30	3.08	2.56	0.85	0.35	0.46	0.02	7.38	4.23	97.49
	Sand								1						
KNUST	Loamy	1.41	6.07	1.65	2.84	0.15	218.68	35.15	4.69	3.97	2.74	1.20	7.68	47.74	97.49
	Sand														
P - value		0.88	0.01	0.01	0.01	0.01	0.02	0.01	0.01	0.01	0.01	0.03	0.01	0.01	0.03
LSD (0.05)		0.99	1.51	1.88	0.99	0.02	21.70	1.37	1.35	1.51	1.79	0.75	1.29	1.59	1.51
CV (%)		0.45	11.30	31.40	9.60	5.80	12.28	3.50	7.80	0.64	0.75	0.79	4.70	2.50	0.80

Table 4.8 Soil physicochemical properties of the soil samples used for the study

Location: KYE - Kyeremfaso Mampong dumpsite soil; UEW - Mampong background soil; SUA - Suame Kumasi dumpsite soil; MED -

Meduma Kumasi background soil; AYE - Ayeduase Kumasi dumpsite soil; KNUST - KNUST Kumasi botanical gardens background soil.

4.2.2 Heavy metals level in selected dumpsites soil at different depths

Concentration levels of metals from soils sampled from the dumpsite and background (Figures 3.3, 3.4 and 3.5) showed significant variation between each of the dumpsites and their background soils. Chromium (Cr) levels in KYE (54.10 mgkg⁻¹) was higher than in UEW (49.61 mgkg⁻¹) at 0 - 15 cm depth (Table 4.9). Similarly Cr in KYE (87.04 mgkg⁻¹) dumpsite soil recorded a higher value than in UEW (71.79 mgkg⁻¹) at 15 - 30 cm depth (Table 4.10). Cr levels was highest in SUA (76.76 mgkg⁻¹) than in MED (3.25 mgkg⁻¹) at 0 - 15 cm depth recorded a similar higher value in SUA (109.69 mgkg⁻¹) than in MED (80.48 mgkg⁻¹) at 15 - 30 cm depth of soil sampled. Cr values in AYE (67.31 mgkg⁻¹) was higher than in KNUST (63.19 mgkg⁻¹) at 0 - 15 cm depth (Table 4.9). At depth 15 - 30 cm Cr in AYE (64.35 mgkg⁻¹) recorded a higher value than in KNUST (61.32 mgkg⁻¹). Generally, Cr values in dumpsite soils recorded higher values than in their background soils at a high significant difference (p = 0.01) (Tables 4.9 and 4.10).

Iron (Fe) levels in KYE (10071.78 mgkg⁻¹) were higher than in UEW (9661.97 mgkg⁻¹) at 0 - 15 cm depth (Table 4.9). At 15 - 30 cm depth, Fe present had similar higher levels in KYE (11844.00 mgkg⁻¹) than in UEW (7438.00 mgkg⁻¹) (Table 4.10). Fe at 0 - 15 cm of soil depth was highest in SUA (16548.10 mgkg⁻¹) than in MED (13363.69 mgkg⁻¹) (Table 4.9). At 15 - 30 cm soil depth, Fe concentration levels was higher in SUA (19914.00 mgkg⁻¹) than in MED (13980.00 mgkg⁻¹) (Table 4.10). Fe levels was higher in AYE (12705.49 mgkg⁻¹) than in KNUST (9846.76 mgkg⁻¹) at 0 - 15 cm depth. A similar higher results was found in AYE (9163.00 mgkg⁻¹) than in KNUST (8329.00 mgkg⁻¹) at 15 - 30 cm depth. Highly

significant (p = 0.01) differences was found between all the dumpsites and their background soils and at both depths that were sampled for this study (Tables 4.9 and 2.10).

Nickel (Ni) levels was higher in KYE (16.41 mgkg⁻¹) than in UEW (16.29 mgkg⁻¹) at 0 - 15cm depth, and also higher in KYE (16.98 mgkg⁻¹) than in UEW (16.27 mgkg⁻¹) at 15 - 30 cm depth. Ni levels was higher in SUA (113.08 mgkg⁻¹) than in MED (17.43 mgkg⁻¹) at 0 - 15 cm depth while at 15 - 30 cm depth, Ni was higher in SUA (222.17 mgkg⁻¹) than in MED (16.80 mgkg⁻¹). At 0 - 15 cm depth, Ni was similarly higher in AYE (17.48 mgkg⁻¹) than in KNUST (16.81 mgkg⁻¹). At 15 - 30 cm depth, Ni was higher in AYE (16.83 mgkg⁻¹) than in KNUST (16.03 mgkg⁻¹). There was a highly significant (p = 0.01) difference between all the soils sampled at 0 - 15 cm depth, but no significant (p = 0.08) difference between all soils sampled at 15 - 30 cm depth (Tables 4.9 and 4.10).

Copper (Cu) concentration at 0 - 15 cm depth was higher in KYE (12.31 mgkg⁻¹) than in UEW (9.55 mgkg⁻¹). Cu concentration at 15 - 30 cm depth was similarly higher in KYE (12.31 mgkg⁻¹) than in UEW (10.41 mgkg⁻¹). Cu concentration at 0 - 15cm depth was higher in SUA (454.56 mgkg⁻¹) than in MED (12.43 mgkg⁻¹). Cu concentration at 15 - 30 cm depth was similarly higher in SUA (674.19.56 mgkg⁻¹) than in MED (11.81 mgkg⁻¹). Cu concentration at 0 - 15 cm depth was higher in AYE (52.24 mgkg⁻¹) than in KNUST (9.64 mgkg⁻¹). Cu concentration at 15 - 30 cm depth was similarly higher in AYE (63.52 mgkg⁻¹) than in KNUST (9.38 mgkg⁻¹). At both 0 - 15 cm and 15 - 30 cm soil sampled depths, there was a highly significant (p = 0.01) differences between all the sampled soils (Tables 4.9 and 4.10).

Zinc (Zn) concentration levels at soil depth 0 - 15 cm was higher in KYE (133.30 mgkg⁻¹) than in UEW (26.77 mgkg⁻¹) soil. At soil depth 15 - 30 cm, Zn concentration level was higher in KYE (108.02 mgkg⁻¹) than in UEW (31.23 mgkg⁻¹). Zn concentration levels at soil depth 0 - 15 cm was higher in SUA (674.19 mgkg⁻¹) than in MED (56.38 mgkg⁻¹). At soil depth 15 - 30 cm, Zn concentration level was higher in SUA (4749.72 mgkg⁻¹) than in MED (47.48 mgkg⁻¹). Zn concentration levels at soil depth 0 - 15 cm was higher in AYE (314.26 mgkg⁻¹). Zn concentration levels at soil depth 0 - 15 cm was higher in AYE (314.26 mgkg⁻¹) than in KNUST (30.47 mgkg⁻¹). At soil depth 15 - 30 cm, Zn concentration levels at soil depth 15 - 30 cm, Zn concentration levels at soil depth 0 - 15 cm was higher in AYE (314.26 mgkg⁻¹) than in KNUST (30.47 mgkg⁻¹). At soil depth 15 - 30 cm, Zn concentration level was higher in AYE (377.51 mgkg⁻¹) than in KNUST (24.91 mgkg⁻¹) (Tables 4.9 and 4.10).

Arsenic (As) levels at soil depth 0 - 15 cm was higher in KYE (5.12 mgkg⁻¹) than in UEW (4.91 mgkg⁻¹). At soil depth 15 - 30 cm, As was similarly higher in KYE (5.21 mgkg⁻¹) than in UEW (4.43 mgkg⁻¹). As was higher in SUA (7.33 mgkg⁻¹) than in MED (7.31 mgkg⁻¹) at 0 - 15 cm depth. At soil depth 15 - 30 cm, As was higher in SUA (8.88 mgkg⁻¹) than in MED (5.49 mgkg⁻¹). At 0 - 15 cm of soil depth, As was higher in AYE (5.56 mgkg⁻¹) than in KNUST (5.50 mgkg⁻¹). At soil depth 15 - 30 cm, As was higher in AYE (6.78 mgkg⁻¹) than in KNUST (5.59 mgkg⁻¹). At both depths of soil sampled, a highly significant (p = 0.01) defferences was reported with As levels in sampled soils (Tables 4.9 and 4.10).

Cadmium (Cd) levels at soil depth 0-15 cm was higher in KYE (14.41 mgkg⁻¹) than in UEW (12.41 mgkg⁻¹). At soil depth 15 - 30 cm, Cd was similarly higher in KYE (17.35 mgkg⁻¹) than in UEW (16.36 mgkg⁻¹). Cd was higher in SUA (6.57 mgkg⁻¹) than in MED (6.19 mgkg⁻¹) at 0 - 15 cm depth. At soil depth 15 - 30 cm, Cd was higher in SUA (9.04 mgkg⁻¹) than in MED (7.61 mgkg⁻¹). At 0 - 15 cm of soil depth, Cd was similarly higher in AYE

(17.30 mgkg⁻¹) than in KNUST (6.74 mgkg⁻¹). At soil depth 15 - 30 cm, Cd was higher in AYE (20.85 mgkg⁻¹) than in KNUST (12.45 mgkg⁻¹). At 0 - 15 cm depth, a highly significant (p = 0.01) defferences was reported between Cd levels in sampled soils but no significant (p = 0.26) differences occurred at 15 - 30 cm depth with Cd levels in all the selected soils sampled (Tables 4.9 and 4.10).

Mercury (Hg) levels at soil depth 0 - 15 cm was higher in KYE (4.94 mgkg⁻¹) than in UEW (4.90 mgkg⁻¹). At soil depth 15 - 30 cm, Hg was similarly higher in KYE (5.24 mgkg⁻¹) than in UEW (5.04 mgkg⁻¹). Hg was higher in SUA (13.47 mgkg⁻¹) than in MED (5.20 mgkg⁻¹) at 0 - 15 cm depth. At soil depth 15 - 30 cm, Hg was still higher in SUA (16.31 mgkg⁻¹) than in MED (5.10 mgkg⁻¹). At 0 - 15 cm of soil depth, Hg was higher in AYE (5.56 mgkg⁻¹) than in KNUST (5.12 mgkg⁻¹). At soil depth 15 - 30 cm, Hg was higher in AYE (6.48 mgkg⁻¹) than in KNUST (5.31 mgkg⁻¹). At both depths of soil sampled, a highly significant (p = 0.01) defferences was reported with Hg levels in sampled soils (Tables 4.9 and 4.10).

CATION FOR SER

Lead (Pb) levels at soil depth 0 - 15 cm was higher in KYE (3.61 mgkg⁻¹) than in UEW (3.51 mgkg⁻¹). At soil depth 15 - 30 cm, Pb was similarly higher in KYE (4.06 mgkg⁻¹) than in UEW (3.87 mgkg⁻¹). Pb was higher in SUA (3.77 mgkg⁻¹) than in MED (1.03 mgkg⁻¹) at 0 - 15 cm depth. At soil depth 15 - 30 cm, Pb was higher in SUA (133.58 mgkg⁻¹) than in MED (3.75 mgkg⁻¹). At 0 - 15 cm of soil depth, Pb was higher in AYE (3.99 mgkg⁻¹) than in KNUST (1.07 mgkg⁻¹). At soil depth 15 - 30 cm, Pb was higher in AYE (109.12 mgkg⁻¹) than in KNUST (14.37 mgkg⁻¹). At both depths of soil sampled, a highly significant (p = 0.01) differences was reported with Hg levels in sampled soils (Tables 4.9 and 4.10).

Metal level (mgkg ⁻¹)										
Location	0 - 15	0 - 15	0 - 15	0 - 15	0 - 15	0 - 15	0 - 15	0 - 15	0 - 15	
KYE	54.10	10071.78	16.41	10.33	133.30	5.12	14.41	4.90	3.61	
UEW	49.61	9661.97	16.29	9.55	26.77	4.91	12.41	4.94	3.51	
SUA	76.76	16548.10	113.08	454.56	674.19	7.33	6.57	13.47	3.77	
MED	3.25	13363.69	17.43	12.43	56.38	7.31	6.19	5.20	1.03	
AYE	67.31	12705.49	17.48	52.24	314.26	5.56	6.74	5.56	3.99	
KNUST	61.32	9846.76	16.81	9.64	30.47	5.50	17.30	5.12	1.07	
P - value	0.01	0.01	0.01	0.01	0.01	0.01	0.03	0.01	0.01	
LSD	4.60	936.40	0.99	73.76	1.49	0.74	4.11	1.10	0.04	
CV (%)	4.90	4.30	1.70	4.24	0.40	6.90	21.20	9.30	0.01	

Table 4.9 Total soil metal level at 0 -15 cm from soils of the six locations of the study

Study locations: KYE - Kyeremfaso Kumasi (dumpsite soil); UEW - UEW Mampong Forest (background soil); SUA - Suame Magazine Kumasi (dumpsite soil); MED - Meduma Kumasi (Background soil); AYE - Ayeduase Kumasi (dumpsite soil); KNUST - KNUST Kumasi botanical gardens (background soil).

	Metal level (mgkg ⁻¹)										
Location	Cr	Fe	Ni	Cu	Zn	As	Cd	Hg	Pb		
KYE	87.04	17438.00	16.98	12.31	108.02	5.21	17.35	5.24	4.06		
UEW	71.79	11844.00	16.27	10.41	31.23	4.43	16.36	5.04	3.87		
SUA	109.69	19914.00	222.17	674.19	4749.72	8.88	9.04	16.31	133.58		
MED	80.48	13980.00	16.80	11.81	47.48	5.49	7.61	5.10	3.75		
AYE	64.35	9163.00	16.83	63.52	377.51	5.59	20.85	6.48	109.12		
KNUST	63.19	8329.00	16.03	9.38	24.91	6.78	12.45	5.31	14.37		
P - value	0.01	0.01	0.08(NS	0.01	0.01	0.01	0.26(NS)	0.01	0.01		
)								
LSD	4.22	4951.40	1.49	73.02	727.90	1.97	0.74	0.43	25.42		
CV (%)	2.90	23.10	1.60	3.52	13.41	17.80	2.90	3.20	31.20		

Table 4.10 Total soil metal level at 15 30 cm from soils of the six locations of the study

Study locations: KYE - Kyeremfaso Kumasi (dumpsite soil); UEW - UEW Mampong Forest (background soil); SUA - Suame Magazine Kumasi (dumpsite soil); MED - Meduma Kumasi (Background soil); AYE - Ayeduase Kumasi (dumpsite soil); KNUST - KNUST Kumasi botanical gardens (background soil).

4.2.3 Heavy metals level in plants

4.2.3.1 Heavy metals levels in plantain

The concentrations of Cr, Fe, Ni, Cu, Zn, As, Cd, Hg and Pb in plantain leaves and fruit sampled from the selected study sites showed that, Chromium (Cr) levels in plantain leaves and fruits sampled from KYE, SUA and AYE generally had higher Cr levels in the plantain leaves and fruits than Cr levels in plantain parts sampled from UEW, MED and KNUST and at a significant difference (p = 0.01). (Tables 4.11 and 4.12).

Iron (Fe) levels in plantain leaves and fruit sampled from KYE, SUA and AYE were generally higher than Fe levels in plantain leaves and fruit sampled from UEW, MED and KNUST and at a significant difference (p = 0.01) (Tables 4.11 and 4.12). Nickel (Ni) levels in plantain leaves and fruits sampled from KYE, SUA and AYE were generally higher than Ni levels in plantain leaves and fruit sampled from UEW, MED and KNUST and at a significant difference (p = 0.01). (Tables 4.11 and 4.12). Copper (Cu) levels in plantain leaves and fruit sampled from KYE, SUA and AYE were generally higher than leaves and fruits sampled from KYE, SUA and AYE were generally higher than a significant difference (p = 0.01). (Tables 4.11 and 4.12). Copper (Cu) levels in plantain leaves and fruit sampled from KYE, SUA and AYE were generally higher than Cu levels in plantain leaf and fruit sampled from UEW, MED and KNUST and at a significant difference (p = 0.01). (Tables 4.11 and 4.12).

Zinc (Zn) levels in plantain leaves and fruits sampled from KYE, SUA and AYE were generally higher than Zn levels in plantain leaves and fruit sampled from UEW, MED and KNUST and at a significant difference (p = 0.01). (Tables 4.11 and 4.12). Arsenis (As) levels in plantain leaves and fruits sampled from the selected sites, KYE, SUA and AYE were generally higher than As levels in plantain leaves and fruit sampled from UEW, MED and at highly significant differences (p = 0.01) (Tables 4.11 and 4.12). Cadmium (Cd) levels in plantain leaves and fruits sampled showed higher Cd levels in plantain leaf and fruit sampled from KYE, SUA and AYE were generally higher than AS levels and fruits sampled higher Cd levels in plantain leaves and fruit sampled from KYE, SUA and AYE were generally higher than Cd levels in plantain leaves and fruit sampled from UEW, MED and KNUST and at highly significant differences (p = 0.01) (Tables 4.11 and 4.12).

Mercury (Hg) levels in plantain leaves and fruits sampled showed higher Hg levels in plantain leaf and fruit sampled from KYE, SUA and AYE were generally higher than Hg levels in plantain leaves and fruit sampled from UEW, MED and KNUST and at highly significant differences (p = 0.01) (Tables 4.11 and 4.12). Lead (Pb) levels in plantain leaves and fruits sampled generally showed higher Pb levels in plantain leaf and fruit sampled from KYE, SUA and AYE than Pb levels in plantain leaves and fruit sampled from UEW, MED and KNUST and at highly significant differences (p = 0.01) (Tables 4.11 and 4.12).

Metal level in plantain leaves (mgkg ⁻¹)												
Location	Cr	Fe	Ni	Cu	Zn	As	Cd	Hg	Pb			
KYE	98.08	18712.58	20.82	15.70	126.19	8.29	6.43	6.95	4.55			
UEW	70.80	15420.90	18.11	11.58	49.42	7.84	5.45	5.96	3.69			
SUA	62.86	13237.22	16.10	10.3	101.56	4.81	5.52	5.28	3.53			
MED	29.07	10442.45	13 <mark>.9</mark> 3	24.07	56.46	3.16	4.74	4.44	3.50			
AYE	8.61	15693.83	18.15	7.43	83.29	5.86	5.78	6.11	3.92			
KNUST	8.30	7884.00	12.21	11.69	66.40	3.18	4.45	3.89	2.65			
P - value	0.01	0.01	0.01	0.01	0.01	0.01	0.01	0.01	0.01			
LSD	6.13	741.20	0.07	7.32	8.74	1.11	1.10	0.92	0.004			
CV (%)	7.30	3.00	0.20	21.40	5.90	12.30	13.00	9.30	0.10			

Table 4.11 Heavy metals level in plantain leaves from selected dumpsites

Study locations: KYE – Kyeremfaso Mampong (dumpsite soil); UEW – UEW Mampong Forest (background soil); SUA – Suame Magazine Kumasi (dumpsite soil); MED – Meduma Kumasi (background soil); AYE – Kumasi Ayeduase (dumpsite soil); KNUST – KNUST Kumasi botanical gardens (background soil)

Metal level in plantain fruits (mgkg ⁻¹)												
Location	Cr	Fe	Ni	Cu	Zn	As	Cd	Hg	Pb			
KYE	53.65	14501.60	17.14	16.09	79.39	8.05	5.08	5.73	3.72			
UEW	8.44	7663.66	11.86	7.20	37.8	2.51	4.11	3.83	2.53			
SUA	100.12	20442.75	21.93	67.75	186.50	8.30	6.41	7.41	36.15			
MED	14.00	8941.62	12.90	7.95	41.70	3.58	4.56	4.10	2.68			
AYE	8.88	7663.66	11.86	6.31	37.80	2.51	4.11	3.83	2.53			
KNUST	8.44	5986.56	10.60	7.20	17.43	1.74	3.63	3.27	2.18			
P - value	0.01	0.01	0.01	0.01	0.01	0.01	0.01	0.01	0.01			
LSD	3.53	742.00	0.74	5.26	0.74	1.00	0.94	0.19	6.68			
CV (%)	6.00	3.80	2.80	21.50	0.60	10.00	9.50	2.20	1.28			

Table 4.12 Heavy metals level in plantain fruits from selected dumpsites

Study locations: KYE – Kyeremfaso Mampong (dumpsite soil); UEW – UEW Mampong Forest (background soil); SUA – Suame Magazine Kumasi (dumpsite soil); MED – Meduma Kumasi (background soil); AYE – Kumasi Ayeduase (dumpsite soil); KNUST – KNUST Kumasi botanical gardens (background soil)

4.2.3.2 Heavy metals levels in cocoyam

Cocoyam leaves and corms were also investigated and showed levels of heavy metals concentration. Cr levels in cocoyam corms sampled from AYE (8.30 mgkg⁻¹) was lower than Cr levels in cocoyam corms from KNUST (8.36 mgkg⁻¹). The cocoyam leaves and corms sampled from KYE, SUA and AYE recorded higher levels of Cr than from UEW, MED and KNUST their corresponding background soils, respectively (Tables 4.13 and 4.14).

Iron (Fe) levels in cocoyam leaves and corms sampled were generally significantly higher (p = 0.01) from KYE, SUA and AYE than Fe levels in cocoyam leaves and corms sampled from UEW, MED and KNUST, respectively (p = 0.01) (Tables 4.13 and 4.14).

Cocoyam leaves sampled from KYE, SUA and AYE also recorded significantly (p = 0.01) higher Nickel (Ni) levels than Ni levels in cocoyam leaves sampled from UEW, MED. However, the Ni levels in the cocoyam corms sampled from KYE, SUA and AYE were not significantly different (p = 0.08) from Ni in cocoyam corms sampled from UEW, MED and KNUST between cocoyam leaves but not with cocoyam corms (p = 0.08) (Tables 4.13 and 4.14).

Copper (Cu) levels in cocoyam leaves and corm from KYE, SUA and AYE were generally higher and significantly different from Cu levels in cocoyam leaves and corms sampled from UEW, MED and KNUST (p = 0.01) (Tables 4.13 and 4.14). Zinc (Zn) levels in cocoyam leaves and corms sampled from KYE, SUA and AYE were generally higher than examined Zn values in than Zn levels in cocoyam leaves and corm sampled from UEW, MED and KNUST with a significant difference (p = 0.01). (Tables 4.13 and 4.14). Arsenic (As) level in cocoyam corms sampled from SUA (3.16 mgkg⁻¹) was lower than As level in cocoyam corms sampled from MED (3.58 mgkg⁻¹). However, As levels in cocoyam leaves at SUA was higher than cocoyam leaves at MED. For the other locations, As levels in both cocoyam leaves and corms at KYE and AYE were significantly higher than As levels in both cocoyam leaves and corms at UEW and KNUST (Tables 4.13 and 4.14). Cadmium (Cd) levels in cocoyam leaves and corms sampled from KYE, SUA and AYE were generally

significantly higher (p = 0.01) than examined Cd levels in cocoyam leaves and corms sampled from UEW, MED and KNUST (Tables 4.13 and 14). Mercury (Hg) levels were generally significantly higher in both cocoyam leaves and corms from KYE, SUA and AYE than Hg levels in cocoyam leaves and corms from UEW, MED and KNUST (Tables 4.13 and 14). Lead (Pb) levels were generally significantly higher (p = 0.01) in both cocoyam leaves and corms sampled from KYE, SUA and AYE than Hg levels in cocoyam leaves and corms sampled from UEW, MED and KNUST (Tables 4.13 and 14).

Metal level in cocoyam (mgkg ⁻¹)												
	Cr	Fe	Ni	Cu	Zn	As	Cd	Hg	Pb			
Location	leaf	leaf	leaf	leaf	leaf	leaf	leaf	leaf	leaf			
KYE	42.29	10925.38	14.59	9.31	44.92	4.85	5.06	4.66	2.99			
UEW	19.35	8119.50	13.03	7.92	38.03	3.81	4.70	4.03	2.73			
SUA	100.12	20442.75	21.93	67.75	186.5	8.30	6.41	7.41	36.15			
MED	8.88	5986.56	10.6	6.31	17.43	1.74	3.63	3.27	2.18			
AYE	81.30	15693.83	18.15	11.69	66.4	5.86	5.78	6.11	3.92			
KNUST	19.35	8119.50	13.03	7.92	44.92	3.81	4.70	4.03	2.73			
P - value	0.01	0.01	0.01	0.01	0.01	0.01	0.03	0.01	0.01			
LSD	6.72	7017.70	7.43	7.43	16.14	1.49	1.49	1.68	0.43			
CV (%)	8.20	33.40	28.80	22.10	13.40	17.79	16.20	18.60	2.80			

Table 4.13 Heavy metals level in cocoyam leaves from selected dumpsites

Locations: KYE - Kyeremfaso (dumpsite soil); UEW - Mampong Forest (background soil); SUAM -Suame Magazine (dumpsite soil); MED -Meduma Kumasi (background soil); AYE - Kumasi Ayeduase (dumpsite soil); KNUST Botanical gardens - Kumasi (backgroundsoil).

	wietar iever in cocoyani cornis (ingkg)										
Location	Cr	Fe	Ni	Cu	Zn	As	Cd	Hg	Pb		
KYE	85.77	21145.47	22.13	32.69	75.99	12.29	5.36	7.83	4.56		
UEW	8.36	7700.83	11.92	7.15	48.36	2.75	4.28	3.82	2.50		
SUA	29.07	10442.45	13.93	24.07	101.56	3.16	4.74	4.44	3.50		
MED	14.00	8941.62	12.90	7.95	41.70	3.58	4.56	4.10	2.68		
AYE	8.30	7884.00	12.21	7.43	83.29	3.18	4.45	3.89	2.65		
KNUST	8.36	7700.83	11.92	7.15	48.36	2.75	4.28	3.82	2.50		
P - value	0.01	0.01	0.08	0.01	0.01	0.01	0.26	0.01	0.01		
LSD	0.07	6684.40	1.49	7.43	0.004	3.59	1.45	0.74	0.75		
CV (%)	0.10	34.50	5.40	28.30	0.001	19.50	17.30	8.70	13.50		

Metal level in cocovam corms ($maka^{-1}$)

Table 4.14 Heavy metals level in cocoyam corms from selected dumpsites

Locations: KYE - Kyeremfaso (dumpsite soil); UEW - Mampong Forest (background soil); SUAM -Suame Magazine (dumpsite soil); MED - Meduma Kumasi (background soil); AYE - Kumasi Ayeduase (dumpsite soil); KNUST Botanical gardens - Kumasi (backgroundsoil).

4.2.4 Relationships among heavy metals and other soil properties

4.2.4.1 Correlation and linear regression

A Pearson's linear correlation relationship among Cr, Fe, Ni, Cu, Zn, As, Cd, Hg and Pb showed a significant association (Table 4.15). The soil total Cu concentrations correlated positively and highly significantly with Ni (r = 0.96; p = 0.01). The soil total Zn concentrations correlated negatively and significantly (r = -0.51; p = 0.04) with total Fe concentration levels in the soil, and positively with Ni (r = 0.95; p = 0.01) and Cu (r = 0.98; p = 0.01) concentration in the soil (Table 4.15). Total soil As concentration correlated positively and significantly (r = 0.53; p = 0.03) with total soil Cu levels and with total soil Zn (r = 0.48; p = 0.05) levels (Table 4.12). Total soil Cd levels also correlated positively and

significantly with Cr (r = 0.48; p = 0.04) and negatively with Fe (r = -0.65; p = 0.01). Total soil Pb concentration correlated negatively and highly significantly with As (r = -0.72; p = 0.01) and positively with Hg (r = 0.59; p = 0.01) (Table 4.15).

Relationships among soil total heavy metals											
Correlation	Cr	Fe	Ni	Cu	Zn	As	Cd	Hg	Pb		
Cr	1.00										
Fe	-0.08	1.00									
	(0.76)										
Ni	0.40	-0.45	1.00								
	(0.11)	(0.06)									
Cu	0.36	-0.41	0.96**	1.00							
	(0.14)	(0.09)	(0.01)								
Zn	0.35	-0.51*	0.95 ^{**}	0.98**	1.00						
	(0.15)	(0.04)	(0.01)	(0.01)							
As	-0.17	-0.22	0.32	0.53*	0.48 *	1.00					
	(0.50)	(0.39)	(0.21)	(0.03)	(0.05)						
Cd	0.47*	-0.01	-0.05	-0.06	-0.12	0.14	1.00				
	(0.05)	(0.98)	(0.85)	(0.85)	(0.63)	(0.57)					
Hg	0.01	-0.42	0.17	-0.05	0.06	-0.35	0.25	1.00			
	(0.97)	(0.08)	(0.51)	(0.84)	(0.82)	(0.15)	(0.31)				
Pb	0.21	-0.11	0.35	0.11	0.13	-0.72**	-0.15	0.59**	1.00		
	(0.41)	(0.67)	(0.15)	(0.71)	(0.61)	(0.01)	(0.55)	(0.01)			

Table 4.15 Pearson's correlation among the soil total heavy metals at the dumpsites

**Correlation is significant at 0.01 level (2-tailed); *Correlation is significant at 0.05 level

(2-tailed). P values are in parenthesis

The results of linear regression analysis prediction showed the extent of relationship between soil pH, soil organic matter (SOM), cation exchange capacity (CEC), clay content, soil available P and selected heavy metals. Soil pH significantly (p = 0.02; $r^2 = 0.26$) influenced soil total Fe concentration and the prediction is that, under unfavourable soil pH condition, Fe level in the soil will be 9477 mgkg⁻¹ and for every unit increase in soil pH, total Fe level will increase by 2.66 mgkg⁻¹ in the soil. Also 26% of the variation in Fe level attributed to soil pH, the remaining 74% is due to other factors (Table 4.16).

Table 4.16 Relationships between soil pH, soil organic matter, cation exchange

Linear	Y- intercept	Slope	R	\mathbb{R}^2	P - value
(X) Soil pH – Fe (Y)	9477	2.66	0.51*	0.26	0.02
(X) SOM – Ni (Y)	32.08	4.363	0.97^{**}	0.94	0.01
(X) SOM – Cu (Y)	2.61	8.092	0.98^{**}	0.96	0.01
(X) $SOM - Zn(Y)$	-898	427.10	0.98^{**}	0.96	0.01
(X) CEC – Ni (Y)	26.06	2.039	0.89**	0.79	0.01
(X) CEC – Cu (Y)	-11.66	4.007	0.95**	0.90	0.01
$(X) \operatorname{CEC} - \operatorname{Zn}(Y)$	-1481	19 <mark>9.</mark> 10	0.89**	0.79	0.01
(X) CEC – As (Y)	12.03	0.1951	0.57^{**}	0.32	0.01
(X) CLAY – Cr (Y)	54.15	1.457	-0.54*	0.29	0.02
(X) CLAY - Fe(Y)	12029	168.8	0.61**	0.37	0.01
(X) Avail. P – Cd (Y)	10.61	0.00663	-0.66**	0.44	0.01

capacity, clay, soil available phosphorus and selected heavy metals in dumpsites soil

** Significant at 0.0l level; *Significant at 0.05 level.

SOM highly and significantly influenced Ni (p = 0.01; $r^2 = 0.94$); Cu (p = 0.01; $r^2 = 0.96$) and Zn (p = 0.01; $r^2 = 0.96$). The prediction is that, under unfavourable SOM influence, total Ni level in the soil will be 32.08 mgkg⁻¹ and for every unit increase in SOM, total Ni level will increase by 4.36 mgkg⁻¹ in the soil. Also, unfavourable SOM influence, total Cu level in the soil will be 2.61 mgkg⁻¹ and for every unit increase in SOM, total Cu level will increase by 8.09 mgkg² in the soil. In addition, under unfavourable SOM influence, total Zn level in the soil will decrease by 898 mgkg⁻¹ and for every unit increase in SOM, total Zn level will increase by 427.10 mgkg⁻¹ in the soil. Also, SOM may also be attributed to 94 % variation in Fe levels while the remaining 6 % may be attributed to other factors in the dumpsite soil (Table 4.16).

CEC highly and significantly (p = 0.01; $r^2 = 0.79$) influenced Ni, Cu (p = 0.01; $r^2 = 0.90$), Zn (p = 0.01; $r^2 = 0.79$) and As (p = 0.01; $r^2 = 0.32$). The prediction is that, under unfavourable CEC influence, Ni level in the soil will be 26.06 mgkg⁻¹ and for every unit increase in CEC, total Ni level will increase by 2.04 mgkg⁻¹ in the soil. Also, under unfavourable CEC influence, Cu level in the soil will decrease by - 11.66 mgkg⁻¹ and for every unit increase in CEC, total Cu level will increase by 4.01 mgkg⁻¹ in the soil. Cu levels in the dumpsites soils may be attributed to 90 % variation in Cu levels while the remaining 10 % may be attributed to other factors in the dumpsites soils. In addition, under unfavourable CEC influence, Zn level in the soil will decrease by 1481 mgkg⁻¹ but for a unit increase in CEC, total Zn level will increase by 199.10 mgkg⁻¹ in the soil. Also, under unfavourable CEC effect, As level in the soil will be 12.03 mgkg⁻¹ but for a unit increase in CEC, total As in the soil level will increase by 199.10 mgkg⁻¹ in the soil. (Table 4.16).

Clay content significantly (p = 0.02; $r^2 = 0.29$) influenced Cr, and highly significantly influenced (p = 0.01; $r^2 = 0.37$) Fe. The prediction is that, clay variation in the soil are attributed to only 26 % of Cr levels in the soil while the remaining higher 76 % may attributed to other factors. Also, clay influenced, total Fe level in the soil will be 12029

University of Education, Winneba http://ir.uew.edu.gh

 $mgkg^2$ and for every unit increase in soil clay content, total Fe level will increase by 168.80 $mgkg^2$ in the soil (Table 4.16).

Soil available P highly and significantly (p = 0.01; $r^2 = 0.44$) influenced total Cd level in the soil. The prediction is that, under no available phosphorus influence, total Cd level in the soil will be 10.61 mgkg⁻¹ and for every unit increase in soil available phosphorus, total Cd level will increase by 0.01 mgkg⁻¹ in the soil. Also, soil available P influence might be attributed to 44 % variation in dumpsite soil Cd level while the remaining 56 % may be attributed to other factors in the soil (Table 4.16).



4.3 Study Three (Field Experimentation):- Evaluation of heavy metals contamination in dumpsite soils and selected plants under field conditions

4.3.1 Physicochemical properties of soils in pots under field conditions

Mampong Kyeremfaso dumpsite soil (KYE), Mampong UEW forest background soil (UEW), Kumasi Suame magazine dumpsite soil (SUA), Kumasi Meduma background soil (MED), Kumasi Ayeduase dumpsite soil (AYE) and Kumasi KNUST botanical gardens background soil (KNUST) generally recorded lower bulk densities in KYE, SUA and AYE (with no significant differences, p = 0.64) than in UEW, MED and KNUST (Table 4.17). Soil pH in SUA (6.51) was lower than in MED (8.03), KYE and AYE recorded higher soil pH than in UEW and KNUST with a significant difference (p = 0.01). Total organic carbon and organic matter were higher in KYE, SUA and AYE than in UEW, MED and KNUST with a significant difference (p = 0.01). Total N was higher in KYE (0.19 %) than UEW (0.18 %), total N levels in SUA and AYE were higher than in MED and KNUST with no significant differences (p = 0.51). Soil available P was higher in KYE, SUA and AYE than in UEW, MED and KNUST with significant differences (p = 0.01). The exchangeable cation K level in KYE (0.22 meg100g⁻¹) was lower than in UEW (0.24 meg100g⁻¹), SUA (0.18 meq100g⁻¹) recorded lower K levels than in MED (0.39 meq100g⁻¹), Na levels in SUA (0.12 meq100g⁻¹) was lower than in MED (0.17 meq100g⁻¹). Ca, Mg, and Na were higher in most dumpsites soils compared to background soils with significant differences (p = 0.01). Exchangeable acidity levels in KYE and AYE were higher than in UEW and KNUST with significant differences (p = 0.03). CEC and ECEC levels in KYE, SUA and AYE were higher than in UEW, MED and KNUST at a significant difference (p = 0.01). Base saturation levels in SUA (99.77 %) were lower than in MED (99.88 %). KYE, and AYE

recorded higher exchangeable acid levels than in UEW and KNUST with a significant difference (p = 0.01). (Table 4.17).



	B.D						Excha	angeable o	cations					
	(gcm ⁻³)	pН	T.O.C	T.O.M	Total N	Available	Ca	Mg	K	Na	Exchangeable	CEC	ECEC	Base
						Р					acidity			saturation
				(%)		(mgkg ⁻¹)				(meq10	0g ⁻¹)			(%)
Soil														
source														
KYE	1.37	7.99	1.70	2.92	0.19	233.49	11.08	2.98	0.22	0.11	0.05	7.80	14.43	99.65
UEW	1.47	6.25	1.50	2.63	0.18	20.05	4.47	1.92	0.24	0.09	0.15	8.26	6.87	97.82
SUA	1.01	6.51	8.48	14.6	0.22	8.77	29.82	12.7	0.18	0.12	0.10	31.24	43.00	99.77
				2				8						
MED	1.57	8.03	1.78	3.07	0.15	36.22	9.16	1.92	0.39	0.17	0.02	17.14	11.66	99.88
AYE	1.26	8.77	2.54	4.38	0.16	9.11	26.84	1.49	0.30	0.15	0.02	10.76	28.80	99.93
KNUST	1.42	4.81	1.61	2.78	0.19	132.12	1.70	0.64	0.20	0.11	1.20	7.56	3.80	68.93
P - value	0.64(NS)	0.01	0.01	0.01	0.51(NS)	0.01	0.01	0.01	0.01	0.01	0.03	0.01	0.01	0.01
LSD	0.74	1.29	0.74	0.04	0.58	1.49	0.94	1.52	0.01	0.02	0.73	1.79	2.87	2.05
(0.05)														
CV (%)	30.00	4.00	13.80	0.01	0.53	1.10	3.70	23.1	2.80	10.50	0.79	7.10	8.70	1.20
								0						

Table 4.17 Physicochemical properties of soils in pots under field conditions

Treatments: KYE - Kyeremfaso Mampong dumpsite soil; UEW - UEW forest Mampong background soil; SUA - Suame Kumasi dumpsite soil; MED – Meduma Kumasi background soil; AYE - Ayeduase Kumasi dumpsite soil; KNUST – KNUST Kumasi botanical gardens background soil.

4.3.2 Total metals levels in soils in pots under field conditions

planting

Total heavy metals level in sampled soils before planting of lettuce in pots under field conditions showed that, Cr, Fe, Ni, Cu, Zn, As, Cd, Hg and Pb levels in KYE, SUA and AYE were generally higher than levels in UEW, MED and KNUST in pots before planting lettuce at significant differences (p = 0.01) (Table 4.18).

Table 4.18 Total heavy metals levels in soils in pots under field conditions before

			Metal lev						
Soil source	Cr	Fe	Ni	Cu	Zn	As	Cd	Hg	Pb
KYE	87.64	13421.3	63.41	36.21	291.14	15.36	47.31	36.52	43.77
UEW	69.07	12330.58	45.53	27.91	25.32	13.39	22.46	14.6	11.41
SUA	71.23	13673.42	82 <mark>.7</mark> 4	78.64	5659.17	21.47	26.32	44.75	36.24
MED	40.85	13030.55	45.22	23.63	1 <mark>97</mark> .13	18.53	15.14	13.62	9.11
AYE	42.43	15942.39	69.15	36.55	931.02	20.74	23.97	19.79	75.32
KNUST	34.24	13397.55	39.53	33.70	752.25	16.39	14.57	17.87	10.46
P - value	0.01	0.01	0.01	0.01	0.01	0.01	0.01	0.01	0.01
LSD (0.05)	1.11	1593.10	0.94	1.49	86.60	0.94	0.74	6.90	0.99
CV (%)	1.00	6.40	0.90	2.10	3.60	2.90	1.60	16.10	1.80

Treatments: KYE - Kyeremfaso Mampong dumpsite soil; UEW - Mampong Forest background soil; SUA - Suame Magazine Kumasi dumpsite soil; MED - Meduma Kumasi background soil; AYE - Ayeduase Kumasi dumpsite soil; KNUST - KNUST Kumasi botanical gardens background soil.

Total heavy metals level in sampled soils at harvest in pots under field conditions showed that, Cr, Fe, Ni, Cu, Zn, As, Cd, Hg and Pb levels in KYE, SUA and AYE were generally higher than levels in UEW, MED and KNUST in pots before planting lettuce with significant differences (P = 0.01) (Table 4.19)

Soil	Cr	Fe	Ni	Cu	Zn	As	Cd	Hg	Pb
source									
KYE	61.13	15010.32	46.77	27.12	246.23	14.84	30.56	19.52	16.19
UEW	57.14	12644.48	38.14	22.19	197.46	13.15	11.64	12.20	9.36
SUA	59.67	15467.53	96.11	124.23	5464.62	17.92	14.35	16.79	24.33
MED	20.27	13384.51	44.59	35.74	229.23	17.06	13.58	12.91	7.71
AYE	43.46	12877.58	57.36	29.24	794.13	15.91	11.31	21.02	59.54
KNUST	19.13	10216.43	42.10	23.12	659.74	9.47	11.07	19.73	9.04
P - value	0.01	0.01	0.01	0.01	0.01	0.01	0.01	0.01	0.01
LSD	1.59	668.40	0.05	0.74	703.40	2.17	0.43	2.20	0.01
(0.05)			/						
CV (%)	2.00	2.80	0.001	0.90	30.60	8.10	7.00	7.10	0.001

Table 4.19 Total heavy metals levels in soils in pots under field conditions at harvest

Treatments: KYE - Kyeremfaso Mampong dumpsite soil; UEW - Mampong Forest background soil; SUA - Suame Magazine Kumasi dumpsite soil; MED - Meduma Kumasi background soil; AYE - Ayeduase Kumasi dumpsite soil; KNUST - KNUST Kumasi botanical gardens background soil.

4.3.3 Heavy metals levels in lettuce shoots and roots at harvest under field conditions

Heavy metals (Fe, Ni, Cu, Zn, As, Cd, Hg and Pb) levels in lettuce shoots and roots in pots under field conditions showed that, on KYE soils, Chromium (Cr) levels in lettuce shoot (34.20 mgkg⁻¹) and root (23.56 mgkg⁻¹) were higher than Cr levels in lettuce shoot (14.64 mgkg⁻¹) and root (8.06 mgkg⁻¹) in UEW (Tables 4.20 and 4.21). On SUA, Cr in lettuce shoot (21.01 mgkg⁻¹) and root (19.24 mgkg⁻¹) were higher than MED Cr levels in lettuce shoot (15.25 mgkg⁻¹) and root (7.91 mgkg⁻¹). Cr level in lettuce shoots and roots in pots under field conditions showed that, on AYE, Cr levels in lettuce shoot (7.16 mgkg⁻¹) and root (6.90 mgkg⁻¹) were higher than Cr levels in lettuce shoot (7.05 mgkg⁻¹) and root (6.57 mgkg⁻¹) on

KNUST. Generally, Cr levels in lettuce on dumpsite soils were higher than on background soils and there were highly and significantly (p = 0.01) different from each other (Table 4.20 and 4.21).

Metal levels in lettuce shoots at harvest (mgkg ⁻¹)									
Soil source	Cr	Fe	Ni	Cu	Zn	As	Cd	Hg	Pb
KYE	34.20	5126.48	15.91	10.12	69.50	6.12	5.25	5.95	3.75
UEW	14.64	6010.05	17.56	11.3	66.89	7.43	5.11	5.78	3.35
SUA	21.01	5563.51	17.24	47.70	2895.61	7.73	4.80	6.33	5.59
MED	15.25	6357.22	17.73	11.42	90.60	8.39	4.97	5.98	3.53
AYE	7.16	4671.34	15.89	13.34	131.74	4.88	4.72	5.29	3.90
KNUST	7.05	4113.63	14.00	8.77	210.47	5.75	4.54	4.55	3.09
P-value	0.01	0.01	0.01	0.01	0.01	0.01	0.89(NS)	0.02	0.01
LSD (0.05)	1.55	742.80	1.99	0.83	742.00	0.95	1.47	0.91	0.43
CV (%)	5.10	7.70	6.70	2.70	7.70	7.80	16.50	8.90	6.00

Table 4.20 Total metal levels in lettuce shoots in pots at harvest under field conditions

Treatments: KYE - Kyeremfaso Mampong dumpsite soil; UEW - Mampong background soil; SUA - Suame Kumasi dumpsite soil; MED - Meduma Kumasi background soil; AYE -Ayeduase Kumasi dumpsite soil; KNUST - KNUST Kumasi botanical gardens background soil.

Iron (Fe) levels in lettuce shoots and roots in pots under field conditions showed that, on KYE, Fe levels in lettuce shoot (5126.48 mgkg⁻¹) and root (5011.23 mgkg⁻¹) was lower than Fe levels in lettuce shoot (6010.05 mgkg⁻¹) and lower Fe levels in lettuce root (4233.35 mgkg⁻¹) on UEW. On SUA, Fe levels in lettuce shoot (5563.51 mgkg⁻¹) and root (5121.46 mgkg⁻¹) were lower than Fe levels in MED lettuce shoot (6357.22 mgkg⁻¹) and root (5613.66 mgkg⁻¹). Fe levels in lettuce shoots (4671.34 mgkg⁻¹) and root (4511.22 mgkg⁻¹) on AYE

were higher than Fe levels in lettuce shoot (4113.63 mgkg⁻¹) and root (3995.26 mgkg⁻¹) on KNUST. Fe levels in lettuce on most of dumpsites soils were higher in concentration than Fe levels in lettuce on background soils with highly significant differences (p = 0.01) (Tables 4.20 and 4.21).

Nickel (Ni) levels in lettuce shoots (15.91 mgkg⁻¹) on KYE was lower than Ni levels in shoots (17.56 mgkg⁻¹) on UEW but Ni levels in roots (15.77 mgkg⁻¹) KYE was higher than Ni levels in lettuce root (14.82 mgkg⁻¹) on UEW. On SUA, Ni levels in lettuce shoot (17.24 mgkg⁻¹) was lower than Ni levels in lettuce shoot (17.73 mgkg⁻¹) on MED but lettuce root (16.39 mgkg⁻¹) on SUA recorded higher Ni levels than Ni levels in lettuce root (14.95 mgkg⁻¹) in MED. Ni levels in lettuce shoot (15.89 mgkg⁻¹) on AYE was higher than Ni levels in lettuce shoot (14.00 mgkg⁻¹) on KNUST. Ni levels in lettuce root (14.89 mgkg⁻¹) on AYE was lower than Ni levels in lettuce root (16.69 mgkg⁻¹) on KNUST. There was highly significant (p = 0.01) differences between Ni levels in dumpsites soil lettuce and background soils lettuce (Tables 4.20 and 4.21).

Copper (Cu) levels in lettuce shoots (10.12 mgkg⁻¹) on KYE was lower than Cu levels in lettuce shoots (11.30 mgkg⁻¹) on UEW but higher in roots (12.75 mgkg⁻¹) KYE than in root (10.39 mgkg⁻¹) UEW. On SUA, Cu levels in lettuce shoot (47.70 mgkg⁻¹) and root (28.88 mgkg⁻¹) was higher than Cu levels in lettuce shoot (11.42 mgkg⁻¹) and root (9.42 mgkg⁻¹) MED. Cu levels in AYE was higher in lettuce shoot (13.34 mgkg⁻¹) but lower Cu levels in lettuce root (9.54 mgkg⁻¹) on AYE as compare to Cu levels in lettuce shoot (8.77 mgkg⁻¹) and root (10.94 mgkg⁻¹) on KNUST. There was highly significant (p = 0.01) differences

between all Cu levels in dumpsites soil lettuce and background soils lettuce (Tables 4.20 and 4.21).

Zinc (Zn) levels in lettuce shoots and roots in pots under field conditions showed that, on KYE, Zn levels in lettuce shoot (69.50 mgkg⁻¹) and root (110.11 mgkg⁻¹) were higher than Zn levels in lettuce shoot (66.89 mgkg⁻¹) and root (87.88 mgkg⁻¹) on UEW. Zn levels on SUA lettuce shoot (2895.61 mgkg⁻¹) and root (1698.12 mgkg⁻¹) showed higher concentration levels than in MED lettuce shoot (90.60 mgkg⁻¹) and root (71.05 mgkg⁻¹). On AYE, Zn levels in both lettuce shoot (131.74 mgkg⁻¹) and root (133.34 mgkg⁻¹) recorded lower Zn levels than in KNUST lettuce shoot (210.47 mgkg⁻¹) and root (146.43 mgkg⁻¹). There were highly and significant (p = 0.01) differences between Zn levels in dumpsite soils lettuce and their background soils lettuce studied (Tables 4.20 and 4.21).

Arsenic (As) levels in lettuce shoots (6.12 mgkg⁻¹) on KYE was lower than As levels in lettuce shoot (7.43 mgkg⁻¹) on UEW. As levels in lettuce root (6.31 mgkg⁻¹) on KYE recorded a higher As level than in lettuce root (4.42 mgkg⁻¹) on UEW. As levels in lettuce shoot (7.73 mgkg⁻¹) and root (7.09 mgkg⁻¹) on SUA recorded lower As levels in lettuce shoot (8.39 mgkg⁻¹) on MED. As levels in lettuce root (6.75 mgkg⁻¹) on MED was lower as compared with As levels in lettuce root on SUA. As levels in AYE dumpsite soil was lower in lettuce shoot (4.88 mgkg⁻¹) than As levels in lettuce shoot (5.75 mgkg⁻¹) on KNUST. As levels in lettuce root (9.05 mgkg⁻¹) on MED was higher than in lettuce root (3.90 mgkg⁻¹) on KNUST. There was a highly significant (p = 0.01) difference between As levels in lettuce plant shoots and roots in dumpsites soils and background soils (Tables 4.20 and 4.21).

Cadmium (Cd) levels in lettuce shoot (5.25 mgkg⁻¹) and root (4.64 mgkg⁻¹) were both higher on KYE dumpsite soil than Cd levels in lettuce shoot (5.11 mgkg⁻¹) and root (4.23 mgkg⁻¹) on UEW. Cd on SUA lettuce shoot (4.80 mgkg⁻¹) was lower than Cd levels in lettuce root (4.86 mgkg⁻¹) as compared with Cd levels in MED shoot (4.97 mgkg⁻¹) and root (4.47 mgkg⁻¹). Cd levels were higher in lettuce shoot (4.72 mgkg⁻¹) but lower in lettuce root (5.02 mgkg⁻¹) in AYE as compared with Cd concentration levels in KNUST lettuce shoot (4.54 mgkg⁻¹) and root (5.07 mgkg⁻¹). There was a highly significantly (p = 0.01) difference between Cd levels in dumpsite soils and their background soils studied (Tables 4.20 and 4.21).

Mercury (Hg) level in lettuce shoot (5.95 mgkg⁻¹) and root (5.12 mgkg⁻¹) were higher on KYE than in lettuce shoot (5.78 mgkg⁻¹) and root (4.82 mgkg⁻¹) in UEW. Hg in SUA lettuce shoot (6.33 mgkg⁻¹) and lettuce root (5.71 mgkg⁻¹) were higher than on lettuce shoot (5.98 mgkg⁻¹) and lettuce root (4.80 mgkg⁻¹) in KNUST. Hg level were both higher in lettuce shoot (5.29 mgkg⁻¹) and lettuce root (4.85 mgkg⁻¹) on AYE as compared to Hg concentration levels in KNUST lettuce shoot (4.55 mgkg⁻¹) and lettuce root (3.54 mgkg⁻¹). There was a significant (p = 0.02) difference between Hg levels in lettuce plant shoots parts in dumpsite soils and their background soils and a highly significantly (p = 0.01) difference between Hg levels in lettuce shoot (Tables 4.20 and 4.21).

Lead (Pb) level was lower in lettuce shoot (3.75 mgkg⁻¹) and higher in lettuce root (3.54 mgkg⁻¹) in KYE as compared with Hg in lettuce shoot (3.35 mgkg⁻¹) and root (3.23 mgkg⁻¹) in UEW. Pb in SUA lettuce shoot (5.59 mgkg⁻¹) and lettuce root (7.99 mgkg⁻¹) were both higher than Pb in lettuce shoot (3.53 mgkg⁻¹) and lettuce root (3.13 mgkg⁻¹) in MED. Pb

levels were both higher in lettuce shoot (3.90 mgkg⁻¹) and lettuce root (35.76 mgkg⁻¹) in AYE than Pb concentration levels in KNUST lettuce shoot (3.09 mgkg⁻¹) and lettuce root (3.69 mgkg⁻¹). There was a high significantly (p = 0.01) difference between Pb levels in lettuce shoots and roots in dumpsite soils and their background soils with a significant difference (p = 0.01) (Tables 4.20 and 4.21).

Metal levels in lettuce roots at harvest (mgkg ⁻¹)									
Soil source	Cr	Fe	Ni	Cu	Zn	As	Cd	Hg	Pb
KYE	23.56	5011.23	15.77	12.75	110.11	6.31	4.64	5.12	3.54
			/						
UEW	8.06	4233.35	14.82	10.39	87.88	4.42	4.23	4.82	3.23
SUA	19.24	5121.46	16.39	28.88	16 <mark>98</mark> .12	7.09	4.86	5.71	7.99
MED	7.91	5613.66	1 <mark>4.</mark> 95	9.42	71.05	6.75	4.47	4.80	3.13
AYE	6.90	4511.22	14.89	9.54	133.34	9.05	5.02	4.85	35.76
KNUST	6.57	3995.26	16.69	10.94	146.43	3.90	5.07	3.54	3.69
P - value	0.01	0.01	0.03	0.01	0.01	0.01	0.17	0.01	0.01
LSD (0.05)	1.10	939.40	0.70	6.91	79.60	0.13	0.74	0.07	7.67
CV (%)	5.00	10.90	2.60	27.90	11.70	1.10	8.70	0.80	1.37

Table 4.21 Total metal levels in lettuce roots in pots at harvest under field conditions

Treatments: KYE - Kyeremfaso Mampong dumpsite soil; UEW - Mampong background soil; SUA - Suame Kumasi dumpsite soil; MED - Meduma Kumasi background soil; AYE -Ayeduase Kumasi dumpsite soil; KNUST - KNUST Kumasi botanical gardens background soil.

4.3.4 NPK levels in lettuce plant in pots at harvest

Primary nutrients Nitrogen (N), Phosphorus (P) and Potassium (K) in lettuce shoots and roots in pots at harvest showed a lower total nitrogen level in lettuce shoot (0.07 %) and root

(0.09 %) in KYE than the total nitrogen level in lettuce shoot (0.27 %) and root (0.16 %) on UEW at harvest. On SUA, there were higher total nitrogen in lettuce shoot (6.15 %) and root (3.01 %) as compare to lower total nitrogen in lettuce shoot (3.01 %) and root (2.38 %) in MED. In AYE, lettuce shoot (2.59 %) and root (1.61) were higher than the total nitrogen levels in lettuce shoot (0.31 %) and root (0.20 %) in KNUST. A highly significant difference (p = 0.01) was recorded between the total nitrogen levels in lettuce shoot and root in dumpsites soil and their background soils (Table 4.22).

Available phosphorus (P) in lettuce shoots and roots in pots at harvest showed higher available P in lettuce shoot (14.17 mgkg⁻¹) and root (12.46 mgkg⁻¹) in KYE as compared with available P in lettuce shoot (13.20 mgkg⁻¹) and root (11.28 mgkg⁻¹) on UEW at harvest. In SUA dumpsite soil, a higher available P in lettuce shoot (12.19 mgkg⁻¹) and root (14.07 mgkg⁻¹) as compare to lower available P in lettuce shoot (0.55 mgkg⁻¹) and root (1.02 mgkg⁻¹) in MED. In AYE, there were higher levels of available P in lettuce shoot (19.22 mgkg⁻¹) and root (15.35 mgkg⁻¹) than in lettuce shoot (0.79 mgkg⁻¹) and root (0.42 mgkg⁻¹) in KNUST in pots at harvest. There was a significant difference (p = 0.01) between lettuce shoot and root (Table 4.22).

Available potassium (K) in lettuce shoots and roots at harvest showed higher values in lettuce shoot (19.06 meq100⁻¹) and in root (14.13 meq100⁻¹) in KYE than the values in lettuce shoot (10.18 meq100⁻¹) and root (6.15 meq100⁻¹) in UEW at harvest. In SUA, there was a lower available K in lettuce shoot (4.79 meq100⁻¹) and root (5.10 meq100⁻¹) as compare to higher values in lettuce shoot (21.04 meq100⁻¹) and root (14.36 meq100⁻¹) in

MED at harvest. In AYE, at harvest, higher levels of available K in lettuce shoot (3.64 meq100⁻¹) and root (5.80 meq100⁻¹) were recorded than the levels in lettuce shoot (0.11 meq100⁻¹) and root (0.03 meq100⁻¹) in KNUST. There was a highly significant difference (p = 0.01) (Table 4.22).

Table 4.22 Selected soil nutrients in lettuce plant in pots under field conditions at harvest

Lettuce nutrient levels									
	Total Nitro	ogen (%)	Available K (meq100g ⁻¹)						
Soil Source	Shoot	Root	Shoot	Root	Shoot	Root			
KYE	0.07	0.09	14.17	12.46	19.06	14.13			
UEW	0.27	0.16	13.20	11.28	10.18	6.15			
SUA	3.01	2.38	12.19	14.07	4.79	5.10.			
MED	6.15	11.26	0.55	1.02	21.04	14.36			
AYE	0.31	0.20	0.79	0.42	3.64	5.80			
KNUST	2.59	1.61	19.22	15.35	0.11	0.03			
P - value	0.01	0.01	0.01	0.01	0.01	0.01			
LSD (0.05)	0.96	0.99	0.94	0.74	0.74	0.74			
CV (%)	25.60	20.90	5.10	4.50	4.10	5.30			

Treatments: KYE - Kyeremfaso Mampong dumpsite soil; UEW - Mampong Forest background soil; SUA - Suame Magazine Kumasi dumpsite soil; MED - Meduma Kumasi background soil; AYE - Ayeduase Kumasi dumpsite soil; KNUST - KNUST Kumasi botanical gardens background soil.

4.4 Techniques to assess pollution of soils by heavy metals

4.4.1 Evaluation of heavy metals contamination on the field at 0 – 15 cm and 15 – 30 cm

4.4.1.1 Geoaccumulation Index (Igeo) of dumpsite soils studied

The Geoaccumulation Index (Igeo) of classification by Forstner *et al.* (1993) and Buccolieri *et al.* (2006) was used to evaluate the contamination intensity of the plant metal elements (Cr, Fe, Ni, Cu and Zn) studied (Table 4.23). At 0 - 15 cm depth of soils sampled, Cr contamination was 'uncontaminated to moderate' (0.61) in KYE, 'Very strong' (15.75) contamination intensity in SUA and 'uncontaminated to moderate' (0.73) in AYE. Cr contamination was in an increasing order of KYE < AYE < SUA. Fe contamination in all the three dumpsites soil was 'uncontaminated to moderate' in KYE (0.64), SUA (0.83) and AYE (0.86). Ni was 'uncontaminated to moderate' in KYE (1.00) and AYE (0.69) but 'Strong to very strong' in SUA (4.35). Cu contamination intensity was 'uncontaminated to moderate' in KYE (1.00) and AYE (0.69). The intensity was 'Strong' in KYE (3.32), 'Very strong' in AYE (6.88) and SUA (7.97). (Table 4.24).

I geo – Index	I geo - class	Contamination intensity
< 0	0	practically uncontaminated
0 - 1	1	uncontaminated to moderate
1 - 2	2	moderate
2 - 3	3	moderate to strong
3 - 4	4	strong
4 - 5	5	Strong to very strong
> 5	6	Very strong

 Table 4.23 Geoaccumulation index classification criteria

Source: Forstener et al. (1993); Buccolieri et al. (2006).

The Igeo was also used for the non - essential plant metal elements (As, Cd, Hg, and Pb). For As, the contamination intensity was classified as 'uncontaminated to moderate' with As in KYE (0.64), AYE (0.66) and SUA (0.67) in the order KYE < AYE < SUA. Cd was 'uncontaminated to moderate' in AYE (0.26), KYE (0.57) and SUA (0.71) in the order AYE < KYE < SUA. Hg was 'uncontaminated to moderate' in KYE (0.66) and AYE (0.72) but 'Moderate' in SUA (1.73). Pb was generally 'uncontaminated to moderate' in AYE (0.18), SUA (0.18) and KYE (0.69) (Table 4.24).



	I geo and contamination intensity									
Locatio	Cr	Fe	Ni	Cu	Zn	As	Cd	Hg	Pb	
n										
KYE	0.61	0.64	1.00	0.72	3.32	0.64	0.57	0.66	0.69	
	Uncontam	Uncontami	Uncontami	Uncontami	Uncontami	Uncontami	Uncontami	Uncontami	Uncontami	
	-inated to	-nated to	-nated to	-nated to	-nated to	-nated to	-nated to	-nated to	-nated to	
	moderate	moderate	moderate	moderate	moderate	moderate	moderate	moderate	moderate	
				$\begin{bmatrix} 2 \\ 2 \end{bmatrix}$						
SUA	15.75	0.83	4.35	24.38	7.97	0.67	0.71	1.73	0.18	
	Very	Uncontami	Strong to	Very strong	Very strong	Uncontami	Uncontami	Moderate	Uncontami	
	strong	-nated to	very strong			-nated to	-nated to		-nated to	
		moderate				moderate	moderate		moderate	
AYE	0.73	0.86	0.69	3.61	6.88	0.66	0.26	0.72	0.18	
	Uncontam	Uncontami	Uncontami	Strong	Very strong	Uncontami	Uncontami	Uncontami	Uncontami	
	-inated to	-nated to	-nated to			-nated to	-nated to	-nated to	-nated to	
	moderate	moderate	moderate			moderate	moderate	moderate	moderate	

Table 4.24 Geoaccumulation index (I geo) and contamination intensity at a soil depth of 0 - 15 cm for selected dumpsites

soil

Location: KYE - Mampong Kyeremfaso dumpsite soil; SUA - Kumasi Suame dumpsite soil; AYE - Kumasi Ayeduase dumpsite soil.

At soil depth between 15 - 30 cm, an essential element Cr contamination was 'uncontaminated to moderate' in KYE Mampong dumpsite soil (0.55), SUA (0.91) and AYE (0.65). Fe contamination in all the three dumpsites soil was 'uncontaminated to moderate' in KYE Mampong dumpsite soil (0.42), SUA Kumasi dumpsite soil (0.95) and AYE Kumasi dumpsite soil (0.51). Ni was 'uncontaminated to moderate' in KYE (0.64) and AYE (0.51) but 'Very strong' contamination intensity in SUA (8.82). Cu contamination intensity was 'uncontaminated to moderate' in AYE (38.06), 'Strong to very strong' in SUA (4.51). Zn intensity was 'Moderate to strong' in KYE (3.31), 'Very strong' in AYE (10.10) and SUA (66.69) (Table 4.25).

The I_{geo} was also used for the non-essential plant metal elements (As, Cd, Hg and Pb) For As the contamination intensity was classified as 'uncontaminated to moderate' in KYE (0.57), AYE (0.55) and 'Moderate' in SUA (1.08). Cd was 'uncontaminated to moderate' in AYE (0.41), SUA (0.51) and KYE (0.71) in increasing order of AYE < SUA < KYE. Hg was 'uncontaminated to moderate' in KYE (0.64) and AYE (0.55) but 'Moderate to strong' in SUA (2.13) in increasing order AYE < KYE < SUA. Pb was 'uncontaminated to moderate' in intensity in KYE (0.71), 'Very strong' in AYE (5.06) and SUA (23.75) in increasing order of KYE < AYE < SUA (Table 4.25).

Table 4.25 Geoaccumulation index (I geo) and contaminated intensity at a soil depth of 15 - 30 cm for selected dumpsites

soil

I geo and contamination intensity									
Location	Cr	Fe	Ni	Cu	Zn	As	Cd	Hg	Pb
KYE	0.55	0.42	0.64	0.79	2.31	0.57	0.63	0.64	0.71
	Uncontami	Uncontamina	Uncontamin	Uncontamina	Moderate	Uncontamin	Uncontamina	Uncontaminat	Uncontam
	-nated to	-ted to	-ated to	-ted to	-to strong	-ated to	-ted to	-ed to	-inated to
	moderate	moderate	moderate	moderate		moderate	moderate	moderate	moderate
SUA	0.91	0.95	8.82	-38.06	66.69	1.08	0.51	2.13	23.75
	Uncontami	Uncontamina	Very strong	Very strong	Very	Moderate	Uncontamina	Moderate to	Very
	-nated to	-ted to			strong		-ted to	strong	strong
	moderate	moderate		<u> 00</u>			moderate		
AYE	0.65	0.51	0.71	4.51	10.10	0.55	0.41	0.55	5.06
	Uncontami	Uncontamina	Uncontamin	Strong to	Very	Uncontamin	Uncontamina	Uncontaminat	Very
	-nated to	-ted to	-ated to	very strong	strong	-ated to	-ted to	-ed to	strong
	moderate	moderate	moderate			moderate	moderate	moderate	

Location: KYE - Kyeremfaso Mampong dumpsite soil; SUA - Suame Kumasi dumpsite soil; AYE - Ayeduase Kumasi dumpsite

soil.
4.4.1.2 Enrichment Factor (EF) of dumpsite soils studied

Enrichment Factor (EF) values for the studied soils at 0 - 15 cm depth for essential metal elements (Cr, Fe, Ni, Cu and Zn) was evaluated. There was 'No human influence' on Cr levels in KYE (0.96), Cr in SUA was exposed to 'Very severe modification' (19.05) while Cr in AYE was under 'No human influence' (0.85). Fe enrichment in the three dumpsites soils were under 'No human influence' in KYE (1.00), SUA (1.00) and AYE (1.00). Ni was under 'No human influence' in KYE (1.05), 'Severe human influence' in AYE (5.23) and ''No human influence' for Fe in SUA (0.81). Cu enrichment in KYE was under 'No human influence' for Cu (1.13), 'Very severe modification' on SUA (29.49) and 'Moderate human influence' for Cu in AYE (4.20). Zn contamination category was under 'Severe human influence' in KYE (5.19), SUA (9.64) and in AYE (8.11) (Table 4.27)

The EF for the non - essential plant metal elements (As, Cd, Hg and Pb) contamination category was under 'No human influence' with As in KYE (1.11), AYE (0.81) and in SUA (0.77). Cd was similarly under 'No human influence' in KYE (0.91), SUA (0.86) and in AYE (0.30). Hg was under 'No human influence' in KYE (1.03), AYE (0.84) but Hg was under 'Minor human influence' in SUA (2.09). Pb levels was under 'No human influence' in KYE (1.07), SUA (0.22) and in AYE (0.21) (Table 4.27).

Table 4.26 Classification of pollution indices - Enrichment Factor (EF) and Relative

EF	Category	RTEF	Interpretation
EF < 2	no mineral enrichment	$1 \le \text{RTEF} < 2$	no contamination
$2 \le EF < 5$	moderate enrichment	RTEF > 2	contamination
$5 \leq EF < 20$	significant enrichment	RTEF > 2	contamination
$20 \le \mathrm{EF} < 40$	very high enrichment	RTEF > 2	contamination
EF > 40	extremely high enrichment	RTEF > 2	contamination

Top soil Enrichment Factor (RTEF) criteria

Source: (Sutherland, 2000; Yongming et al., 2006; Ngange et al., 2013).



	Enrichment Factor (EF) and contamination category											
Location	Cr	Fe	Ni	Cu	Zn	As	Cd	Hg	Pb			
KYE	0.96	1.00	1.05	1.13	5.19	1.11	0.91	1.03	1.07			
	No human	No human	No human	No human	Severe	No human	No human	No human	No human			
	influence	influence	influence	influence	human	influence	influence	influence	influence			
					influence							
SUA	19.05	1.00	5.23	29.49	9.64	0.81	0.86	2.09	0.22			
	Very severe	No human	Severe	Very severe	Severe	No human	No human	Minor human	No human			
	modification	influence	human	modification	human	influence	influence	influence	influence			
			influence		influence							
AYE	0.85	1.00	0.81	4.20	8.11	0.77	0.30	0.84	0.21			
	No human	No human	No human	Moderate	Severe	No human	No human	No human	No human			
	influence	influence	influence	human	human	influence	influence	influence	influence			
				influence	influence							

Table 4.27 Enrichment Factor (EF) values and Contamination categories for a soil depth at 0 - 15 cm

Location: KYE - Kyeremfaso Mampong dumpsite soil; SUA - Suame Kumasi dumpsite soil; AYE - Ayeduase Kumasi dumpsite soil.

Enrichment Factor (EF) at 15 - 30 cm depth for essential metal elements (Cr, Fe, Ni, Cu, Zn) was 'No human influence' for both Cr level in KYE (1.31) and Cr in SUA (0.96) but Cr in AYE was under 'Very severe modification' (98.21). Fe enrichment in the dumpsites soils were under 'No human influence' in KYE (1.00), SUA (1.00) and AYE (1.00). Ni was under 'No human influence' in AYE (0.95), 'Severe human influence' in SUA (9.31) and ''Minor human influence' for Fe in KYE (1.52). Ni enrichment in KYE was under 'Minor human influence' for Ni (1.52), 'Severe human influence' in SUA (9.31) and 'No human influence' for Ni (1.52), 'Severe human influence' in SUA (9.31) and 'No human influence' for Ni in AYE (0.95). Cu enrichment in KYE was under 'Minor human influence' for Cu (1.88), 'Very severe modification' in SUA (40.20) and 'Severe human influence' in KYE (5.49), under 'Very severe modification' in both SUA (40.20) and AYE (13.78) (Table 4.28).

The EF for the non-essential plant metal elements (As, Cd, Hg and Pb) contamination category were under 'No human influence' with As in KYE (1.35), AYE (1.141) and in SUA (0.75). Cd was under 'No human influence' in SUA (0.59), AYE (0.54) and in KYE (1.51). Hg was under 'No human influence' in AYE (0.74), but under 'Minor human influence' in KYE (1.53) and SUA (2.25). Pb level was under 'Minor human influence' in KYE (1.67), but was under 'Very severe modification' in both SUA (25.09) and AYE Kumasi dumpsite soil (70.17) (Table 4.28).

Enrichment Factor (EF) and Contamination category											
Location	Cr	Fe	Ni	Cu	Zn	As	Cd	Hg	Pb		
KYE	1.31	1.00	1.52	1.88	5.49	1.35	1.51	1.53	1.67		
	No human	No human	Minor	Minor human	Severe	No human	Minor	Minor	Minor		
	influence	influence	human	influence	human	influence	human	human	human		
			influence		influence		influence	influence	influence		
SUA	0.96	1.00	9.31	40.20	70.45	1.14	0.59	2.25	25.09		
	No human	No human	Severe	Very severe	Very severe	No human	No human	Minor	Very severe		
	influence	influence	human	modification	modification	influence	influence	human	modification		
			influence					influence			
AYE	98.21	1.00	0.95	6.16	13.78	0.75	0.54	0.74	70.17		
	Very severe	No human	No human	Severe	Very severe	No human	No human	No human	Very severe		
	modification	influence	influence	human	modification	influence	influence	influence	modification		
				influence							

Table 4.28 Enrichment Factor (EF) values and Contamination categories for a soil depth at 15 - 30 cm

Location: KYE - Kyeremfaso Mampong dumpsite soil; SUA - Suame Kumasi dumpsite soil; AYE - Ayeduase Kumasi dumpsite soil

4.4.1.3 Relative top soil enrichment factor (RTEF) of soils studied

A relative top soil enrichment factor (RTEF) was calculated for two soil depths between 0 - 15 cm and 15 - 30 cm. RTEF for Cr in KYE (0.65) was higher than Cr in UEW (0.62). In SUA, Cr RTEF (0.71) was higher than in MED (0.04). In AYE, Cr RTEF (1.07) was higher than in KNUST (0.95) (Table 4.29).

Fe RTEF in KYE (1.31) was higher than in UEW (0.85). In SUA, Fe RTEF (0.83) was lower than Fe in MED (0.96). In AYE, Fe RTEF (1.39) was higher than Fe in KNUST (1.18). Ni RTEF in KYE (1.00) was higher than in UEW (0.97). In SUA, Ni RTEF (0.51) was lower than Fe in MED (1.04). In AYE, Ni RTEF (1.04) was lower than Ni in KNUST (1.05) (Table 4.29).

Cu RTEF in KYE (0.84) was lower than in UEW (0.92). In SUA, Ni RTEF (0.67) was lower than in MED (1.05). In AYE, Cu RTEF (0.82) was lower than in KNUST (1.03) (Table 4.29).

Zn RTEF in KYE (1.23) was higher than Zn in UEW (0.86). In SUA, Zn RTEF (0.14) was lower than Zn in MED (1.19). In AYE, Zn RTEF (0.83) was lower than Zn in KNUST (1.22) (Table 4.29).

As RTEF in KYE (1.11) was higher than As in UEW (0.98). In SUA, As RTEF (0.83) was lower than As in MED (1.33). In AYE, As RTEF (0.98) was higher than As RTEF in KNUST (0.82) (Table 4.29).

Cd RTEF in KYE (0.76) was lower than Cd in UEW (0.83). In SUA, , Cd RTEF (0.83) was higher than Cd in MED (0.68). In AYE, Cd RTEF (0.54) was lower than Cd in KNUST (0.83) (Table 4.29).

Hg RTEF in KYE (0.97) was higher than Hg in UEW (0.94). In SUA, Hg RTEF (0.83) was lower than Hg in MED (1.02). In AYE, Hg RTEF (1.05) was higher than Hg in KNUST (0.79) (Table 4.29).

Pb RTEF in KYE (0.89) was lower than Pb in UEW (0.91). In SUA, Pb RTEF (0.02) was lower than Pb in MED (1.01). In AYE, Pb RTEF (1.05) was lower than Pb in KNUST (0.28) (Table 4.29).

	Relative Top soil Enrichment Factor												
Location	Cr	Fe	Ni	Cu	Zn	As	Cd	Hg	Pb				
KYE	0.65	1.31	1.00	0.84	1.23	1.11	0.76	0.97	0.89				
UEW	0.62	0.85	0.97	0.92	0.86	0.98	0.83	0.94	0.91				
SUA	0.71	0.83	0.51	0.67	0.14	0.83	0.86	0.83	0.01				
MED	0.04	0.96	1.04	1.05	1.19	1.33	0.68	1.02	1.01				
AYE	1.07	1.39	1.04	0.82	0.83	0.98	0.54	1.05	0.00				
KNUST	0.95	1.18	1.05	1.03	1.22	0.82	0.83	0.79	0.28				

 Table 4.29 Relative top soil Enrichment Factor (RTEF) values

Location: KYE - Mampong Kyeremfaso dumpsite soil; UEW - Mampong University of education Mampong background soil; SUA - Kumasi Suame magazine dumpsite soil; MED -Kumasi Meduma background soil; AYE - Kumasi Ayeduase dumpsite soil; KNUST - Kumasi KNUST botanical gardens background soil.

4.4.2 Evaluation of heavy metals contamination in soils under field conditions

4.4.2.1 Geoaccumulation Index (Igeo) of dumpsite soils in pots under field conditions

Soils in pots under field conditions contamination intensity for an essential element Cr was 'uncontaminated to moderate' in KYE (0.85), SUA was 'Moderate'(1.16) and AYE was 'uncontaminated to moderate' (0.83). Fe contamination in three dumpsites soil was 'uncontaminated to moderate' in KYE (0.73), SUA (0.71) and AYE (0.79). Ni was 'uncontaminated to moderate' in KYE (0.93), 'Moderate' in AYE (1.17) and 'Moderate' in SUA (1.22). Cu contamination intensity was 'uncontaminated to moderate to strong' in SUA (2.22). Zn intensity was 'Very strong' in KYE (7.70), 'Very strong' in AYE (19.14) and 'uncontaminated to moderate' in AYE (0.54) (Table 4.30)

The non - essential metal elements (As, Cd, Hg and Pb) contamination intensity studied was 'uncontaminated to moderate' with As in KYE (0.76), AYE (0.77) and in SUA (0.53). Cd was 'Moderate' in KYE (1.40), SUA (1.16) and in AYE (1.11). Hg was 'Moderate' in KYE (1.70), 'Moderate to strong' in SUA (2.19) but 'Uncontaminated to moderate' in AYE (0.60). Pb intensity was 'Moderate to strong' in KYE (2.55), 'Moderate to strong' in SUA (2.65) and 'Very strong' in AYE (15.69) (Table 4.30).

	I geo and contamination intensity												
Location	Cr	Fe	Ni	Cu	Zn	As	Cd	Hg	Pb				
KYE	0.85	0.73	0.93	0.80	7.70	0.76	1.40	1.70	2.55				
	Uncontaminate	Uncontamina	Uncontamia	Uncontamiat-	Very strong	Uncontami	Moderate	Moderate	Moderate				
	-d to moderate	-ted to	-ted to	ed to		-nated to			to strong				
		moderate	moderate	moderate		moderate							
SUA	1.16	0.71	1.22	2.22	19.14	0.77	1.16	2.19	2.65				
	Moderate	Uncontamina	Moderate	Moderate to	Very strong	Uncontami	Moderate	Moderate to	Moderate				
		-ted to		strong		-nated to		strong	to strong				
		moderate		$\left(\begin{array}{c} 0 \\ 0 \end{array} \right)$		moderate							
AYE	0.83	0.79	1.17	0.61	0.54	0.53	1.11	0.60	15.69				
	Uncontaminate	Uncontamina	Moderate	Uncontamina	Uncontamin	Uncontami	Moderate	Uncontamina	Very				
	-d to moderate	-ted to		-ted to	-ated to	-nated to		-ted to	strong				
		moderate		moderate	moderate	moderate		moderate					

Table 4.30 Geoaccumulation index (I $_{geo}$) and contamination intensity for soils in pots under field conditions

Location: KYE - Mampong Kyeremfaso dumpsite soil; SUA - Kumasi Suame dumpsite soil; AYE - Kumasi Ayeduase dumpsite

soil.

4.4.2.2 Enrichment factor (EF) of dumpsite soils in pots

Enrichment Factor (EF) categorized on soils in pots under field studies for selected essential plant metal elements (Cr, Fe, Ni, Cu, Zn) was under 'No human influence' for both Cr level in KYE (1.18) and Cr in SUA (1.04) but Cr in AYE was under 'Minor severe modification' (1.66). Fe enrichment in the three dumpsites soils was under 'No human influence' in KYE (1.00), SUA (1.00) and AYE (1.00). Ni was under 'No human influence' in both on KYE (1.28) and AYE (1.47) but under 'Minor human influence' in SUA (1.74). Cu enrichment in KYE was under 'No human influence' in both KYE (1.18) and AYE (0.77) but 'Moderate human influence' in SUA (3.17). Zn contamination category was under 'Very severe modification' in both KYE (10.45) and SUA (27.34) and under 'No human influence' in AYE (0.68) (Table 4.31).

The EF was also used on non - essential plant metal elements (As, Cd, Hg and Pb) in dumpsites soils in pots contamination was under 'No human influence' with As in KYE (1.10), AYE (1.10) and in SUA (0.66). Cd was under 'Minor human influence' in both KYE (1.93) and SUA (1.66) but 'No human influence' in AYE (1.38). Hg was under 'No human influence' in AYE (0.76), 'Minor human influence' in KYE (2.29) and 'Moderate human influence' in SUA (3.13). Pb level was under 'Moderate human influence' in both KYE (3.52) and SUA (3.79) but 'Severe human influence' in AYE (6.05) (Table 4.31).

	Enrichment Factor (EF) and Contamination category											
Soil Source	Cr	Fe	Ni	Cu	Zn	As	Cd	Hg	Pb			
KYE	1.18	1.00	1.28	1.18	10.45	1.10	1.93	2.29	3.52			
	No human	No human	No human	No human	Very severe	No human	Minor human	Minor	Moderate			
	influence	influence	influence	influence	modification	influence	influence	human	human			
								influence	influence			
SUA	1.66	1.00	1.74	3.17	27.34	1.10	1.66	3.13	3.79			
	Minor	No human	Minor human	Moderate	Very severe	No human	Minor human	Moderate	Moderate			
	human	influence	influence	human	modification	influence	influence	human	human			
	influence			influence				influence	influence			
	1.04	1.00	1.47	0.77	0.68	0.66	1.38	0.76	6.05			
AYE	No human	No human	No human	No human	No human	No human	No human	No human	Severe			
	influence	influence	influence	influence	influence	influence	influence	influence	human			
									influence			

Table 4.31 Enrichment Factor (EF) values and Contamination categories for soils in pots under field conditions

Soil Source: KYE - Mampong Kyeremfaso dumpsite; SUE - Kumasi Suame dumpsite; AYE - Kumasi Ayeduase dumpsite

4.4.2.3 Transfer ratio (TR) of metals in dumpsite soils in pots under field conditions

The transfer ratio (TR) of Cr, Fe, Ni, Cu, Zn, As, Cd, Hg and Pb in dumpsites soils in pots for Cr in KYE (0.39) was higher than TR for UEW (0.21). In SUA, Cr TR (0.29) was lower than TR for Cr in MED (0.37). In AYE, Cr TR (0.17) was lower than TR for Cr in KNUST (0.21) (Table 4.32).

TR for Fe in KYE (0.38) was lower than TR for UEW (0.45). In SUA, Fe TR (0.0.41) was lower than TR for Fe in MED (0.49). In AYE, TR for Fe (0.29) was lower than TR for Fe in KNUST (0.31) (Table 4.32).

TR for Ni in KYE (0.25) was lower than TR for Ni in UEW (0.39). In SUA, Ni TR (0.21) was lower than TR for Ni in MED (039). In AYE, TR for Ni (0.23) was lower than TR for Ni in KNUST (0.35) (Table 4.32).

TR for Cu in KYE (0.28) was lower than TR for Cu in UEW (0.45). In SUA, Cu TR in SUA (0.61) was higher than TR for Cu in MED (0.48). In AYE, TR for Cu (0.41) was higher than TR for Cu in KNUST (0.24) (Table 4.32).

TR for Zn in KYE (0.24) was lower than TR for Zn in UEW (2.64). In SUA, Zn TR (0.51) was higher than TR for Zn in MED (0.46). In AYE, TR for Zn (0.18) was higher than TR for Zn in KNUST (0.23) (Table 4.32).

As TR level in KYE (0.41) was lower than the TR level for As in UEW (0.55). In SUA, As TR (0.36) was lower than TR of As in MED (0.46). In AYE, TR for As (0.31) was higher than TR for As in KNUST (0.28) (Table 4.32).

Cd recorded a TR level in KYE (0.11) and was lower than the TR level for Cd in UEW (0.23). In SUA, Cd TR (0.18) was lower than TR of Cd in MED (0.33). In AYE, TR for Cd (0.21) was higher than TR for Cd in KNUST (0.31) (Table 4.32).

TR for Hg in KYE (0.16) was lower than TR for Hg in UEW (0.41). In SUA, Hg TR (0.14) was higher than TR for Hg in MED (0.43). In AYE, TR for Hg (0.18) was higher than TR for Hg in KNUST (0.23) (Table 4.32).

TR for Pb in KYE (0.08) was lower than TR for Pb in UEW (0.33). In SUA, Pb TR (0.15) was lower than TR for Pb in MED (0.39). In AYE, TR for Pb (0.05) was lower than TR for Pb in KNUST (0.31) (Table 4.32).

	Transfer ratio											
Soil Source	Cr	Fe	Ni	Cu	Zn	As	Cd	Hg	Pb			
KYE	0.39	0.38	0.25	0.28	0.24	0.41	0.11	0.16	0.08			
UEW	0.21	0.45	0.39	0.40	2.64	0.55	0.23	0.41	0.33			
SUA	0.29	0.41	0.21	0.61	0.51	0.36	0.18	0.14	0.15			
MED	0.37	0.49	0.39	0.48	0.46	0.45	0.33	0.43	0.39			
AYE	0.17	0.29	0.23	0.41	0.18	0.31	0.21	0.31	0.05			
KNUST	0.21	0.31	0.35	0.24	0.23	0.28	0.31	0.23	0.31			

Table 4.32 Transfer ratio (TR) values of metals in lettuce in pots under field conditions

Treatments: KYE - Mampong Kyeremfaso dumpsite; UEW - Mampong University of education background soil; SUA - Kumasi Suame magazine dumpsite soil; MED - Kumasi Meduma background soil; AYE - Kumasi Ayeduase dumpsite soil; KNUST - Kumasi KNUST botanical gardens background soil.

4.4.2.4 Translocation factor (TF) of metals in dumpsite soils in pots under field

conditions

The translocation factor (TF) of Cr, Fe, Ni, Cu, Zn, As, Cd, Hg and Pb on the selected soils in pots under field conditions for Cr in KYE (1.45) was lower than TF for UEW (1.82). In SUA, Cr TF (1.09) was lower than TF for Cr in MED (1.92). In AYE, Cr TF (1.04) was lower than TF for Cr in KNUST (1.07) (Table 4.33).

TF for Fe in KYE (1.02) was lower than TF for UEW (1.42). In SUA, Fe TF (1.09) was lower than TF for Fe in MED (1.13). In AYE, TF for Fe (1.04) was higher than TF for Fe in KNUST (1.03) (Table 4.33).

TF for Ni in KYE (1.01) was lower than TF for Ni in UEW (1.18). In SUA Kumasi dumpsite soil, Ni TF (1.05) was lower than TF for Ni in MED (1.1.19). In AYE, TF for Ni (1.07) was higher than TF for Ni in KNUST (0.84) (Table 4.33).

TF for Cu in KYE (0.79) was lower than TF for Cu in UEW (1.09). In SUA, Cu TF (1.65) was higher than TF for Cu in MED (1.21). In AYE, TF for Cu (1.41) was higher than TF for Cu in KNUST (0.80) (Table 4.33).

TF for Zn in KYE (0.63) was lower than TF for Zn in UEW (0.76). In SUA Kumasi dumpsite soil, Zn TF (1.71) was higher than TF for Zn in MED (1.28). In AYE, TF for Zn (0.99) was lower than TF for Zn in KNUST (1.44) (Table 4.33).

As recorded a TF level in KYE (0.97) and was lower than the TF level for As in UEW (1.68). In SUA, As TF (1.09) was lower than TF of As in MED (1.24). In AYE, TF for As (0.54) was lower than TF for As in KNUST (1.47) (Table 4.33).

Cd recorded a TF level in KYE (1.13) and was lower than the TF level for Cd in UEW (1.21). In SUA, Cd TF (0.99) was lower than TF of Cd in MED (1.11). In AYE, TF for Cd (0.94) was higher than TF for Cd in KNUST (1.17) (Table 4.33).

TF for Hg in KYE (1.16) was lower than TF for Hg in UEW (1.21). In SUA, Hg TF (1.11) was lower than TF for Hg in MED (1.25). In AYE, TF for Hg (1.09) was lower than TF for Hg in KNUST (1.17) (Table 4.33).

TF for Pb in KYE (0.95) was lower than TF for Pb in UEW (1.16). In SUA, Pb TF (0.71) was lower than TF for Pb in MED (1.13). In AYE, TF for Pb (0.10) was lower than TF for Pb in KNUST (0.84) (Table 4.33).

-													
	Translocation factor												
Soil Source	Cr	Fe	Ni	Cu	Zn	As	Cd	Hg	Pb				
KYE	1.45	1.02	1.01	0.79	0.63	0.97	1.13	1.16	0.95				
UEW	1.82	1.42	1.18	1.09	0.76	1.68	1.21	1.21	1.16				
SUA	1.09	1.09	1.05	1.65	1.71	1.09	0.99	1.11	0.71				
MED	1.92	1.13	1.19	1.21	1.28	1.24	1.11	1.25	1.13				
AYE	1.04	1.04	1.07	1.41	0.99	0.54	0.94	1.09	0.10				
KNUST	1.07	1.03	0.84	0.80	1.44	1.47	1.17	1.17	0.84				

 Table 4.33 Translocation factor (TF) values of lettuce in pots under field conditions

Treatments: KYE - Kyeremfaso dumpsite soil; UEW - Unuversity of education Mampong background soil; SUA - Suame magazine Kumasi dumpsite soil; MED - Meduma Kumasi background soil; AYE -Ayeduase Kumasi dumpsite soil; KNUST - KNUST botanical gardens Kumasi background soil.

CHAPTER FIVE

5.0 DISCUSSION

5.1 Study One: - Dumpsite farmers' awareness of soil physicochemical propereties dumpsites

5.1.1 Socio - demographic characteristics of dumpsite farmers in three communities

The socio-demographic studies of the dumpsites farmers interviewed showed that farming activities on the various dumpsites were dominated by males and were within an active age group (36 - 45 years) (Table 4.1) and these findings conform to an earlier work by Agyarko *et al.* (2011) who reported on a similar results that, farmers studied were dominated by males with an average age of 43 years.

Majority (57 %) of the farmers in the current studies had attained Middle / JHS education and farmers (19%) with a Primary school education (Table 4.1). This trend was similar to Dawoe *et al.* (2012) who reported that a majority (77.8%) of farmers whom they interviewed had primary school level of education.

5.1.2 Reasons for farming on dumpsites

Most (63%) dumpsite farmers interviewed (Figure 3.1) farm on dumpsites because such soils are fertile (Table 4.2). The farmers' reason can be explain by the fact that organic wastes dumped on these sites decompose and add up to the soil nutrient pool. This finding agrees with work by Ahlijay *et al.* (2015). Other (20%) farmers farm on dumpsites because it is the only available land, but the few (17%) farmers said they do so because of the low

cost of dumpsites farmlands. Dumpsites farmlands which according to the interviewed farmers are among the only available land very useful which doubles as plants nutrients rich soils and as such are used as compost for soil amendment in vegetable production as reported by Wunzani *et al.* (2019). Monohara and Belagali *et al.* (2014); Bamidele *et al.* (2014); Amadi *et al.* (2013) shared similar view.

5.1.3 Farmers awareness of dumpsites soil physicochemical properties

Dumpsites farmers (81%) interviewed responded that they are aware of their dumpsites soil physicochemical properties (Figure 4.1), an indication that, farmers' perception of soils are not only limited to soil nutrient status alone but also the soils' physical properties as reported earlier by Corbeels *et al.* (2000).

In addition, most farmers (66%) responded that, their soils have high nutrient content, while 28% said their soils contained some levels of heavy metals and the few (6%) said their soils had low nutrient content (Table 4.3). This is indicates that farmers are aware of the soil nutrient level such as, texture, moisture, temperature, soil organic matter, available nitrogen, phosphorus and potassium and these findings agrees with work by Tale and Ingole (2015). Furthermore, the result can also be explained by the fact that, dumpsite farmers have their own local knowledge that enables them to arrive at decisions in farming in order to maximize yield and profit to better their lot (Kolawole, 2002). Farmer's perceived knowledge of a fertile soil can be likened to a modern concept of a quality soil which is the soils' ability to sustain plant and animal productivity, to increase quality water and air and to contribute to plant and animal health (Doran and Zeiss, 2000). It is further affirmed that,

Ghanaian farmers know indigenous soil science with sets of information about their farmlands especially their fertitlity status as shown by crops yield, colour of soil, vegetation cover, soil depth, soil organic matter and activities of soil organisms (Agyarko *et al.*, 2011). Farmers using indicators such as fertile (high soil nutrient) and infertile (low soil nutrient) about their soils' physicochemical properties awareness have also been reported by Dawoe *et al.* (2012), where farmers see dark soil colour, earthworms casts as fertile soil and slow plant growth, pale soil colour and few worms cast as infertile soil.

5.1.4 Sources of knowledge acquisition for soil physicochemical characteristic by dumpsite farmers

Majority (40%) of dumpsites farmers interviewed responded that, they accessed their soil physicochemical information from colleague farmers, extension officers (30%), the media (16%) and non-governmental organization (N.G.O) (14%). This finding can also be explained by the fact that, farmers have availability of sources with respect to their soils' information. of soil physicochemical knowledge information which doubles their efforts to maximize yield from their farmlands. Gupta and De (2011); Sakib *et al.* (2015) and Rahman *et al.* (2016) share similar findings about how farmers use of information sources contribute to the maximization of crop yield on their farmlands. The situation where farmers mostly found other farmers as their source of knowledge (Table 4.4) is supported by an earlier work by Farouque *et al.* (2019) that friends and neighbours play important roles in dissemination of farming information. Sumane *et al.* (2017) have found that farmers are from farming families, so they obtain their initial agricultural knowledge from their parents, grandparents and importantly other farmers because they see their colleague farmers as reputation experts,

particularly due to their practical experience in similar conditions. De Souza *et al.* (2016) further explained that, soil properties information perceived by farmers are based on observation and life experiences over time, which is accumulatively transmitted over generations. Laekemariam *et al.* (2017) have affirmed that farmers acquired their soil knowledge from generations of experience and experimentation that fit local conditions. The print media and other social networks information sources to farmers have also been confirmed (Rahman *et al.*, 2013; Farouque *et al.*, 2019). Other source of information on soil properties to farmers are extension officers as earlier reported by Rydberg *et al.* (2008) with the reason that, farmers access information frequently when visit personal friends or agriculture office.

5.1.5 Farmers awareness of soil metals contamination on human and animal's health Most farmers (94%) interviewed were aware of the effect of heavy metals contamination on man and animals' health while few (4%) were not aware (Table 4.5). This is an indication of dumpsites farmer's awareness of an environmentally friendly agriculture as confirmed by a 61.33 % of community members who showed an awareness of environmentally friendly agriculture and resulting into increasing growth, quality and productivity of agricultural land (Atmojo, 2010; Utari *et al.*, 2018). Also, dumpsites farmers' high awareness level of heavy metals contamination did not conform to an earlier report by Pradika *et al.* (2019) about low awareness level shown by people on heavy metals contamination on agricultural land and it does not promote environmentally friendly agriculture.

Dumpsites farmer's awareness on ailments prevalent in the various dumpsites communities studied (Table 4.6) is similar to an earlier report by Coffie (2010) on a landfill site with a reported number of infectious diseases like malaria, cholera, diarrhea and typhoid fever. Owusu - Sekyere et al. (2013a) study at Dompoase, a community within the Kumasi metropolis in the Ashanti region of Ghana, similarly reported of an increased self - reported health symptoms such as fatigue and headaches among residents near landfill sites. Reported effects of heavy metals contamination on human and animals health as reported (Table 4.6) by the dumpsite farmers agrees with an assertion by Singh and Kalamdhad (2011) that heavy metals accumulated levels in plant parts are threat to human and animals' health because utilized food crops contaminated with heavy metals like Cr, Fe, Ni, Cu, Zn, As, Cd, Hg and Pb are known major food chain route for human exposure especially concentration levels in plants which are above normal or permissible limits classified them as toxic due to the fact that, they are metabolized by the body and may subsequently accumulated in the soft tissues to affect human and animals' health leading to conditions like cough, diarrhea, skin rashes and cholera (Table 4.6) is supported by Sobha et al. (2007) that, Cd toxicity in large organs like liver, placenta, kidney, lungs, brains and bones have been identified.

Clinical signs of Zn toxicosis have been reported as vomiting, diarrhea, bloody urine, yellow mucus membrane, liver failure, kidney failure and aneamia (Duruibe *et al.*, 2007). Moreover, excessive human intake of Cu may lead to severe mucosal irritation and corrosion, capillary damage, hepatic and renal damage and the central nervous irritation followed by depression (Singh and Kalamadhad, 2011). Ni exposure may vary from skin irritation to damage to the lungs (Argun *et al.*, 2007). In addition, dumpsite farmers are not

only affected victims from heavy metals contamination but the people who live near dumpsite areas are also not spared of heavy metal toxicity (Abishek and Surrendra, 2016). Farmers (28%) description of their dumpsites soils indicated that their soils contain heavy metals (Table 4.3), an indication that of the use of dumpsites for direct vegetables production, because farmers have reported that dumpsites soils contain plant nutrients (Table 4.3). This results agree with a report dumpsite soils serve as compost for farmers in Ghana (Owusu-Sekyere *et al.*, 2013a) but are not without soil pollution problems (Nwaogu *et al.*, 2014; Stefang *et al.*, 2017).

5.1.6 Chi - square (χ^2) test analysis of association between dumpsites farmers'

physicochemical knowledge and other variables

The absence of (p = 0.21) significant influence or association between dumpsites farmers' soil physicochemical knowledge and these variables like dumpsites farmers' educational level, dumpsites farmers' reasons for farming on dumpsites (p = 0.55) and sources of dumpsites farmers' soil physicochemical knowledge (p = 0.17) (Table 4.7) might be due to either known or unknown factors other than these factors used in the analysis and is in agreement with earlier work by Sierra *et al.* (2016) who found no association between farmers' income, gender, educational level, age and knowledge on soil properties.

The significant association between dumpsites farmers' soil physicochemical knowledge and farmers' awareness that dumpsite soils contain toxic metal elements (p = 0.02) (Table 4.8) was expected because heavy metals are related to the farmers' soil physicochemical knowledge sourced from other farmers conforms to an earlier studies by Rydberg *et al.* (2008) who found that farmers sourced agriculture information from localite (other friends or farmers and cosmolite (agriculture office). Moreover, an association found between farmers' soil physicochemical knowledge and the awareness that plants on dumpsites soil absorb toxic metal elements is expected as affirmed by Achazai *et al.* (2011) that plants have a natural propensity to take up metals.

5.2 Study Two: - Assessment of heavy metals level in selected dumpsite soils and their accumulation levels in plantain and cocoyam

5.2.1 Soil physicochemical properties of selected soils at Mampong and Kumasi

The soil physicochemical results showed an improved soil bulk density, soil pH, total organic matter, total nitrogen, and soil available phosphorus of dumpsite soils than background soils. These improved soil properties may be attributed to the materials emanating from the municipal and metropolis solid and liquid wastes deposited on dumpsites and this affirms the report by Krishna *et al.* (2016). Soil bulk density results were lower in the dumpsites soils than in background soils but with no significant (p = 0.88) difference. This may be due to the sand, sand clay loam and loamy sand textural class of the studied soils although was not significant, could have contributed to the improved soil property especially on the dumpsites and this results conform to a report by Tripathy and Misra (2012) that, soil texture plays a very important function by influencing other physical parameters of the soil.

The soil at SUA was slightly acidic as compared to slightly basic MED, which may be related to the textural differences between these two study soils (Table 4.8). Oyedele *et al.*

(2008) shared a similar finding by attributing such differences to differences in biological activity, temperature and disposal of municipal wastes on dumpsites. Slightly basic KYE and AYE as compare to slightly acidic UEW and KNUST shows an important quality feature of a natural soil as reported by Umar et al. (2016). Improved soil total organic carbon, total organic matter, total nitrogen, soil available phosphorus, exchangeable cations (Ca, Mg, K and Na), exchangeable acidity, cation exchange capacity and base saturation on KYE, SUA and AYE than in UEW, MED and KNUST (Table 4.8) show a high nutrient rich property in dumpsite soils than background soils due to the presence of organic wastes dumped on dumpsites after decay might have contributed to the essential nutrients in the dumpsites soils. This finding conforms to an earlier report that dumpsite soils are known to be rich in soil nutrient for plant growth and development (Ogunmodede and Adewole, 2015) and that could be related to decayed and composted wastes found on dumpsite that enhance the fertility of dumpsites soils (Ogunyemi et al., 2003). Such soils which support plant growth and production contain essential mineral materials (Uma et al., 2016) and these essential plant nutrients might have been released from the wastes found on dumpsites after decomposition (Anikwe and Nwobodo, 2001). Also, the essential mineral materials from wastes help to increase nitrogen, pH, CEC, base saturation and organic matter. Higher soil organic matter levels in (Table 4.8) dumpsite soils may be as a result of continuous addition of high organic matter (Tripathi and Misra, 2012). Similarly, the high organic matter contents especially in dumpsite soils might have accumulated from subsequent decomposition of plant residue waste materials as reported by Gairola and Soni (2010).

5.2.2 Heavy metals level in selected dumpsites soil at different depths

5.2.2.1 Chromium (Cr)

Chromium (Cr) is one of the metal nutrient elements required by plants in the soil in trace amounts for their physiological processes (Ehi and Uzu, 2011). Cr levels at both 0 - 15 cm and 15 - 30 cm depth (Table 4.9) were generally higher on dumpsite soils than on background soils and with a highly significant (p = 0.01) difference between Cr in dumpsite soils and background soils. Cr is a less mobile in soils, therefore Cr increased levels may be attributed to Cr containing compounds which might have been dumped on the dumpsites and might have accumulated in the soil. Wuana and Okieimen (2011) share a similar view that Cr does not occur naturally in elemental form but only in compounds. Cr higher levels in the different soil depths at 15 - 30 cm depth than at 0 - 15 cm could be due to the differences in soil properties with respect to depth with special reference to clay content and organic matter content (Table 4.8). This result conforms to a report by Engege and Lemoha (2012) that, dumpsite soils show variability in soil properties with depth.

ATION FOR SER

The influence of slightly acidic soil have been reported by Adelekan and Alawode (2011) that, metal availability is relatively low when pH is around 6.5 - 7. However, with increasing soil pH, the solubility of most trace elements may decrease leading to low concentration in soil solution (Kabata - Pendias, 2011). Also, soil pH increases correlate with mineralogy changes in solution chemistry which in addition influences base cation concentration (Alamgir, 2017).

The soil textural class of the sampled soils might have contributed to the metals level in soils as reported by Sheoran *et al.* (2016) that, trace elements retainability is higher in fine - textured soils (clay and clay loam) compared with coarse - textured soils (sand). Gupta *et al.* (2019) shared similar view.

Chromium (Cr) levels in study soils were higher (Table 4.9) than the world's soil average level (59.50 mgkg⁻¹) as reported by Onyedika (2015). However, Cr levels recorded (Table 4.9) were in the range of 3.25 - 76.76 mgkg⁻¹ and 63.19 - 109.69 mgkg⁻¹ at both 0 - 15 cm and 15 - 30 cm depths respectively were above the critical concentration (Table 2.6) 5 - 30 mgkg⁻¹ but were within the 5 - 1500 mgkg⁻¹ by Radojevic and Baskin (2006). Cr levels at 0 - 15 and 15 - 30 cm depths were also found to be within (Table 2.4) 100 mgkg⁻¹ by Iniobong and Uduakobong (2017). This result show that Cr levels have no implication for soil toxicity in soils studied.

5.2.2.2 Iron (Fe)

Iron (Fe) as an essential and an abundant metal element (Onyedika, 2015) was generally higher in dumpsite soils than in background soils at both 0 - 15 cm and 15 - 30 cm depths (Tables 4.9 and 4.10). The higher Fe levels in KYE, SUA and AYE than in UEW, MED and KNUST might be due to the abundant nature of Fe in most soils as reported by Hameed *et al.* (2013). Higher Fe levels in dumpsites than in background soils could also be linked to Fe bearing compounds among wastes found on dumpsites which might have added up to the Fe levels in dumpsites. The higher Fe levels agrees with a report by Onyedika (2015) that major sources of Fe are the iron oxides such as minerals hematite, magnetite and taconite which

are commonly found on dumpsites. Higher Fe levels in dumpsite soils at both 0 - 15 cm and 15 - 30 cm depths were due to the accumulation of heavy metals concentrations at the soil surface than the sub-surface (Amadi et al., 2012; Olalode et al., 2014). Also, the higher Fe levels in dumpsites might have contributed significantly to the relatively higher soil pH (Table 4.8) in the study soils. Level of soil pH < 5 have been found to increase metals mobility as a result of increased proton concentration (Mclaughlin et al., 2000; Paulose et al., 2007). This report confirms the assertion that Fe is the most abundant and an essential constituent for all plants and animals (Shah et al., 2013). Fe levels in KYE, SUA and AYE at both 0 - 15 cm and 15 - 30 cm depths were higher than Fe levels UEW, MED and KNUST. These results may be explained by the slightly higher soil pH values (Table 4.8) in KYE, SUA and AYE than in UEW, MED and KNUST. These results differ from an earlier report by Alamgir (2017) that, in acidic pH range, more protons (H⁺) are available to saturate metal binding sites; therefore, metals are less likely to form insoluble precipitates. However, these results conform to report of possible combined effects of soil properties on metals sorption and desorption (Harter and Naidu, 2001; Appel and Ma, 2002; Dutta et al., 2011).

The differences in Fe levels at 0 - 15 cm and 15 - 30 cm depths in all the dumpsites as compared to the background site soils has also been reported by Olowookere *et al.* (2018). The Fe levels at 0 - 15 cm and 15 - 30 cm depths were generally above (Table 2.5) 48 mgkg⁻¹ (FAO/WHO, 2011), 10 - 100 mgkg⁻¹ (Table 2.7) by WHO/FAO (2001), but within the 5000 - 100 000 mgkg⁻¹ normal range of metals in soils (Table 2.6) reported by Radojevic and Baskin (2006)

5.2.2.3 Nickel (Ni)

Soil Ni recorded higher levels in KYE, SUA and AYE than in UEW, MED and KNUST at both 0 - 15 cm and 15 - 30 cm depths at a highly significant (p = 0.01) difference between them. This result may be attributed to an increased soil pH levels in dumpsite soils as compared to a weakly acidic soil pH of UEW (Tables 4.9 and 4.10). This report agrees with a report by Fine *et al.* (2005) with a report of an alkaline (pH > 7) conditions, where soil organic matter dissociates from heavy metals which finally may increase the bioavailability of heavy metals bound to organic matter. These results may also be linked to the widely distributed nature of Ni within the environment as released from both natural sources and anthropogenic activity with input from both stationary and mobile sources (Orji *et al.*, 2018).

The type of Ni bearing wastes found on municipal and metropolis dumpsites as reported by Alloway (1995) in a study might also have contributed as a result many domestic cleaning products such as soap (100 - 700 mgkg⁻¹) and powdered bleach (800 mgkg⁻¹) may prove to be important sources of Ni in urban soils. Also, other sources of Ni in dumpsites may include food stuffs such as chocolate, automobile batteries and various paint wastes (Onyedika, 2015) periodically dumped onto dumpsites. The concentration of Ni in dumpsites within metropolis were higher than Ni levels in the dumpsite studied in the rural community within a municipal. Such differences were observed as a result of the type of disposed material from mechanical shops and surrounding houses and are in agreement with the reason that Ni finds its way into the ambient air as a result of the combustion of coal, diesel oil, fuel oil and the incineration of waste and sewage (Cempel *et al.*, 2006). Also, such differences may be due to higher population and industrial activities in cities which may lead to higher production of assorted waste than in the rural settlements. This result conforms to an earlier report by Agyarko *et al.* (2010). A major use of Ni as a raw material in steel and other metal products could have contributed to the high amount of Ni (Wuana and Raymond, 2011) in Metropolis dumpsite soil.

Nickel (Ni) concentration in SUA at 0 - 15 cm (113.08 mgkg⁻¹) and 15 - 30 cm (222.17 mgkg⁻¹) being the highest among all Ni levels was above 20 mgkg⁻¹ by Alloway (1995); 50 mgkg⁻¹ (Table 2.7) by WHO / FAO (2001); 16.52 - 17.24 mgkg⁻¹ in an automobile mechanic waste dump soil in Nigeria by Iwegbue *et al.* (2006); 89.76 - 118.35 mgkg⁻¹ on dumpsites soil and 20.08 mgkg⁻¹ on control soil by Ogunmodede *et al.* (2015); but was within a polluted soil range of 200 – 2600 mgkg⁻¹ and that of overall range of 10 - 1000 mgkg⁻¹ found in natural soil (Izosimora, 2005). High Ni levels in SUA was also within 2 - 750 mgkg⁻¹ (Table 2.6) by Radojevic and Baskin (2006), while all the remaining dumpsites and background soils Ni was within the allowable concentration levels. The background soils or the unpolluted soils were below the 34 mgkg⁻¹ of Ni reported by Kabata - Pendias and Pendias (2001) as the calculated world's mean Ni level in unpolluted soil. Ni is an essential trace element for human and animal health (Zighan Hassan *et al.*, 2012), but a lower Ni concentrations in the selected studied sites might be toxic even at low concentrations (Aekola *et al.*, 2012).

5.2.2.4 Copper (Cu)

Copper (Cu) an essential metal element found in the soil was higher in KYE, SUA and AYE than in UEW, MED KNUST at both 0 - 15 cm and 15 - 30 cm depths (Tables 4.9 and 4.10).

Such Cu levels in KYE, SUA and AYE dumpsite soils might have been influenced by the natural occurrence of Cu in some soils which is derived from anthropogenic activities such as the use of copper containing fungicides, urban wastes management and industrial activity (Giovani et al., 2005). Higher Cu levels in SUA and AYE dumpsite soils within Kumasi metropolis compare to KYE, a dumpsite within a rural community in Mampong metropolis may be attributed to higher population and industrial activities in cities and municipalities which could have led to higher production of assorted wastes than in the rural settlements (Agyarko et al., 2010). Some of the reasons might also be due to the differences in living standards, consumption patterns and level of industrial development between cities and rural communities (Ebong et al., 2008). Cu accumulation though high on dumpsite soils (Tables 4.9 and 4.10), is a necessity for many enzymes (Shah et al., 2013; Ngange et al., 2013), a macro nutrient for plants (Ngange et al., 2013) in addition to its numerous applications as a result of its physical properties (Hameed et al., 2013). Soil pH levels between the ranges of 6.07 - 9.04 (Table 4.8) is higher than pH 5.5 and that might have influenced the Cu lower levels in most studied soils with the exception of SUA and AYE (Tables 4.9 and 4.10). Such influence from low soil pH could be explained with the fact that, the solubility of Cu is drastically increased at pH 5.5 (Martinez and Motto, 2000).

The high Cu loads in especially SUA and AYE at both 0 - 15 cm and 15 - 30 cm depths was expected because, the two dumpsite soils were from Kumasi metropolis - a city, and due to the kind of waste disposed, most of the wastes may be mostly Cu bearing wastes as reported by Greany (2005), that, Cu is the third most used metal in the world, as a result accumulates in the surface horizons, a phenomenon explained by the bioaccumulation of the metal and

recent anthropogenic sources (Hameed *et al.*, 2013). In addition, anthropogenic activities on rural or sub-urban areas are lower with the disposal of wastes on dumpsites than on metropolitan dumpsites where more wastes are generated as reported by Charlesworth *et al.* (2013).

Cu levels in the soil which were in the range of $(9.64 - 454.56 \text{ mgkg}^{-1})$ at 0 - 15 cm depth and $(9.38 - 674.19 \text{ mgkg}^{-1})$ at 15 - 30 cm depth were, however, above the worlds' scale value of non – polluted soil of 24.00 mgkg⁻¹ by Pendias and Pendias (2001); 30.00 mgkg⁻¹ (WHO/FAO, 2011); 100.00 mgkg⁻¹ (WHO/FAO, 2001; Shal *et al.*, 2011); 10 mgkg⁻¹ by WHO/FAO (2007); 2 - 250 mgkg⁻¹ by Radojevic and Bashkin (2006). This is an indication that, SUA dumpsite soil at 0 - 15 cm and 15 - 30 cm depths are contaminated with Cu.

5.2.2.5 Zinc (Zn)

Zinc (Zn) levels in KYE, SUA and AYE (Tables 4.9 and 4.10) were generally higher in concentration than on UEW, MED and AYE. Such differences observed may be related to Zn accumulation from garden fertilizing activities, traffic and industrial input (Imperato *et al.*, 2003). Also, Zn high concentrations level in KYE SUA, AYE than in UEW, MED KNUST could be due to anthropogenic additions as a result of industrial activities such as mining, waste combustion, steel processing couple with dumpsite plants and our inability to handle these Zn concentrations already in their system through accumulation (Wuana and Okieimen, 2010) might have contributed to the higher Zn values on dumpsite soils.

The mobility of Zn in soils is dependent on its speciation, the soil pH and high soil organic matter content (IPCS, 2001). The combined effect of soil pH (pH = 6.67) (Table 4.8) of

SUA, high soil organic matter, higher total nitrogen, high available phosphorus, high exchangeable cations and CEC (Table 4.8) might have contributed to a higher Zn levels. Alamgir (2017) similarly observed that, at acidic pH medium, more protons (H⁺) are available to saturate metal binding sites; therefore, metals are less likely to form insoluble precipitates. Eze *et al.* (2018) have further reported that, heavy metals are generally more mobile at pH < 7 than pH > 7; Organic matter can reduce or increase the bioavailability of heavy metals in soil through immobilization or mobilization by forming various insoluble or soluble heavy metal organic complexes (Alamgir, 2017); The capacity of soils for adsorbing heavy metals is correlated with their CEC (Fontes *et al.*, 2000; Harter and Naidu, 2001). The greater the CEC values, the more exchange sites of soil minerals will be available for metal retention (Alamgir, 2017). Several studies have indicated the possibility of the combined effects of soil properties on metals sorption and desorption (Harter and Naidu, 2001; Appel and Ma, 2002; Dutta *et al.*, 2011).

The levels of Zn, as an essential mineral element to both plants and animals in all the soils studied at 0 - 15 cm depth was higher than Zn values in background soils at 15 - 30 cm depth (Tables 4.9 and 4.10). Olowookere *et al.* (2018) observed such differences when found a high concentration of 22.6 mgkg⁻¹ of zinc at 0 - 15 cm depth, as compare to a concentration of 21.0 mgkg⁻¹ at 15 - 30 cm depth and that of a control site at 21.1 mgkg⁻¹. Ngange *et al.* (2013) further reported that, the concentration of zinc at 0 - 15 cm depth ranged from 0.15 - 1.70 mgkg⁻¹ to 0.11 - 1.40 mgkg⁻¹ at 15 - 30 cm of soil depth. The concentration of Zn were in the range of 26.77 - 674.19 mgkg⁻¹ at 0 - 15 cm and 24.91 - 4749.72 mgkg⁻¹. Especially, Zn in SUA (4749.72 mgkg⁻¹) (Table 4.9) was above 60 mgkg⁻¹

(Table 2.5) by FAO/WHO (2011); 76.457 mgkg⁻¹ (Table 2.3) by Kabir *et al.* (2011); 300 mgkg⁻¹ (Table 2.7) by WHO/FAO (2001) and Shah *et al.* (2011); 1 - 900 mgkg⁻¹ (Table 2.6) by Radojevic and Bashkin (2006). These results are indication that, SUA Kumasi dumpsite soil at 15 - 30 cm is contaminated with Zn though it is an essential plant nutrient.

5.2.2.6 Arsenic (As)

Arsenic (As) level in KNUST, a background soil was higher than As in AYE, a dumpsite soil at 15 - 30 cm (Tables 4.9 and 4.10). The difference in organic matter (Table 4.8) levels might have contributed to the lower As level in AYE (Tables 4.9 and 4.10) at 15 - 30 cm of soil sampling depth. Alamgir (2017) has similarly reported that, soil organic matter effects on metals can reduce or increase the bioavailability of heavy metals in soils through immobilization or mobilization by forming insoluble or soluble complexes and that depend on organic matter amount, composition and dynamics.

Arsenic (As) generally showed higher values of in KYE, SUA AYE than UEW, MED and KNUST at both 0 - 15 cm and 15 - 30 cm depths (Tables 4.9 and 4.10) and these difference may be related to higher organic matter contents (Table 4.8) contrary to a report by McBride *et al.* (2015) where no correlation between organic matter and specific metals like Pb and As. However, situations where As concentration in dumpsite soils have recorded higher levels than their adjoining background soils is in line with a report by Mensah *et al.* (2017), who found As levels in an e - waste dumpsite in Korle lagoon Accra comparatively recorded a higher As value although at a very close margin. A close margin of differences in As levels in dumpites soil and their background soils might be due to an increase soil pH

recorded in the dumpsite soils (Table 4.8). This could have decreased the solubility of As in the dumpsite soils (Kabata - Pendias, 2011) but the reverse was the case in this study. The higher As levels in the dumpsite soils could also be explained by the use of As bearing heavy metals in several industries in agriculture, domestic and technological applications (Bradi, 2002). Also, metals like mercury, lead , cadmium, silver, chromium and many others are indirectly distributed as a result of human activities could be very toxic even at low concentrations and can undergo global ecological circles (Aekola *et al.*, 2012). As is a non essential metal element but when found in soils is not only carcinogenic but also has no nutritional value for plants and animals (Amadi *et al.*, 2010; Ngange *et al.*, 2013).

Arsenic (As) concentration levels at 0 - 15 cm (4.91 - 7.33 mgkg⁻¹) and at 15 - 30 cm (4.43 - 8.88 mgkg⁻¹) depth in the studied sites soil were below normal range in soils 0.1 - 40 mgkg⁻¹ (Table 2.6) by Radojevic and Baskin (2006) but this is not without any effect even at low concentrations in the soil because plants have a natural propensity to take up metals (Achazai *et al.*, 2011) from the soil. All the As concentration levels recorded in the study sites were higher than the value reported in Accra city (3.67 mgkg⁻¹) by Mensah *et al.* (2017); 0.66 mgkg⁻¹; 0.55 mgkg⁻¹ by Opaluwa *et al.* (2012). Higher As levels recorded were lower than 17.08 mgkg⁻¹ in an e - waste dumpsite soil in China by Predhan and Kumar (2014); 30 mgkg⁻¹ (Table 2.5) by FAO/WHO (2011); 20 mgkg⁻¹ (Table 2.7) by WHO/FAO (2001). As values recorded at 0 - 15 cm and 15 - 30 cm depth (Ngange *et al.* 2013).

5.2.2.7 Cadmium (Cd)

Cadmium (Cd) was higher at 0 - 15 cm depth in KNUST soil than in AYE (Tables 4.9 and 4.10). This result may be due to the high soil organic matter (Table 4.8) in AYE. This result conforms to a report by Alamgir (2017) that, soil organic matter can influence metals levels in soils through the bioavailability of heavy metals in soils through immobilization or mobilization by forming insoluble or soluble complexes and that depend on organic matter amount, composition and dynamics.

Lower soil pH in KNUST (Table 4.8) could also be linked to the higher Cd level in KNUST than in AYE dumpsite soil. Eze *et al.* (2018) share a similar report to this difference by the fact that, heavy metals are generally mobile at pH < 7 than pH > 7. The lower Cd levels in AYE as compare to Cd in KNUST may be linked to the higher soil pH (Table 4.8) recorded in AYE. This result conforms to an earlier report by Kabata - Pandias (2011) that, with increasing soil pH the solubility of most trace elements decreases leading to low concentration in soil solution. Adelekan and Alawole (2011) further confirmed that, metal availability is relatively low when pH is around 6.5 - 7. This makes soil pH a master variable influencing the physical, chemical and biological properties of soil (Chakraborty, 2015; Neina, 2019).

Cadmium (Cd) levels in KYE, SUA and AYE dumpsite soils were higher than Cd levels in UEW, MED and KNUST at both 0 - 15 cm and 15 - 30 cm of soil sampling depths (Tables 4.9 and 4.10). These differences are expected because of the high soil organic matter and that might have influenced the high Cd levels. This high Cd levels might also be due to the possible disposal of Cd bearing wastes on dumpsites and that might have led to higher Cd

levels in the dumpsite soils. Nurudeen and Aderibigbe (2013) share a similar report of highly contaminated value of Cd at 19.35 mgkg⁻¹ which was as a result of continuous dumping of refuse. Also higher levels of Cd in dumpsite soils may be linked to the age of dumpsites in addition to Cd bearing compounds which through atmospheric disposition and other related different sources of origin of inorganic waste exposed to the soils studied. Kisku *et al.* (2000) shared similar view that, the burning of fossil fuels and tyres, the use of lubrication oils, vehicles wheels, application of solid wastes from industries and home, sewage sludge waste water irrigation and phosphate fertilizer application also contributed to toxic Cd levels in soils.

Cadmium (Cd) levels in the range of $(6.19 - 17.30 \text{ mgkg}^{-1})$ at 0 - 15 cm and $(7.61 - 20.85 \text{ mgkg}^{-1})$ at 15 - 30 cm depth, were higher than normal range of Cd in soils (Table 2.6) at 0.01 - 2 mgkg⁻¹ by Radojevic and Baskin (2006), 3.00 mgkg⁻¹ (Table 2.4; 2.7) (WHO, 2007; Chiroma *et al.*, 2014), 5.633 mgkg⁻¹ (Table 2.3) by Kabir *et al.* (2011). The values recorded in this study need much attention although Cd levels recorded in the soils studied were lower than 103.70 mgkg⁻¹ (Mensah *et al.*, 2017), Cd is known to be extremely toxic even at low concentration (Shah *et al.*, 2013). Cd is not known for any essential biological function (Wuana and Okieimen, 2011) and as a result Cd is not required for plants growth (Ngange *et al.*, 2013).

5.2.2.8 Mercury (Hg)

Hg concentration level in KYE was lower than Hg level UEW at 0 - 15 cm and at 15 - 30 cm depths (Tables 4.9 and 4.10). This result may be due to the acidic pH medium in UEW as compare to higher soil pH recorded in KYE (Table 4.8). A similar result was found by
Alamgir (2017) that, at acidic pH medium, more protons (H^+) are available to saturate metal binding sites; therefore, metals are less likely to form insoluble precipitates. Sheoran *et al.* (2016) share a similar view that metal concentration decreases at high pH and increases at low pH values. Also, heavy metals become more mobile at pH < 7 than pH > 7 (Eze *et al.*, 2018).

Hg levels in KYE, SUA and AYE than in UEW, MED and KNUST at both 0 - 15 cm and 15 - 30 cm of soil sampling depths (Tables 4.9 and 4.10). This difference may be due to the combined effect of soil pH and organic matter dynamics which could also contribute to higher levels of Hg at both sampled depths at 0 - 15 cm and 15 - 30 cm of sampled soils (Table 4.8). Similarly, a report whereby a combined influence from soil physicochemical differences might have contributed to the mobility of positively charged heavy metals in soils as a result of proton competition with metals and a decreased in negative binding sites (Harckmans et al., 2007). Higher Hg levels in KYE, SUA and AYE may be related to Hg bearing wastes which might have been disposed on waste dumpsites through human activities from industries such as textiles tanning, petrochemicals from accidental oil spills or utilization of petroleum - based products and other pharmaceutical facilities. The dispose of such Hg bearing wastes and other metals which may be essential to plants have benefits to agriculture or forestry (Raymond and Okieimen, 2011). Also, higher Hg levels might be due the depth of soil sampling under this study as accumulation of heavy metals are concentrated at the soil - surface than in the sub - surface as reported by Amadi et al. (2012) and Ololade (2014) that, soils show remarkably high levels of metals which decrease with

depth, and is the reason why surface soils have been found as better indicators for metabolic burdens (Anikwe and Nwobodo, 2002).

Mercury (Hg) concentrations were in the range of 5.12 - 13.47 mgkg⁻¹ at 0 - 15 cm and 15 - 30 cm (5.24 - 13.47 mgkg⁻¹) depths in all the study soils were higher than 2.00 mgkg⁻¹ (Table 2.7) by WHO/FAO (2001); Radojevic and Baskin (2006) reported Hg at a range of 0.01 - 0.50 mgkg⁻¹ (Table 2.6); Hg level in uncontaminated soils at 0.04 - 0.08 mgkg⁻¹ by Greany (2005). Hg levels at 15 - 30 cm depth in most of the studied soils were higher than in 0 - 15 cm soil depth of Hg concentration levels. This observation may be due to a number of combined effect of soil properties on metals absorption and adsorption (Harter and Naidu, 2001; Dutta *et al.*, 2001; Appel and Ma, 2002).

5.2.2.9 Lead (Pb)

Lead (Pb) levels were higher in KYE, SUA and AYE than in UEW, MED and KNUST sampled at both 0 - 15 cm and 15 - 30 cm depths (Tables 4.9 and 4.10). These differences may be due to human wastes disposal activities and other Pb bearing wastes on dumpsites might have accumulated Pb leading to their increased levels in the dumpsite soils. This result is in line with the report by Poggio *et al.* (2009) who attributed the differences in Pb levels in the soil environment through numerous activities like mining, smelting, manufacturing and can be toxic to human health (Poggio *et al.*, 2009). The high lead levels in dumpsites may also be linked to the soil type, moderately and high organic matter content of the dumpsite soils studied (Table 4.8). This difference agrees with a report by Hameed *et al.* (2013) that species of Pb vary considerably with soil type; it is mainly associated with clay minerals, magnesium oxides iron, aluminum hydroxides and organic matter.

High Pb levels recorded in SUA, AYE in Kumasi metropolis at 15 - 30 cm and 0 - 15 cm depth than in KYE, a rural community within Mampong municipal (Tables 4.9 and 4.10) may be linked to differences in waste generation between urban and rural population as found by Moller *et al.* (2000), that, Pb has shown to accumulate to high levels in urban environments from a range of sources including that derived from leaded petrol. Also, such differences are observed as a result of higher population and industrial activities in municipalities which may lead to higher production of assorted wastes than in the rural settlements (Agyarko *et al.*, 2010).

The concentration of Pb were in the range of 1.03 - 3.99 mgkg⁻¹ at 0 - 15 cm and 3.75 - 133.58 mgkg⁻¹ at 15 - 30 cm. Pb which was highest in AYE (3.99 mgkg⁻¹) at 0 - 15 cm and especially in SUA (133.58 mgkg⁻¹) at 15 - 30 cm depth, the highest among all Pb values was above the worlds' average Pb in unpolluted soil at 44.0 mgkg⁻¹ (Kabata - Pendias and Pendias, 2001); lower than Pb level in residential area (136.76 mgkg⁻¹) and at an industrial area (159.67 mgkg⁻¹) by Onyedika (2015) and also higher than Pb level in a dumpsite soil at 0 - 15 cm (1.3 mgkg⁻¹), at 15 - 30 cm soil depth (0.7 mgkg⁻¹) and on control or uncontaminated sites was 1.1 mgkg⁻¹ (Olowookere *et al.*, 2018); 5.00 mgkg⁻¹ (Table 2.7) by WHO/FAO (2001); 2.00 mgkg⁻¹ (WHO, 2009). The remaining selected soils were within the permissible Pb level 40 mgkg⁻¹ by Kabata - Pendias and Pendias, (2001). This showed that, the highest Pb in SUA dumpsite soil at 15 - 30 cm was found to be within acceptable contamination level with Pb.

5.2.3 Heavy metals level in plants

5.2.3.1 Cr levels in plantain and cocoyam

Chromium (Cr) in plantain leaves and fruits recorded higher Cr values from KYE, SUA and AYE than in UEW, MED and KNUST (Tables 4.11 and 4.12). The high Cr levels in plantain leaves and fruits from dumpsites than in their background sites were expected because plantain has a high demand for organic matter (Table 4.8) and as a result thrives well in wastes dumpsites (Iniobong and Uduakobong, 2017). Leachates from these dumpsites might have contributed to the high Cr levels in the dumpsites which subsequently ended up in the plantain leaves and fruits as reported by Ukpong *et al.* (2013). Also, higher Cr levels in plantain leaves than in fruits may be due to the fact that, there are differences in uptake and accumulation ability of different heavy metals in crops (Yadav *et al.*, 2018). The differences in physiology, morphology, anatomy, leaf inclination angle and density of each plant (Shahid *et al.*, 2016) also determine their metals accumulation levels. The level of Cr in plantain leaves confirm the assertion that, plantain has the ability to absorb metals and it has a good correlation with the concentration of metals in the soil (Bekteshi and Bora, 2013).

High Cr levels in plantain leaves and fruits (Tables 4.11 and 4.12) from dumpsites might be related to an increasing production and disposal of domestic, municipal and industrial wastes on dumpsites as reported by Agyarko *et al.* (2010). The differences in Cr levels in plantain leaves and fruits from dumpsites and background sites might be due to the differences in living standards, consumption patterns and level of industrial development between cities and rural communities dumpsites that receive different considerable waste proportions of product packaging, waste cloths, glass and bottles, newspapers, paints, batteries, industrial dust, ash, tyres, metal cans and containers, medicinal waste, abandoned vehicles and

insulations which are known to be sources of metals (Zhang *et al.*, 2002; Pasquini and Alexander, 2004; Woodbury, 2005). The high levels of Cr in plantain leaves and fruits might also be due to Cr mobility which depends on sorption characteristics, clay content and amount of organic matter (Table 4.8) as reported by Wuana and Okieimen (2011).

The levels of Cr recorded in plantain leaf was in the range of (8.30 - 98.08 mgkg⁻¹), plantain fruits (8.44 - 100.12 mgkg⁻¹) were higher than Cr levels in plants on dumpsites (6.59 - 7.33 mgkg⁻¹), control site fruits Cr levels (2.23 mgkg⁻¹) by Iniobong and Uduakobong (2017); 1.30 mgkg⁻¹ and 70.00 mgkg⁻¹ (Table 2.8) by WHO (2007; 2009); 0.3 - 14.00 mgkg⁻¹ as normal range in plants and 5.00 - 30.00 mgkg⁻¹ as a critical plant concentration (Table 2.6) as reported by Radojevic and Baskin (2006). Plantain is one of the common food tree crops found on dumpsites in Ghana (Iniobong and Uduakobong, 2017) and as a result are not fit to feed human and livestock especially plantain leaves from UEW (98.08 mgkg⁻¹) and plantain fruit from SUA (100.12 mgkg⁻¹).

Cocoyam corms sampled from AYE, recorded lower levels of Cr than in cocoyam corms sampled from KNUST, a background site (Tables 4.13 and 4.14). Such difference may be related to the lower and slightly soil acidic medium of KNUST as compare to a higher alkaline AYE soil pH medium (Table 4.8). This conforms to an earlier report by Eze *et al.* (2018) that, heavy metals are more mobile at pH < 7 than pH > 7. Higher CEC levels in KNUST than in AYE (Table 4.8) might have contributed to the higher Cr levels in KNUST (Table 4.9) and that resulted into higher Cr levels in cocoyam corms (Table 4.11) sampled from KNUST. This result is expected because; Gupta *et al.* (2019) have earlier explained

that CEC is a factor that plays a vital role in the availability of metals in the soil to plants. Alamgir (2017) further explain that, the greater the CEC values, the more exchange sites of soil minerals will be available for metal retention.

Cr levels in the rest of cocoyam leaves and corms sampled from KYE, SUA and AYE were higher than Cr levels in UEW, MED and KNUST (Tables 4.13 and 4.14). These differences might be due to metal accumulated nature of soils (Tables 4.9 and 4.10) used for cocoyam cultivation and the cocoyam leaves and corms might have accumulated metals found in dumpsites. A similar report was found by Amusan *et al.* (2005) where dumpsites used as fertile grounds for the cultivation of crops results into increased uptake of heavy metals either as mobile ions or through foliar absorption. Leachates from dumpsites might have also contributed to the heavy metals absorbed by cocoyam leaves and corms (Ukpong *et al.*, 2013).

High Cr levels in cocoyam leaves and corms sampled from SUA AYE dumpsites in Kumasi metropolis as compared to cocoyam parts sampled from KYE, a rural dumpsite in Mampong municipal explains the situation in which the city dumpsites soil properties (Table 4.8) and quality are affected by the increasing number of human wastes dumped. Soffianian *et al.* (2014) share a similar report that, dumpsites soil properties and quality can be adversely affected by the over concentration of waste released from agriculture, industry, municipal and individual household. These heavy metal bearing wastes deteriorates the quality of dumpsites soil and negatively influence sustainable development (Getachew and Habtamu, 2015). The CEC levels (Table 4.8) of the dumpsite soils might have also influenced the

metal levels (Tables 4.9 and 4.10) accumulated in the cocoyam leaves and corms. This finding conforms to a report by Gupta *et al.* (2019) that, cation exchange capacity (CEC) is a factor that plays a vital role in the availability of metals in soil.

Cr in cocoyam leaves and corms were in a range of 8.88 - 100.12 mgkg⁻¹, cocoyam corms (8.36 - 85.77 mgkg⁻¹) concentrations were above 1.00 mgkg⁻¹ of Cr (Table 2.2) in cocoyam leaves (Ogunmodede and Adewole, 2015); 0.03 - 14 mgkg⁻¹ as normal range in plants and 5 - 30 mgkg⁻¹ as critical plant concentration (Table 2.6) by Radojevic and Bashki (2006); 70 mgkg⁻¹ and 1.30 mgkg⁻¹ (Table 2.8) by WHO (2007; 2009). Cr levels were above the acceptable level at which plant toxicity is likely, however, cocoyam leaves and corms may be therefore toxic to grazing animals and human using cocoyam as food or for medicinal purposes.

5.2.3.2 Fe levels in plantain and cocoyam

Fe levels were higher in plantain leaves and fruits sampled from KYE, SUA and AYE than in UEW, MED and KNUST (Tables 4.11 and 4.12). The Fe values obtained in this study is similar to a report by Iniobong and Udiokobong (2017) where dumpsites fruits studied in their work recorded significantly (p = 0.05) higher heavy metals content than those from the control site. The high Fe levels in plantain leaves and fruits (Tables 4.11 and 4.12) might be due to the Fe levels in the soils (Tables 4.9 and 4.10). This result is similar to a report by Bekteshi and Bora (2013) that plantain shows the ability to absorb metals and the concentrations in leaves correlate with metal levels in soil. Also, the higher concentration of Fe in especially plantain sampled from KYE, SUA and AYE as compared to plantain leaves and fruits sampled from UEW, MED and KNUST in relationship with Fe accumulation levels in plantain leaves and fruits (Tables 4.11 and 4.12) may be attributed to human wastes disposal activities on dumpsites in both rural and urban communities. Such reasons are similar to report by Iniobong and Udiokobong (2017) where due to the scarcity of arable lands in most urban areas, plantain is cultivated in most dumpsites in densely populated cities and rural communities, most especially in strategic locations where all sorts of solid waste material are dumped and these leached metals at times end up in plants.

Accumulation of Fe in plantain leaves and fruits from study sites soils may be related to plantain leaf uptake of Fe in smaller quantities in an accumulated manneras discussed by Gupta *et al.* (2019) that, root uptake and foliar uptake of trace elements occur in a dose dependent manner. These small metal particles might also diffuse through both the stomatal and cuticular path ways to enter plants (Xiong *et al.*, 2014). Leaf metal penetration through stomatal pathways is generally easier because the cuticle of the sub - stomatal cells is comparatively thinner compared to external one (Nebel, 2007). The high levels of Fe recorded in plantain leaves and fruits samples from dumpsites are expected because Fe is the most abundant element in the earth crust (Onyedijka, 2015) and as a result its abundance, it has no concentration limit in the soil (Hameed *et al.*, 2013). The higher Fe accumulation in plantain parts may be attributed to higher Fe concentrations at both 0 - 15 cm and 15 - 30 cm depths (Tables 4.9 and 4.10) which are within the active soil surface with higher Fe concentration. This assertion conforms to an earlier report by Olowookere *et al.* (2018).

Fe as an essential plant metal element was higher in plantain leaves than in plantain fruit. Fe in plantain leaves were in the range (7884.00 - 18712.58 mgkg⁻¹); plantain fruit (7663.66 -

20442.75 mgkg⁻¹) were higher than 48 mgkg⁻¹ as guideline for Fe in food and vegetables and normal range of Fe in plant at 400 - 500 mgkg⁻¹ (WHO / FAO, 2011); 40 - 500 mgkg⁻¹ as a critical range in plants (Stewart *et al.*, 1974); 20 mgkg⁻¹ (WHO, 2009). This is an indication that, Fe levels especially in plantain leaves (18712.58 mgkg⁻¹) from UEW and plantain fruits (20442.75 mgkg⁻¹) from SUA are toxic to grazing animals and human who use plantain fruit as food or for medicinal purposes.

Cocoyam corms sampled from AYE Fe levels were lower than Fe levels in cocoyam corms sampled from KNUST (Tables 4.13 and 4.14). Such differences observed may be as a result of the studied soils' pH (Table 4.8) conditions which might have increased Fe accumulation in cocoyam corms from KNUST, a background site more than in AYE, a dumpsite. Martinez and Motto (2000) earlier result have affirmed this assertion that the solubility of Fe may be drastically increased at pH 5.5. Also different Fe levels in different plant parts are expected and it agrees with Natasa *et al.* (2015) that, different plant parts contain different heavy metals, because heavy metals are absorb from the soil through the roots, and from the atmosphere through above ground vegetative organs (Mmolawa *et al.*, 2011). The presence of other metals (Tables 4.13 and 4.14). Abedin *et al.* (2002) shared similar report that, the presence of one trace element affects the presence of another different species of some metals.

Fe levels in cocoyam leaves and corms sampled from the remaining KYE, SUA and AYE dumpsite soils were higher than Fe levels in cocoyam leaves and corms sampled from UEW,

MED and KNUST (Tables 4.13 and 4.14). This difference is expected because cocoyam plants sampled are commonly found on most dumpsites in the Ashanti region of Ghana (Asomani - Boateng and Murray, 1995) which might have absorbed toxic metal elements which may contain some Fe bearing wastes as a result of human activities. Some of these metals are non - biodegradable and may affect living organisms at high concentrations (Ogunmodede and Adewole, 2015). The high Fe levels in cocoyam leaves and corms may also be attributed to the fact that, organic wastes are converted into harmless substance while the inorganic substance which are also non - biodegradable, persisted and might have accumulated in soils and plants found on them as reported by Ukpong et al. (2013). The situation where dumpsites are commonly used as fertile grounds for the cultivation of crops like cocoyam may have served as another source of metals contamination contributes to the increased uptake of heavy metals either as mobile ions or through foliar absorption (Amusan et al., 2005). Factors such as soil type, soluble contents of trace elements in soil, soil pH, organic matter, cation exchange capacity (Table 4.8), plant growth stages, crop type and fertilizers influence plant roots uptake of metals (Lente et al., 2014; Yadav et al., 2018).

Fe in cocoyam leaves from the study sites were in a range of 5986.56 - 20442.75 mgkg⁻¹ and cocoyam corms 7700.83 - 21145.47 mgkg⁻¹ were above 110.00 mgkg⁻¹ of Cr (Table 2.2) in cocoyam corm and 68.12 mgkg⁻¹ in cocoyam leaf (Ogunmodede and Adewole, 2015); normal range in plants at 40 - 500 mgkg⁻¹ (Table 2.6) by Stewart *et al.* (1974); 20 mgkg⁻¹ (Table 2.8) by WHO (2009). The highest Fe level was recorded in cocoyam leaf from SUA Kumasi dumpsite gives an indication that consumers of especially cocoyam leaves as food or for medicinal purposes faces a serious health threat if not attended to.

5.2.3.3 Ni levels in plantain and cocoyam

The sampled plantain leaves and fruits from KYE, SUA and AYE recorded higher Ni levels than in UEW, MED and KNUST (Tables 4.11 and 4.10) and this could be attributed to the widely distributed nature of Ni in the environment as Ni is reported to be released through natural sources and anthropogenic activity with input from both stationary and mobile (Orji *et al.*, 2018). Other known reasons which might have contributed to high Ni levels in plantain leaves and fruits are wastes from food stuffs such as chocolate, automobile batteries and various paint wastes (Onyedjika, 2005) found on dumpsites. The presence of cleaning products like soaps dumped on waste sites are subsequently absorbed by plants and as a result ended up in plants. This result is supported by Alloway (1995) that, many domestic cleaning products such as soap (100 - 700 mgkg⁻¹) and powdered bleach (800 mgkg⁻¹) proofed to be an important sources of Ni levels in urban soil.

The levels of of Ni in plantain leaves in most of the study soils were higher in leaves than in fruits (Tables 4.11 and 4.12) is expected because, plant parts have differences in metals levels because heavy metals are also absorb from the soil through the roots, and from the atmosphere through above ground vegetative organs (Mmolawa *et al.*, 2011). This reason was reorted by Natasa *et al.* (2015) that, different plant parts contain different heavy metals. An effective transpiration may also be a reason behind the accumulation of higher Ni levels in plantain leaves than in fruits. A similar study is reported by Gupta *et al.* (2012) further discussed that, when transpiration is flourishing, plant accumulates more trace elements and its enrichment capability is also stronger.

Ni in plantain leaves were in the range of $12.21 - 20.82 \text{ mgkg}^{-1}$, plantain fruits in the range of $10.60 - 21.93 \text{ mgkg}^{-1}$ were found to be higher than Ni levels in dumpsites ($2.66 - 3.36 \text{ mgkg}^{-1}$), Ni levels in control sites (1.14 mgkg^{-1}) by Iniobong and Uduakobong (2017); $0.02 - 5.00 \text{ mgkg}^{-1}$ as normal range in plants (Radojevic and Bashkin, 2006); $10 .00 \text{ mgkg}^{-1}$ (WHO, 2009); but were within 50 mgkg⁻¹ as permissible limits in plants (WHO, 2007); $0.02 - 50.00 \text{ mgkg}^{-1}$ (FAO / WHO, 2011); 67.00 mgkg^{-1} (Chiroma *et al.*, 2014); $15 - 50 \text{ mgkg}^{-1}$ as critical plant concentration (Table 2.6) by Radojevic and Bashkin (2006). This is an indication that although Ni levels were high in plantain leaves and fruits, Ni was within the permissible limits for human and farm animals consumption.

Cocoyam leaves and corms sampled generally recorded higher Ni in KYE, SUA and AYE than in UEW, MED and KNUST (Tables 4.13 and 4.14). The differences in Ni levels in cocoyam leaves and corms may be as a result of Ni bearing wastes found on dumpsites and when leached ended up in plants found on them. Alloway (1995) showed a similar observation that, many domestic cleaning products such as soap (100 - 700 mgkg⁻¹ Ni), powdered bleach (800 mgkg⁻¹ Ni) may prove to be important sources of Ni in urban soils. Foodstuffs such as chocolate, automobile batteries and various paint wastes (Onyedika, 2015) are also accumulated by the cocoyam grown. Other sources of Ni levels in sampled cocoyam leaves and corms are through the ambient air as a result of the combustion of coal, diesel oil and the incineration of wastes and sewage (Cempel *et al.*, 2006) in addition, Ni widely used in electroplating and in the manufacture of batteries (Hameed *et al.*, 2013) serves as an additional source of Ni, although Ni is an essential element for plants and animals (Hameed *et al.*, 2012).

Ni levels were also found higher in cocoyam leaves than in cocoyam corms (Tables 4.13 and 4.14). The enhanced levels of Ni in cocoyam leaves sampled from dumpsites may be due to transpiration effects because, when transpiration flourishes, plant accumulates more trace elements and its enrichment capacity is also stronger (Hao *et al.*, 2012). Gupta *et al.* (2019) further confirmed that, leafy vegetables accumulate much higher content of trace elements than other vegetables and crops due to higher translocation and transpiration rate. Other reports found that, the transfer of metals from root to stem and then to fruit during the transpiration and translocation process is longer in non - leafy vegetables and results in lower accumulation (Itanna, 2002; Khan *et al.*, 2009).

Ni in cocoyam leaves were in the range of 10.60 - 21.93 mgkg⁻¹ and cocoyam corms 11.92 - 22.13 mgkg⁻¹ (Table 4.11) were above cocoyam toxicity at 6.03 mgkg⁻¹ (Table 2.2) by Ogunmodede and Adewole (2015); 0.02 - 5 mgkg⁻¹ (Table 2.6) by Radojevic and Bashkin (2006); 50 mgkg⁻¹ and 10 mgkg⁻¹ (Table 2.8) by WHO (2007; 2009). Also, recorded Ni levels in cocoyam plant parts were below FAO / WHO guidelines for metals in food and vegetables at 0.02 - 50 mgkg⁻¹ (Table 2.5) by FAO / WHO (2011); the normal range but were below the allowable concentration limit of 67 mgkg⁻¹ (Table 2.4) by Chiroma *et al.* (2014). The Ni levels in cocoyam leaves and corms indicate that, cocoyam leaves and fruits at the studied sites are safe for consumption by human and animals.

5.2.3.4 Cu levels in plantain and cocoyam

Cu level in plantain leaves sampled from SUA was lower than Cu levels in plantain leaves from MED Also Cu level in plantain fruits sampled from AYE was lower than plantain

fruits sampled from KNUST (Tables 4.11 and 4.12). Such differences observed may be as a result of the studied soils' pH (Table 4.8) conditions which might have influenced these differences of Cu accumulation in plantain leaves and fruits. Martinez and Motto (2000) earlier result has affirmed this assertion that the solubility of Cu is drastically increased at pH 5.5. Also different Cu levels in different plant parts are expected and it agrees with Natasa *et al.* (2015) that, different plant parts contain different heavy metals, because heavy metals are absorb from the soil through the roots, and from the atmosphere through above ground vegetative organs (Mmolawa *et al.*, 2011). The presence of other metals (Tables 4.9 and 4.10) in the studied soils might have affected Cu levels in plantain. Abedin *et al.* (2002) share a similar report that, the presence of one trace element affects the presence of another different species of some metals.

Cu in plantain leaves were in the range of (7.43 -24.07 mgkg⁻¹), plantain fruit (6.31 - 67.75 mgkg⁻¹) were higher than 8.00 mgkg⁻¹ Cu²⁺ (Table 2.3) by Kabir *et al.* (2011); 30.00 mgkg⁻¹ as levels in plants and 2.5 mgkg⁻¹ as normal range in plants (FAO / WHO, 2011); 5 - 20 mgkg⁻¹ as normal range in plants and within 20 - 100 mgkg⁻¹ (Table 2.6) by Radojevic and Bashkin (2006); 100.00 mgkg⁻¹ (Table 2.8) by WHO (2007). Cu levels in plantain leaves and fruits were within the permissible limit safe for human and farm animal's consumption.

Cu levels were generally higher in cocoyam leaves and corms sampled from KYE, SUA and AYE dumpsites than in UEW, MED KNUST background (Tables 4.13 and 4.14). This difference showed that the cocoyam parts sampled accumulated higher Cu levels. Olankule *et al.* (2018) share a similar finding that, the dumpsites soil studied contain Cu bearing

wastes that might have accumulated in the dumpsite soil. Ogunmodede *et al.* (2015) similarly discussed that, heavy metals from refuse dump soils are higher in concentration than in the control or background values especially for Cu and that was attributed to the fact that, refuse dumps receive considerable waste proportions of product packaging, waste, cloths, glass and bottles, newspapers, paints, batteries, industrial dust, ash, car tyres, metal cans and containers, medical waste, abandoned vehicles and insulations. All these refuse dump wastes are known to be sources of metals (Woodburry, 2005). The Cu levels absorbed by cocoyam may be due to the available forms of Cu in the soils studied. This observation conforms to a report on the concentration of availability forms of metals in soil which is controlled by various physical and chemical processes such as cation exchange, adsorption and desorption, complexation, precipitation and dissolution, oxidation, reduction, sequestration and occlusion, diffusion and migration, metal competition, biological immobilization, mobilization and plant uptake (Kabata - Pendias, 2010; Wuana and Okieimen, 2011).

Cu levels were mostly higher in cocoyam leaves from most of the study sites than in cocoyam corms (Tables 4.13 and 4.14) and that may be related to the fact that, most Cu ions might have been transported from the roots to other parts of the cocoyam by factors like crop type and soil pH and resulted to higher levels of Cu in cocoyam leaves. Gupta *et al.* (2019) share a similar report that, vegetables take up metals from polluted soils and through atmospheric deposition of particulate matter from different sources are first absorbed in the apoplast of roots and transported further into other parts of the plant cells. Also, metals roots uptake of metals is controlled by many factors such as soluble contents of trace elements in

soil, soil pH, organic matter, cation exchange capacity, plant growth stages, crop type, fertilizers and soil type (Lente *et al.*, 2014; Yadav *et al.*, 2018).

Cu in cocoyam leaves were in the range of 6.31 - 67.75 mgkg⁻¹ and cocoyam corms 7.15 - 32.69 mgkg⁻¹. The highest Cu level (22.13 mgkg⁻¹) recorded was found in cocoyam leaves (67.75 mgkg⁻¹) from SUA (Table 4.13) were above 11.05 mgkg⁻¹ in cocoyam corm; 5 - 20 mgkg⁻¹ as normal range in plants (Table 2.6) by Radojevic and Bashkin (2006); 22.00 mgkg⁻¹ in cocoyam leaf (Table 2.2) by Ogunmodede and Adewole (2015); 30 mgkg⁻¹ in food; 2.5 mgkg⁻¹ as normal range in plants (Table 2.5) by FAO / WHO (2011). On the contrary, Cu levels were generally below 20 - 100 mgkg⁻¹ as a critical plant concentration (Table 2.6) by Radojevic and Bashkin (2006); 73.00 mgkg⁻¹ (Chiroma *et al.*, 2014). This finding show that, cocoyam leaves sampled from SUA recorded the highest Cu level in addition to cocoyam corms sampled are safe for human and animals as food or for medicinal purposes.

5.2.3.5 Zn levels in plantain and cocoyam

Zn levels in dumpsites studied were higher than in background soils (Tables 4.9 and 4.10) so Zn higher levels in plantain parts sampled from KYE, SUA and AYE than in UEW, MED and KNUST is expected (Tables 4.11 and 4.12). Such differences may be due to the fact that, Zn is one of the most abundant element (second to Fe) so their higher levels in plantain sampled from dumpsites may be due to their high natural abundance or anthropogenic input (Onyedika, 2005) on wastes dumpsites. Other sources of Zn reported were manure, composted materials and agro chemicals like fertilizers and pesticides used in agriculture (Romi and Romic, 2003). Zn levels in plantain leaves and fruits sampled from SUA and

AYE within Kumasi metropolis recorded higher values than samples from a KYE, a rural community dumpsite within Mampong metropolis may be due to higher population and industrial activities in cities and metropolis which might have lead to higher production of Zn wastes in SUA and AYE than in rural settlements. Jiries *et al.* (2001) share a similar finding which attributed such differences to Zn bearing wastes like mechanical abrasion of vehicles used in the production of brass alloy itself, brake linings, oils leak dumps and cylinder head gaskets. Also, higher Zn levels in plantain leaves and fruits may also be linked to an antagonistic and synergistic behavior thus exists among trace elements (Chibuike and Obiora, 2014), a similar situation is reported under Cd by Salgare and Acharekar (1992), where Cd and Zn antagonize inhibitory effect had influence on the total amount of mineralised carbon. Cu and Zn as well as Ni and Cd have been reported to compete for the same membrane carrier in plants (Clarkson and Luttge, 1989).

Plantain leaves Zn levels were in the range of 56.46 - 126.19 mgkg⁻¹, plantain fruits in the range of 37.80 - 186.50 mgkg⁻¹ were above a permissible limit in plants (Table 2.8) at 50 mgkg⁻¹ (FAO/WHO, 2007); a reported level in plant at 60 mgkg⁻¹ (Table 2.5); a normal range in plants at 20 - 100 mgkg⁻¹ (FAO/WHO, 2011) but were within 1 - 900 mgkg⁻¹; normal range in plants at 1 - 400 mgkg⁻¹; critical plant concentration reported at 100 - 400 mgkg⁻¹ (Table 2.6) by Radojevic and Bashkin (2006); 300 mgkg⁻¹ by Shal *et al.* (2011). These reported allowable Zn levels in plants show that, Zn levels reported in this study were within the acceptable limits in plantain for human and animal consumption.

Zn levels were generally higher in cocoyam leaves and corms sampled from KYE, SUA and AYE than cocoyam leaves and fruits sampled from UEW, MED and KNUST (Tables 4.13 and 4.14). This result is expected because all dumpsites soil recorded higher Zn levels than their background soils (Tables 4.9 and 4.10). The Zn values in the leaves and corms were expected to be higher in the dumpsite soils than their background samples. This finding is supported by a report that, dumpsites soils receive considerable waste proportions of product packaging, waste cloths, glass and bottles, newspapers, paints, batteries, industrial dusts, ash, tyres, metal cans and containers, medical waste, abandoned vehicles and insulations which are known to be sources of metals (Zhang et al., 2002; Pasquini and Alexander, 2004; Woodbury, 2005). Zn levels were mostly higher in cocovam corms than in cocovam leaves with the exception of SUA (Tables 4.13 and 4.14) and this might be due to the fact that SUA dumpsite is at Kumasi an urban community as compare to KYE, a rural community within Mampong municipal. Such differences are observed as a result of higher population and industrial activities in cities and municipalities which lead to higher production of assorted wastes than in the rural settlements as found by Ebong et al. (2008).

Zn levels in cocoyam leaves were in the range of 17.43 - 186.50 mgkg⁻¹ and cocoyam corms 41.70 - 101.56 mgkg⁻¹. The highest Zn level recorded was found in cocoyam leaves (186.50 mgkg⁻¹) sampled from SUA (Table 4.11) was above 60 mgkg⁻¹ as normal Zn level in food; 50 mgkg⁻¹ (Table 2.8) by WHO (2009); 20 - 100 mgkg⁻¹ as normal range in plants (Table 2.5) by FAO / WHO (2011); 92.00 mgkg⁻¹ in cocoyam corms and 48.70 mgkg⁻¹ in cocoyam leaves (Table 2.2) by Ogunmodede and Adewole *et al.* (2015). However, the highest Zn levels recorded in cocoyam leaves and corms were within 1 - 400 mgkg⁻¹ as normal range in

plants and 100 - 400 mgkg⁻¹ as a critical plant concentration (Table 2.6) by Radojevic and Bashkin (2006); 300 mgkg⁻¹ (Table 2.8) by WHO (2009). This is an indication that, Zn levels in cocoyam leaves and corms sampled from KYE, SUA and AYE may not pose danger to grazing animals and humans using them as food or for medicinal purposes.

5.2.3.6 As levels in plantain and cocoyam

As levels in plantain leaves and fruits sampled from KYE, SUA and AYE were higher than As levels in UEW, MED and KNUST (Tables 4.11 and 4.12). This difference might have come about as a result of As bearing wastes (Tables 4.9 and 4.10) that might have ended up in the plantain leaves and fruits (Tables 4.11 and 4.12). These differences are similar to the report by Adebiyi *et al.* (2018) that, plants on polluted soils absorb heavy metals in the form of free moving ions in the soil through their xylem and phloem vessels where metals are biaccumulated in their leaves, stems, fruits, grains and roots. These high concentrations of metals in dumpsite soils may also result in higher level of metal uptake by plants (Ebony *et al.*, 2008). A critical examination of metals level in dumpsites show the extinct to which plants found on them are exposed to these metals (Opaluwa *et al.*, 2012).

As was found to be high in lettuce leaves and fruits from SUA and AYE which are urban dumpsites than from KYE a rural dumpsites. As is not a plant nutrient (Ngange *et al.*, 2013) and as a result has no nutritional value for plants and animals (Amadi *et al.*, 2010), so their higher levels in urban dumpsites soil and subsequent absorption by plantain in urban dumpsite soils than found in rural dumpsite plantain is due to the fact that, inhabitants in the cities feeding habits and lifestyle conditions like disposal of As bearing wastes strongly contributes to higher As levels in urban dumpsites. As in plantain leaves were in the range of 3.16 - 8.29 mgkg⁻¹, plantain fruits ranged from 1.74 - 8.30 mgkg⁻¹ were below 0.5 - 20 mgkg⁻¹ (FAO/WHO, 2011); normal range in plants at 0.02 - 7 mgkg⁻¹ and critical plant concentration at 5 - 20 mgkg⁻¹ (Table 2.6) by Radojevic and Bashkin (2006), an indication that, As in plantain leaves and fruits in the plantain samples were safe for human and animal consumption as food or as a drug.

Cocoyam corms sampled from SUA dumpsite recorded a lower As level than in cocoyam corms from MED a background sample (Tables 4.13 and 4.14). This difference may be explained by sandy clay loam texture of MED a dumpsite soil, as compare to the sandy texture of SUA a background soil (Table 4.8). The larger pore space and lower sorption capacity cause sandy soils to weakly absorb heavy metals unlike clay soils with high sorption capacities that play an important role in metals absorption by plants (Alamgir, 2017). Sheoran *et al.* (2010) further explained that, trace elements retainability is higher in fine - textured soils (clay and clay loam) as compare to coarse – textured soils (sand) due to the presence of more pore spaces in sand.

As levels were generally higher in the remaining cocoyam leaves and corms sampled from dumpsites, KYE, SUA and AYE than found in their background cocoyam parts sampled from UEW, MED and KNUST, (Tables 4.13 and 4.14). This observation may be explained with the reason that, most edible crops may not be selective in absorbing essential and non - essential plant nutrients. This finding is in line with a report that, most edible crops are indiscriminate in their extraction of both non - desirable and the required essential nutrients

to man, which may cause blood and bone disorders, kidney damage, decreased mental capacity (NIEHS, 2004; Ogunmodede and Adewole, 2015). Also the use of dumpsites soil as fertile grounds for the cultivation of crops results in increased uptake of heavy metals either as mobile ions or through foliar absorption (Amusan *et al.*, 2005).

As levels were mostly higher in cocoyam leaves from most of the study sites than in cocoyam corms (Tables 4.13 and 4.14). Singh *et al.* (2013) attributed such differences to how most of the leafy vegetables used for cultivation especially on dumpsites soil are hyper accumulators of most of the non - essential heavy metals.

As in cocoyam leaves were in the range of (1.74 - 8.30 mgkg⁻¹), cocoyam corms (2.75 - 12.29 mgkg⁻¹) were however above the normal concentration levels in plants at 0.02 - 7 mgkg⁻¹ as normal range in plants (Table 2.6) by Radojevic and Bashkin (2006); 30 mgkg⁻¹ in food, 0.5 - 20 mgkg⁻¹ as normal As level in plants (Table 2.5) by FAO / WHO (2011).

The highest As level (12.29 mgkg⁻¹) recorded was found in cocoyam corm from SUA Kumasi dumpsite (Table 4.14) were within the acceptable toxic level of range 5 - 20 mgkg⁻¹ as critical plant concentration (Table 2.6) by Radojevic and Bashkin (2006). This result shows that, cocoyam corms from SUA Kumasi dumpsite although recorded the highest As level, cocoyam part is safe for grazing animals and human consumption.

5.2.3.7 Cd levels in plantain and cocoyam

The sampled plantain leaves and fruits from KYE, SUA and AYE recorded higher Cd levels than in UEW, MED and KNUST (Tables 4.11 and 4.12) are some distances away from their

dumpsites (Ukpong *et al.*, 2013; Amos - Tautau *et al.*, 2014; Olufunmilayo *et al.*, 2014; Tanee and Eshami - Mario, 2015) showed that, plantain leaves and fruits sampled have the ability to absorb heavy metals from dumpsite soils than from background soils and they correlated with the metals in the soil (Tables 4.9 and 4.10) (Iniobong and Uduakobong, 2017).

Higher levels of Cd were recorded plantain leaves than in fruits and such difference may be attributed to the different parts of a plant which may contain different levels of heavy metals. Natasa *et al.* (2015) share a similar report that, different plant parts may contain different heavy metals, and their distribution in plants is quite heterogenous and is controlled by genetic environment and toxic factors. Guala *et al.* (2001) have also attributed the Cd levels in plantain parts as a result of the dynamics of heavy metals in plant - soil interactions which depend mainly on the level of soil contamination and plant species.

Cd levels in plantain leaves were in the range of $4.45 - 6.43 \text{ mgkg}^{-1}$, plantain fruits range $(3.63 - 6.41 \text{ mgkg}^{-1})$ were above 0.10 mgkg⁻¹ (Table 2.4) by Chiroma *et al.* (2014); 2.4 mgkg⁻¹ (Table 2.5) by FAO / WHO (2011); 0.1 - 2.4 mgkg⁻¹ (Table 2.6) by Radojevic and Bashkin (2006); 0.02 mgkg⁻¹ (Shal *et al.*, 2011); 0.35 mgkg⁻¹ (WHO, 2007) but were within a critical plant concentration range of 5 - 30 mgkg⁻¹ (Table 2.6) by Radojevic and Bashkin (2006) an indication that plantain leaves and fruits are safe for human and animal consumption.

Cd levels were generally higher in cocoyam leaves and corms sampled from KYE, SUA and AYE dumpsites than in UEW, MED and KNUST background sites (Tables 4.13 and 4.14). Such observation may be as a result of higher metal levels in dumpsites soil (Tables 4.9 and 4.10) which might have accumulated Cd in the cocoyam leaves corms. A similar finding was reported with an increased uptake of metals either as mobile ions or through foliar absorption (Amusa *et al.*, 2005) of metals in plants sampled from dumpsites. Also dumpsites are known to contain heavy metals and they are brought about as a result of disposal of Cd bearing wastes and when leached, end up in plants through absorption without discrimination. This result is in line with a report that, most edible crops are indiscriminate in their extraction of essential and non - essential nutrients which may cause bone and blood and bone disorders (NIEHS, 2004; Ogunmodede and Adewole, 2015).

Cd in cocoyam leaves were in the range of 3.63 - 6.41 mgkg⁻¹ and cocoyam corms 4.28 - 5.36 mgkg⁻¹ were above 0.1 - 2.4 mgkg⁻¹ as normal range in plants (Table 2.6) by Radojevic and Bashkin (2006); 0.35 mgkg⁻¹ (WHO, 2007); 0.02 mgkg⁻¹ (Table 2.8) by WHO (2009); 1 - 2.4 mgkg⁻¹ as normal range in food and plants (Table 2.5) FAO / WHO (2011); 0.1 mgkg⁻¹ (Table 2.4) by Chiroma *et al.* (2014). The highest Cd level (6.41 mgkg⁻¹) recorded was found in cocoyam leaves sampled from SUA (Table 4.11) were within the critical plant concentration range of 5 - 30 mgkg⁻¹ (Table 2.6) by Radojevic and Bashkin (2006); 5.20 mgkg⁻¹ in cocoyam corms and 7.30 mgkg⁻¹ in cocoyam leaves (Table 2.2) by Ogunmodede and Adewole (2015). This result shows that, cocoyam leaves even from SUA is still safe for animal and human consumption.

5.2.3.8 Hg levels in plantain and cocoyam

Hg levels in sampled plantain leaves and fruits from KYE, SUA and AYE recorded higher values than in UEW, MED and KNUST (Tables 4.11 and 4.12). This is in agreement with the findings of Ebong et al. (2008) who attributed such differences to the high metal contents in dumpsite soils (Tables 4.9 and 4.10) which are eventually accumulated by the plants grown on them. The high Hg levels in plantain leaves and fruits from the dumpsite soils may be linked to the absorbed plantain nutrients in response to concentration gradient and selective uptake of ions by diffusion (Peralta - Videa et al., 2009). The higher levels of Hg in plantain may also be linked to transpiration process, which plays a significant role in trace elements accumulation in plants (Gupta et al., 2019), and this conforms to the finding by Hao et al. (2012) that, when transpiration flourishes, plant accumulates more trace elements and its enrichment capacity is also stronger. In addition, higher Hg levels in plantain leaves and fruits may also be attributed to the soluble nature of Hg species present in the soil environment and it agrees with finding by Ukpong et al. (2013) that, for plant root uptake of heavy metals to occur, soluble species must exist adjacent to the root membrane for some finite period.

Plantain leaves in Hg levels were in the range of 3.89 - 6.95 mgkg⁻¹, plantain fruits (3.83 - 7.41 mgkg⁻¹) were above 0.005 - 0.17 mgkg⁻¹; 1 - 3 mgkg⁻¹ (Table 2.6) as the normal range in plants and critical plant concentration respectively by Radojevic and Bashkin (2006). This is a matter of concern because Hg has been reported to be toxic in all life forms even at low concentrations because it causes anomalies in functions of the living organism especially in greater quantities (Manahan, 2001). These plantain leaves and fruits sampled from the refuse

dumpsites may be toxic to grazing animals and human using plantain leaves and fruit as food and for medicinal purposes.

Cocoyam leaves and corms sampled from KYE, SUA and AYE dumpsites recorded higher Hg levels than in samples from UEW, MED and KNUST background sites (Tables 4.13 and 4.14). This bears a resemblance of plants with a natural taste for metals which also has toxic effects on plants, human and grazing animals due to metals non - biodegradable nature. Achazai *et al.* (2011) have similarly attributed such differences in Hg accumution in cocoyam plant parts by the fact that, plants have natural propensity to take up metals. In addition, the levels of Hg found in cocoyam corms and leaves sampled from dumpsites compared with background's samples might be due to certain soil physicochemical factors. Amusan and Olawale (2005) share a similar finding that, the rate of metal uptake by plants could be influenced by metal species, plant species, soil pH, CEC, organic matter, soil texture (Table 4.8) and interaction among the target elements. Also, plants absorption of both essential and non - essential elements from the soil is may be in respond to concentration gradient and selective uptake of ions or by diffusion (Peralta - Videa *et al.*, 2009).

Hg levels were mostly higher in cocoyam leaves from most of the study sites than in cocoyam corms (Tables 4.13 and 4.14). This observation may be explain by the fact that, different plant parts contain different heavy metals (Natasa *et al.*, 2015) because plants absorb heavy metals from the soil through the root and from the atmosphere through above ground vegetative organs (Mmolowa *et al.*, 2011).

Hg levels in cocoyam leaves were in the range of 3.27 - 7.41 mgkg⁻¹ and cocoyam corms 3.82 - 7.83 mgkg⁻¹ were above 0.005 - 0.17 mgkg⁻¹ as normal range of Hg in plants; 1 - 3 mgkg⁻¹ as critical plant concentration (Table 2.6) by Radojevic and Bashkin (2006). The highest Hg level (7.83 mgkg⁻¹) was recorded in cocoyam corms sampled from KYE (Table 4.13). As a non -essential metal element, Hg uptake and subsequent accumulation along the food chain is a potential threat to animal and human health (Sprynskyy *et al.*, 2007). This result shows that, cocoyam leaves samples from SUA, cocoyam corms from KYE are not fit for human and farm animals consumption as food or for medicinal purposes due to Hg contamination.

5.2.3.9 Pb levels in plantain and cocoyam

Pb levels were in higher in plantain leaves and fruits from KYE, SUA and AYE dumpsites than plantain samples from UEW, MED and KNUST (Tables 4.11 and 4.12). This may be explain by the fact that, the absorption of heavy metals in plants differs from one metal to other. This report conforms to a finding by Yadav *et al.* (2018) that, an uptake and accumulation ability of different trace elements is dissimilar in different vegetables. As a result, crops generally accumulate trace metals due to differences in physiology, morphology and anatomy of each plant, leaf inclination angle and branch density (Shahid *et al.*, 2016).

Pb levels differences between dumpsites and background sampled plantain parts may be due to easier foliar accumulation of metal ions in plants. Roth - Nebel (2014) attributed such differences to the fact that, penetration of metals in leaf through stomata pathway is generally easier because the cuticle of the sub - stomata cells is comparatively thinner as compare to external one. These differences in Pb levels may be due to small metal particles that can diffuse through both the stomata and cuticle pathways to enter a plant (Xiong *et al.*, 2014).

Pb level in plantain leaves were in the range of 2.65 - 4.55 mgkg⁻¹ and plantain fruits (2.18 - 36.15 mgkg⁻¹) were above the normal range of Pb in food at 2 mgkg⁻¹ (WHO, 2009; FAO / WHO, 2011); control site fruits Pb level (1.13 mgkg⁻¹) by Iniobong and Uduakobong (2017). The highest Pb (36.15 mgkg⁻¹) level recorded in plantain fruit from SUA Kumasi dumpsite (Table 4.12) was above the normal range in plants at 0.2 - 20 by Radojevic and Bashkin (2006); 0.50 - 30 mgkg⁻¹ (FAO / WHO, 2011); dumpsite fruits Pb range (7.63 - 8.67 mgkg⁻¹) by Iniobong and Uduakobong (2017). The Pb concentrations were within critical plant concentration range of 30 - 300 mgkg⁻¹ (Table 2.6) by Radojevic and Bashkin (2006); 100 mgkg⁻¹ (WHO, 2007) above which plant toxicity is likely, however, the concentrations of Pb in plantain leaves and fruits make it safe for human and animal consumption.

Cocoyam leaves and corms sampled from KYE, SUA and AYE dumpsites were generally higher in Pb than in UEW, MED and KNUST background sites (Tables 4.13 and 4.14). Such a difference was expected because dumpsites soil receives considerable wastes and as a result may be accumulated in plants found on them. Zhang *et al.* (2002) affirms this assertion. Pb is not biodegradable and as a result, even at low concentrations, Pb may have

toxic effects on living organisms at certain level of concentration (Ogunmodede and Adewole, 2015). This level of Pb in cocoyam plants parts as recorded confirm that, there is a very narrow range between Pb concentrations which are beneficial or toxic with respect to the effects of metals (Tchounwou *et al.*, 2008). Pb levels were found to be mostly higher in cocoyam leaves from most of the study sites than in cocoyam corms (Tables 4.13 and 4.14). This finding supports an earlier report by Natasa *et al.* (2015) that, different plant parts contain different heavy metals.

Pb level in cocoyam leaves were in the range of 2.18 - 36.15 mgkg⁻¹ and cocoyam corms (2.50 -3.50 mgkg⁻¹) were above 2.00 mgkg⁻¹ in food (Table 2.5) by FAO / WHO (2011). Also, the highest Pb level (36.15 mgkg⁻¹) recorded was found in cocoyam leaf from SUA Kumasi dumpsite (Table 4.13) were within 46.04 mgkg⁻¹ in cocoyam corms; 30.01 mgkg⁻¹ in cocoyam leaves (Table 2.2) by Ogunmodede and Adewole (2015); 0.5 - 30 mgkg⁻¹ as normal range in plant (Table 2.5) by FAO / WHO (2011); 0.5 - 20 mgkg⁻¹ as normal range in plants and 30 - 300 mgkg⁻¹ as critical plant concentration (Table 2.6) by Radojevic and Bashkin (2006). This result is an indication that, cocoyam corms and leaves especially sampled from SUA Kumasi dumpsite is safe for humans and animal consumption as food or medicinal purposes.

5.2.4 Relationship between soil physicochemical properties and soil total heavy metals at the studied sites

5.2.4.1 Relationships among the selected soil heavy metals

A correlation analysis studies among the soil metals in the selected studied soils showed a positive relationships among some metals (Table 4.15). The presence of certain trace elements affects the total metals level of other metals in the soil (Gupta *et al.*, 2019). Cu and Ni positively and highly significantly (r = 0.96, p = 0.01) correlated well though they may compete for the same membrane carriers in plants (Clarkson and Luttge, 1989) an indication that, Cu and Ni might have come from the same source of contamination. Similarly, Zn and Ni positively and highly significantly (r = 0.95, p = 0.01) correlated well. Similarly, Zn and Cu (r = 0.98, p = 0.01), Zn and Fe (r = 0.51, p = 0.04), As and Cu (r = 0.53, p = 0.03), Cr and Cd (r = 0.47, p = 0.05), Pb and As (r = -0.72, p = 0.01), Pb and Hg (r = 0.59, p = 0.01).

The general significant relationships among Zn and Ni, Zn and Cu, Zn and Fe, As and Cu, Cr and Cd, Pb and As are expected although, the presence of certain trace elements affect the availability of other metals in the soil (Table 4.18) as reported by Gupta *et al.* (2019). Zn correlated with Ni, Cu, Fe, and As but not Pb. This finding might be due to how these metals compete for the same membrane carriers in plants (Clarkson and Luttge, 1989). Also, Cr and Cd did not correlate with Pb and this might be due to their antagonistic effect on the availability of Pb (Orronoa et al., 2012) in soils. Pb significant relationship with As and Hg in this study is expected and might be due to an interaction between Pb and other metals availability which might prevented that significant relationship. This result might have resulted in a reduced form of these metals especially with Cd, Cr, Cu, Ni and Zn (Table

4.15) was due to antagonistic effect (Orronoa *et al., 2002*), thus exist among trace elements (Chibuike and Obiora, 2014) because, the presence of one trace element may affect the presence of another, and even different species of some metals may also affect each other (Abedin *et al.,* 2002).

Metals like Cr and Fe, and Cu, Cr and Zn, and others were not significantly correlated (Table 4.15) may be due to antagonistic and synergistic behavior that exists among trace elements (Chibuike and Obiora, 2014). These results showed that the correlated soil heavy metals (Cr and Cd, Fe and Zn, Ni and Cu, Cu and As, Zn and As, As and Pb, Hg and Pb) among themselves is an indication that, these metals might have come from the same sources of soil contamination with special reference to their enrichment factor (Tables 4.27 and 4.28) and how the availability of one of them might affect the availability of another (Chibuike and Obiora, 2014).

5.2.4.2 Relationships between soil pH, SOM, CEC, soil clay content, soil available P and selected soil heavy metals

5.2.4.1 Relationship between soil pH and selected heavy metals

Results on the extent of relationship from a linear regression analysis prediction showed that soil pH positively and significantly ($r^2 = 0.26$, p = 0.02) influenced soil Fe levels in the studied soils (Table 4.16). The soil pH influence may be attributed to the fact that, soil pH (Table 4.8) affects metals level in soil. This result conforms to report that, soil pH is considered as a great effect of any single factor on solubility or retention of metals in soils (Ghosh and Singh, 2005; Alloway, 2012). Soil pH is found as one of the most considered

and an influencing factor that affect soil metals availability (Aduani, 2001; Bolon *et al.*, 2013; Selim, 2013). The weakly basic soil pH conditions (Table 4.8) might have enabled functional groups present in soil organic matter to dissociate thereby increasing the bioavailability of Fe in the soil. Fine *et al.* (2005) affirm this result in their earlier studies. The soil pH conditions in KYE, UEW, SUA and KNUST (Table 4.8) might have also accounted for the increased mobility of a positively charged heavy metals like Fe as a result of proton competition causing decreases in the negative binding sites (Horckmans *et al.*, 2007). Proshad *et al.* (2018) shared a similar view that at low soil pH (< 5), solubility of hazardous elements are increased.

5.2.4.2 Relationship between soil organic matter and selected heavy metals

Total soil organic matter (SOM) positively and significantly influenced soil Ni level ($r^2 = 0.94$, p = 0.01); soil Cu level ($r^2 = 0.96$, p = 0.01) and soil Zn level ($r^2 = 0.94$, p = 0.01) (Table 4.16). This relationships were expected because, soil organic matter contains a humid substance or humus which comprised of humic and fulvic acids (Gupta *et al.*, 2019) and as a result may reduce or increase the bioavailability of heavy metals in soil through immobilization or mobilization by forming various insoluble heavy metal organic complexes (Alamgir, 2017) to influence the concentration levels of Ni, Cu and Zn in the studied soils. The organic matter of the studied soils (Table 4.8) ranged from values above critical limit as medium (2.1 - 3.0%) to > 3.1% (high) (Enzezer *et al.*, 1988) as a result of organic wastes mostly found in dumpsite soils (Odai *et al.*, 2008). On the contrary, soil organic matter did not significantly correlate well with some of the heavy metals and this

conforms to an earlier work by McBride *et al.* (2015) who had earlier recorded lower correlation of soil organic matter with metals like Pb and As.

5.2.4.3 Relationship between soil cation exchange capacity and selected heavy metals

Cation exchange capacity (CEC) is a factor that plays a vital role in the availability of metals in soil (Gupta *et al.*, 2019). CEC positively and significantly influenced soil total Ni level (r^2 = 0.79, p = 0.01); soil total Cu level (r^2 = 0.90, p = 0.01); soil total Zn level (r^2 = 0.79, p = 0.01) and soil total As level ($r^2 = 0.26$, p = 0.01). The significant influence of CEC on Ni, Cu, Zn and As (Table 4.16) might be linked to the sand fractions in KYE, UEW and SUA and sand clay loam in MED which recorded comparatively higher CEC in studied site soils as compare to lower CEC loamy sands in AYE and KNUST (Table 4.8), might have contributed in making the metals bonded to the soils studied. Bhargava et al. (2012) share a similar view that, soils with low CEC such as sand has less binding power to metals and other cations as compare to soils with high CEC such as clay. Gupta et al. (2019) also reported that, CEC levels increase concomitantly with increasing soil clay content (Table 4.8), while the soil metal ions decrease as in the case of Cu and As levels (Tables 4.9 and 4.10). The comparative lower levels of soil Cu and As could also be explain by the soils' lower capacity to absorb heavy metals and that, CEC (Fontes et al., 2000; Harter and Naidu, 2001) if higher, could have also contributed for more exchange sites of soil minerals which as a result was present without necessary being available in soil solution.

5.2.4.4 Relationship between soil clay content and selected heavy metals

Soil texture and mineral types play an important role in mobility of metals in soil and it reflects the relative amounts of sand, silt and clay particles in a soil (Alamgir, 2017). Clay

content positively and significantly influenced soil total Cr ($r^2 = 0.29$, p = 0.02) and Fe levels ($r^2 = 0.37$, p = 0.01) (Table 4.16). This observation is due to the fact that, clay influenced soil Cr and Fe levels in studied soils because, a high sand textured soil has been found to contain less metal binding sites as compare to clay with high CEC and high metal binding sites (Bhargava *et al.*, 2012). These results confirm why soil Cr and Fe levels were influenced due to the low clay fractions in the soils studied (Table 4.8). This reason is similar to a report by Gupta *et al.* (2019) that, metals availability may be influenced by clay content as the solubility and availability of trace elements is highest in loam sand followed by clay loam and lastly fine - textured clay soils. The higher correlation between metals (Table 4.16) and high metals level in the studied soils (Tables 4.9 and 4.10) may be linked to a report by Sheoran *et al.* (2010) that, trace elements retainability is highest in fine - textured soils (clay and clay loam) as compared with coarse - textured soils (sand) due to the presence of more pore spaces in sand.

5.2.4.4 Relationship between soil available P and selected heavy metals

Soil available P positively and significantly influenced soil Cd levels ($r^2 = 0.44$, p = 0.01) (Table 4.16). This result indicated that, soil available levels contributed to 44 % of variations in Cd levels while the remaining 56 % might have been caused by other factors. This result is similar to an earlier studies that indicated the possibility of combined effects of soil properties on metals sorption and desorption (Harter and Naidu, 2001; Appel and Ma, 2002; Dutta *et al.*, 2011).

5.3 Study Three: - Evaluation of heavy metals contamination in dumpsite soils and accumulation in selected plants under field conditions in a pot experiment

5.3.1 Physicochemical properties of soils in pots under field conditions

The soil physicochemical analytical results generally had improved soil properties on dumpsite soils than on background soils with bulk density, soil pH, total organic matter, total nitrogen, and soil available phosphorus (Table 4.17) and this could be attributed to the materials emanating from the municipal and metropolis solid and liquid wastes deposited on the soil and it affirms to a report by Krishna *et al.* (2016). Soil bulk density results (Table 4.17) were lower in the dumpsites soils than in background soils with no significant (p = 0.88; p = 0.64) difference and may be attributed to the textural class of the studied soils. This result conforms to an earlier report by Tripathy and Misra (2012) that, soil texture plays a very important function by influencing other physical parameters of the soil.

The lowest soil pH of SUA was slightly acidic as compare to slightly basic MED may be related to the textural differences between these two study soils (Table 4.8). Oyedele *et al.* (2008) share a similar finding by attributing such soil pH differences to differences in biological activity, temperature and disposal of municipal wastes on dumpsites. Slightly basic KYE and AYE as compare to slightly acidic UEW and KNUST shows an important quality feature of a natural soil as reported by Umar *et al.* (2016). Improved soil total organic carbon, total organic matter, total nitrogen, soil available phosphorus, exchangeable cations (Ca, Mg, K and Na), exchangeable acidity, cation exchange capacity and base saturation on KYE, SUA and AYE than in UEW, MED and KNUST (Table 4.8) show a high nutrient rich property in dumpsite soils than background soils due to the presence of

organic wastes dumped on dumpsites after decay might have contributed to the essential nutrients in the dumpsites soils. This finding conforms to an earlier report that dumpsite soils are known to be rich in soil nutrient for plant growth and development (Ogunmodede and Adewole, 2015) and that could be related to decayed and composted wastes found on dumpsite that enhance the fertility (Ogunyemi *et al.*, 2003) of dumpsites soils. Such soils which support plant growth and production contain essential mineral materials (Uma *et al.*, 2016) and these essential plant nutrients might have been released from the wastes found on dumpsites after decomposition (Anikwe and Nwobodo, 2001). Also, the essential mineral materials from wastes help to increase nitrogen, pH, CEC, base saturation and organic matter. Higher soil organic matter levels in (Table 4.8) dumpsite soils may be as a result of high organic matter contents especially in dumpsite soils might have accumulated from subsequent decomposition of plant residue waste materials as reported by Gairola and Soni (2010).

5.3.2 Heavy metals level in soils in pots under field conditions

5.3.2.1 Cr levels in soils in pots under field conditions

Cr levels before planting and after planting of lettuce in pots were generally higher in dumpsite soils than in background soils under field conditions (Table 4.18). Chromium (Cr) levels were generally higher in KYE, SUA and AYE dumpsite soils than in UEW, MED and KNUST background soils (Table 4.18). This observation could be explain with the fact that, although Cr is less mobile, it may become mobile in a compound form through environmental disposition or human waste disposal on dumpsites at Mampong municipal

and Kumasi metropolis. This may have contributed to the differences in contamination even on background soils. Wuana and Okieimen (2011) shared a similar report that, Cr is one of the less mobile elements which does not occur naturally in elemental form but only in compounds, also, Cr mobility may also depend on sorption characteristics of the soil, including clay content, iron oxide content and organic matter. Comparatively higher metal contamination in dumpsites soil than in background soils in pots could be due to variability in soil properties on dumpsites which conforms to a report by Engege and Lemoha (2012) that, dumpsite soils show variability in soil properties.

Soil pH values (Table 4.17) recorded in the soils studied were mostly higher in dumpsite soils than in their background soils might have influenced Cr levels (Table 4.19). This result is supported by a report by Horckmans *et al.* (2007) that, under alkaline (high pH) conditions, functional groups present in soil organic matter dissociate, and according to Fine *et al.* (2005), this increases the bioavailability of heavy metals bound to organic matter. This finding did not conform to a report that, with an increasing soil pH, the solubility of most trace elements will decrease leading to low concentration in soil solution (Kabata - Pendias, 2011). However, metal availability is relatively low when pH is around 6.5 - 7 (Adelekan and Alawode, 2011). Cr is one of the metal nutrient element required by plants in the soil in trace amounts for their physiological processes (Ehi and Uzu, 2011) but Cr levels in most dumpsites and background sites were higher (Tabls 4.19) than the world's soil average level (59.50 mgkg⁻¹) as reported by Onyedika (2015) and this suggest a possible anthropogenic source of chromium in the study sites.
The textural class for KYE, UEW and SUA were sandy, MED is sandy clay loam, while AYE and KNUST are loamy sand and that may have influenced the metals level in soils as explained by Sheoran *et al.* (2016) that, trace elements retainability is higher in fine - textured soils (clay and clay loam) as compared with coarse - textured soils (sand). Gupta *et al.* (2019) shared a similar view. High Cr levels in the dumpsite soils might be explain by the fact that, under increased pH conditions, functional groups present in the soil organic matter dissociates thereby increasing the bioavailability of heavy metals that are bound to organic matter (Fine *et al.*, 2005).

The highest Cr level recorded (87.64 mgkg⁻¹) in KYE before planting (Table 4.16) and at harvest (61.13 mgkg⁻¹) in KYE (Table 4.17) were above the critical concentration (Table 2.6) 5 - 30 mgkg⁻¹ but were within the 5 - 1500 mgkg⁻¹ by Radojevic and Baskin (2006). Cr general mobility were above (Table 2.8) 70 mgkg⁻¹ (2007); 1.30 mgkg⁻¹ (WHO (2009). This is an indication that, as an essential element Cr levels recorded is within the acceptable level of toxicity.

5.3.2.2 Fe levels in soils in pots under field conditions

Fe levels were generally higher in KYE, SUA and AYE than Fe levels in UEW, MED and KNUST before and after planting lettuce in pots (Table 4.18). Fe is an essential and an abundant metal elements (Onyedika, 2015) was generally higher in dumpsite soils than in background soils in a highly significant (p = 0.01) difference from each other. The higher Fe levels in the dumpsites than in the background soils might be due to the abundant nature of Fe in soils in addition to its concentration which has no limit conform to a report by Hameed

et al. (2013) that, Fe is abundance in soils so it has no concentration limit in soils. Higher Fe levels in dumpsites than in background soils could also be linked to iron compounds among wastes found on dumpsites might have added up to Fe levels, leading to higher Fe levels in the dumpsite soils. This result agrees with a report by Onyedika (2015) that, major sources of Fe are the iron oxides such as minerals hematite, magnetite and taconite which are commonly found on dumpsites. Furthermore, higher Fe levels in dumpsite soils than in background soils could be attributed to the fact that, the accumulation of higher Fe levels on dumpsite soils may be due to the presence of metallic substance in the earth crust, as well as Fe bearing wastes (Olayiwola *et al.*, 2017). Also, the higher Fe levels in dumpsite soils conforms to a similar study where accumulation of heavy metals are concentrated at the soil - surface than the sub - surface (Amadi *et al.*, 2012; Olalode *et al.*, 2014).

The difference between Fe levels in dumpsite soils and their background (Table 4.18) soils may be linked to the relatively high soil pH (Table 4.17) levels in the background soils and that might have increased metal sorption rates. This difference agrees with the fact that, when pH falls below 5, metals mobility is enhanced as a result of the increased proton concentration (Mclaughlin *et al.*, 2000; Paulose *et al.*, 2007). Shah *et al.* (2013) have also explained that, Fe is the most abundant and an essential constituent for all plants and animals. However, higher Fe levels in KYE (9661.97 mgkg⁻¹) than in UEW (9661.97 mgkg⁻¹) may further be explained by the fact that, soil pH (Table 4.14) in especially SUA was acidic as compared to an alkaline pH medium in the dumpsite soils and Alamgir (2017) has described such differences by the fact that, at acidic pH medium, more protons (H⁺) are available to saturate metal binding sites; therefore, metals are less likely to form insoluble

precipitates. On ther hand, Fine *et al.* (2005) have described a situation where under alkaline (increase pH) conditions functional groups present in soil organic matter, dissociate, thereby increasing the bioavailability of metals bound to organic matter, an evidence that there is a possible combined effects of soil properties on metals sorption and desorption (Harter and Naidu, 2001; Appel and Ma, 2002; Dutta *et al.*, 2011).

Lower Fe levels before planting in UEW (12330.58 mgkg⁻¹) (Table 4.15) and at harvest (12644.48 mgkg⁻¹) (Table 4.19) were higher than Fe levels recorded in UEW, MED and KNUST as similarly reported by Olowookere *et al.* (2018). Fe levels recorded before planting lettuce in pots and at harvest (Table 4.18) were above (Table 2.5) 48 mgkg⁻¹ (FAO/WHO, 2011); 10 - 100 mgkg⁻¹ (Table 2.7) by WHO/FAO (2001) but within the 5000 - 100 000 mgkg⁻¹ normal range of metals in soils by Radojevic and Baskin (2006) (Table 2.6).

5.3.2.3 Ni levels in soils in pots under field conditions

Ni levels were generally higher KYE, SUA and AYE than in UEW, MED and KNUST in studied soils in pots before planting and after planting (Table 4.18). These differences in Ni levels are expected due to an increased soil pH in KYE as compare to soil pH in UEW (Table 4.17). A similar report by Fine *et al.* (2005) explained that, under alkaline (increased soil pH) conditions, functional groups present in soil organic matter, dissociate, thereby increasing the bioavailability of heavy metals that are bound to organic matter. Higher Ni levels in dumpsites soil than in background soils may also be due to the widely distributed nature of Ni in the environment andas a result may be released from both natural sources and anthropogenic activity with input from both stationary and mobile sources (Orji *et al.*,

2018). Furthermore, higher Ni levels recorded in dumpsite soils may also be linked to the type of Ni bearing wastes found on dumpites within municipal and metropolis studied. This observation is confirmed by Alloway (1995) who discussed that, many domestic cleaning products such as soap (100 - 700 mgkg⁻¹) and powdered bleach (800 mgkg⁻¹) may prove to be important sources of nickel in urban soil. Also, other sources of nickel may include food stuffs such as chocolate, automobile batteries and various paint wastes (Onyedika, 2015) periodically dumped on these sites. The concentration of Ni in SUA and AYE, all within a metropolis, recorded higher Ni levels than in KYE - a rural community within Mampong municipal. Such differences are expected because of the type of disposed material from mechanical shops and surrounding houses. This result agrees with a reason that Ni finds its way into the ambient air as a result of the combustion of coal, diesel oil and fuel oil and the incineration of waste and sewage (Cempel et al., 2006). Also, higher Ni levels in the dumpsites as compare to background soils could be linked to higher population and industrial activities in cities which most often lead to higher production of assorted waste than in the rural settlements. Agyarko et al. (2010) share a similar report. Also, a major use of Ni as a raw material in steel and other metal products could also have contributed to the high amount of Ni (Wuana and Raymond, 2011) bearing products which might have translated into high Ni levels in SUA.

The Ni concentration in SUA before planting (82.74 mgkg⁻¹) (Table 4.18) and at harvest (96.11 mgkg⁻¹) (Table 4.19) with the highest Ni levels were above 20 mgkg⁻¹ by Alloway (1995); 50 mgkg⁻¹ (Table 2.7) by WHO/FAO (2001); 16.52 - 17.24 mgkg⁻¹ in an automobile mechanic waste dump soil in Nigeria by Iwegbue *et al.* (2006); 10.00 mgkg⁻¹ (Table 2.8) by

WHO/FAO (2007) and 50.00 mgkg⁻¹ by WHA/FAO (2009); 89.76 - 118.35 mgkg⁻¹ on dumpsites soil and 20.08 mgkg⁻¹ on control soil by Ogunmodede *et al.* (2015); but was within a polluted soil range of 200 - 2600 mgkg⁻¹ and that of overall range of 10 - 1000 mgkg⁻¹ found in natural soil (Izosimora, 2005); High Ni levels in SUA was also within 2 - 750 mgkg⁻¹ (Table 2.6) by Radojevic and Baskin (2006), while the remaining Ni levels in the dumpsites and background soils were within the allowable concentration levels especially Ni levels in UEW, MED and KNUST, as in unpolluted soils but were above (Table 4.18) 34 mgkg⁻¹ of Ni reported by Kabata - Pendias and Pendias (2001) as the calculated world's mean Ni level in unpolluted soil. Ni is an essential trace element for human and animal health (Zighan Hassan *et al.*, 2012), so Ni concentrations in the selected studied sites might be toxic even at low concentrations (Aekola *et al.*, 2012).

5.3.2.4 Cu levels in soils in pots under field conditions

Cu levels recorded before planting and after planting in pots were highest in most dumpsites soil than background soils in pots under field conditions (Table 4.18). Cu, an essential metal element was generally higher in dumpsite soils than in their background soils (Table 4.18) especially in SUA before planting (5659.17 mgkg⁻¹), at harvest (96.11 mgkg⁻¹). Such Cu levels in dumpsite soils might have been influenced by the natural occurrence of Cu in some soils which is derived from anthropogenic activities such as the use of copper containing fungicides, urban wastes management and industrial activity (Giovani *et al.*, 2005). Also, higher Cu concentrations in SUA and AYE within a metropolitan may be attributed to higher population and industrial activities in cities and municipalities which could have led to higher production of assorted wastes than in the rural settlements (Agyarko *et al.*, 2010). Some of the reasons might also be due to the differences in living standards, consumption patterns and level of industrial development between cities and rural communities (Ebong *et al.*, 2008). Cu accumulation though high on dumpsite soils (Table 4.18), is a necessity for many enzymes (Shah *et al.*, 2013; Ngange *et al.*, 2013) and also doubles as a macro nutrient for plants (Ngange *et al.*, 2013) in addition to its numerous applications due to its physical properties (Hameed *et al.*, 2013). Soil pH recorded between 6.07 - 9.04 (Table 4.17) was higher than pH 5.5 and might have influenced Cu lower levels in most soils with the exception of SUA and AYE (Table 4.18). Such influence from low soil pH could be linked to a situation where the solubility of Cu is drastically increased at pH 5.5 (Martinez and Motto, 2000).

The high Cu loads in especially SUA and AYE before planting and at harvest was expected because, two dumpsite soils studied were sampled from Kumasi metropolis - a city, and due to the kind of waste disposed, most of the wastes may be mostly Cu bearing wastes as reported by Greany (2005), that, Cu is the third most used metal in the world, as a result accumulates in the surface horizons, a phenomenon explained by the bioaccumulation of the metal and recent anthropogenic sources (Hameed *et al.*, 2013). In addition, anthropogenic activities on rural or sub - urban areas are lower with the disposal of wastes on dumpsites than at metropolitan dumpsites where more wastes are generated as affirmed by Charlesworth *et al.* (2013).

Cu levels before planting were highest (78.64 mgkg⁻¹) in SUA (Table 4.18) and at harvest (124.23 mgkg⁻¹) in SUA (Table 4.19) were, however, above the worlds' scale value of non -

polluted soil of 24.00 mgkg⁻¹ by Pendias and Pendias (2001); 10 mgkg⁻¹ by WHO/FAO (2007); 30.00 mgkg⁻¹ (WHO/FAO, 2011). The highest Cu level although above 100.00 mgkg⁻¹ (WHO/FAO, 2001; Shah *et al.*, 2011) was found below 2 - 250 mgkg⁻¹ by Radojevic and Bashkin (2006). This is an indication that, SUA used to cultivate lettuce in pots under field conditions was within the acceptable limits safe for human health.

5.3.2.5 Zn levels in soils in pots under field conditions

Zn levels recorded were highest in KYE, SUA and AYE in pots under field conditions both before planting and at harvest in pots (Table 4.18) than Zn levels in UEW, MED and KNUST. Such differences observed may be related to Zn accumulation from garden fertilizing activities, traffic and industrial input (Imperato *et al.*, 2003). Furthermore, Zn high concentrations level on dumpsite soils as compared to the background soils could be due to anthropogenic additions on the dumpsites studied as a result of industrial activities such as mining, waste combustion, steel processing couple with dumpsite plants inability to handle these Zn concentrations already in their system through accumulation (Wuana and Okieimen, 2010) might have contributed to the higher Zn values in dumpsite soils.

A comparatively high soil pH (Table 4.17) values recorded on the dumpsite soils might have contributed to the increase in Zn levels because under increased (alkaline) conditions, functional groups present in soil organic matter dissociate, thereby increasing the bioavailability of heavy metals bound to organic matter (Fine *et al.*, 2005). Also, the mobility of Zn in soils is dependent on its speciation, the soil pH and high soil of organic matter content (IPCS, 2001). The combined effect of lower soil pH in SUA as compare to

MED, higher soil organic matter, higher total nitrogen, high exchangeable cations and CEC (Table 4.17) of the dumpsite soils might have contributed to a higher Zn levels. Alamgir (2017) observed that, at acidic pH medium, more protons (H⁺) are available to saturate metal binding sites; therefore, metals are less likely to form insoluble precipitates. Alamgir (2017) and Eze et al. (2018) have also reported that, heavy metals are generally more mobile at pH < 7 than pH > 7. Also, the higher Organic matter in dumpsite soils is reported for reducing or increasing the bioavailability of heavy metals in soil through immobilization or mobilization by forming various insoluble or soluble heavy metal organic complexes (Alamgir, 2017) while the capacity of soils for adsorbing heavy metals is correlated with their CEC (Fontes et al., 2000; Harter and Naidu, 2001). The greater the CEC values, the more exchange sites of soil minerals will be available for metal retention (Alamgir, 2017). These reasons agree with an assertion where several studies have showed the possibility of the combined effects of soil properties on metals sorption and desorption (Harter and Naidu, 2001; Appel and Ma, 2002; Dutta et al., 2011). Zn as an essential plant mineral element for animals too was higher in dumpsite soils than in background soils (Table 4.18). Olowookere et al. (2018) observed a similar difference after recording a higher concentration of Zn at the top soil in a dumpsite soil. Ngange et al. (2013) also recorded Zn concentration ranged from $0.15 - 1.70 \text{ mgkg}^{-1}$ and $0.11 - 1.40 \text{ mgkg}^{-1}$ at the upper part of the soil studied.

Zn levels were highest (5659.17 mgkg⁻¹) in SUA before planting (Table 4.18) and after planting (5464.62 mgkg⁻¹) in SUA (Table 4.19). The values were above 50 mgkg⁻¹ (Table 2.8) by WHO (2009); 60 mgkg⁻¹ (Table 2.5) by FAO/WHO (2011); 76.457 mgkg⁻¹ (Table 2.3) by Kabir *et al.* (2011); 300 mgkg⁻¹ (Table 2.7; 2.8) by WHO/FAO (2001) and Shah *et*

al. (2011); 1 - 900 mgkg⁻¹ (Table 2.6) by Radojevic and Bashkin (2006). These results are indication that, SUA is contaminated with Zn though it is an essential nutrient metal element.

5.3.2.6 As levels in soils in pots under field conditions

As levels recorded were highest KYE, SUA and AYE than in UEW, MED and KNUST soils in pots under field conditions (Table 4.18). Such situations conforms to an earlier report by Mensah et al. (2017), with a reported higher As levels in an e - waste dumpsite in Korle lagoon Accra although at a very close margin as compare to anbackground site. Also such close margin of differences in As levels in dumpites and their background soils might be due to an increase dumpsite soil pH (Table 4.17). This might have decreased the solubility of As in the dumpsite soils (Kabata - Pendias, 2011). The higher As levels in the dumpsite soils than in their background soils could be linked to the use of As bearing heavy metals in several industries in agriculture, domestic and technological applications (Bradi, 2002). The levels of As although very low as compare to metals like mercury, lead, cadmium, silver, chromium and many others. These metals are indirectly distributed as a result of human activities and could be very toxic even at low concentrations and can undergo global ecological circles (Aekola et al., 2012). The higher levels of soil organic matter content in dumpsite soils (Table 4.17) as compare to the background soils could not transmit into higher As levels in dumpsite soils under this condition as expected. This result is similar to a report where no correlation between soil organic matter, As and Pb were established by McBride *et al.* (2015).

As is a non - essential metal element but when found in soils is not only carcinogenic but has no nutritional value for plants and animals (Amadi *et al.*, 2010; Ngange *et al.*, 2013). As concentration were in the range of 13.39 - 21.47 mgkg⁻¹ before planting and at harvest of 9.47 - 17.92 mgkg⁻¹ (Tables 4.15 and 4.16) were within the normal range in soils 0.1 - 40 mgkg⁻¹ (Table 2.6) by Radojevic and Baskin (2006). This is not without any effect even at low concentrations in the soil because plants have a natural propensity to take up metals (Achazai *et al.*, 2011) from the soil. The As levels recorded were above 20 mgkg⁻¹ (Table 2.7) by WHO / FAO (2001); 0.03 mgkg⁻¹ (Ngange *et al.* 2013); 3.67 mgkg⁻¹ in Accra city by Mensah *et al.* (2017); 0.66 mgkg⁻¹ and 0.55 mgkg⁻¹ by Opaluwa *et al.* (2012). The highest As levels before planting (21.47 mgkg⁻¹) in SUA (Table 4.18) and at harvest (17.92 mgkg⁻¹) in SUA (Table 4.19) were higher than 17.08 mgkg⁻¹ (Table 2.5) by FAO/WHO (2011). This is an indication that, As levels were within the acceptable limit in soils studied.

5.3.2.7 Cd levels in soils in pots under field conditions

Cd levels recorded were higher in KYE, SUA and AYE than in UEW, MED and KNUST in pots under field conditions (Table 4.18). The Cd levels in dumpsite soils although higher than in background soils may be linked to the comparatively higher soil pH values (Table 4.17). Kabata - Pandias (2011) similarly explained that, with increasing soil pH the solubility of most trace elements will decrease leading to low concentration in soil solution. Adelekan and Alawole (2011) also reported that, metal availability is relatively low when pH is around 6.5 - 7. This makes soil pH a master variable influencing the physical, chemical and biological properties of soil (Chakraborty, 2015; Neina, 2019). Also, Cd

higher levels in dumpsite soils are expected and may be linked to the disposal of Cd bearing wastes on dumpsites. Nurudeen and Aderibigbe (2013) have confirmed this result with their highly contaminated reported value of Cd at 19.35 mgkg⁻¹ as a result of Cd bearing continuous refuse dumping. The higher Cd levels in the dumpsite soils may also be linked to the age of dumpsites opened for use in the community with the presence of Cd bearing compounds, atmospheric disposition and other related different sources and origin of inorganic waste exposed to the soils. Kisku *et al.* (2000) shared a similar view that, the burning of fossil fuels and tyres, the use of lubrication oils, vehicles wheels, application of solid wastes from industries and home, sewage sludge waste water irrigation and phosphate fertilizer application have also contributed to Cd toxic levels in soils.

Cd levels were highest at 47.31 mgkg⁻¹ in KYE (Table 4.18) and at 30.56 mgkg⁻¹ in SUA (Table 4.19) were higher than normal range of Cd in soils (Table 2.6) at 0.01 - 2 mgkg⁻¹ by Radojevic and Baskin (2006), 3.00 mgkg⁻¹ (Table 2.4; 2.7) (WHO, 2007; Chiroma *et al.*, 2014), 5.633 mgkg⁻¹ (Table 2.3) by Kabir *et al.* (2011). The values recorded in this study need much attention although Cd levels recorded in the soils studied were lower than 103.70 mgkg⁻¹ (Mensah *et al.*, 2017), Cd is extremely toxic even at low concentration (Shah *et al.*, 2013), because Cd is also not known for any essential biological function (Wuana and Okieimen, 2011) and as a result Cd is not required for plants growth (Ngange *et al.*, 2013).

5.3.2.8 Hg levels in soils in pots under field conditions

Hg levels recorded were highest in KYE, SUA and AYE than in UEW, MED and KNUST background soils in pots under field conditions (Table 4.18). Such higher Hg levels in

dumpsite soils in pots before planting and at harvest is expected due to the differences in soil pH values recorded in the study soils (Table 4.17). Sheoran *et al.* (2016) have found that, metal concentration decreases at high pH and increases at low pH values. In addition, heavy metals become more mobile at pH < 7 than pH > 7 (Eze *et al.*, 2018). The combined effect of soil pH and organic matter dynamics could also be linked to higher levels of Hg in dumpsite soils than in background. The soil pH (Table 4.17) differences might have contributed to the mobility of positively charged heavy metals as a result of proton competition with metals and decreased negative binding sites (Harckmans *et al.*, 2007). However, under alkaline (increase pH) conditions, functional groups present in soil organic matter (Fine *et al.*, 2005).

Higher Hg levels in dumpsite soils than in the background soils may be explained with the reason that, Hg bearing wastes disposed on waste sites through human activities from industries such as textiles tanning, petrochemicals from accidental oil spills or utilization of petroleum - based products and other pharmaceutical facilities, are highly variable in composition although some are disposed on land, and few of these plant essential metals have benefits to agriculture or forestry (Raymond and Okieimen, 2011). Also, higher Hg levels are expected at top soil. This finding is in line with a report in which accumulation of heavy metals are concentrated at the soil - surface than in the sub - surface is reported by Amadi *et al.* (2012) and Ololade (2014) in that, soils show remarkably high levels of metals such as copper, iron, and zinc which decrease with depth, and is the reason why surface soils have been found as better indicators for metabolic burdens (Anikwe and Nwobodo, 2002).

Hg levels before planting were highest at 44.75 mgkg⁻¹ in SUA (Table 4.18) and at harvest highest in AYE at 21.02 mgkg⁻¹ (Table 4.19) were higher than 2.00 mgkg⁻¹ (Table 2.7) by WHO/FAO (2001); Radojevic and Baskin (2006) reported Hg at a range of 0.01 - 0.50 mgkg⁻¹ (Table 2.6); Hg level in uncontaminated soils at 0.04 - 0.08 mgkg⁻¹ by Greany (2005). Hg levels in most of the studied soils were higher in dumpsites in metropolis than dumpsites in the rural communities within a municipal with low Hg concentration levels. This observation may be due to a number of combined effect of soil properties on metals absorption and adsorption (Harter and Naidu, 2001; Dutta *et al.*, 2001; Appel and Ma, 2002). This result show that Hg levels in SUA was above the allowable limit in agricultural soils

5.3.2.9 Pb levels in soils in pots under field conditions

Pb levels recorded were higher in KYE, SUA and AYE than in UEW, MED and KNUST in pots under field conditions (Table 4.18). This observation is expected because of human wastes disposal activities and other Pb sources on dumpsites might have accumulated Pb leading to increased levels in the dumpsite soils. This pattern bears a resemblance of a Pb concentration trend as observed by Poggio *et al.* (2009) who attributed such differences in Pb levels through numerous human activities like mining, smelting, manufacturing which can be toxic to human health (Poggio *et al.*, 2009). The high Pb levels in dumpsites may also be linked to the soil type, moderately and high organic matter content of the dumpsite soils studied (Table 4.17). This difference agrees with a report by Hameed *et al.* (2013) that

species of lead vary considerably with soil type; it is mainly associated with clay minerals, magnesium oxides iron, aluminum hydroxides and organic matter.

High Pb levels recorded in dumpsite soils may also be linked to differences in waste generation between urban and rural population as found by Moller *et al.* (2000), that, soils accumulated high levels of Pb in urban environments from a range of sources including that derived from leaded petrol. Such differences might also be due to higher population and industrial activities in municipalities which may lead to higher production of assorted wastes than in the rural settlements (Agyarko *et al.*, 2010).

Pb levels were highest in AYE (75.32 mgkg⁻¹) before planting (Table 4.18) and at harvest (59.54 mgkg⁻¹) in AYE (Table 4.19) and were above the worlds' average Pb in unpolluted soil at 44.0 mgkg⁻¹ (Kabata - Pendias and Pendias, 2001); lower than Pb level in residential area (136.76 mgkg⁻¹) and at an industrial area (159.67 mgkg⁻¹) by Onyedika (2015); higher than Pb in a dumpsite soil (0.7 - 1.3 mgkg⁻¹) and on control or uncontaminated sites was 1.1 mgkg⁻¹ (Olowookere *et al.*, 2018); 5.00 mgkg⁻¹ (Table 2.7) by WHO/FAO (2001); 2.00 mgkg⁻¹ (WHO, 2009). The remaining selected soils were within the permissible Pb level at 40 mgkg⁻¹ by Kabata - Pendias and Pendias, (2001. This result gives an indivation that, the highest Pb recorded in AYE was found to be within acceptable contamination level with Pb.

5.3.3 Heavy metals level in lettuce shoots and roots in pots at harvest under field conditions

5.3.3.1 Cr levels in lettuce in pots under field conditions

Concentration of Cr in lettuce shoots and roots were higher on dumpsites soil than on backgrounds soil at harvest (Tables 4.20 and 4.21). The high Cr levels in lettuce shoot and roots planted on dumpsites may be due to metal contaminated dumpsites commonly used as agricultural lands in especially cities where arable land for crop production are inadequate. This observation is similar to earlier report by Amusan et al. (2005) that, dumpsites used as fertile grounds for the cultivation of crops results in increased uptake of heavy metals either as mobile ions or through foliar absorption. Fuge (2013); Wuana and Okieimen (2011) share a common report that, dumpsites used for agriculture are important sources of dangerous heavy metals derived from components of industrial products. Also, higher Cr levels in lettuce shoost than in roots (Tables 4.20 and 4.21) may be explain with the fact that, crop production on dumpsites though fertile also provides an environment for metals absorption by edible parts of plants. Such similar observations have been that, agricultural activities on such lands provide entry route for heavy metals in the food chain (Twumasi et al., 2016) and most of these vegetables used for cultivation are hyper accumulators of most of the essential heavy metals (Singh et al., 2012). Cr level which was highest in lettuce shoots (34.20 mgkg⁻ ¹) and roots (23.56 mgkg⁻¹) in KYE in pot (Tables 4.20 and 4.21) were above 0.03 - 14mgkg⁻¹ as normal range in plants; 5 - 30 mgkg⁻¹ as critical plant concentration (Table 2.6)

5.3.3.2 Fe levels in lettuce in pots under field conditions

Fe was generally high in lettuce shoots than in lettuce roots on KYE, SUA and AYE than on UEW, MED and KNUST (Tables 4.20 and 4.21). The differences in Fe levels may be due to high organic and inorganic waste which might have contributed to higher Fe levels in lettuce shoots and roots harvested from dumpsites soils in pots than from background soils. The high Fe levels in lettuce shoots and roots from dumpsites may also be attributed to the fact that, organic wastes in dumpsites soil are easily converted into harmless substance but inorganic substance which are non - biodegradable, persisted and may have accumulated in the soil and plants found on them as reported by Ukpong *et al.* (2013). Furthermore, the situation where dumpsites are commonly used as a fertile grounds for the cultivation of crops might have contributed to the increased uptake of heavy metals either as mobile ions or through foliar absorption (Amusan *et al.*, 2005).

Plant roots uptake of metals is controlled by many factors such as soluble contents of trace elements in soil, soil pH, organic matter, cation exchange capacity, plant growth stages, crop type, fertilizers and soil type (Lente *et al.*, 2014; Yadav *et al.*, 2018).

Fe level was highest in lettuce shoot (6357.22 mgkg⁻¹) and root (5613.66 mgkg⁻¹) on SUA Kumasi dumpsite soil (Table 4.18) were above 384.412 mgkg⁻¹ of Cr (Table 2.3) lettuce plant at harvest (Kabir *et al.*, 2011); normal range in plants at 40 - 500 mgkg⁻¹ (Table 2.6) by Stewart *et al.* (1974); 20 mgkg⁻¹ (Table 2.8) by WHO (2009). The highest Fe level was recorded in lettuce shoot and root harvested from SUA in pots give an indication that

consumers of especially lettuce shoots as food or for medicinal purposes faces a serious health threat if not attended to.

5.3.3.3 Ni levels in lettuce in pots under field conditions

Ni was generally high in lettuce shoots than in lettuce roots especially on dumpsites than on background sites (Tables 4.20 and 4.21). Differences in Ni levels in lettuce cultivated on dumpsites soil and background soils in pots may be due to common use of dumpsites soil for agriculture are important sources of dangerous heavy metals derived from components of industrial products as reported by Fuge (2013); Wuana and Okieimen (2011) and thus agricultural activities on such lands provide entry route for heavy metals in the food chain (Twumasi *et al.*, 2016). Also, most leafy vegetables have been found to be hyper accumulators of most of the non - essential heavy metals (Singh *et al.*, 2012).

Differences in Ni levels in lettuce shoot and root sampled from dumpsites soils as compared with lettuce shoot and roots in background soils in pots might be due to various Ni bearing wastes found on dumpsites and when leached might end up in plants found on them. Alloway (1995) showed a similar observation that, many domestic cleaning products such as soap (100 - 700 mgkg⁻¹ Ni), powdered bleach (800 mgkg⁻¹ Ni) have proven to be important sources of Ni in urban soils. Also foodstuffs such as chocolate, automobile batteries and various paint wastes (Onyedika, 2015) might have eventually accumulated by the lettuce cultivated on dumpsites soils in pots. Other sources of Ni levels in sampled lettuce shoots and roots are through the ambient air as a result of the combustion of coal, diesel oil and the incineration of wastes and sewage (Cempel *et al.*, 2006) in addition, Ni widely used in

electroplating and in the manufacture of batteries serves as an additional source of Ni, although Ni is an essential element for plants and animals (Hameed *et al.*, 2013),

The enhanced levels of Ni in cultivated lettuce on dumpsites soils in pots may be due to transpiration effects because, when transpiration flourishes, plant accumulates more trace elements and its enrichment capacity is also stronger (Hao *et al.*, 2012). Gupta *et al.* (2019) also confirmed that, leafy vegetables accumulate much higher content of trace elements than other vegetables and crops due to higher translocation and transpiration rate. In addition, mostly higher concentrations of heavy metals have earlier been detected in fruits and vegetables harvested from waste dumpsites (Imasueb Omorogiera, 2013; Cortez and Ching, 2014; Tanee and Eshalomi - Mario, 2015). Other reports have found that, the transfer of metals from root to stem and then to fruit during the transpiration and translocation process is longer in non - leafy vegetables and may result in lower accumulation (Itanna, 2002; Khan *et al.*, 2009).

Ni level was highest in lettuce shoot (17.73 mgkg⁻¹) on SUA in pots than lettuce root background soil (16.69 mgkg⁻¹) on KNUST (Tables 4.20 and 4.21) were above 3.083mgkg⁻¹ (Table 2.3) by Kabir *et al.* (2011); 0.02 - 5 mgkg⁻¹ (Table 2.6) by Radojevic and Bashkin (2006); was within 50 mgkg⁻¹ and 10 mgkg⁻¹ (Table 2.8) by WHO (2007; 2009); 02 - 50 mgkg⁻¹ (Table 2.5) by FAO / WHO (2011); 67 mgkg⁻¹ (Table 2.4) by Chiroma *et al.* (2014). The Ni levels in lettuce shoots and roots indicate that, lettuce shoots and roots harvested from all study sites are safe for consumption by human and animals.

5.3.3.4 Cu levels in lettuce in pots under field conditions

Cu was generally high in lettuce shoots than in roots on KYE, SUA and AYE than on UEW, MED and KNUST (Tables 4.20 and 4.21). This observation may be due to the fact that wastes dump on dumpsites might be Cu bearing wastes and as a result plants found on them may accumulate higher metal levels than plants found on background soils. A similar results was reported where higher concentrations of heavy metals were detected in fruits and vegetables harvested from waste dumpsites (Imasueb Omorogiera, 2013; Cortez and Ching, 2014; Tanee and Eshalomi - Mario, 2015) because dumpsites mostly used for agriculture are important sources of dangerous heavy metals derived from components of industrial products (Fuge, 2013; Wuana and Okieimen, 2011). Also, lettuce shoots and roots sampled from the studied dumpsites might have been composed of Cu bearing wastes and which might have accumulated in lettuce shoots and roots.

Olankule *et al.* (2018) share a common report that, dumpsites soil may comprise of other materials that contain heavy metals and as a result are of great concern to farmers and consumers in Ghana. Ogunmodede *et al.* (2015) discussed that, heavy metals from refuse dump soils were in higher levels than in the control or background values especially for Cu and that was attributed to the fact that, refuse dumps receive considerable waste proportions of product packaging, waste, cloths, glass and bottles, newspapers, paints, batteries, industrial dust, ash, car tyres, metal cans and containers, medical waste, abandoned vehicles and insulations. All these refuse dump wastes are known to be sources of metals (Woodburry, 2005). The Cu levels absorbed by lettuce may be due to the available forms of Cu in the soils studied. This observation conforms to a report that, concentration of

availability forms of metals in soil is controlled by various physical and chemical processes such as exchange, adsorption and desorption, complexation, precipitation and dissolution, oxidation, reduction, sequestration and occlusion, diffusion and migration, metal competition, biological immobilization, mobilization and plant uptake (Kabata – Pendias, 2010; Wuana and Okieimen, 2011).

Cu levels were mostly higher in lettuce shoots than in roots from most of the study dumpsites than in background sites (Tables 4.20 and 4.21). This observation may be related to the fact that, most Cu ions might have been transported from the roots to other parts of lettuce through factors like crop type and soil pH which might have resulted to higher levels of Cu in lettuce shoots. Gupta *et al.* (2019) share a similar report that, vegetables take up metals from polluted soils and through atmospheric deposition of particulate matter from different sources are first absorbed in the apoplast of roots and transported further into other parts of the plant cells. Also, metals roots uptake of metals is controlled by many factors such as soluble contents of trace elements in soil, soil pH, organic matter, cation exchange capacity, plant growth stages, crop type, fertilizers and soil type (Lente *et al.*, 2014; Yadav *et al.*, 2018).

Cu level was highest in lettuce shoots (47.70 mgkg⁻¹) and roots (28.88 mgkg⁻¹) on SUA (Tables 4.20 and 4.21) were above 11.05 mgkg⁻¹ in cocoyam corm; 5 - 20 mgkg⁻¹ as normal range in plants (Table 2.6) by Radojevic and Bashkin (2006); 8.00 mgkg⁻¹ in lettuce (Table 2.3) by Kabir *et al.* (2011); 30 mgkg⁻¹ in food; 2.5 mgkg⁻¹ as normal range in plants (Table 2.5) by FAO / WHO (2011). On the contrary, Cu levels were within 20 - 100 mgkg⁻¹ as a

critical plant concentration (Table 2.6) by Radojevic and Bashkin (2006) and below 73.00 mgkg⁻¹ (Chiroma *et al.*, 2014). These results show that, lettuce shoots and roots cultivated in SUA in pots recorded the highest Cu level and are safe for human and animals as food or for medicinal purposes.

5.3.3.5 Zn levels in lettuce in pots under field conditions

Zn was generally high in both lettuce shoots and roots (Tables 4.20 and 4.21) on dumpsite soils than on background soils in pots. This result may be due to the absorption of Zn by lettuce on Zn bearing wastes found on dumpsites soil in pots. This observation is in line with the fact that, when plants are cultivated on dumpsites soils, they absorb some heavy metals and bioaccumulate them in their roots, stems, fruits, grains and leaves (Fatoki, 2000). The highest Zn level was recorded in lettuce shoot on a dumpsite soils in pots than from background soils (Tables 4.20 and 4.21). This difference is expected because refuse dumpsites soil receive considerable waste proportions of product packaging, waste cloths, glass and bottles, newspapers, paints, batteries, industrial dusts, ash, car tyres, metal cans and containers, medical waste, abandoned vehicles and insulations which are known to be sources of metals (Zhang et al., 2002; Pasquini and Alexander, 2004; Woodbury, 2005). Zn levels were mostly higher in lettuce shoots and roots cultivated (Tables 4.20 and 4.21) in urban dumpsites soil within Kumasi than in Kyeremfaso Mampong, a rural community within Mampong municipal. Such differences are observed as a result of higher population and industrial activities in cities and municipalities which lead to higher production of assorted wastes than in the rural settlements (Ebong et al., 2008).

Zn levels recorded among all studied soils in pots was highest in lettuce shoots (2895.61 mgkg⁻¹) and roots (1698.12 mgkg⁻¹) on SUA (Tables 4.20 and 4.21) were above 76.457 mgkg⁻¹ (Table 2.3) as normal metal concentration levels in cultivated lettuce by Kabir *et al.* (2011); 60 mgkg⁻¹ as normal Zn level in food; 50 mgkg⁻¹ (Table 2.8) by WHO (2009); 20 - 100 mgkg⁻¹ as normal range in plants (Table 2.5) by FAO / WHO (2011); 1 - 400 mgkg⁻¹ as normal range in plants (Table 2.5) by FAO / WHO (2011); 1 - 400 mgkg⁻¹ as normal range in plants (Table 2.8) by WHO (2009). This result shows that, Zn levels in lettuce shoot and root cultivated on SUA and the remaining lettuce parts from the other urban dumpsites and background soils lettuce shoots and roots were above the allowable Zn levels in plants. Lettuce shoots and roots harvested from SUA may pose danger to humans and grazing animals using them as food or for medicinal purposes.

5.3.3.6 As levels in lettuce in pots under field conditions

As was generally high in lettuce shoots than in roots on dumpsites than in background soils in pots (Tables 4.20 and 4.21). This observation may be related to the situation where most edible crops may not be selective in absorbing essential and non - essential plant nutrients. This observation is comparable to report where most edible crops show their indiscriminate activities in their extraction of both non - desirable and the required essential nutrients to man, which may cause blood and bone disorders, kidney damage, decreased mental capacity (NIEHS, 2004; Ogunmodede and Adewole, 2015). Also the use of dumpsites soil as fertile grounds for crop cultivation has resulted to an increased uptake of heavy metals either as mobile ions or through foliar absorption (Amusan *et al.*, 2005). Cultivated plants on dumpsites may absorb some of these heavy metals and bioaccumulate them in their roots, stems, fruits, grains and leaves (Fatoki, 2000). Singh *et al.* (2013) have attributed higher As levels in lettuce shoots to how leafy vegetables found on dumpsites are hyper accumulators of most non - essential heavy metals

Higher As levels in SUA and AYE lettuce shoots than As levels in lettuce shoots on KYE dumpsite soil may be linked to higher living standards in SUA and AYE within a metropolis against a rural KYE dumpsite in a municipal might have contributed to the differences in As levels in lettuce shoots and roots in pots (Tables 4.20 and 4.21). This result may be explain by the fact that, high living standards in urban resulting to different metal species wastes differs from that of the rural metal bearing wastes agrees with a report by Amusan and Olawale (2005) that, the rate of metal uptake by plants could be influenced by factors such as metal species, plant species, soil pH, CEC, organic matter, soil texture and interaction among the target elements.

The highest As level in lettuce shoot (8.39 mgkg⁻¹) on MED and lettuce root (9.05 mgkg⁻¹) on AYE in pots (Tables 4.20 and 4.21) were however within the normal concentration levels in plants at 0.02 - 7 mgkg⁻¹; 5 - 20 mgkg⁻¹ range as a critical plant concentration As level (Table 2.6) by Radojevic and Bashkin (2006); 30 mgkg⁻¹ in food, 0.5 - 20 mgkg⁻¹ as normal As level in plants (Table 2.5) by FAO / WHO (2011). This result shows that, lettuce shoots from SUA Kumasi dumpsite which recorded the highest As level is safe for human and grazing animals as food and medicinal purposes.

5.3.3.7 Cd levels in lettuce in pots under field conditions

Cd levels were equally high in both lettuce shoots and roots on dumpsites soil than on background soils (Table 4.18). This observation is linked to metals contaminant sources which are mostly dumped on waste dumpsites and that might have affected the Cd levels in dumpsite soils. This result is in line with the explanation that Cd contamination sources like dumping of inorganic wastes, burning of refuse at dumpsites from time to time (Nurudeen and Aderibigbe, 2013), burning of fossil fuels, car tyres, the use of lubrication oils, vehicle wheels, application of solid wastes from industries and homes, sewage sludge waste, water irrigation and phosphate fertilizer application (Kisku *et al.*, 2000) might have contributed to Cd levels accumulated in lettuce shoots and roots found on dumpsites. Also, such observation may be as a result of higher metal levels in dumpsites soil (Tables 4.18) which might have resulted in Cd accumulation in lettuce.

A similar finding was reported with an increased uptake of metals either as mobile ions or through foliar absorption (Amusa *et al.*, 2005) of metals in plants cultivated in dumpsites soil in pots. Also dumpsites soil which are known to contain heavy metals might have come from the disposal of Cd bearing wastes and when leached, end up in plants through absorption without discrimination. Such observation is confirmed by an earlier work where lettuce found on dumpsites recorded Cd in a range of 90.13 - 0.67 mgkg⁻¹ higher than lettuce on control site at 0.010 mgkg⁻¹ (Twumasi *et al.*, 2016). In addition, a similar study have found that, most edible crops are indiscriminate in their extraction of essential and non - essential nutrients and that may cause blood and bone disorders (NIEHS, 2004; Ogunmodede and Adewole, 2015).

Cd level was highest in lettuce shoot (5.25 mgkg⁻¹) on KYE Mampong dumpsite soil and lettuce root (5.07 mgkg⁻¹) on KNUST Kumasi background soil in pots (Table 4.18) were above 0.1 - 2.4 mgkg⁻¹ as normal range in plants (Table 2.6) by Radojevic and Bashkin (2006); 0.35 mgkg⁻¹ (WHO, 2007); 0.02 mgkg⁻¹ (Table 2.8) by WHO (2009); 1 - 2.4 mgkg⁻¹ as normal range in food and plants (Table 2.5) by FAO / WHO (2011); 0.1 mgkg⁻¹ (Table 2.4) by Chiroma *et al.* (2014); 0.02 mgkg⁻¹ as maximum allowable limit in lettuce and 0.05 mgkg⁻¹ in fruit vegetable by Twumasi *et al.* (2016). Cd values recorded were within 5.633 mgkg⁻¹ as a concentration in lettuce by Kabir *et al.* (2011); the critical plant concentration range of 5 - 30 mgkg⁻¹ (Table 2.6) by Radojevic and Bashkin (2006). This result show that, lettuce leaves from SUA Kumasi dumpsite soil is still safe for animal and human consumption.

5.3.3.8 Hg levels in lettuce in pots under field conditions

Hg levels were generally higher especially in lettuce shoots and roots planted on KYE, SUA and AYE than lettuce planted on UEW, MED and KNUST soils in pots (Tables 4.20 and 4.21). Hg levels in lettuce shoots and roots bear a resemblance of leafy plants which has a natural affinity for metals and with their non - biodegradable toxic nature, affect plants, human and grazing animals. Achazai *et al.* (2011) have similarly attributed such differences in Hg absorption by lettuce as a plant with a natural propensity to take up metals. Also, the higher levels of Hg found in lettuce shoots and roots than lettuce shoots and roots in pots might be due to the rate of Hg uptake by lettuce plant as influence by Hg specie present in the soil. Amusan and Olawale (2005) similarly attributed Hg levels in lettuce, to the rate of

metal uptake by plants due to influences by metal species, plant species, soil pH, CEC, organic matter, soil texture (Table 4.17) and interaction among the target elements. However, plants absorption of essential and non - essential elements from the soil is in respond to concentration gradient and selective uptake of ions or by diffusion (Peralta - Videa *et al.*, 2009).

Higher Hg levels in lettuce shoots than in roots (Tables 4.20 and 4.21) may be explain with the reason that, different plant parts contain different heavy metals (Natasa *et al.*, 2015) and plants absorb heavy metals from the soil through the root and from the atmosphere through above ground vegetative organs (Mmolowa *et al.*, 2011).

Hg levels recorded were highest in lettuce shoot (6.33 mgkg⁻¹) and lettuce root (5.71 mgkg⁻¹) planted on SUA in pots under field conditions(Tables 4.20 and 4.21) were found to be above 0.005 - 0.17 mgkg⁻¹ as normal range of Hg in plants and 1 - 3 mgkg⁻¹ as critical plant concentration (Table 2.6) by Radojevic and Bashkin (2006). Hg is a non - essential plant metal element, so Hg uptake and subsequent accumulation along the food chain is a potential threat to animal and human health (Sprynskyy *et al.*, 2007). This result shows that, lettuce shoot from SUA may not be safe for human and grazing animal's consumption due to Hg contamination.

5.3.3.9 Pb levels in lettuce in pots under field conditions

Pb was mostly high in lettuce shoots and roots on KYE, SUA AYE dumpsite soils than on UEW, MED and KNUST background soils (Tables 4.20 and 4.21). This result is expected

because dumpsites receive considerable wastes and as a result accumulated in plants found on them. Zhang *et al.* (2002) affirms this assertion. Hg is not biodegradable so even at low concentrations; Pb may have toxic effects on living organisms at certain level of concentration (Ogunmodede and Adewole, 2015). Pb levels in lettuce shoots and roots confirm the very narrow range of concentrations between beneficial and toxic effects of metals (Tchounwou *et al.*, 2008). Such Pb differences in lettuce shoots and roots in the soils studied is similar to an earlier report by Natasa *et al.* (2015) that, different plant parts contain different levels of heavy metals.

Pb levels in SUA was lower in lettuce shoot at 5.59 mgkg⁻¹ and higher AYE in lettuce root at 35.76 mgkg⁻¹ (Tables 4.20 and 4.21) were above 2.00 mgkg⁻¹ in food (Table 2.5) by FAO / WHO (2011); 5.942 mgkg⁻¹ in lettuce (Table 2.3) by Kabir *et al.* (2011); 0.5 - 30 mgkg⁻¹ as normal range in plant (Table 2.5) by FAO / WHO (2011); 0.5 - 20 mgkg⁻¹ as normal range in plants but were within the 30 - 300 mgkg⁻¹ as critical plant concentration (Table 2.6) by Radojevic and Bashkin (2006). This result is an indication that, cocoyam corms and leaves especially sampled from SUA Kumasi dumpsite is safe for humans and animal consumption as food or medicinal purposes.

5.3.4 NPK levels in lettuce plant at harvest

Nitrogen levels were lower in lettuce shoots and roots on KYE, SUA and AYE than on UEW, MED and KNUST in pots under field conditions (Table 4.22). Available P levels were lower in lettuce shoots and roots on AYE than on KNUST. Available K level was lower in lettuce shoots and roots on SUA than on MED. The higher levels of especially N in

all the background lettuce shoots and roots, higher P and K in KNUST and MED background soils than in their dumpsite soils can be related to the moderate levels of organic matter in their soils (Table 4.17). This finding is in agreement with Ideriah *et al.* (2010) who found that, organic matter is one of the sources of most N and P which enhance and promote plants growth. Also, this difference could have resulted from the organic materials from organic wastes which when decayed helped to increase N, pH, CEC, base saturation and organic matter (Anikwe and Nwobodo, 2001). N in organic matter in dumpsites (Table 4.14) although lower than in background soils in pots was enough to support lettuce growth as described by Obianefo *et al.* (2017) that, N in dumpsite soils produced yield better than their control locations an assertion that confirms the level of N in lettuce shoot and root (Table 4.22).

Available P levels were higher in lettuce shoots and roots on KYE and SUA than on UEW and MED in pots under field conditions (Tables 4.22). Available K levels were higher in lettuce shoots and roots on KYE and AYE than on UEW and KNUST (Table 4.22). Higher levels of phosphorus and potassium in lettuce shoots and roots on the dumpsites than on their background sites can be related to the studied soils organic matter content, pH and CEC (Table 4.17) might have contributed to the accumulation of the soil nutrients (NPK) by lettuce shoots and roots in pots. Ogunyemi *et al.* (2003) share a similar report that, an improved soil physicochemical properties (Table 4.17) of the studied dumpsite soils might have resulted from the decayed and composted wastes that enhance soil fertility. Ogunmodede *et al.* (2005) share a similar report. Also Aydenalp and Marinova (2003) similarly share a common reason to the effect that, the concentrations levels of CEC and organic matter (Table 4.17) might have improved lettuce nutrient (NPK) accumulation in pots more easily by conditioning the soil for crop growth.

5.4 Techniques to assess pollution of soils by heavy metals

5.4.1 Evaluation of heavy metals contamination on the field

5.4.1.1 Geoaccumulation Index (Igeo) of dumpsite soils studied

The Igeo contamination intensity of Cr, Fe, Ni, Cu, Zn, As, Cd, Hg and Pb in Kyeremfaso Mampong dumpsite soil (KYE); Ayeduase Kumasi dumpsite soil (AYE) and Suame Kumasi dumpsite soil (SUA) at 0 - 15 cm depth showed contamination intensity of Cr, Cu, Zn, As, Hg follow the order of (KYE < AYE < SUA) Ni, Fe and Cd (AYE < KYE < SUA) with the most contaminated soil in SUA at 0 - 15 cm of soil depth (Table 4.23). Pb (AYE < SUA < KYE) was least contaminated in AYE and most contaminated in SUA (Table 4.23). Similarly, at 15 - 30 cm depth, Cr, Fe, Ni, Cu, Zn, Pb (KYE < AYE < SUA) As and Hg (AYE < KYE < SUA) were most contaminated in SUA. Cd (AYE < SUA < KYE) was least contaminated in AYE and most contaminated in KYE (Table 4.24). This result showed that a rural community within a Municipal KYE was the least contaminated with metals as compared to an urban Metropolis SUA and AYE, which may be due to the low population and industrial activities in the area compared to the order studied sites. Agyarko et al. (2010) shared similar results. Also, the differences in Igeo pollution values among the studied dumpsites soil might have contributed to differences in soil pollution levels in the various dumpsites which may be related to soil physicochemical properties like soil texture and organic matter contents (Table 4.8) which are important to the forms of heavy metals in their available forms. Aydinalp and Cresse (2009) shared a similar view that soil physicochemical

parameters like texture and organic matter are important with regards to the forms of heavy metals present and their bioavailability. The various different industrial activities coupled with varying living standards might have contributed to the heavy metals load pollution in the metropolitan dumpsites than in rural set up within a municipal and this results is affirm by Olankule *et al.* (2018) that, dumpsite soils may also comprise of other materials that contain heavy metals.

5.4.1.2 Enrichment Factor (EF) of dumpsite soils studied

Contamination categories of Cr, Fe, Ni, Cu, Zn, As, Cd, Hg and Pb in an increasing contamination category order under KYE, SUA and AYE soils showed that, at 0 - 15 cm depth, Cr, Fe, Ni and As, Cd were in the increasing order of AYE < KYE < SUA. Cu, Zn and Hg increased in the order of KYE < AYE < SUA. SUA soil were highly enriched through human influence (Table 4.27). Pb (KYE < SUA < AYE) was highly enriched through human influence on AYE Kumasi dumpsite soil (Table 4.23). A similar pattern at 15 - 30 cm depth, was observed when Cr (SUA < KYE < AYE) and Pb (KYE < SUA < AYE) were highly enriched through human influence in AYE Kumasi dumpsite soil than in other dumpsite soil (Table 4.24). Fe, Ni, Hg (AYE < KYE < SUA) Cu and Zn (KYE < AYE < SUA) were highly enriched through human influence in SUA Kumasi dumpsite soil than in AYE Kumasi dumpsite soil (Table 4.28). As and Cd were highly enriched through human influence (AYE < SUA < KYE) in KYE Mampong dumpsite soil than in other dumpsite soils (Table 4.28). Similarly, These similar observations may be explain by the fact that, a soil contamination evaluation technique, an enrichment factor (EF) is an effective tool used to evaluate the magnitude of metal contamination in soil (Franco - Uria et al., 2009). EF

classification by Birch and Olmos (2008), showed that, most EF values for 0 - 15 cm and 15 - 30 cm of soil sample depths were above 1.5 are consistent with an earlier results which showed that, a significant portion of the metals source is from human influence due to the fact that, waste materials dumped on these sites coupled with their higher concentrations in soils (Tables 4.8) and plants (Tables 4.11, 4.12, 4.13 and 4.1) confirm that major pollutants exist in all the dumpsites soil studied with EF values more than two (Sutherland, 2000; Yonming *et al.*, 2016).

5.4.1.3 Relative top soil enrichment factor (RTEF) of dumpsite soils studied

The relative top soil enrichment factor (RTEF) of the selected metals studied found Cr, Fe and Hg with the highest RTEF in AYE through human influence on the top soil (Table 4.29). Ni recorded high human influence on the top soil of KNUST (Table 4.29). Cu, As and Pb recorded high human influence on the top soil of MED (Table 4.29). Zn recorded a high human influence on the top soil of KYE (Table 4.29). Cd recorded a high human influence on the top soil of SUA (Table 4.29). The RTEF values recorded showed 'no contamination'. All the RTEF values in studied sites soil had a RTEF < 2 (Table 4.26) as found by Ngange *et al.* (2013). Such observation may be attributed to trace elements or heavy metals recycling by plant and retention by organic matter (Siegel, 2002). However, the low (RTEF < 2) values by extension 'no contamination' interpretation might be related to the organic matter content (Table 4.8) recorded in the soils might have played a major role in the RTEF values due to metal complexation and adsorption, their sphere and ion exchange reaction (Evans, 1989). In addition, the bioavailability of heavy metals in soils through immobilization or mobilization through various insoluble or soluble heavy metal complexes (Alamgir *et al.*, 2017) might have contributed to the low (RTEF < 2) values.

5.4.2 Evaluation of heavy metals contamination in soils under field conditions

5.4.2.1 Geoaccumulation Index (Igeo) of dumpsite soils in pots under field conditions

The Igeo contamination intensity of Cr, Fe, Ni, Cu, Zn, As, Cd, Hg and Pb in KYE, SUA and AYE dumpsite soils in pots under field conditions found Cr, Cu, Zn, As and Hg in the order of (AYE \leq KYE \leq SUA) with the most contaminated soil in SUA (Table 4.30). Fe and Cd (AYE < SUA < KYE) were most contaminated soil in KYE. Ni and Pb (KYE < SUA < AYE) were least contaminated in KYE and mostly contaminated in AYE (Table 4.30) showed that KYE was the least polluted with the metals. This may be due to the low population and industrial activities in the rural area compared to the Urban municipal studied sites. Agyarko et al. (2010) share a similar result. Also, the differences in Igeo pollution values among the studied dumpsites soil might have contributed to differences in soil pollution levels in the various dumpsites which may be related to soil physicochemical properties like soil texture and organic matter contents (Table 4.17) which are important to the forms of heavy metals in their available forms. Aydinalp and Cresse (2009) share a similar view that soil physicochemical parameters like texture and organic matter are important with regards to the forms of heavy metals present and their bioavailability. The various different industrial activities coupled with varying living standards might have contributed to the heavy metals load pollution in the metropolitan dumpsites than in rural set up within a municipal and this results is affirm by Olankule et al. (2018) that, dumpsite soils may also comprise of other materials that contain heavy metals.

5.4.2.2 Enrichment Factor (EF) of dumpsite soils in pots under field conditions

Contamination categories of Cr, Fe, Ni, Cu, Zn, As, Cd, Hg and Pb under KYE, SUA and AYE dumpsite soils in pots under field conditions, found Cr, Ni, Zn, Hg (AYE < KYE < SUA) and Fe (KYE < AYE < SUA) were highly influenced by human in SUA (Table 4.31). As and Cd were highly enriched (AYE < SUA < KYE) in KYE through human influence. Pb was highly enriched (KYE < SUA < AYE) in AYE Kumasi dumpsite soil through human influence (Table 4.31). These observations may be explain by the fact that, a soil contamination evaluation technique, an enrichment factor (EF), , is an effective tool used to evaluate the magnitude of metal contamination in soil (Franco - Uria *et al.*, 2009). EF classification by Birch and Olmos (2008), showed that, soils in pots were above 1.5 and are consistent with an earlier results found that, a significant portion of the metals source is through human influence, because waste materials dumped on these sites coupled with their higher concentrations in soils (Table 4.18) and in plants (Tables 4.20 and 4.21) confirm that major pollutants exist in all the dumpsites soil studied with EF values more than two (Sutherland, 2000; Yonming *et al.*, 2016).

5.4.2.3 Transfer Ratio (TR) of metals in dumpsite soils in pots under field conditions

In pots study under field conditions, Cr was the most transferred heavy metal in lettuce on KYE (Table 4.28). Fe, Ni, Cd, Hg and Pb were the most transferred heavy metals in lettuce on MED in pots (Table 4.32). Cu was the most transferred heavy metal in lettuce on SUA in pots (Table 4.32). Zn and As were the most transferred heavy metals in lettuce on UEW in pots (Table 4.32). The transfer ratio (TR) which is the ratio of the concentration of metals in plants to the total concentration of that metal in soil (Hammed *et al.*, 2017) were generally

higher in lettuce plants on background soils than lettuce plants on dumpsite soils in pots under field conditions. This differences with the exception of Zn may be due to some other soil factors apart from the total soil metal content which also affect the rate of metals uptake by plants specifically the available phosphorus (phosphates), organic matter and exchangeable cations such as Ca and Mg (Table 4.17) might have affected the metals level and subsequently leading to lower transfer ratios of metals in the dumpsite soils than in background soils in pots. This result conforms to earlier studies by Agyarko *et al.* (2010). However, Zn which otherwise recorded the highest transfer ratios in UEW than in KYE and the entire study soils in pots may be attributed to soil pH, exchangeable cations and cation exchange capacities (Table 4.17), climatic change and morphology of the plant. Jolly *et al.* (2013) and Chindo *et al.* (2016) share a common view.

In addition, the differences in transfer ratio of metals on the study sites was earlier explained by Cui *et al.* (2004) that, plants species, plants physiological stage, plants metals uptake capacity and growth rates are among the major determinants of metal transfer from soil to the crop, and subsequently might have contributed to the lower transfer ratios of the metals in the dumpsite soils than in background soils. Heavy metals load which were higher in dumpsite soils (Tables 4.18) than in background soils in pots might have contributed to lower transfer ratios (Table 4.32) of metals in lettuce plants cultivated on dumpsites soils than on background soils in pots(Tables 4.20 and 4.21). This observation conforms to a report that, transfer ratio or factor decreases when plants are grown in soils with higher levels of heavy metals (Natasa *et al.*, 2015). Soil pH levels in most dumpsite soils as compare to background soils (Table 4.17) have also contributed to lower transfer ratio of metals in lettuce on dumpsite soils than on background soils because, high soil pH levels in soils have been found to decrease metals mobility in soils. Sheoran *et al.* (2006) confirms this result due to the fact that metal levels decreases at high pH and increases at low pH levels.

Most transfer ratio levels of metals in lettuce plant on soils from both Mampong Municipal and Kumasi Metropolis calculated were lower (TR < I) and it is an indication that, lettuce plants cultivated had a poor response towards metal adsorption and the lettuce can be consumed. However, transfer ratio of Zn (2.64) in UEW was higher (TR > 1), an indication of a higher adsorption of Zn metal by lettuce plant at harvest and so lettuce plant may not be safe for human (Rangmaeker *et al.*, 2013b) and grazing animals consumption.

5.4.2.4 Translocation Factor (TF) of metals in dumpsite soils in pots under field conditions

Cr, Ni and Hg were highly conducted in lettuce on MED in pots (Table 4.33) Fe, As, Cd and Pb were highly conducted in lettuce on UEW in pots (Table 4.33). Cu and Zn were highly conducted in lettuce on SUA in pots (Table 4.33). The translocation factor (TF) of a plant which is a function of root shoot metal transport is expressed as a TF (Gosh and Singh, 2005) were generally lower on dumpsite soils than on background soils (Table 4.33), a similar pattern was found using transfer ratio. The translocation factors were generally lower on dumpsite soils and could be due to the high lettuce shoot metal concentration levels than metals level in lettuce roots (Tables 4.20 and 4.21). This result agrees with Nafiu (2010), who found that, plants with high above ground plant part metals concentration than the

below ground plant part metals level have high capacity to transport elements from root to shoot. This results confirms the assertion that, lettuce plants have high capacity to transport heavy metals from root to shoot and as a result is a heavy feeder and may be due to trace elements factor at soluble content, soil pH, soil organic matter, soil cation exchange capacity (Table 4.14), plant growth stages, crop type, fertilisers and soil type (Lente *et al.*, 2014; Yadav *et al.*, 2018).

Lettuce ability to accumulate high levels of metals in shoot than in root could also be attributed to effective transpiration within the plants environment. This result is supported by Hao *et al.* (2012), who found that, under effective transpiration, plants accumulates more trace elements and its enrichment capacity is also strong.

The low TF values recorded on dumpsite soil plants as compare to background plants in pots might also be due to high soil pH values found on dumpsite soils (Tables 4.17) that could have led to a decreasing solubility with low metals concentration in soil solution (Kabata - Pendias, 2011). Soil pH which is a master soil variable influences the chemical, physical and biological properties of soil (Chakrabortey, 2019) with low cation exchange capacity (Table 4.17) such as sand has less binding power to metals and other cations as compared to clay soil with high cation exchange capacity (Bhargava *et al.*, 2012). This observation might have contributed to higher translocation factors in background soils than in dumpsite soils in pots under field conditions. These soil physicochemical properties confirm a report by Kirmanni *et al.* (2011) that, large number of factors control metals accumulation and bioavailability associated with soil climatic conditions, plant genotypes and agronomic
University of Education, Winneba http://ir.uew.edu.gh

management might have accounted for the differences in translocation factors found on both dumpsite and background soils. The lower TF in dumpsites soil than in background soils might have been caused by the transpiration and translocation process which is longer in non - leafy vegetable and may results in lower accumulation especially during the transfer of metals from root to stem and then to fruit (Itanna, 2002; Khan et al., 2009). Gupta et al. (2009) have also found that, leafy vegetables accumulate much higher trace elements than other vegetable crops due to leafy vegetables higher translocation and transpiration rate. Other studies have further reported of a significant impact of carbonates on sorption and retention of metals (Shirvani et al., 2006; Ahmed et al., 2008, Irha et al., 2009) and these metals retention if absorbed into above ground plant parts and in concentrations higher than below ground levels affect plant metal translocation factor. All these reported soil physicochemical properties influence metals sorption and desorption and their subsequent absorption by plants. This result agrees with an earlier report by Harter and Naidu (2001); Appel and M. (2002) and Dutta et al. (2011). Although heavy metal loads on background soils were very low, the background soils recorded higher TF than on dumpsite soils. This results is in line by the fact that, plants uptake and accumulation ability of different trace elements is dissimilar in different vegetables (Yadav et al., 2018) and other crops in general due to the differences in physiology, morphology and anatomy of each plant leaf, inclination angle and branch density (Shahid et al., 2016). In addition, plants with numerous thin roots like lettuce has high accumulation capacity of trace elements than one with few thick roots (Chandran *et al.*, 2012). The high background soil translocation factor might have caused by this plant property.

CHAPTER SIX

6.0 CONCLUSION AND RECOMMENDATION

6.1 Conclusion

Dumpsite farmers' soil physicochemical knowledge made up of experiences acquired especially from colleague farmers, extension officers, research scientists and the media should be intensified to reduce farming activities on dumpsites especially at Kumasi Suame Magazine dumpsite. Dumpsite farmers soil physicochemical knowledge had significant (p = 0.02) influence their awareness level about the risk of heavy metals in dumpsites soil when accumulation in plants found on them

The soil physicochemical properties generally had improved levels in dumpsite soils than on background soils. They include bulk density, soil pH, soil organic matter, total nitrogen, and soil available phosphorus, exchangeable cations, exchangeable acidity, CEC, ECEC and base saturation. Cr, Fe, Ni, Cu, Zn, As, Cd, Hg and Pb at 0 - 15 cm and 15 - 30 cm depths of soil sampled were generally higher in dumpsites than in background soils. Cr, Ni, As, Cd and Pb were within allowable levels of concentration in soils but Hg, Cu and Zn in Kumasi Suame Magazine dumpsite soils were above standard levels by WHO/FAO (2001).

Ni, Cu, Zn, As, Cd and Pb in plantain leaves and fruits were in normal levels; Cr, Fe and Hg in plantain leaves and fruits were above normal allowable levels from SUA dumpsite. Cr, Fe, Ni Cu, Zn, As, Cd and Pb in Cocoyam leaves and corms were in acceptable levels. Hg in cocoyam leaves from KYE, and cocoyam corms from SUA, lettuce shoots from SUA were above allowable levels in plants reported by FAO/WHO (2011). A linear correlation showed

that, Cr and Cd; Fe and Zn; Ni and Cu; Cu and As; Zn and As; As and Pb; Hg and Pb were strongly related, an indication that, metals may have come from similar pollution sources. Cr and Fe; Cu, Cr and Zn were not strongly related and this confirms an antagonistic and synergistic behavior.

A simple linear regression showed an influence of soil pH on Fe in soil, soil organic matter on Ni, Cu and Zn in soil; CEC influenced Ni, Cu, Zn and As in soil; soil clay content influenced Cr and Fe in soil; soil available P influenced Cd in soil. This result is an indication that, soil pH, SOM, CEC, soil clay content and soil available P, positively and significantly influenced total metal levels in the selected studied soils, an affirmation that, some metals are significantly related.

Evaluation of the geoaccumulation techniques (Igeo) at 0 - 15 cm found Cr, Fe, Ni, Cu, Zn, As, Cd and Hg as the most intense contaminants in SUA Kumasi dumpsite soil; While Pb was intensely the highest contaminant in KYE Mampong dumpsite soil. At 15 - 30 cm depth of soil, Igeo similarly found Cr, Fe, Ni, Cu, Zn, As, Pb and Hg as the most intense contaminants in SUA Kumasi dumpsite soil while Cd was the top contaminant in KYE Mampong dumpsite soil. Soils in pots under field conditions found Cr, Cu, Zn, As, and Hg were intensely contaminated in SUA Kumasi dumpsite soil while Fe, Cd were intensely contaminated in KYE Mampong dumpsite soil. Ni and Pb were intensely contaminated in AYE Kumasi dumpsite soil.

University of Education, Winneba http://ir.uew.edu.gh

Enrichment Factor (EF) contamination category at 0 - 15 cm found Cr, Fe, Ni, Cu, Zn, As, Cd and Hg very strongly influenced by human in SUA Kumasi dumpsite soil while Pb was very strongly influenced by human in AYE Kumasi dumpsite soil. At 15 - 30 cm of soil depth, Cr and Pb were very strongly influenced by human in AYE Kumasi dumpsite soil. Fe, Ni, Cu, Zn and Hg were very strongly influenced by human in SUA Kumasi dumpsite soil while As and Cd were very strongly influenced by human in KYE Mampong dumpsite soil. EF in pots under field conditions found Cr, Fe, Ni, Cu, Zn and Hg very strongly influenced by human in SUA Kumasi dumpsite soil. EF in pots under field conditions found Cr, Fe, Ni, Cu, Zn and Hg very strongly influenced by human in SUA Kumasi dumpsite soil. As and Cd were very strongly influenced by human in SUA Kumasi dumpsite soil. As and Cd were very strongly influenced by human in AYE Mampong dumpsite soil.

Relative top soil enrichment factor (RTEF) for 0 - 15 cm and 15 - 30 cm depths under field conditions found Cr, Fe and Hg contamination of Kumasi AYE dumpsite top soil, Cu, As and Pb were found to have contaminated Kumasi MED background top soil, Zn contamination was found in Mampong KYE dumpsite soil while Cd contaminated Kumasi SUA dumpsite top soil. Transfer ratio (TR) values in pots under field studies showed that, Cr was the mostly transferred metal in lettuce in Mampong KYE dumpsite soil. Fe, Ni, Cd, Hg and Pb were the mostly transferred metals in Kumasi MED background soil. Zn and As were the mostly transferred metals in Mampong UEW forest background soil but Zn was the most highest transferred metal among the selected metals from Mampong UEW forest background soil into lettuce plant. Translocation Factor (TF) found Cr, Ni and Hg as highly conducted metals in lettuce from Kumasi MED background soil. Fe, As, Cd and Pb were highly conducted in lettuce plant from Mampong UEW forest background soil. Cu and Zn were highly conducted in lettuce plant from Kumasi SUA Magazine dumpsite soil in pots under field conditions.

6.2 Recommendations

It is suggested that other ecological zones within the remaining regions in Ghana be covered to confirm the following results.

Bioassessibility studies should be conducted to confirm if metal contaminated edible plant parts within the farming community could have a negative health impact.

Bioassessibility studies needs to be conducted to confirm if metal contaminated edible plant parts within the farming community could have a negative health impact.

Vegetable farmers at Kumasi Suame magazine dumpsite (SUA) knowledge on hazardous toxic metals should be intensified to ensure better food safety adherence for the consuming public

Dumpsites at Kumasi Suame Magazine should be excavated and transported to fill a landfill site designated for hazardous wastes.

REFERENCES

- Abdul, N. (2010). Availability, transfer and balances of Heavy metal in urban agriculture of West Africa Kassel University press. Available online http://www.upress.unikassel.de (accessed on 15th September, 2021).
- Abedin, M.J., Cotter-Howells, J., Meharg, A.A. (2002). Arsenic uptake and accumulation in rice (Oryza sativa L.) irrigated with contaminated water. *Plant Soil* 240, 311–319.
- Abhishek Dixit, Surendra Roy (2016). Assessment of Health Risk due to Contaminated Soil and Remediation Techniques - A Case Study. *Resources and Environment*, 6(6): 148-153 DOI: 10.5923/j.re.20160606.08
- Abidemi, O. (2011). Levels of Pb, Fe, Cd and Co in soils of automobile workshop in Osun State, Nigeria. *Journal of Applied Sciences and Environmental Management*. Vol 15, pp 355-362.
- Aboud, S. J., & Nandini, N. (2009). Heavy metal analysis and sediment quality values in urban lakes. *Am. J. environ. Sci*, 5 (6) 678-687.
- Abrahim, G.M.S. and R.J. Parker (2008). Assessment of heavy metal enrichment factors and the degree of contamination in marine sediments from Tamaki Estuary, Auckland, New Zealand. *Environmental Monitoring and Assessment*, 136: 227-238.
- Achakzai Abdul, Kabir Khan, Zahoor Ahmed Bazai and Safdar Ali Kayani (2011). Accumulation of heavy metals by lettuce (Lactuca Saliva L.). Irrigated with different levels of waste water of quetta city. *Pak. J. Bot.*, 43 (6): 2953-2960.
- Addis, W., Abebaw, A. (2017). Determination of heavy metal concentration in soils used for cultivation of Allium sativum L. (garlic) in East Gojjam Zone, Amhara Region, Ethiopia, Cogent Chemistry, 3:1, 1419422.
- Adebiyi, P. E., Oloukoi, G. (2018). The study of potential toxic metals in dumpsites using surface soils and Talinum triangulare (water leaves) as environmental pollution indicators. *J Environ. Chem. Toxicol* Vol 2 No 2.
- Adekunle, I. M., Arowolo, T. A., Ndahi, N. P., Bello, B and Owolabi, D. A. (2007), Chemical characteristics of humic acids in relation to lead, copper and cadmium levels in contaminated soils from South West Nigeria, Anal. *Environ. Sci.* 1: 23-34.
- Adelekan, B. A., Abegunde K. D. (2011). Heavy metal contamination of soil and groundwater at automobile mechanic villages in Ibadan, Nigeria. *International Journal of physical sciences vol.* 6 (5), Pp. 1045-1058.
- Adelekan, B. A., Alawode, A. O. (2011). Contribution of municipal refuse dumps to Heavy metals concentrations in soil profile and groundwater in Ibadan Nigeria. *Journal of applied biosciences*. 40:2727-2737. ISSN 1997-5902.
- Adeoye, G. O., Sridhar, M. K., Ade Oluwa O. O., and Akinsoji, j. A., (2008). Evaluation of naturally decomposed solid wastes from municipal dumpsites for their Manorial value in Southwest Nigeria. *Journal of sustainable agriculture*, vol. 26 2005- issue 4.
- Adriano, D. C., Wenzel, W. W., Vangronsveld, J., Bolan, N. S. (2004). Role of assisted natural remediation in environmental clean up. Geoderma 122:121–142

- Adriano, D.C. (2003). Trace elements in terrestrial environments: biogeochemistry, bioavailability and risks of metals, 2nd edition, Springer, New York, pp. 1 – 45. NY. DOI: 10.1007/978-0-387-21510-5
- Aekola, F. A., Salami, N., Lawal, S. O. (2008). Research communication in chemistry 1:1, 24-30.
- Agbeshi, A. A., Adjei, R., Anokye, J., Banunle, A. (2020). Municipal waste dumpsite; Impact on soil properties and heavy metal concentrations, Sunyani, Ghana. *Scientific African* 8; 00390.
- Agyarko, K., Asiedu, E.K., Atubiga, I.K. and Anane, S. (2011). Determination and Restoration of Soil Fertility by Local Farmers: The Case of Techiman Municipality of Ghana. World Journal of Agricultural Sciences 7 (6): 667-67.
- Agyarko, K., Dartey, E., Berlinger, B. (2010). Metal levels in some refuse dump soils and plants in Ghana. *Plant soil environment*, 56, 5: 244-251.
- Agyarko, K., Dartey, E., Kuffour, R.A., Sarkodie, P.A. (2014). Assessment of Trace Elements Levels in Sediment and Water in Some Artisinal and Small - Scale Minning (ASM) Localities in Ghana. *Current World Environment Vol.* 9 (1), 07 – 16.
- Ahlijah, J. (2015). An assessment of the phenomenon of residential development close to solid waste dumpsites: the case study of the Pantang dumpsite. Master of Arts Development Studies, thesis submitted to the University of Ghana, Legon.
- Ahmad, M., Khan, M. S. (2011b). Toxicological assessment of selective pesticides towards plant growth promoting activities of phosphate solubilizing Pseudomonas aeruginosa. Acta Microbiol Immunol Hung, 58: 169-187.
- Ahmad, M., Lee, S.S., Yang, J., Ro, H., Lee, Y.H., Sikok, Y. (2012). Effects of soil dilution and amendments (mussel shell, cow bone, and biochar) on Pb availability and phytotoxicity in military shooting range soil. *Ecotoxicology and Environmental Safety* 79: 225–231. DOI:10.1016/j. ecoenv.2012.01.003.
- Ahmed, E., Zaidi, A., Khan, M. S., Oves, M. (2008). Heavy metal toxicity to symbiotic nitrogen-fixing micro-organism and host legumes. *Toxicity of heavy metals to legumes and bioremediation*.29-44.
- Ahmed, Md. K., Baki, M. A., Ku du, G. K., Islam, Md. S., Islam, Md. M and Hossain, Md. M. (2016). Human health risks from heavy metals in fish of Buriganga river, Bangladesh. Kawser Ahmed *et al.* Springer Plus; 5:1697 DOI 10.1186/s40064-016-3357-0
- Akan, Joseph Clement, Audu Stephen, I., Zakari Mohammed, Ogugbuaja Victor Obioma (2013). Assessment of Heavy Metals, pH, Organic Matter and Organic Carbon in Roadside Soils in Makurdi Metropolis, Benue State, Nigeria. Journal of Environmental Protection: 4, 618-628.
- Akanchise, T., Boakye, S, Borquaye, S. L., Dodd, M., Darko, G. (2020). Distribution of heavy metals in soils from abandoned dump sites in Kumasi, Ghana. Scientific African, doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sciaf.2020.e00614.
- Akobundu, N. A. and Nwankwoala, H. O. (2013). Evaluation of Heavy Metal in Soils from Enyimba Dumpsite in Aba, Southeastern Nigeria Using Contamination Factor and Geo-Accumulation Index. *Energy and Environment Research*, 3(1), 125-134.

- Akpoveta, O., Egharevba, F., Medjor, O. (2011). A pilot study on the biodegradation of hydrocarbon and its kinetics on kerosene simulated soil. Int. J. Environ. Sci. 2(1): 54 -61.
- Akpoveta, O.V., Osakwe, S.A., Okoh, B.E., Otuya, B.O. (2010). Physicochemical Characteristics and Levels of Some Heavy Metals in Soils around Metals Scrap Dumps in some parts of Delta state, *Nigeria. J. Applied Sci. Environ. Manag.* 2010. 14: 57-60.
- Alamgir, M. D. (2017). The Effects of Soil Properties to the Extent of Soil Contamination with Metals. H. Hasegawa et al. (Eds), Environmental Remediation Technologies for Metal - contaminated Soil, D0110.1007/ 978-4-431-55759-3-1.
- Ali, A., Sharif, M., Wahid, F., Zhang, Z., Shah, S.N.M., Rafiullah, Zaheer, S., Khan, F. and Rehman, F. (2014). Effect of Composted Rock Phosphate with Organic Materials on Yield and Phosphorus Uptake of Berseem and Maize. *American Journal of Plant Sciences*, 5, 975-984. https://doi.org/10.4236/ajps.2014.57110.
- Alloway, B. J. (1995). Introduction In: Alloway BJ (Ed.), Heavy Metals in Soils. Blackie Academic & Professional, New York: 7-39.
- Alloway, B. J. (1996). Heavy metal in soil 1st Edn halsted press, John Wiley and Sons Inc. London Pp. 11-37.
- Alloway, B. J. (1999). Schwermetalle in Böden: Analytik, Konzentrationen, Wechselwirkungen. Springer-Verlag, Berlin, Heidelberg.
- Alloway, B. J. (2012). Heavy metals in soils. Springer, Dordrecht.
- Alloway, B. J., Ayres, D. C. (1997). Chemical principle of environmental pollution 2nd edition. Brachie academic and professional, chapman and Hall London 190-242.
- Alloway, B.J. (1986). Agronomic control over the environmental cycling of elements. Adv Agron, vol. 20, pp. 235-274, 1968.
- Amadi Akobundu N., Nwankwoala H. O. (2013). Evaluation of heavy metal in soils eastern Nigeria using contamination factor and geo-accumulation index. *Energy and environment research vol.* 3 No.1.
- Amadi, A. N. (2010). Effects of urbanization on groundwater quality: A case study of Port-Harcourt, Southern Nigeria. Natur. *Appl. Sci. J.*, 11(2), 143-152.
- Amadi, A. N. (2011). Assessing the Effects of Aladimma Dumpsite on Soil and Groundwater Using Water Quality Index and Factor Analysis. *Australian Journal of Basic and Applied Sciences*, 5(11), 763-770.
- Amadi, A. N., Ameh, M. I., Jisa, J. (2010). The impact of dumpsites on groundwater quality in Markurdi Metropolis, Benue State. *Natur. Appl. Sci. J.*, 11(1), 90-102.
- Amadi, A. N., Olasehinde, P. I., Okosun, E. A., Okoye, N. O.m, Okunlola, I. A., Alkali, Y. B., and Dan- Hassan, M. A. (2012). A comparative study on the impact of Avu and Ihie dumpsites on soil quality in South eastern Nigeria American Journal of chemistry 2 (1): 20-23.
- Ambika Asati, Mohnish Pichhode, Kumar Nikhil (2016). Effect of Heavy Metals on Plants: An Overview, International Journal of Application or Innovation in Engineering & Management, 5(3), pp. 2319–4847. Available at: http://www.ijaiem.org/Volume5Issue3/IJAIEM-2016-03-17-12.pdf.

America bookseries, no. 8. Soil Science Society of America, Madison.

- Amos Tautua, Bamideele M. W., Onigbinde A. O., Ere, D. (2014). Assessment of some Heavy metals and physciochemical properties in surface soils of municipal waste dumpsites in Yenagoa, *Nigeria Academic Journals*. 8, 41-47.
- Amusan, A., Ige, D., Olawale, R. (2005). Characteristics of soils and crops' uptake of metals in municipal waste dump sites in Nigeria. *Journal of Human Ecology. Vol* 17(3), pp167-171.
- Ana, Z., L. J., Zhang. Z., Cheng, G. (2000). Cadmium and Zinc interaction and their transfer in soil- crop system under actual field conditions. *Sci. total environ*. Vol. 285 Pp. 187-195.
- Anderson, J. M., Ingram, J.S.I. (1989). Tropical Soil Biology and Fertility: A Handbook of Methods. CAB international, Wallingford.
- Anikwe, M. A. N., and Nwobodo, K. C. A. (2001). Long term effects of municipal waste disposal on soil properties and productivity of sitews used, for urban agriculture in
- Abakalikzzi, Nigeria, Bioresource Technology 83: 241- 250. Appeaning, A.K. (2010). Urban and peri-urban agriculture in developing countries studied using remote sensing and in situ methods. *Remote Sens*. 2(2):497-513.
- Appel, C. and Ma, L. (2002). Concentration, pH and surface charge effects on Cadmium and lead sorption in Three Tropical soils. *Journal of Environmental Quality*, 31, 581 589.
- Aprile, F.M., Bouvy, M. (2008). Distribution and enrichment of heavy metals in sediments at the Tapucuria river basin, Northeastern Brazil, Brazilian. Journal of Aquatic sciences and Technology 12, 1-8.
- Arenas Lago, D., Andrade, M.L, Lago-Vila, M., Rodriguez-Seijo, A., Vega, F.A. (2014). Sequential extraction of heavy metals in soils from copper mine: distribution in geochemical fractions. Geoderma 230-231: 108-118. DOI:10.1016/j.geoderma. 2014.04.011.
- Argun, M.E., Dursun, S., Ozdemir, C., Karatas, M. (2007). Heavy metal adsorption by modified oak sawdust: Thermodynamics and kinetics. *Journal of Hazardous Materials*, 141, 77 - 85.
- Arora, M., Kiran, B., Rani, S., Rani, A., Kaur, B. & Mittal, N. (2008). Heavy metal accumulation in vegetables irrigated with water from different sources. *Food Chemistry*, 111(4), 811-815.
- Arruti, A., Fernandez- Almo, I., Irabien, A. (2010). Evaluation of the contribution of local sources to trace metls levels in urban PM 2.5 and PM10 in the Cantabria region (Northern Spain). J. Environ. Monit. 12 (7): 1415-1458.
- Ashraf, R. and Ali, T.A. (2007). Effect of heavy metals on soil microbial community and mung beans seed germination. *Pakistan Journals of Botany*, 39 (2), 629-636.
- Ashworth, D. J., Alloway, B. J. (2004). Environmental pollution. 127: 137-144.Asomani -Boateng, R., Murray, H. (1999). Reusing organic solid waste in urban farming in
- African cities: a challenge for urban planners. In: Olanrewaju B.S. (ed.): Urban Agriculture in West Africa, Canada, 210.

- Atiemo, M.S., Ofosu, G.F., Kuranchie-Mensah, H., Tutu, A.O., Palm, N.D., Blankson, S.A. (2011). Contamination assessment of heavy metals in road dust from selected roads in Accra, Ghana *Res. J. Environ. Earth Sci.*, 3 (5) (2011), pp. 473-480.
- Atmojo, A.T. (2016). Media Mueller Hinton Agar. Available at: <u>http://medlab.id/media-</u> mueller-hinton-agar.html. Diakses pada 17 Februari 2017.
- Ato, A. F., Samuel, O., Oscar, Y. D., Alex, P., Moi, N., Akoto, B. (2010). Mining and heavy metal pollution: Assessment of aquatic environments in Tarkwa (Ghana) using multivariate statistical analysis. *Journal of Environmental Statistics*, 1(4), 1–13.
- ATSDR (1999). Toxicological profile for lead. U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Public Health Service, Agency for Toxic Substances and Disease Registry, Atlanta, GA., USA.
- Awasthi, S.K. (2000). Prevention of food adulteration act no. 37 of 1954. Central and State rules as amended for 1999. 3rd Edition. ashoka law House, new Delhi.
- Awokunmi, E. E., Asaolu, S. S., Ipinmoroti, K. O. (2010). Effect of leaching on heavy metals concentration of soil in some dumpsites. *African Journal of Environmental Science and Technology*, 4, 495 - 499.
- Awokunmi, E. E., Asaolu, S.S., Adefemi, S.O., Gbolagade, A.Y. (2015). Contributions of
- Municipal Solid Waste to Heavy Metal Concentration in Soil Near Oke Ese Dumpsite, Ilesha, Osun State, Nigeria. International Journal of Environmental Protection. Vol 3, pp 180 -186.
- Awomeso, J. A., Taiwo, A. M., Gbadebo, A. M., Arimoro, A. O. (2010). Waste disposal and pollution management in urban areas: A workabale remedy for the environment in developing countries. *Am. J. Environ. Sci.*, 6(1), 26-32.
- Aydinalp, C., Cresser, M. S. (2009). Distribution of heavy metals in irrigated vertical profiles in semiarid region of Turkey. *Polish Journal of environmental* studies 18 (4): 539-545.
- Aydinalp, C., Marinova, S. (2003). Distribution and forms of heavy metals in some agricultural soils. Polish Journal of environmental studies. 12 (5) Pp. 629-630.
- Badmus, V. C., Ozebo, O. A., Idowu, S., Ganiyu, A., Olurin. O.T. (2014). Physio- chemical properties and soil samples and dumpsites environmental impact oln groundwater quality in South Western Nigeria. the reviuew of physics, 9: 0015.
- Bai, J., Xiao, R., Zhang, K., Gao, H. (2012). Arsenic and heavy metal pollution in wetland soils from tidal freshwater and marches before and after the flowsediment regulation regime in the Yellow River Delta, China. *Journal of Hydrology* 450-451: 244–253.DOI:10.1016/j.jhydrol.2012.05.006.
- Baker, A. J. (1981). Accumulators and excluders strategies in the response of plants to heavy metals. *Journal of Plant Nutrition*, vol.3,pp.643–654, (1981).
- Baker, A., Reaves, R.D., McGrath, S.P. (1991). In Situ decontamination of Heavy metals
- polluted soils using crops of metal- accumulating plants- A feasibility study. Ind. (Eds): R. E. Hinchee and R. F. Olfenbuttel in Situ bioreclamation. Butterwortheinemann publishers. Satoneham, MA 539-544.
- Baker, A.J., Mcgrath, S.P., Reeves, R.D., Smith, J.A. (2000). Metal hyperaccumulator plants: a review of the ecology and physiology of a biological resource for

phytoremediation of metal-polluted soils", Oxford University research Archive.

- Balkhair, K. S., Ashraf, M. A. (2016). Field accumulation risks of heavy metals in soil and vegetable crop irrigated with sewage water.
- Bamidele, A. T, Onigbinde, M. W, Adebayo, O., Diepreye, E. (2014). Assessment of heavy metals content and physicochemical properties in surface soil of municipal open waste dumpsites in Yenagoa, Nigeria. *African Journal or Environmental Science and Technology*. Vol. 8 (1):41-47.
- Banat, K. M., Howari, F. M. and Al-Hamad, A. A. (2005). Heavy metals in urban soils of central Jordan: Should we worry about their environmental risks? *Environmental Research*, 97: 258–273.
- Banerjee, S.S., Jayaram, R.V., Joshi, M.V. (2003). Removal of nickel and zinc(II) from wastewater using fly ash and impregnated fly ash. Sep Sci Technol 38:1015 1032.
- Barber, S. A. (1984). Soil Nutrient Bioavailability: A Mechanistic Approach" John Wiley, New York.
- Barrachina, A.C., Carbonell, F.B., Beneyto, J.M. (1995). Arsenic uptake, distribution, and accumulation in tomato plants: effect of arsenite on plant growth and yield. *Journal of Plant Nutrition*, vol.18, no.6, pp.1237–1250.
- Basta, N. T., Ryna, Chaney R. (2005). "Trace elements chemistry in residual- treated soil: key concepts and metal bioavailability. *Journal of environmental quality* vol 34 No. 1 pp 49-63.
- Behera, S.K, Shukla A.K. (2015). Spatial distribution of surface soil acidity, electrical conductivity, soil organic carbon content and exchangeable potassium, calcium and magnesium in some cropped acid soils of India. Land Degradation & Development 26: 71–79. DOI:10.1002/ldr.2306.
- Bekteshi, A. and Bora, G. (2013). Uptake of heavy metals from Plantago major in the region of Durrës, Albania. *Polish Journal of Environmental Studies* 22: 1881-1885.
- Bhargava, A., Carmona, F.F., Bhargava, M., Srivastava, S. (2012). Approaches for enhanced phytoextraction of heavy metals. *J. Environ. Manag.* 105, 103–120.
- Bhattacharya, A., Routh, J., Jacks, G. (2006). Environmental assessment of Abandoned mine Tailings in Adak Vasterbotten District (Northern Swedru). Applied Geochemistry, 21: 1760 - 1780.
- Bhattacharya, P., Mukherjee, A.B., Jacks, G., Nordqvist, S. (2002). Metal contamination experimental studies on remediation. *The Science of Total Environment* 290: 165 180.
- Birch, G. F., Olmos, M. A., (2008). Sediments- bound Heavy metals as indicators of human influence and biological risk in coastal water bodies, ICES. *Journal of Marine Science* 65: 1407-1413.
- Blake, G. R. and Hartge, K. H. (1986). Bulk density, in: Methods of Soil Analysis, Part 2. Chemical and Microbiological Properties, edited by: Page, A. L., Miller, R. H., and Keeney, D. R., SSSA, Madison, WI, 363–375, 1986.
- Boamponsem, G.A., Kumi, M., Debrah, I. (2012). Heavy Metals Accumulation In Cabbage, Lettuce And Carrot Irrigated With Wastewater From Nagodi Mining Site In Ghana. International Journal of Scientific & Technology Research Volume 1, Issue 11.

- Bodur, M. N., Ergin, M. (1994). Geochemical characteristics of the recent sediment from the Sea of Marmara. Chem. Geol., 115, 73-101. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/0009-</u> 2541(94)90146-5.
- Bohn, H.L., McNeal B.L., Gonner, G.A.O. (195). Soil chemistry. John Wiley and Sons, New York.
- Bolan, N.S., Makino, T., Kunhikrishnan, A., Kim, P.J., Ishikawa, S., Murakami, M., Naidu, R., Kirkham, M.B. (2013). Cadmium contamination and its risk management in rice ecosystems. Adv Agron 119:183–273.
- Boszke, L., Sobczynski, T., Kowalsski, A. (2004). Daistribution of mercury and other Heavy metals in button sediments of the middle Odra river (Germany/ Poland), *polish Journal of environmental studies*. 13: 495-502.
- Bradi, H.B. (2002). Heavy metals in the environment; origin, interaction and remediation volume 6. London; Academic Press. WHO/FAO/IAEA.(1996).World Health organization. Switzerland, Genera,Trace Elements in Human Nutrition and Health.
- Bradi, H. B. (2004). Adsorptionofheavymetalionsonsoilsandsoils constituents," *Journal of Colloid and Interface Science*, vol. 277, no. 1, pp. 1–18.
- Brady, N. C., and Weil, R. (1996). The nature and Properties of Soils" Macmillan Publishing Company, Company, New York, pp 881.
- Bray, R.H. and Kurtz, L.T. (1945). Determination of Total organic and Available Phosphorus in soils. Soil Science, 59:30-45.
- Brian, J. J., Alloway (2010). Heavy metals in soils; trace metal and metalloids in soils and their bioavculability. Third edition.
- Buat Menard, P., Chesselet, R., (1979). Variable influence of the atmospheric flux on the trace metal chemistry of oceanic suspended matter, Earth and Planetary Science Letters. 42; 398 411.
- Buccolien, A., Buccolierti, G., Cardellicchio, N. (2006). heavy metals in marine sediments of Taranto Gulf (Ionain sea, Southern Italy). Marine chemistry, 99: 227-235.
- Buekers, J. (2007). Fixation of cadmium, copper, nickel and zinc in soil: kinetics,
- mechanisms and its effect on metal bioavailability. PhD, Department of Microbial and Molecular Systems, Katholieke Universiteit Leuven, Flanders, Belgium.
- Buszewski, B., Jastrzeska, A., Kowalkowski, T., Gorna-Binkul, A. (2000). Monitoring of selected heavy metals uptake by plants and soils in the area of Torun, Poland. *Pol. J. Environ stud.* 9 (6): 511-515.
- Caeiro, S., Costa, M. H., Ramos, T. B. (2005). Assessing Heavy metals contamination in Sado Estuary sediment: An index analysis approach. *Ecological indicators*, 5: 151-169.
- Cai, L., Zhencheng, X., Ren, M., Guo, Q., Hu, X., Hu, G., Wan, H., Peng, P. (2012). Source identification of eight hazardous heavy metals in agricultural soils of Huizhou, Guangdong Province, China. *Ecotoxicology and Environmental Safety* 78: 2–8. DOI:10.1016/j.ecoenv.2011.07.004.
- Cai, L.M., Xu, Z.C., Qi, J.Y., Feng, Z.Z., Xiang, T.S. (2015). Assessment of exposure to heavy metals and health risks among residents near Tonglushan mine in Hubei, China. Chemosphere; 127:127-135. doi:10.1016/j. chemosphere.2015.01.027.

- Calabro, P.S (2010). Impact of mechanical street cleaning and rainfall events on the quantity and Heavy metals load of street sediments. *Environ Technol 31*, 1255 -1262.
- Carlson, C.W. (1976). Land application of waste materials. Soil Conservation Society of America, Ankeny, Iowa, pp: 3 -7.
- Cempel, M. Nikel, G. (2006). Nickel A review of its sources and environmental toxicity. *Polish J. of Environs stud.* 15 (3); 375-385.
- Chaab, A., Savaghebi, G. H. (2010). Effect of Zinc Application on the Cadmium Uptake of maize Growth. *Segment Journals* .AGS 1515.
- Chakraborty, A., Bhattacharyya, P., Chakrabarti, K., Tripathy, S., Powell, M. A. (2015). Fractionation and bioavailability of Pb in municipal solid waste compost and Pb uptake by rice straw and grain under submerged condition in amended soil. *Geosciences Journal*, 12, (1), 41 – 45.
- Chamberlain, A.C. (1983). Fallout of lead and uptake by crops. J. Atmos. Environ., 17: 693-706.
- Chandran, S., Niranjana, V., Benny, J. (2012). Accumulation of heavy metals in wastewater irrigated crops in Madurai, India. J Environ. Res. Dev. 6, 432–438.
- Chang, C.Y., Yu, H.Y., Chen, J.J., Li, F.B., Zhang, H.H., Liu, C.P. (2014). Accumulation of heavy metals in leaf vegetables from agricultural soils and associated potential health risks in the Pearl River Delta, South China. *Environmental Monitoring and Assessment* 186: 1547–1560. DOI:10.1007/s10661-013-3472-0.
- Charlesworth, S., Everett, M., McCarthy, R., Ordonez, A., De Miguel, E. (2003). A comparative study of heavy metal concentration and distribution in deposited street dusts in a large and a small urban area: Birmingham and Coventry, West Midlands, UK: *Environ. Int.*, 29 (2003), pp. 563-573. doi:10.1016/S0160-4120(03)00015-1.
- Chary, N.S., Kamala, C.T., Raj, D.S.A. (2008). Assessing risk of heavy metals from consuming food grown on sewage irrigated soils and food chain transfer. *Ecotoxicol. Environ. Safety.* 2008; 69: 513-524.
- Chatterjee, A., Banerjee, R. N. (1999). Determination of lead aand other metals in a residential area off greater Calcutta. *The science of the total environment.* 227 (2-3): 175-185.
- Chavez, E, He, Z.L., Stoffella, .PF., Mylavarapu, R.S., Li, Y.C., Moyano, B., Baligar, V.C. (2015). Concentration of cadmium in cacao beans and its relationship with soil cadmium in southern Ecuador. Science of the Total Environment 533: 205–214. DOI:10.1016/j. scitotenv.2015.06.106.
- Chealteau, B. (1983). Lead and cadmium concentrations in crops from selected markets in Ghana. M.Sc. Thesis, Kwame Nkrumah University of Science and Technology, Ghana.Chemical Science Review and Letters. 4. 57-66.
- Chen, Z.S., lee, D.Y. (1997). Evaluation of remediation techniques on two cadmium polluted soils in taiwan. in: iskandar a., adriano D.C. (eds.): remediation of Soils Contaminated with Metals. *Science reviews, northwood*, 209–223.
- Chibuike, G. U., Obiora, S. C. (2014). Heavy metal polluted soils: Effects on plants and bioremediation methods applied and environmental soil science volume, 12 pages.

- Chindo, S. Y., Agbaji, E. B., and Omoniyi, K. I (2016). Determination of some Heavy metals in dumpsite soil and Abelmoschus esculents grown near dumpsites in Kafanchan metropolis, Kaduna state, Nigeria. *Ethiopia Journal of* environmental studies and management 9 (5): 641-652.
- Chiroma, T. M., Ebewele, R. O. and Hymore, F. K. (2014). Comparative assessment of heavy metal levels in soil, vegetables and urban grey waste water used for irrigation in Yola and Kano. *International Refereed Journal of Engineering and Science*, 3, 01-09.
- Chishti K. A, Khan F. A, Hassan S. S. M. (2011). Estimation of heavy metals in the seeds of blue and white capitalism's of silybum marianum grown in various districts of Pakistan. *Journal of Basic and Applied Science* 7(1):45-49.
- Clarkson, D.T., Luttge, U. (1989). Mineral nutrition: divalent cations, transport and compartmentation. Prog. Bot. 51, 93–112.
- Clesceri, L.S. (1998). Standard Methods for the Examination of Water and Waste Water, in
- Collection and Preservation of Samples and Metals. APHA, AWWA, WEF, Washington, DC.
- Cobb, G. P., Sands, K., Waters, M. Wixon, B. G., Dorward- King, E. (2000). Accumulation of Heavy metals by vegetables grown in mine wastes. *Env. Toxicol. Chem* 19:600-607.
- Coffie, F. M. (2010). Landfill sites management challenges: The perceived effect and willingness on the part of the people in the Ga East and South Municipalities to pay for improvement (master"s thesis, Kwame Nkrumah University of Science and Technology, Kumasi, Ghana). Retrieved from http://www.udsspace.uds.edu.gh/bitstream/123456789/455/1/WILLINGNES S.
- Coffie, O., Kranjac-Berisavljevic, G., Drechsel, P. (2005). The use of human waste for periurban agriculture in Northern Ghana. Renew. Agric. Food Syst. 20(2):73-80.
- Colbourn, P., Thornton, I. (1978). Lead Pollution in Agricultural Soils. *Jour of Soil Sci.* vol. 29, pp. 513-526.
- Compet, M., Nikel, G. (2006). Nickel A review of its source and Environmental Toxicity. *Polish Journal of Environmental studies*. 15 (3). 375-382.
- Condar, D., Lopez, R., Fios, Antelo, J. M., Arce, F. (2006). Cadmium, lead and copper binding to humic and fuvice acid extracted from an Ombrotrpic peat bog Geodema 135; 196-203.
- Connell, D.W., Miller, G.J. (1984). Chemistry and ecotoxicology of pollution. Wiley, New York. Content of certain weeds', *J. Nature Conserve.* 4, 1–6.
- Corbeels Mark, ShiferawAbebe and HaileMitiku (2000). Farmers' knowledge of soil fertility and local management strategies in Tigray, Ethiopia. Managing Africa's Soils No. 10.
- Cortez, L. A. S. and Ching, J. A. (2014). Heavy metal concentration of dumpsite soil and accumulation in Zea mays (corn) growing in a closed dumpsite in Manila, Philippines. *International Journal of Environmental Science and Development*, 5, 77-80.
- Cui, H., Fan, Y., Fang, G., Zhang, H., Su, B., Zhou, J (2016). Leachability, availability and bioaccessibility of Cu and Cd in a contaminated soil treated with apatite, lime

and charcoal: a five-year field experiment," *Ecotoxicology and Environmental Safety, vol.* 134, pp. 148–155.

- Czarnecki, S., Düring, R.A. (2015). Influence of long-term mineral fertilization on metal contents and properties of soil samples taken from different locations in Hesse, Germany. Soil 1: 23–33. DOI:10.5194/soil-1-23-2015.
- D' Amore, J. J., Al-Abed, S. R, Scheckel, K. G; and Ryan, J. A. (2000). Methods for speciation of metals in Soils; a review, Journal of Environmental Quality.vo1.34,no.5PP1707-1745.
- D' Souza, Ana Maria, Mello Bicalho and Ricardo Trippia dos Guimarães Peixoto (2016). Farmer and scientific knowledge of soil quality: a social ecological soil systems approach. Belgeo [Online], 4 | 2016, Online since 31 December 2016, connection on 01 May 2019. URL : http://journals.openedition.org/ belgeo/20069 ; DOI : 10.4000/belgeo.20069.
- Danso, G., Fialor, S.C, Drechsel, P. (2002). Perceptions of organic agriculture by urban vegetable farmers and consumers in Ghana. Urban Agric. Mag., 6: 23-24.
- Darko, G., Adjei, S., Nkansah, M.A., Borquaye, L.S., Boakye, K.O., Dodd, M. (2020). Accumulation and bioaccessibility of toxic metals in root tubers and soils from gold mining and farming communities in the Ashanti region of Ghana, *Int. J. Environ. Health Res.* 00 (2020) 1–11. https://doi.org/10.1080/09603123.2020.1772203.
- Darko, G., Dodd M., Nkansah, M. A., Ansah, E., Aduse- Poku, Y. (2017). Distribution and bioaccessbility of metals in urban soils in Kumasi metroplolis, Ghana. *Environmental monitoring and assessment*, 189 (6), 260.
- Davidson, C. (2013). Methods for the determination of heavy metals and metalloids in soils. In Heavy Metals in Soils: Trace Metals and Metalloids in Soils and Their Bioavailability, Alloway, B.J., Ed.; Springer: Berlin, Germany; Volume 22, pp. 97–140.
- Dawoe, E. K., Quashie- Sam, J., Isaac, M. E., Oppong, S. K., (2012). Exploring farmer's local knowledge and perceptions of soil fertility and management in the Ashanti region of Ghana. Geoderma 179-180: 96-103.
- Day, P. R. (1965). Particle fractionating and particle size analysis. In: C. A. Black (ed). Methods of soil analysis, Part 1. American Soc. Of Agron., Madison, Wisconsin.
- Deshmukh, K.K. (2012). Studies on chemical characteristics and Classification of soils from sangamner area, Ahmednagar district, Maharashtra, India Vol. 5 No.1 7485 *Rasayan journal.*
- Dinis, M. D. E. L. and Fiúza, A. (2011). Environment : Measures to eliminate or reduce; Pp. 27–51. Doi: 10.1007/978-94-007-0253-0.
- Doran, J. W and Zeiss, M. R. (2000). Appl. Soil Ecology, 15, 3-11.
- Dubbeling, M, De Zeeuw, H (2011). Urban Agriculture and climate change adaptation: ensuring food security through adaptation. Resilient Cities. Springer.
- Due, R. A., Hoffmann, G. L., Zoller, W. H., (1975). Northern and Southern Hemisphere sites pollution or natural? *Science* 187: 59-61.
- Duffus, J. H. (2002). "Heavy metals" a meaningless term? (IUPAC Technical Report)', Pure and Applied Chemistry, 74(5), pp. 793–807. doi: 10.1351/pac200274050793.

- Duruibe J.O., Ogwuegbu M.O.C. and Egwurugwu J. N. (2007). Heavy metal pollution and human biotoxic effects. *International Journal of Physical Sciences*, 2 (5), 112-118.
- Dutch Intervention Values for standard soils and water environmental ltd. (2005).
- Dutta, S. K., Singh, D., Sood, A. (2011). Effect of soil chemical and physical properties on sorption and desorption behavior of lead in different soils of India. *Soil Sediment Contam* 20:249 260.
- Draye, X., F. Lecompte and L. Pagès (2005). Distribution of banana roots in time and space: New tools for an old science. Pp. 58-74 in Banana Root System: Towards a Better Understanding for its Productive Management. Proceedings of an International Symposium Held in San José, Costa Rica, 3-5 November 2003 (D.W. Turner and F.E. Rosales, eds.). INIBAP, Montpellier, France.
- Ebong, G. A., Akpan, M.M., Mkpenie, V. N. (2008). Heavy metal contents of municipal and
- rural dumpsite soils and rate of accumulation by Carica papaya and Talinum triangulare in Uyo, Nigeria. *E- Journal of Chemistry* http://www.e-journals.net, 5: 281–290.
- Effiong, G.S., Libia, T.O. (2003). Mineral fertilizers, Manufacture and chemistry in the soil environment. Teaching Monograph, University of Uyo. Nigeria.
- Egyir, I., Beinpuo, E. (2009). Strategic innovations in urban agriculture, food supply and livelihood support systems performance in Accea, Ghana. College of Agriculture and Consumer Sciences. University of Ghana.
- Ehi, R. O., Uzu, F. (2011). Fate of some heavy metals in soils: a review. Journal of Applied and Natural Science. 3; 131 138. 10.31018/v3i1.171.
- Elliott, H.A., Liberati, H.A. and Huang, C.P. (1986). Competitive adsorption of heavy metals by soils. *Journal of Environmental Quality*. Vol 15, pp 214-219.
- Eneje, R. C., Lemoha, K. T. (2012). Heavy Metal Content and Physicochemical Properties of Municipal Solid Waste Dump Soils in Owerri Imo State. *International Journal of Modern Engineering Research* (IJMER). Vol.2, Issue.5, pp-3795-3799. www.ijmer.com, 2012.
- Esmaeili, A., Moore, F., Keshavarzi, B., Jaafarzadeh, N., Kermani, M. (2014). A geochemical survey of heavy metals in agricultural and background soils of the Isfahan industrial zone, Iran. Catena 121: 88–98. DOI:10.1016/j. catena.2014.05.003.
- Evans, L. J. (1989). Chemistry of metal retention by soils. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* 23, 1046–1056.
- Eze, O.C., Tukura, B. W., Atolaiye, B.O., Opaluwa, O. D. (2018). Assessment of Some Physicochemical Parameters of Soil and Heavy Metals In Vegetables Cultivated On Irrigated SitesAlong The Bank of Mpape River In FCT, Abuja, Nigeria. IOSR Journal of Environmental Science, Toxicology and Food Technology (IOSR-JESTFT) e-ISSN: 2319-2402,p- ISSN: 2319-2399.Volume 12, Issue 5 Ver. I, pp 28-38; www.iosrjournals.org
- FAO / WHO (2001). Codex alimentarius commission. Food additives and contaminants. Joint FAO / WHO Food Standards Programme, ALINORM 10/12A.
- FAO / WHO (2011). Joint FAO/WHO Food Standards Programme Codex Committee on contaminants in foods. ftp://ftp.fao.org/codex/meetings/CCCF/cccf5/cf05 INF.pdf

- Farouque, M.G., Roy, D. and Kabir, K.H. (2019). Influence of Social Networks on Information Acquisition and Adoption of Soil Fertility Management Technologies. *Bangladesh Journal of Extension Education Volume* 31, No. 1&2: 107-117.
- Fatoki, O. S. (2000). Trace zinc and copper concentration in road side vegetation and surface soils: a measurement of local atmospheric pollution in Alice, South Africa. *International Journal of Environmental Studies*, 57: 501–513.
- Fine, P., Scagnossi, A. Chen, Y., and Milgelgrin, U. (2005). Practical and mechanistic aspects of the removal ofd Cadmium from aqueous systems using peat. *Environmental pollution* 138: 358-367.
- Fontes, F., Matos, M.P., Teixeira, A., Da Costa, M.L., Neves, L., Ce'sar, J. (2000). Competitive adsorption of zinc, cadmium, copper, and lead in three highlyweathered Brazilian soils. *Commun Soil Sci Plant Anal* 31:2939 - 2958.
- Forstener, U. (1995). Land contamination by metals global scope and magnitude of problem, in Metal Speciation and Contamination of Soil, H.E. Allen, C.P. Huang, G.W. Bailey, and A. R. Bowers, Eds., pp.1–33, CRC Press, Inc., Boca Raton, FL, USA.
- Förstener, U., Ahlf, W., Calmano, W. (1993). Sediment quality objectives and criteria development in Germany. *Water Science and technology*, 28: 307.
- Fosu Mensah, B. Y., Addae E., Yirenkyi- Tawiah, D., Nyame, F. (2017). Heavy metals
- concentration and distribution in soils and vegetation at Korle- Lagoon area in Accra, *Ghana* environmental science 3; 1405887.
- Fotovat, A., Naidu R., Oades, J.M. (1996). The Effect of Major Cations and Ionic Strength on Desorption of Na- tive Heavy Metals in Acidic and Sodic Soils," The 1st International Conference on Contaminants in the Soil Environment, Adelaide: pp. 193-194.
- Franco Uria, A., Lopez- Meteo, C., Roca, E., Fernandez Marcos, M. I. (2009). Source identification of Heavy metals in posture land by multiviate analysis in NW Spain J. Hazard mater 165: 1008-1015.
- Franzen, C., Kilian, R., Biester, H. (2004). Natural Mercury enrichment in a Minerogenicfen-evaluation of sources and processes. J. Enveron Monit 6 ; 466-472.
- Fuge, R. (2013). Anthropogenic sources. Essentials of medical geology. Springer.
- Fuortes, L., Schenck, D. (2000). Marked elevation of urinary zinc levels and Pleyral- friction rub in metal fumr fever. *Veterinary and human toxicology*, vol 42, no. 3, Pp. 164 -165.
- Gad, N. (2006). Increasing the efficiency of nitrogen fertilization through Cobalt application to pea plant Res. J. Agric. Biol. Sci. 2, 433-442.
- Gairola, S. U., Soni, P. (2010). Role of soil physical properties in ecological succession of restored mine land. A case study international Journal of environmental sciences I (4) pp. 475- 480.
- Gao, X., Chen, C. T. A. (2012). Heavy metal pollution status in surface sediments of the coastal Bohay Bay. Water Research 46: 1901–1911. DOI : 10.1016/ j.watres.2012.01.007.
- Gao, Y., He, J., Ling, W., Hu, H., Liu, F. (2003). Effects of organic acids on copper and cadmium desorption from contaminated soils. *Environ Int* 29:613–618.

- Getacchew Demie, Habtamu Degefa (2015). Heavy metals pollution off soil around solid waste dumping sites and its impact on adjacent community. The case study of Shashemane open landfill, Ethiopia. *Journal of environmental and earth science*. Vol. 5. No. 15.
- Ghana Statistical Service (2013). 2010 Population and Housing Census: National Analytical Report. Accra, GSS.
- Ghang, L. W., Magos, L., Suzuki, T. (1996). Toxicology of Metals. Boca Raton. FL.USA; CRA Press.
- Ghani, A. (2010. Toxic effects of heavy metals on plant growth and metal accumulation in maize (ZeamaysL.),"*Iranian Journal of Toxicology*, Vol. 3, no. 3, pp.325–334.
- Ghorbani, N.R., Salehrastin, N. and Moeini, A. (2006). Heavy metals affect the microbial populations and their activities. Symposium No 54. at 17th World Congress of Soil Science. Thailand. 2234: 1-11.
- Ghosh, M., Singh, S. (2005). A review on phytoremediation of heavy metals and utilization of it's by products. *Asian J Energy Environ* 6:18.
- Ghrefat, H.A. Abu-Rukah, Y. and Rosen, M.A. (2011). Application of geoaccumulation index and enrichment factor for assessing metal contamination in the sediments of Kafrain Dam, Jordan. *Environ. Monit. Assess.*, 178, 95–109.
- Giovanni Dalcorso, Anna Manara, Silvia Piasentin and Antonella Furini (2014). Nutrient metal elements in plants. *Royal society of chemistry*.
- Gomez, K.A. and Gomez, A. A. (1984). Statistical procedures for agricultural research (2 ed.). John wiley and sons, NewYork, 680p.
- Gong Qinjie, Deng Jun, Xiang Yunchuan, Wang Qingfei, Yang Liqiaang (2008). Calculating pollution indices by Heavy metals in ecological geochemistry assessment and a case study in parks of Beijing. *Journal of China University* of Geosciences vol. 19. No. 3, p. 230-241.
- Gonsior, S.J., Sorci, J.J., Zoellner, M.J., Landenberger, B. D. (1997). The effects of EDTA on metal solubilization in river sediment/water systems. *J Environ Qual* 26:957–966.
- Gouveia, N., and do Prado, R. R. (2010). Health risks in areas close to urban solid waste
- landfill sites. Rev Saúde Pública, Vol. 44, No. 5, pp. 1 8.Greany, K. M. (2005). An assessment of Heavy metals contamination in the marine sediments of Las Perlas Archipelago, Gulf of Panama, M.S. thesis, school of life Sciences Heriot-Watt University, Edinburgh, Scotland.
- Guala S.D., Vega F. A., Covelo, E.F. (2010). The dynamics of heavy metals in plant-soil interactions. *Ecological Modelling*, 221, 1148-1152.
- Gupta Neha, Krishna Kumar Yadav, Vinit Kumar, Sandeep Kumar, Richard P. Chadd, Amit Kumard (2019). Trace elements in soil-vegetables interface: Translocation, bioaccumulation, toxicity and amelioration - A review. Science of the Total Environment 651; 2927–2942.
- GWRTAC (1997). Remediation of metals contaminates soils and groundwater. Tech. Rep. TE- 97-01. GWRTAC, Pittsburgh, Paa, USA. GWRTAC-E series.
- Hameed Abdul M. J., Obaidy, A. L., Athmar., Mashhadi, A. L. (2013). Heavy metal contamination in Urban soil within Baghdad city, Iraq. *Journal of environmental protection*, 4 72- 82 <u>http://dx.org/10.4236/jep.2013.41008</u>.

- Hammed, A., Olayiwola, Lukuman Abudulawal, Gbola. K. Adewuyi, Mohammed O. Azeez (2017). Heavy Metal Contents in Soil and Plants at Dumpsites: A Case Study of Awotan and Ajakanga Dumpsite Ibadan, Oyo State, Nigeria. *Journal of Environment and Earth Science* Vol.7, No.4.
- Hao, H., Zhong, R., Xiau, R., Liu, C., Zhong, X. (2012). The effect of transpiration for heavy metal uptake of hyperaccumulators. *Appl. Mech. Mater.* 178–181, 901–904.
- Hao, X., Zhou, D., Wang, Y., Shi, F., and Jiang, P. (2011). Accumulation of Cd, Zn Pb and
- Cd in Edible Parts of Four Commonly Grown Crops in Two Contaminated Soils. International Journal of Phytoremediation, 13(3):289–301.
- Harrison, R. M and Chirgow, M. B. (1989). The assessment of air soil as contributors of some trace metals to vegetable plants. Use of filtered air growth cabinet sci total environ. 83, 13-34.
- Harter, R. D. (1983). Effect of soil pH on adsorption of lead, copper, zinc and nickel. *Soil Science Society of America Journal*, vol.47, no.1, pp.47–51,(1983).
- Harter, R.D., Naidu, R. (2001). An assessment of environmental and solution parameter impact on trace-metal sorption by soils. *Soil Sci Soc Am J* 65:597 612.
- Hasan, S.H., Ra, S., Rupainwar, D.C. (2012). Removal of zinc from wastewater by water hyacinth. *Indian Journal of Chemical technology*, 10: 274–280.
- He, Z. L., Yang, X. E., Staffella, P. J. (2005). Trace elements in agro systems and impacts on the environment. *J. Trace Elem. Med boil.* 19 (2-3): 125-140.
- Helmenstine, A. M. (2014). Heavymetalsdefinition. <u>http://chemistry.about.com/od/chemistry</u> glossary/g/Heavy-Metal-Definition.htm.
- Henry, J.R. (2000). An Overview of Phytoremediation of Lead and Mercury NNEMS Report, Washington, D.C. p. 3 9.
- Hinojosa, M.B., Carreira J.A., Ruiz R.G., and Dick R.P. (2004). Soil moisture pretreatment effects on enzyme activities as indicators of heavy metal contaminated and reclaimed soils. Soil Biology & Biochemistry, 36, 1559 – 1568.
- Hogarh, J. N. (2008). Assessment of Heavy Metal Contamination and Macro-nutrient Content of Composts for Environmental Pollution Control in Ghana Noguchi Memorial Institute for Medical Research, College of Health Sciences ', 2(3), pp. 133–139.
- Horckmans, L., Swennen, R., and Deckers, J. (2007). Retention and release of Zn and Cd in spodic horizons as determined by PH state analysis and single extractions science of the total environmental 367. 86-89.
- Huang, S., Peng, B., Yang, Z., Chai, L. and Zhou, L. (2009). Chromium accumulation, microorganism population and enzyme activities in soils around chromiumcontaining slag heap of steel alloy factory. Transactions of Nonferrous Metals Society of China, 19, 241-248.
- Hunt, J. R. (2003). Bioavailability of iron, zinc, and other trace minerals from clinical nutrition, vol 78, No 3, Pp. 6335- 6395.
- Ibe Francis Chizoruo, Beniah Obinna Isiuku and Enyoh Christian Ebere (2017). Trace metals analysis of soil and edible plant leaves from abandoned municipal waste dumpsite in Owerri, Imo state, Nigeria. WNOFNS 13 (2017) 27-42.

- Ibrahim, E. G., Egila, J. N., Gube- Ibrahim, M. A. (2013). Speciation of some selected trace metals in soil samples from dumpsite in Lafia, Nasarava State. Nigeria. *Journal of Multidisciplinary research volume* 5 (2) 63-73.
- Icopini, G. A., Long, D. T. (2002). Speciation of aquanous chromium by use of environmental phrase extractions in the field: *environmental science and technology* 36: 2994-2999.
- Ideriah, T. J. K., Harry, F. O., Stanley, H. O., Igbara, J. K. (2010). Heavy metal contamination of soils and vegetation around solid waste dumps in Port-Harcourt, Nigeria. *Journal of Applied Science and Environmental Management*, 14, (1) 101-109.
- Ideriah, T. J. K., Omuaru O.T., Adiukwu, U. P. (2005). Heavy metal contamination of soils around municipal solid wastes dump in Port Harcourt, Nigeria. *Global Journal of Environmental Sciences*. Vol 4, pp 1-4.
- Ideriah, T. J. K., Omuaru, V.O.T., Adinkwu, P.U. (2006). Soil quality around a solid waste dumpsite in Port Harcourt. *African Journal of Ecology*, 44 (3); 388- 394.
- Ihedioha, J. N., Ukoha P. O. and Ekere, N. R., (2016). Ecological and human health risk assessment of Heavy metals contamination in soil of a municipal solid waste dump in Uyo, *Nigeria Environ Geochem and Health* 38 (1): 1-9.
- IITA International Institute of Tropical Agriculture (1985): Laboratory Mnual of Selected Methods for Soil and Plant Analysis. Ibada, Nigeria.
- Imasuen, O. I. and Omorogiera, O. M. (2013). Sources and environmental implication of heavy metals pollution in plants grown around contaminated site in Edo State, Nigeria. *Research Journal in Engineering and Applied Sciences*, 2, 385-391.
- Imperato, M., Asamo, P., Naimo, D., Arlenzo, M., Stanzione, D., Violante, P. (2003). Spatial distribution of heavy metals in urban soils of Naples city (iitaly). *Environmental pollution*. 124 (2): 247-256.
- Ingole, Sangita. (2015). A Review on Role of Physico-Chemical Properties in Soil Quality.
- Iniobong, E. Okon, Uduakobong, E., Akwaowo, P. (2017). Proximate and Heavy metal composition of plantain (Musa paradisiaca L.) fruits harvested from some solid waste dumps in Uyo metropolis, *Nigeria International Journal of environment, Agriculture and Biotechnology* (IJEAB) vol 2. Issue- 4, July -Aug- 2017.
- IPCS (2001). Zinc Environmental Health Criteria, 210. Geneva: World Health Organization. http://www.inchem.org/documents/ehe/ehc/ehc221.htm. (accessed 8/2/2011).
- Ipeaiyeda, A. R., Dawuda, M., Akand, T. (2007). Heavy metals concentration of topsoil and dispersion in the vicinities of reclaimed auto-repair workshops in Iwo, Nigeria, *Res. J, Appl. Sci.* 2 (2): 1106-1116.
- Irha, N, Steinnes, E., Kirso, U., Petersell, V. (2009). Mobility of Cd, Pb, Cu, and Cr in some Estonian soil types. *Est. J. Earth Sci.* 58:209–214
- Islam Ashraful, Nahar Jolly Yeasmin, , Akbar Shawkat (2018). Transfer of metals from soil to veggetables and possible health risk assessment. Springer plus, 2: 10- 385.
- Itanna, F. Olumuyiwa (2002). Metals in leafy vegetables grown in Addis Ababa and toxicological implications. Ethiop. J. Heal. Dev. 295–302.

- Iwegbue, C. M. A., Isirimah, N. O., igwe, C., Williams, E. S. (2006). Characteristics levels of heavy metals in soil profiles of automobile mechanic waste dumped in Nigeria, environmentalist. 26: 123-128.
- Izosimora, A. (2005). Modelling the interaction between calcium and nickel in the soilplant system. FAL *Agric Res special issue* 288:99.
- Jafaru, H. M., Dowuona, G. N. N., Adjadeh, T. A., Nartey, E. K., Nude, P. M., Nelvia, D. (2015). Geochemical assessment of Heavy metals pollution as impacted by municipal solid waste at Abloradjei waste dumpsites, Accra Ghana, *Res J. Environ Earth Sci.* 7 (3): 50-59.
- Järup, L. (2003). Hazards of heavy metal contamination. Br. Med. Bull. 68(1):167-182.
- Jiries, A., Hussein, H.E., Halaseh, Z. (2001). The quality of water and sediments of street runoff in Amman, Jordan, hydrological processes. Vol. 15 no. 5. Pp. 815-824. Doi; 10.1002/hyp.196.
- Jolly, Y.N., Islam, A., Akbar, S. (2013). Transfer of metals from soil to vegetables and possible health risk assessment. Springerplus 2, 1–8. https://doi.org/10.1186/219 3 - 1801-2-385.
- Jones, L. H. P., Jarvis, S. C. (1981). The fate of Heavy metals in the chemistry of soil processes, D. J. green and M. H. B. Hayes, eds., P. 593, John Wiley and sons, New York, NY, USA.
- Jordao, C.P., Nascentes, C.C., Cecon, P.R., Fontes, R.L.F., Pereira, J. L. (2006). Heavy metal availability in soil amended with composted urban solid wastes. *Environmental Monitoring and Assessment*, 112 (1-3), pp. 309–326.
- Kabala Cezary, Leszek Szerszen, Anna Karczewska, Katarzyna Szopka and Ursula Fratczak (2009). Factors influencing the concentration of heavy metals in soils of allotment gardens in the city of Wroclaw Poland. Fresenius environmental Bulletin, © by PSB volume 18 - No. 7.
- Kabata Pendias, A. (2004). Trace Element in soils and plants, 3rd edition CRC Press. 413p.
- Kabata Pendias, A. (2011). Trace elements in soils and plants 4th ed. CRC Press, Boca Raton, Florida.
- Kabata Pendias, A., K. Pendias, H. (2001). Trace Metals in Soils and Plants, CRC Press, Boca Raton, Fla, USA.2nd edition.
- Kabata Pendias, A., Kabata Pendias, H. (1999). Biogeochemistry of trace elements, 2nd ed. Wyd. Nahik Pwn Warsaw. 400 p.
- Kabata Pendias, A., Pendias, H. (1991). Trace elements in soils and plants, vol 5, 2nd edn. CRC Press, Boca Raton.
- Kabir, Abdul Khan, Achakzai Zahoor, Ahmed Bazai and Safdar Ali Kagan (2011). Accumulation of heavy metals by lettuce (Lactuca Sativa L.) Irrigated with different levels of waste water of quetta city *Pak. J. Bot.*, 45(6) '2953-2960.
- Karaca, A. (2004). Effect or organic wastes on the extractability of cadmium, copper, nickel and zinc in soil. Geoderma. 122: 297-303.
- Karaca, A., Cetin, S.C., Turgay, O.C., Kizilkaya, R. (2010). Effects of Heavy Metals on Soil
- Enzyme Activities. In: I. Sherameti and A. Varma (Ed), Soil Heavy Metals, Soil Biology, Heidelberg 19, Pp. 237-265.
- Khan, S. A., Khan, L., Hussain, I., Marwat, K. B., and Akhtar, V. (2008). Heavy metals determination in medicinal plants withania somnifera growing in various

areas of Peshawar, NWFP, Pakistan. Journal of the chemical society of Pakistan. Vol. 30. No 1 pp. 69-74.

- Khan, S., Cao, Q., Zheng, Y.M., Huang, Y. Z. and Zhu, Y.G. (2008). Health risks of heavy metals in contaminated soils and food crops irrigated with wastewater in Beijing, China. *Environmental Pollution*, 152, 686-692.
- Khan, S., Farooq, R., Shahbaz, S., Khan, M.A., Sadique, M. (2009). Health risk assessment of heavy metals for population via consumption of vegetables. *World Appl. Sci. J. 6*, 1602–1606.
- Khirmani, M. Z., Mohiuddin, S., Naz, F., Naqvi, I. I. and Zahir, E. (2011). Determination of Some Toxic and Essential Trace Metals in Some Medicinal and Edible Plants of Karachi city. *Journal of Basic and Applied Sciences*,7:89-95.
- Kisku Ganesh Chandra, Poonam Pandey, Mahendra Pratap Singh Negi, Virendra Misra (2000). Uptake and accumulation of potentially toxic metals (Zn, Cu and Pb) in soils and plants of Durgapur industrial belt, Vikas Nagar, Lucknow, INDIA editor@jeb.co.in Full paper available on: www.jeb.co.in *J. Environ. Biol.* 32, 831-838 lt.
- Kloke, A., Sauerbeck, D. R., Vetter, H. (1984). Changing metal cycles and human health, (ed. J.O. Nriagu). Spinger-Verlag, Berlin. pp. 113-141.
- Kolawole, Oluwatoyin. (2001). Local knowledge utilization and sustainable rural development in the 21st Century. Indigenous Knowledge and Development Monitor. 9. 13-15.
- Kolo, S. J., Rahimian, F.P., Goulding, J.S. (2014). Offsite Manufacturing: The Way Forward For Nigeria's Housing Industry. ALAM CIPTA. Int. J. Sustain. Trop. Des. Res. Pract. 7(1):35-40.
- Koyuncu, F., Çetinbaş, M. and Ibrahim, E. (2014). Nutritional constituents of wild grown black mulberry (Morus nigra L.). Journal of Applied Botany and Food Quality, 87(1), 93-96.
- Krishna, M. K., Chaitra, B. R., Jyoti Kumari (2016). Effect of Municipal Waste Leakage on the Quality of soil. *International Journal of Engineering Science Invention*. 2319-6726.
- Kugelman, M. (2012). The global farms race: Land grabs, agricultural investment, and the scramble for food security. Island Press.
- Lacatusu, R. (2000). Appraising levels of soil contamination and pollution with heavy metals. European Soil Bureau Research Report, Number 4. of Upper Warri River, Niger Delta, Nigeria. *Journal of Science and Environment*. 2: 75 – 86.
- Laekemariam Fanuel, Kibret Kibebew and Mamo Tekalign (2017). Farmers' soil knowledge, fertility management logic and its linkage with scientifically analyzed soil properties in southern Ethiopia. *Agric & Food Security*, 6:57.
- Lamb, D. T. (2010). Heavy metal phytotoxicity and bioavailability in contaminated soils. University of South Australia, Adelaide
- Lark, M.W., Basnet, B., Kelly, R., Jensen, T., Strong W., Apan, A. (2002). Delineation of management zones using multiple crop yield data. J. Environ. Manage., 64: 99-113.

- Lasat, M. M. (2000). Phytoextraction of metals from contaminated soil; a review of plant/soil/ metal interaction and assessment of pertinent agronomic issues. *Journal of Hazardous substances reaserch*, vol. 2, pp 1-25.
- Leah, A; Cortez, S; Johnny, A. (2014). Heavy metals concentration of dumpsite soil and accumulation in Zea mays (corn) growing in a closed dumpsite in Manila. Philippines International Journal of Environmental Science and Development. 5(1): 234-237.
- Lente, I., Ofosu-Anim, J., Brimah, A.K., Atiemo, S. (2014). Heavy metal pollution of vegetable crops irrigated with wastewater in Accra, Ghana. West Afr J. App. Ecol. 22, 41–58.
- Letelier, M.E., Lepe, A. M., Faundez, M., Salazar, J., Marin, R., Aracana, P., Speisky, H. (2015). Possible mechanisms underlying copper- induced damage in biological membranes leading to cellular toxicity, *chem-biol. Interct.*, 151, 71-82.
- Liorens, N., Arola, I., Blade, C., and Mas, A. (2000). Effects of copper expure upon nitrogen metabolism in tissue cultured vitis vinifera, *plant sci.* 160, 159-163.
- Liu, W. H., Zhoa, J. Z., Ouyang, Z. Y. (2005). Impacts of sewage irrigation of Heavy metals distribution and contamination in Beijing China. *Environmental International* 31:805-812.
- Lokeshappa B., Kandarp Shivpuri1, Vivek Tripathi, Anil K. Dikshit (2012). Assessment of Toxic Metals in Agricultural Produce. *Food and Public Health:* 2(1): 24-29.
- Lokeshwari, H. and Chandrappa, G.T. (2006). Heavy metals content in water, water hyacinth and sediments of Lalbagh Tank, Bangalore (India). *Journal of Environmental Science and Engineering*, 48(3): 183-188.
- Loska, K., Cebula, J., Pelczar, J., Wiechula, D., Kwapulinski J., (1997). Use of enrichment and contamination factorts together with geo accumulation indices to evaluate the content of Cd, Au and Ni in the Rybnik water reservoir in Poland. *Water, air and soil pollution*. 93: 347-365.
- Luo, C. Liu, C., Wang, Y., Liu, X., Li, F., Zhang, G., & Li, X., (2012). Heavy metals contamination in soil and vegetables near an e-waste processing site, south China. *Journal of Hazardous materials*, 186 (1), 481-490. Doi 10.1016/j.jkazmat.2010.11.024.
- Maksymiec, W., Baszynski, T. (1999). The role of Ca2+ ions in modulating changes induced in bean plants by an excess of Cu2+ ions chlorophyll fluorescence measurements. *Physiol plant*, 105, 562-568.
- Manahan, S. E. (2003). Toxicological chemistry and biochemistry, CRC press, Limited liability Company (LLC), 3rd edition.
- Maneyahilishal, Tefera, Ftsum Gebreyohannes, Mekala Sarawathi (2018). Heavy metal town analysis in the soils of in and around Robe town, Bale Zone, South Eastern, Ethiopia Eurasian J. Soil Sci. 7, (3) 251-256.
- Manohara, B., Belagali, B. I. (2014). Characterization of essential nutrient and heavy metals during municipal solid waste composting. Int. J. of Innovation Research in Science, Engineering and Technology. Vol. 3. Issue 2: ISSN 2319-8753.
- Manohara, B., Belagali, S. L. (2014). Characterization of Essential Nutrients and Heavy Metals during Municipal Solid Waste Composting. *International Journal of Innovative*

- Marques, A. P. G. C., Rangel, A. O. S. S., Castro, P. M. L. (2009). Remediation of heavy metal contaminated soils: phytoremediation as a potentially promising cleanup technology, *Critical Reviews in Environmental Science and Technology*, vol. 39, No. 8, pp. 622 – 654.
- Martinez, C. E., Motto, H. L. (2000). Solubility of lead, zinc and copper added to mineral soils. *Environmental pollution, vol.* 107, No. I Pp. 153 158.
- McBride, M. B., Shayler, H.A., Russell-Anelli, J.M., Spliethoff, H.M., Marquez-Bravo, L.G. (2015). Arsenic and lead uptake by vegetable crops grown on an old Orchard site amended with compost. *Water Air Soil Pollution*; 226, 265.
- McGrath, S. P., Smith, S. (1990). "Chromium and Nickel" in heavy metals in soils. B.J. Alloway Ed., : Pp 125- 146. Blackie Glasgow, UK.
- McIntyre, T. (2003). Phytoremediation of heavy metals from soils. Adv Biochem Eng Biotechnol 78:97–123.
- McLaughlin, M. J., Hamon, R. E., McLaren, R. G., Speir, T. W., Rogers, S. L. (2000). Review: a bioavailability-based rationale for controlling metal and metalloid contamination of agricultural land in Australia and New Zealand. *Aust J Soil Res* 38:1037 - 1086.
- Mengel, K., Kirkby, E. A., Kosegarlen, H. and Appl. T. (2001). Principles of plant nutrition, Kluwer Academics publishers Doredrecht.
- Ministry of Food and Agriculture (MOFA) (2020). Ghana Medium Term Agric Development Program (MTADP).
- Mistra, G. N. (2015). Definitions of heavy metals, Essential and Beneficial plant nutrients in: Regulation of nutrient uptake by plants. Springer, New Delhi.
- Mistra, V., Tiwari, A., Shuikla, B., Seth, C. S. (2009). Effects of soil amendments on the bioavailability of heavy metals from zinc murine tailings. *Environmental monitoring and assessment* 155-467-457.
- Mmolawa, K. B., Likuku, A. S., Gaboutloeloe, G. K. (2011). Assessment of heavy metal pollution in soils major roadside areas in Botswana. *African Journal of Environmental Science and Technology* 5: 186-196.
- MOFA (2017) Agricultural sector progress report. 88pp.
- Moller, A., Mullefr, H. W., Abdullah, A., Abdelgawed, G., Utermann, J. (2005). Urban soil pollution in Damascus Syria concentrations and patterns of heavy metals in the soils of the Damascus Ghouta. Geoderma 124 (1-2) 63-7.
- Mope, J. J., Al-Abed, S. R, Schekel, K.G., Ryan, J.A. (2005), Methods of Speciation of metals in soils ; A review, formal of Environmental quality, Vol.34, no.5 pp.1707-1745.
- Moses, B. A. (2006). Phytoremediation of contaminated with some heavy metals using hellanthus annisus L. and Tothonia diversifolia (Hemsley) as influenced by fertilizer applications. Unpublished PhD thesis. University of Ibadan. 144pp.
- Mtunzi, F. M., Dikio, D. D., Moja, S. J. (2015). Evaluation of heavy metals pollution on soil in Vaderbijlpark, South Africa. *International Journal of environmental monitoring and analysis 3* (2): 44-49.
- Muller, G. (1969). Index of geo accumulation in sediments of the Rhine River, *geology* Journal. 2: 109 – 118

- Muniatu, M., Otiato, E. (2010). Solid Waste Management in Nairobi, Kenya. A case for emerging economies. *The Journal of Language, Technology & Entrepreneurship in Africa,* 2(1), 342-350.
- Musa, S. I., Awayewaserere, K D., Njoku, K.L., (2019). Effects of dump site soil on the leaf structures of Luffa cylindrical (sponge gourd) and Amaranthus viridis (green Amaranth) J. Appl.Sci. Envieon. Manage Vol. 33. (2) 307- 311 February 2019 http//: www. Ajol.info/index.php/jasem.
- Mwingyine, D. T. (2008). Towards Sustainable Rural Land Use Practices in the Northern Savannah Zone of Ghana: Case Study of the Sissala West District. Department of Land Economy, Kwame Nkrumah University of Science and Technology.
- Nafiu Abdul (2010). Availability, transfer and balances of Heavy metals in urban agriculture of West Africa. PhD thesis, University of Kessel, faculty of organic Agricultural sciences, Germany, http://dnb-nb.de.
- Nagajyoti, P. C., K. D. T. V. M. (2010). Heavy metals occurrence and toxicity for plants: a review. *Environ Chem Lett, vol.* 8, pp. 199-216.
- Naidu, R., Bolan, N. (2008). Contaminant chemistry in soils: key concepts and bioavailability. *Chem Bioavailab Terr Environ* 9:38
- Nataša Mirecki, Rukie Agič, Ljubomir Šunić, Lidija Milenković and Zoran S. Ilić (2015). Transfer Factor as indicator of heavy metals content in plants. Fresenius *Environmental Bulletin, Volume* 24 – No 11c.
- Neina Dora (2019). The role of soil PH in plant nutrition and soil remediation applied and environmental science volume 2019, 9 pages.
- Nelson, D.W. and Sommer, L.E. (1996). Total C, Organic C and Organic Matter. In: Spark, D.L., Ed., Method of Soil Analysis, Part 3, American Society of Agronomy, Vol. 34, 961-1010.
- Ngange, C. T. N., Adamu, C. I., Agbor, C. I., Besong, E. E., Atanga, S. M. B. (2013). Accumulation of Essential and Non-Essential Trace Metals in Soil-Plant System in Parts of Southeastern Nigeria. *Journal of Earth Science Research*. *Vol. 1, Issue 2*, Pp. 60-67.
- NIEHS National institute of Environmental Health Services (2004). Waste landfill. http://www.miehs.nih.gov/external/faq/landfill.htm
- Njagi Joan Murugi (2009). Assessment of heavy metal concentration in the environment and perceived health risks by the community around kadhodeki dumpsite, Nairobi County.
- Nurudeen, T. S., Aderibigbe, T. A. (2013). Health implications of heavy metal concentration on soils. An appraisal of Oke - Afa refuse - dump, isolo, Legos Nigeria 10SR. Journal of environmental science, toxicology and food. Technology (10SR-JEST FT). e- ISSN: 2319- 2399. Volume 5, issue 5 (Sept - Oct. 2013), Pp 07 - 11 www. Isorjournals.com.
- Nwachukwu, M. A., Feng, H., Alinnor, J. (2010). Trace metal dispersion in soil from automechanic village to urban *African J. of Environ Sci. and Tech*, 4 (4) pp. 310-322.

- Nwaogu, L. A., Ujowundu, C. O., Iheme, C. I., Ezejiofor, T. N. I., Belonwu, D. C. (2014). Effect of Sublethal Concentration of Heavy Metal Contamination on Soil Physicochemical Properties, Catalase and Dehydrogenase Activities. Int. J. Biochem Res. Rev., 4 (2), 141–149. doi:10.9734/ IJBCRR/2014/6341.
- Nyle, C.B., Ray, R. N. (1999). The nature and properties of soils. 12 Ed. United States of America, pp: 743 -785.
- Obianefo, F. U., Agbgwa, J. O., Tanee, F. B. G. (2017). Physicochemical characteristics of soil from selected waste dump sites in port har court, rivers state, Nigeria. J Appl. Sci Environ. Manage vol. 21 (6) 1153-1156.
- Odai, S. N., Mensah, E., Sipitey, D., Ryo, S., Awuah, E. (2008). Heavy metal uptake by vegetables cultivated on urban waste dumpsites. Case study of Kumasi, Ghana. *Researcher Journal of environmental toxicology;* 2 (2): 92-99.
- Odero, D. R., Semu, E., Kamau, G. (2000). Assessment of cottage industries-derived heavy metal pollution of soil within Ngara and Gikomba area of Nairobi city, Kenya. Afri. J. Sci. Technol., 1, 52-62.
- Odukoya, O. O., Bamgbose, O., Arowolo, T. A. (2001). Heavy metals in top soils of Abeokuta dump site. *Global Journal of Pure and Applied Sciences*. Vol 7(3), pp 467-472.
- Odum, H.T. (2000). Back Ground of Published Studies on Lead and Wetland. In: Howard T.
- Odum (Ed), Heavy Metals in the Environment Using Wetlands for Their Removal, Lewis Publishers, New York USA, pp. 32.
- Ogbonna, D. N., Kii, Benjamin L., Toudeowei, Patrick, O. (2009). Some physico-chemical and Heavy metal levels in soils of waste dumpsites in Port Harcourt Municipality and *Environs. J. Appl. Sci. Environ. Manage. Vol.* 13(4) 65 – 70.
- Ogunmodedee, O. T., Adewole, E. Ojo A. A. (2015). Quantitative changes in soil properties and plant uptake of metals on municipal solid waste dumpsite in Nigeria. International letters of chemistry. *Physics and Astronomy Vol.* 52.Pp 152-162.
- Ogunyemi, S., Awodoyin, R. O., Opadeji, T. (2003). Urban agricultural production: heavy metal contamination of Amaranthus cruenties L. grown on domestic refuse landfill soil in Ibadan, Nigeria Emirates *Environmental Journal of Agricultural Science*, 15: 87: 94.
- Okareh, O. T., Adeolu, A. T. and Adepoju, O. T. (2015). Proximate and mineral composition of plantain (Musa paradisiaca) wastes flour; a potential nutrients source in the formulation of animal feeds. *African Journal of Food Science* and Technology, 6, 5357.
- Olakunle Ilori Adedotun, Thompson Samuel Olanrewaju and Ajayi Olubode Olumuyiwa (2018). Investigation of Heavy Metal Content on Dumpsites Soil and Vegetables Grown: A case study of Ilesha metropolis, Nigeria. International *Journal of Advances in Scientific Research and Engineering* (ijasre). Vol 4 (12).
- Olalode, I. A., (2014). An assessment of heavy metals contamination in soil within automechanic workshops using enrichment and contamination factors with geoaccumulation indexes. *Journal of environmental protection*, 5: 970- 982.

- Olaniran, A.O., Balgobind, A., Pillay, B. (2013). Bioavailability of heavy metals in soil: impact on microbial biodegradation of organic compounds and possible improvement strategies. *Int J Mol Sci.* 14(5):10197-228. doi: 10.3390/ijms140510197. PMID: 23676353; PMCID: PMC3676836.
- Olayiwola H A, Abudulawal L, Adewuyi G K, Azeez M O (2017) Heavy metal contents in soil and plants at dumpsites: A case study of Awotan and Ajakanga dumpsite Ibadan, Oyo State, Nigeria. *Journal of Environment and Earth Science*. 7: 11-24.
- Olowookere, B.T., Oyibo, O. and Oyerinde, G.T. (2018). Heavy Metals Concentration in Dumpsites at Gwagwalada, Abuja: Implications on Sustainable Environmental Management. *Greener Journal of Soil Science and Plant Nutrition*, 5(1): 001-004, http://doi.org/10.15580/GJSSPN.2018.1.020718019.
- Olsen, S. R. and Sommers, L. E. (1982). Phosphorus, in: Methods of Soil Analysis Part 2 Chemical and Microbiological Properties, edited by: Page, A. L., Miller, R. H., and Keeney, D. R., SSSA Madison, Wisconsin, 403–430, 1982.
- Olsen, S. R., Sommers, L. E. (1982) In: Page, A. L., Miller, R. H. and Keeney, D. R. (eds). Methods of Soil Analysis, Part 2. *Chemical and Microbiological Properties*. pp. 403 – 448.
- Olufunmilayo, O. O., Oludare, A. H., Oluwatoyin, D. (2014). Determination of concentrations of heavy metals in municipal dumpsite soil and plants at Okeogi, Iree, Nigeria. *International Research Journal of Pure & Applied Chemistry*, 4, 656-669.
- Onwughara, I, Nkwachukwu, N, Inocent, C., Kanno, O. C. (2010). Issues of Road site Disposal Habit of Municipal Solid Waste, Environmental Impact and Implementation of Sound Management Practice in Developing Country, Nigeria. Int. J. of Environ. Sci. and Development, Vol. 1, No. 5.
- Onwueme, I.C. (1994). Tropical Root and Tuber Crops Production, Perspectives and Future Prospects; FAO Plant Production & Protection Paper 126; FAO: Rome, Italy.
- Onyedika Eze Michael (2015). Effect solid waste source (dumpsite type) on Heavy metals contaminations in urban soils of Bauchhi, Nigeria, American, *chemical science Journal* 9 (2): 1-14.
- Onyeka, J. (2014). Status of Cocoyam (Colocasia esculenta and Xanthosoma spp) in West and Central Africa: Production, Household Importance and the Threat from Leaf Blight; CGIAR Research Program on Roots, Tubers and Bananas (RTB): Lima, Peru, 2014; Available online: <u>www.rtb.cgiar.org</u> (accessed on 5 February 2021).
- Opaluwa, O. D., Aremu, M. D., Ogbo, L. O, Abiola, K. A, Odiba, I. E, Abubakar, M. M. and Nweze, N. D (2017). Heavy Metal Concentrations in Soils, Plant Leaves and Crops Grown Around Dump Sites in Lafia Metropolis, Nasarawa State, Nigeria. Advances in Applied Sciences Research, 3(2); 780-784.
- Opaluwa, O. D., Avemu, M. O., Ogbo L. D., Magaji, J. I., Odida I. E., Ekp, E. R. (2012). Assessment of Heavy metals in water, fish and sediments from UKE Stream, Nasarawa State Nigeria, curri *World Environ*. 7: 213-220.

- Orji, O. A., Edosa, I. V. O., Ogbemudia, I., Omokaro, S. O., Elenwlo, C. E. (2018). Assessment of some heavy metals in soils and plants growth in dumpsites. IOSR Journal of environmental science toxicology and food technology (IOSR JESTFT). E-ISSN; 2319-2402, P- ISSN: 2319- 2399. Volume 12, issue 3, vol III; Pp. 17-23. www.iosrjournals.org.
- Orroñoa, D. I., Schindlera, V., Lavadoab, R. S. (2012). Heavy metal availability in Pelargonium hortorum rhizosphere: interactions, uptake and plant accumulation. J. Plant Nutr. 35, 1374–1386.
- Oseni Olalekan A., Taiwo Abayomi G., Ijaola Taiwo O., Yenusa Lungman. A. (2013). The effects of pH on the levels of some Heavy metals in soil samples of five dumpsites in Abeokuta and its environs. *International Journal of science and research*. (IJSR) Gupta ISSN (online) 2319-7064.
- Osumanu, I. K (2009). "Urbanization challenges in Africa: creating productive cities under globalization". In, Graber, D.S. and Birmingham, K.A. (eds.), Urban Planning in the 21st Century. New York: Nova Science Publishers, Inc: 129-140.
- Oves, M., Saghir, K.M., Huda, Q. A., Nadeen, F.M., Almeelbi, T. (2016). Heavy Metals: Biological Importance and Detoxification Strategies. *J. Bioremediat. Biodegrad.* 7: 334 (2), 1–15. doi:10.4172/2155-6199.1000334.
- Oviasogie, P. O., Ndiokwere C. L. (2008). Fractionation of Lead and Cadmium in Refuse Dump soil treated with cassava milling effluent. *The Journal of Agriculture and Environment Vol: 9, Jun. Technical Paper* 10.
- Owusu Sekyere E, Osumanu, IK and Abdul- Kadri Y (2013a). An Analysis of the Plastic Waste Collection and Wealth Linkages in Ghana. *International Journal of Current Research* 5(1), 205-209.
- Owusu Sekyere, E., Osumanu, I. K., Yaro, J. A. (2013). Dompoase Landfill in the Kumasi Metropolitan Area of Ghana: A 'Blessing'or a 'Curse'. *Int. J. Curr. Trends Res.* 2(1):87-96.
- Oyedele, D. J., Gasu, M. B., Awotoye, O. O. (2008). Changes in soil properties and plant uptake of heavy metals on selected municipal solidwaste dump sites in Nigeria African *journal of environmental science and technology vol.* 3 (5) pp107-115. 2008.
- Pacyna, J. M. (1996). Monitoring and assessing of metal contaminants in the air in: Chang L. W, Magos L. Suzuli, T. (1996). Toxicology of metals. Boca Raton, FL: CRC press. Pp. 9-28.
- Page, A. L., Miller, R.H., Keeney, D.R. (1982). Methods of soil analysis Part 2 chemical and microbiological properties. Madison: *American Society of Agronomy; p.* 1159.
- Panagos, P., Tomaž, V., Čustović, H., Vrščaj, B. (2011). Soil protection activities and soil quality monitoring in south Eastern Europe. Conference papers presented at the June 18th and 19th, on European Union's policies for the protection and sustainable development of the European and global environment, Luxembourg. Retrieved December 17, Islam Ashraful 2012, from http://europa.eu/.

- Pasquini, M.W., Alexander, M. J. (2004). Chemical properties of urban waste ash produced by open burning on the Jos Plateau: Implications for agriculture, *Science Total Environment*, 19: 225-240.
- Pätsikkä, E., Kairavuo, M., Šeršen, F., Aro, E.M., Tyystijärvi, E. (2002). Excess copper predisposes photosystem II to photoinhibition in vivo by outcompeting iron and causing decrease in leaf chlorophyll. – *Plant Physiol*. 129: 1-9, 2002.
- Paulose, B., Datta, S. P., Rattan, R.K., Chhonkar, P. K. (2007). Effect of amendments on the extractability, retention and plant uptake of metals on a sewage-irrigated soil. *Environ Pollut* 146:19–24.
- Paymantidis, Islam Ashraful, Islam Ashraful, Islam Ashraful V. S., Ashraful Catherine, M., Evert, M., Jaap, K., John, E. H. (2008). Suplementation of health volunteers with nutrionally relevant amounts of seleniun increases the expression of lymphoctyteprotien biosynthesis gene. *Am J. Clin Nutri.* vol. 87, iss. 1, pp. 181-9.
- Pen-Mouratov S, Shukurov N, Steinberger Y (2008) Influence of industrial heavy metal pollution on soil free-living nematode population. *Environ Pollut* 152:172–183.
- Peralta Videa, J. R., Lopez, M. L., Narayan, M., Saupe, G., Gardea Torresdey, J. (2009). The biochemistry of environmental heavy metal uptake by plants: implications for the food chain. Int. J. Biochem. Cell Biol. 41, 1665–1677.
- Piccole, A., Mbagwu, J. S. C. (1997). Exogenous humic substances as conditions for the rehabilitation of degraded soils. Agro-Foods Industry Hi-Tech. March/April.
- Piccole, A., Mbagwu, J.S.C. (1970). Hydrological implications of solid waste disposal, US geological survey p. 12.
- Pierzynski, G. M, Sims, J. T., Vance, G. F. (2000). Soils and Environmental Quality, CRC Press, London, UK, 2nd edition.
- Poggio Laura, Borut Vrscaj, Rainer Schulin, Erwin Hepperle, Franco Ajmone Marsan
(2009). Metals pollution and human bioaccessibility of topsoils in Grugliasco
(Italy). Environmental Pollution. 157(2):680-9. doi:
10.1016/j.envpol.2008.08.009. Epub 2008 Oct 2.
- Pradhan, J. K., Kumar, S. (2014). Informal e-waste recycling: Environmental risk assessment of heavy metal contamination in Mandoli industrial area, Delhi, India. *Environmental Science and Pollution Research*, 21(13), 7913–7928. DOI: 10.1007/s11356-014-2713-2
- Pradika, V., Masykuri, M. and Supriyadi (2019). Farmer Awareness to the Dangers of Heavy Metal Cadmium (Cd) Pollution due to Over-Fertilization in Sragen Regency Central Java. Caraka Tani: *Journal of Sustainable Agriculture*, 34(1), 76-85. doi: http://dx.doi.org/10.20961/carakatani.v34i1.2722.
- Praveena, G. S., Rao, P. (2016). Impact of leachate on soil Properties in the dumpsite (A case study of Greater Visakhapatnam). *International Journal of Engineering Research and General Science*, 4 (1): 235 241.
- Preda, M., COX, M. E. (2002). Trace metal occurrence and distribution in sediments and mangroves. Pumicestone environ. Int. 28, 433-449.

- Proshad, R, Islam, M. D., Haque, M. A., Hoque, M. D. F., Ahmed, S. (2018). Apportionment of Hazardous Elements in Agricultural Soils around the Industrial Vicinity of Bargladesh. S F. *Journal Environ Earth Sci*; 1(1); 1001.
- Pujar, K.G., Hiremath, S.C., Pujar, A.S., Pujeri, U.S., Yadawe, M.S. (2012). Analysis of Physico-Chemical and Heavy Metal Concentration in Soil of Bijapur Taluka, Karnataka. Sci. Revs. Chem. Commu. 2 (1), 76–79.
- Pukkala, E, and Pönkä, A. (2001). Increased incidence of cancer and asthma in houses built on a former dump area. *Environ Health Perspect*, Vol. 109, pp. 1121–1125.
- Radojevic, M., Bashkin V. N. Islam Islam Ashraful Ashraful (2006). Practical Environmental Analysis. *Royal Society of Chemistry, Cambridge*, 389.
- Rahaman, M. S., Nessa, F., Hoque, M. M., Rehnuma, M., Islam, M. S. (2015). Physiochemical propertiers and heavy metals concentrations in soil of industrial area, Zirani, Savar, Dhaka. *Journal of environmental science and natural resources* 8 (1): 65-68.
- Rahman, H., Sabreen, S., Alam, S., Kawai, S. (2005). Effects of nickel on growth and composition of metal micronutrients in barely plants grown in nutrients in barely plants grown in nutrient solution. *J. plant nutria* 28: 393-404.
- Rahman, M.A., S.B. Lalon and M.H. Surya (2016). Information sources preferred by the farmers in receiving farm information. *International Journal of Agricultural Extension and Rural Development*, 3(12): 258-262.
- Rajkumar M, Sandhya S, Prasad M, Freitas H (2012). Perspectives of plant associated microbes in heavy metal phytoremediation. *Biotechnol. Adv.* 30(6):1562-1574.
- Rangmaekar, S. S., Sahu, S. K., Pandit, G. G. and Gaikwad, V. B. (2013a). Study of uptake of Pb and Cd by three nutritionally important Indian vegetables grown in artificially contaminated soils of Mumbai, India. *International Research Journal of Environmental Sciences* 2: 1-5.
- Rangmaekar, S. S., Sahu, S. K., Pandit, G. G. and Gaikwad, V. B. (2013b). Accumulation and Translocation of Nickel and Cobalt in Nutritionally important Indian vegetables grown in artificially contaminated soil of Mumbai, India. *Research Journal of Agricultural and Forest Sciences* 1: 15-21.
- Rayment, G. E., Higginson, F. R. (1992). Australian Laboratory Handbook of soil and water chemical methods. Port Melbourne: Reed International books Australia P/L, trading as Inkata Press.
- Rehman, F., Muhammad, S., Ashraf, I., Mahmood, K. Ch. Ruby, T., Bibi, I. (2013). Effect of farmers' socioeconomic characteristics on access to agricultural information: empirical evidence from Pakistan. J. Animal and Plant Sciences, 23 (1): Pp 324 – 329.
- Reimann, C., De Caritat, P. (2005). Distinguishing between natural and anthropagenic sources for elements in the environment regional geochemical surveys versus enrichment factors. The science of the total environment. 337: 91- 107. *Research in Science, Engineering and Technology.*
- Rieuwerts, J.S., Thornton, I., Farago, M.E., Ashmore, M.R. (1998). Factors influencing metal bioavailability in soils: preliminary investigations for the development of a critical loads approach for metals," *Chemical Speciation & Bioavailability*, vol. 10, no. 2, pp. 61–75.

- Roberts, D., Nachtegaal, M., Donald Sparks, D. (2005). Speciation of metals in soils. In: Romio, M., Romic, D. (2003). Heavy metals distribution in agricultural topsoil in urban area. *Environmental geology*.43 (7): 795-805.
- Rose, A.W., Hawkes, H.E., Webh, J.S. (1979). Geochemistry in mineral exploration academic press, London.
- Rosen, C. J. (2002). Lead in the home garden and urban soil environment, Communication and Educational Technology Services, University of Minnesota Extension.
- Roth Nebelsick, A. (2007). Computer-based studies of diffusion through stomata of *different architecture. Ann. Bot.* 100, 23–32.
- Rowell D.L. (1994) Verfügbarkeit von Pflanzennährstoffen Kalium, Calcium und Magnesium. In: Bodenkunde. Springer, Berlin, Heidelberg. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-642-59093-1-9.
- Rweyemamu, A.R., Nkansah, M.A., Darko, G., Dodd, M. (2020). Contamination and Human Health Risk Due to Toxic Metals in Dust from Transport Stations in the Kumasi Metropolis, Ghana, Chem. Africa. (2020). https://doi.org/10.1007/s42250-020-00174-z.
- Rydberg, A., J. Olsson, M. Gilbertsson and P.A. Algerbo (2008). Data- och information shantering ilantbruket – ett vaxande problem. Rapporter lantbruk och industri, R 365.
- Sakib, M. H., M.S.I. Afrad and M. Ali (2015). Information Source Preference of Farmers Regarding Modern Aquaculture Technologies in Bogra District of Bangladesh. International Journal of Agricultural Extension, 3(1): 01-05.
- Salgare, S. A. and Acharekar, C. (1992). 'Effect of industrial pollution on growth and
- Santos Bermejo, J. C., Beltran, R., Gomez Ariza, J. L. (2003). Spatial variations of heavy metals contamination in sediments from Odiel River (Southwest Spain). *Environ. Int.*29:69-77.
- Schwab, A. P., Zhu, D. S., Banks, M. K. (2008). Influence of organic acids on the transport of heavy metals in soil. Chemosphere 72:986–994
- Seacat, A.M., P.J. Thomford, K.J. Hansen, G.W. Olsen, M.T. Case, and J.L. Butenhoff. (2002). Subchronic toxicity studies on perfluorooctanesulfonate potassium salt in cynomolgus monkeys. *Toxicol. Sci.* 68:249-264.
- Sekara A, Poniedzialeek M, Ciura J, Jedrszczyk E (2005). Cadmium and lead accumulation and distribution in the organs of nine crops: Implications for phytoremediation. *Polish J. Environ. Stud.* 14(4):509-516.
- Selim, H. M. (2013). Transport and retention of heavy metal in soils: competitive sorption. Adv Agron 119:275–308
- Selim, H. M., Kingery, W. L. (2003). Geochemical and hydrological reactivity of heavy metals in soils. CRC Press, Boca Raton.
- Shah Afzal, Abdul Niaz; Nazeef Ullah, Ali Rehman, Muhammad Akhlaq, Muhammad Zakir, Muhammad Suleman Khaz (2013). Comparative study of heavy metals in soil and selected medical plants. *Journal of chemistry. Volume article* ID621265 http://dxdoi.org/10.1155/2013/621265.

- Shahid, M., Dumat, C., Khalid, S., Schreck, E., Xiong, T., Niazi, N. K. (2016). Foliar heavy metal uptake, toxicity and detoxification in plants: a comparison of foliar and root metal uptake. J. Hazard. Mater. 325, 36–58.
- Sheoran, V., Sheoran, A. S., Poonia, P. (2010). Soil reclamation of abandoned mine land by revegetation: a review. *Int. J. Soil Sediment Water* 3, 1-13.
- Shirvani, M., Kalbasi, M., Shariatmadari, H., Nourbakhsh, F., Najafi, B. (2006). Sorptiondesorption of cadmium in aqueous palygorskite, sepiolite, and calcite suspensions: isotherm hysteresis. *Chemosphere* 65:2178–2184.
- Sierra, Barbero, C., Marques, M. I., Perez, R. M., Bienes, R., Cruz-Macein, R. (2016). Farmer knowledge, perception and management of soils in the Las Vegas agricultural district, Madrid, Spain. Soil Use and Management, British Society of Soil Science.
- Singh Jiwan and Kalamdhad Ajay, S. (2011). Effects of Heavy Metals on Soil, Plants, Human Health and Aquatic Life. *International Journal of Research in Chemistry and Environment Vol. 1 Issue* 2 (15-21).
- Singh, O. V., Labana, S., Pandy, G., Budhiraja, R., Tain, R. K. (2013). Phytoremediation an overview of medtallic ion decontamination frfom soil. *Appl. Microbial biotechnol* 61:405-412.
- Smith, C.J., Hopmans, P., Cook, F.J. (1996). Accumulation of Cr, Pb, Cu, Ni, Zn and Cd in soil following irrigation with untreated urban effluents in Australia. *Environmental Pollution*, 94(3): 317-323.
- Sobha, Kota & Poornima, A & Harini, P & Veeraiah, K. (2010). A Study on Biochemical Changes in the Fresh Water Fish, Catla catla (Hamilton) Exposed to the Heavy Metal Toxicant Cadmium Chloride. Kathmandu University *Journal of Science, Engineering and Technology.* 3. 10.3126/kuset.v3i2.2890.
- Soffianian, A. Madani, E.S. and Arabi, M. (2014). Risk Assessment of Heavy Metal Soil pollution through Principal Components Analysis and false Color Composition in Hamadan province, Iran Environmental System Research 3;3 Available at http://www.envirlonmentalsystemresearch.com/content/3/13.
- Sousa Fernando, Gian Nicolay, Robert Home (2016). Information technologies as a tool for agricultural extension and farmer- to-farmer exchange: Mobile-phone video use in Mali.
- Speir, T.W., Kettles, H.A., Parshotam, A., Searle, P.L., Vlaar, L.N.C. (1999). A simple kinetic approach to determine the toxicityof As[V] to soil biological properties. Soil Biology & Biochemistry 31, 705±71.
- Sprynskyy, M., Kosobucki, P., Kowalkowski, T. and Buszewsk, B. (2007). Influence of clinoptilolite rock on chemical speciation of selected heavy metals in sewage sludge.
- SPSS 20 (2018). Statistical package for the social sciences Chikago, USA: SPSS Inc.
- Srinivasarao, C.H., Venkateswarlu, B., Lal, R., Singh, A.K., Kundu S, Vittal KPR, Patel, J.J.,
- Patel, M.M. (2014b). Long-term manuring and fertilizer effects on depletion of soil organic carbon stocks under pearl milletcluster bean-castor rotation in western India. Land Degradation & Development 25: 173–183. DOI:10.1002/ldr.1158

- Srivastava, A., Jain, V.K. (2007). A Study to Characterize the Suspended Particulate Matter in an Indoor Environment in Delhi, India. Building and Environment, 42:2046-2052.
- Steffan, L. (2011). Transfer of heavy metals from contaminated soil into organs of soybean crops [Glycine max (L.) Merr.] in Cordoba, Argentina. University of Hohenheim, Stuttgart
- Steffana, J. J., Brevika, E.C., Burgess, L.C., Cerda, A. (2017). The Effect of Soil on Human Health: an Overview. *Eur. J. Soil Sci.*, 1–13. doi:10.1111/ejss.12451.
- Steve Culman, MeredIth Mann, Cassandra Brown (2019). Calculating Cation Exchange Capacity, Basa Saturation, and calcium saturation ANR 81. *Agriculture and Natural Resources*.
- Stewart, E. A., Max Grimshaw, H., Parkinson, J. A., Quarmby, C. (1974). Chemical Analysis of Ecological Materials. Blackwell Scientific Publications, Osney Mead, Oxford 165.
- Su, C., Jiang, L., Zhang, W., Ferrarini, A. (2014). A review on heavy metal contamination in the soil worldwide: situation, impact and remediation techniques. *Environ Skept Crit* 3:24–38.
- Sule Dan Maigona, Solomon Anango, Member Catherine, Tafida Mohaammed, Aminu Sumner, M. E. (2019). Beneficial use of effluents wastes and bio solids communication analysis. vol. 31, no. 11-14, pp 1701-1715.
- Sumane, S., Kunda, I., Knickel, K., Strauss, A., Tisenkopfs, T., I.I. Rios, I.I., Rivera, M., Chebach, T., Ashkenazy, A. (2017). Local and farmers' knowledge matters! How integrating informal and formal knowledge enhances sustainable and resilient agriculture, *Journal of Rural Studies* (2017), http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jrurstud.2017.01.020
- Sutherland, R. A. (2000). Bed sediment associated trace metals in an urban stream. Oahu, Hawali. *Environmental geology* 39: 611-627.
- TabatabaiMA, Sparks DL (eds) Chemical processes in soils, vol Soil science Society of
- Tack, F. M. G., Van Ranst, E. Lievens, C., and Vandenberghe, R. E., (2006). Soil solution Cd, Cu and Zn, concentrations as affected by short- time drying or wetting. The role of hydrous oxides of Fe and Mn. Geoderma (37: 83-87).
- Tahar, K., Keltoum, B. (2011). Effects of heavy metals pollution in soil and plant in the industrial area, West Algeria. J. Korean Chem. Soc., 55: 1018-1023.
- Tale Ku Smita and Ingole Sangit (2015). A Review on Role of Physico-Chemical Properties in Soil Quality. Chemical Science Review and Letters; 4(13), 57-66.
- Tanee, F. B. G., Eshalomi-Mario, T. N. (2015). Heavy metal contents in plants and soils in abandoned solid waste dumpsites in Port Harcourt, Nigeria. *Research Journal* of Environmental Toxicology, 9, 342-349.
- Tarek, M., Galal Hanaa, Shehata, S. (2015). Bioaccumulation and translocation of heavy metals by Plantago major L. grown in contaminated soils and the effect of traffic pollution. *Ecological indicators volume* 48, pages 244 – 251.
- Tarradellas, J., Bitton, G. Russel, D. (1996). Soil Ecotoxicology. (ed) CRC Lewis Publisher, New York.
- Tchounwou, P., Newsome, C., Williams, J., Glass, K. (2008). Copper-induced cytotoxicity and transcriptional actuiation of stress genes in human liver carcinoma cells. *Medallion Biol Med*.10;285-290.

- Tefera, M and Chandravanshi, B. S. (2018). Assessment of metal contents in commercially available Ethiopian red pepper. *International Food Research Journal*, 25 (3): 989 – 1000.
- Thornton, I. (1980). Geochemical Aspects of the Distribution and Forms of Heavy Metals in Soils. Applied Geochemistry Research Group, Department of Geology, Imperial College, London, UK.
- Thorup-Kristensen, K. (2001). Root Growth and Soil Nitrogen Depletion by Onion, Lettuce, Early Cabbage and Carrot Danish Institute of Agricultural Scicences Department of Horticulture 5792 Aarslev Denmark. Available on line: https://www.rtb.cgiar.org (accessed on 5 February, 2021).
- Tippie, V. K. (1984). An environmental characterization of Chasapeake Bay and a frame work for action in Kennedy v. editor the Estuary as a filter. Academic press, New York.
- Tochuku Praise Nwoko, Olubenga Oludayo, Oluwasina, Emmanuel Abata, Olujbode Olumuyiwa Ajayi (2018). Analysis of Heavy metals in soil from residential and mechanic dumpsites. *Journal of environment protection and sustainable development vol.* vol. 4. No. 1, Pp. 7-15.
- Todd, A.C., Wetmur, J.G., Moline, J.M., Godbold, J.H., Levin Landrigan, P.J (1996). Unraveling the chronic toxicity of lead: *An essential priority for environmental health. Environ. Health Perspect*, 104: 141-146.
- Tripathi, A., Misra, D. R. (2012). A study of physic chemical properties and heavy metals in contaminated soils of municipal waste dumpsites at Allahabad, India International *Journal of environmental sciences, volume* 2, No. 4.
- Tripathi, I. P., Dwivedi, A. P. (2015). Heav Metal Analysis of Soil Samples Collected from in and Around Satna. IJIRR., 2 (3), 516–520. Trace metal levels in castor plants growing on refuse dumpsites in Wukari Metropolis, Nigeria MOJ Ecology and environmental sciences volume 4 issue 4.
- Turner, D.W., J.A. Fortescue and D.S. Thomas. (2007). Environmental physiology of the bananas (Musa spp.). *Brazilian Journal of Plant Physiology* 19: 463-484.
- Twumasi Peter, Marina A. Tandoh, Makafui A. Borbi, Adigun R. Ajoke, Emmanuel Owusu Tenkorang, Roseline Okoro and Rexford M. Dumevi (2016). Assessment of the levels of cadmium and lead in soil and vegetable samples from selected dumpsites in the Kumasi Metropolis of Ghana Vol. 11(18), pp. 1608-1616.
- Uchida, S., Taagami, K., Ishakawa, N. (2009). Concentration, soil-to-plant transfer factor and soil-soil solution distribution coefficient of selenium in the surface environment 9106. Proceedings of the symposium on waste management (WM 09). Phonix, Ariz, USA 2009, 1-5.
- Udosen, E. D., Udoesssien, E., I and Ibok, U. J., (1990). Evaluation of some metals in the industrial wastes from in pertsist industry and their environmental pollution implication. *Nig. J. Technol Res.*, 2, 7-77.
- Udosen, E.D., Benson, N.U., Essien, J.P., Ebong, G.A. (2006). Relation between aqua-ragia extractable heavy metals in soils and Manihot utilisima within municipal dumpsites. *International Journal of Soil Science*, 1: 27-32.
- Ukpong, E. C., Antigha, R.E., Moses E. O. (2013). Assessment of heavy metals content in soils and plants around wwaste dumpsites in Uyo Metropolis Akwa Ibon State. IJES, volume, 2 issue 7 pages 75- 86.

- Uma, R. N., Prem Sudha, R., Murali, K. (2016). Analysis of physicochemical characteristics of soil and SQAI around municipal solid waste dump yard in vellabore-Coimbatore- tamilnadu, India *Int. J. Chem. Sci.* 14 (4), 3265-3276.
- Uma, R. N., Prem, R., Murali, K., (2016). Assessment of soil quality at municipal solid waste dump site in Cooimbatore- tamilnadu, India. *International Journal of* advanced engineering technology. Vol. 7 Issue 2, 1301-1307.
- Ummee Aiman, Adeel Mohmood, Sidra Waheed, Riffat Naseem Malik (2016). Enrichment geo-accumulation and risk surveillance of toxic metals for different environmental compartments from Mehmood Booti dumping site, Lahore city, Pakistan. Chemosphere 144: 2229-2237.
- US EPA, Method 6200 (1998). Field Portable X-Ray Fluorescence Spectrometry for the Determination of Elemental Concentrations in Soil and Sediment. Available at <u>http://yosemite.epa.gov</u> (accessed on 10th March, 2021).
- USA Environmental Protection Agency (1986). Test methods for evaluating solid waste: Laboratory manual-physical/chemical methods. SW-846, 3rd Edn. Washington DC., USA.
- USEPA (2002). Environmental Protection Agency. Region 9, Preliminary Remediation Goals.
- USEPA. (2007). Field Portable X-Ray Fluorescence Spectrometry for the Determination of Elemental Concentrations in Soil and Sediment Method: 6200, https://www.epa.gov/sites/production/files/2015-12/documents/ 6200.pdf (accessed: 15.04.20).
- Usman, A. A., Apene, E. (2010). Evaluation of using waste water on heavy metal contents of soils Heavy metals in roadside soils of major streets in Jos under vegetable harare, Zimbabwe,". Agriculture, Metropolis., Nigeria Journal of Environmental Ecosystems and Environment, 107(2-3): 151-165.
- Utari, R. D., Masykuri, M., Rosariastuti, M. M. A. R. (2018). Enhancing Chromium Phytostabilization Using Chelator (Agrobacterium sp. I 26, and Manure) to Support Growth and Quality of Rice (Oryza sativa L.), 15(2), 83–92. https://doi.org/10.15608/stjssa.v15i1.20818
- VCI (2011). Copper history/Future, Van Commodities Inc. http://trade metal futures. Com / copper history. html.
- Victoria, A. O., Lajide, L. (2014). Surface Soil Pollution By Heavy Metals: A Case Study Of Two Refuse Dumpsites In Akure Metropolis". *Journal of Environment and Earth Science*. 2014, Vol 3, pp 1-12
- Victoria, A. O., Lajide, L. (2014). Surface Soil Pollution By Heavy Metals: A Case Study Of Two Refuse Dumpsites In Akure Metropolis. *Journal of Environment and Earth Science*. Vol 3, pp 1-12.
- Vijayaragavan, M., Prabhahar C., Sureshkumart, J., Nattarajan, A., Vijayarengan, P. (2011). Toxic effect of cadmium on seed germination. Growth and biochemical contents of cowpea. (vagna unguiculata I.) *Plants Int. multidiscipline res J.* 5. 01-06.

- Vodyanitskii, Y. N. (2013). Contamination of soils with heavy metals and metalloids and its ecological hazard (analytic review). *Eurasian Soil Sci* 46:793–801.
- Volpe, M., La Cara, F., Volpe, F., De Mattia, A., Serino, V., Petitto, F., Zavalloni, C., Limone, F., Pellecchia, R., De Prisco, P. (2009). *Heavy metal uptake in the* enological food chain. Food chem. 117(3):553-560.
- Voutsa, D., Grimanis, A., and Samara, C. (1996). Trace elements in vegetables grown in an industrial area in relation to soil and air particulate matter. *Environmental Pollution Series*, 94, 325-335.
- Vranova, V., Rejsek, K., Formanek, P. (2013). Aliphatic, cyclic, and aromatic organic acids, vitamins, and carbohydrates in soil: a review. *Scientific World Journal* 2013:1–15.
- Walkley, A., Black, I. A. (1934). An examination of the Degtjareff method for determining soil organic matter and a proposed modification of the chromic acid titration method. *Soil Sci.*, 37: 29-38.
- Wang, D. C., Jiang, X., Bian, Y. R., Gao, H. J., Jiao, W. T. (2004). Kinetic Characteristics of Cd2+ desorption in minerals and Soils under Simulated acid rain Huan Jing ke Xue 25; 117 -122.
- Wang, H. Y., Stuanes, A. O. (2003). Heavy metals pollution in air- water- soil- plant system of Zhuzhou city, human province, China. *Water Air Soil Pollute*, 147: 1-4.
- Ward, N.I. (1995). Environmental Analytical Chemistry. 1st Edn. In: Trace Elements, Blackie Academic and Professional, UK., pp: 320-328.
- Warner, G. J. (1993). Accumulation of cadmium in crop plants and its consequences to human health. *Adv. Agron.*, 51: 173-212.
- WHO (2007). Guidelines for assessment of quality for herbal medicines with references to contaminants and residues, WHO Library cataloguing- in- Publication data.
- WHO / FAO. (2001). Codex alimentarius commission. Food additives and contaminants. Joint FAO/WHO Food Standards Programme, ALINORM 10/12A. Retrieved fromwww.transpaktrading.com/static/pdf/research/ achemistry/introTofertilizers.pdf
- WHO/FAO. (1989). Report of 33rd meeting of Joint WHO/FAO Expect Committee on foods additives. Toxicological evaluation of certain foods additives and contaminants. No. 24, *International Program on Chemical Safety*, WHO, Geneva.
- WHO/FAO. (2009). Joint FAO/WHO Food Standard Programme Codex Alimentarius Commission 13th Session. Report of the Thirty Eight Session of the Codex Committee on Food Hygiene. Houston, TX, ALINORM 07/30/13.
- Wild, A. (1988). Plant nutrients in soil phosphate. Russell's soil conditions and plant growth. Vol. 11 pp 695-742.
- Wild, A. (1995). Soil and the Environment: An Introduction, Cambridge University press. 109165.
- Williams, L., Salt, D. E. (2009). The plant ionomer coming into focus, curr, Opin plant boil. 12, 247-249.
- Wodaje Addis and Alemayehu Abebaw (2017). Determination of heavy metal concentration in soils used for cultivation of Allium sativum L. (garlic) in East Gojjam
Zone, Amhara Region, Ethiopia. Addis & Abebaw, Cogent Chemistry 3: 1419422

- Woodbury, P. B. (2005). Municipal solid waste composting: Potential effects of heavy metals in municipal solid waste composts on plants and the environment. Available at: http://www.css cornell.edu/compost/mswfactsheets/msw.fs5.html.
- World Health Organisation (2005). Quality control methods for medicinal plants materials,
 - WHO, Geneva, Switzerland.
- World Health Organization (1998). Quality control methods for medicinal plants metarials,
- WHO, Geneva, Switzerland.
- Wu J, Teng Y, Lu S, Wang Y, and Jiao X. (2014). Evaluation of soil contamination indices in a mining area of Jiangxi, China, 9(11): 1-14.
- Wu, Q., Leung, J. Y. S., Geng, X., Chen, X., Sejun, C., Huang, X., Li, H., Huang, Z., Zhu, L., Chen, J., Lu, Y. (2015). Heavy metal contamination of soil and water in the vicinity of an abandoned e-waste recycling site: implications for dissemination of heavy metals.
- Wuana Raymond, A. and Okieimen, Felix, E. (2011). Heavy metals in contaminated soils: A review of sources, chemistry, risks and best available strategies for remediation. International scholarly research network ISRN ecology, volume 2011, article ID 402647, 20 pages doi: 10-5402/2011/402647.
- Wunzani, D. K., Dauda, M., Abdulrahman, F. W., Bawa, A., David, A. A. (2019). Assessment of physico-chemical properties of soil from the dumpsites of Kafanchan, Kaduna State, Nigeria. International Journal of Scientific Research and Engineering Development -Volume 2: Issue 2.
- Xiong, T.T., Leveque, T., Austruy, A., Goix, S., Schreck, E., Dappe, V., Sobanska, S., Foucault, Y., Dumat, C. (2014). Foliar uptake and metal(loid) bioaccessibility in vegetables exposed to particulate matter. *Environ. Geochem. Health* 36, 897-909.
- Yadav, K.K., Gupta, N., Kumar, A., Reece, L.M., Singh, N., Rezania, S.,Khan, S.A. (2018). Mechanistic understanding and holistic approach of phytoremediation: a review on application and future prospects. *Ecol. Eng.* 120, 274–298.
- Yan, Y., Gao, J., Wu, J., Li, B. (2014). Effects of inorganic and organic acids on heavy metals leaching in contaminated sediment. In: Sui W, Sun Y, Wang C (eds) An interdisciplinary response to mine water challenges. China University of Mining and Technology Press, Xuzhou.
- Yang, S., Zhou, D., Yu, H., Wei, R., Pan, B. (2013). Distribution and speciation of metals (Cu, Zn, Cd, and Pb) in agricultural and nonagricultural soils near a stream upriver from the Pearl River, China. *Environmental Pollution* 177: 64–70. DOI:10.1016/j. envpol.2013.01.044.
- Yap, D. W., Adezrian, J., Khairian, J., Ishmail, B. S, Ahmed- Mahir, R. (2009) The uptake of heavy metals by paddy Plants (Oryza Satira) in Kota Marudu Sabah, Malaysia. American- Eurasian J. Agric. Environ. Sci. 6; 16-19.

- Yashim, Z. I, Agbaji, E. B, Gimba, C. E and Idris, S. O. (2016). Mobility and bioavailability selected metals dumpsites in Zaria. Nigeria. Book of proceeding of the 12th chem class conference CSN ABU chapter.
- Yaylah-Abanuz, Gulten (2011). Heavy metal contamination of surface soil around Gebze industrial area, *Turkey. Micro Chemical Journal.*
- Yayra Benedicta, Fosu Mensah, Addai Emmanuel, Dzidzo Yirenya-Tawiah and Nyame Frank (2017). Heavy metals concentration and distribution in soils and vegetation at Korle Lagoon area in Accra, Ghana, Cogent Environmental Science, 3:1, 1405887.
- Yi, L., Hong, L. Y., Wang, D., Zhu, Y. (2007). Determination of free heavy metal ion concentrations in soils around a cadmium rich zinc deposit," *Geochemical Journal*, vol. 41, no. 4, pp. 235–240.
- Yongming, H., Peixuan, D., Junji, C., & Posmentier, E. (2006). Multivariate analysis of heavy metal contamination in urban dusts of Xi'an, Central China. Science of the Total Environment, 355(1–3), 176–186. doi:10.1016/j.scitotenv.2005.02.026
- Yongsheng, Q. (2008) Study on the influences of combined pollution of heavy metals Cu and Pb on soil respiration. J Anhui Agric Sci 36:1117–1128.
- Yoshida, M., Ahmed, S., Nebil, S., & Ahmed, G. (2002). Characterization of leachate from Henchir El Yahoidia close landfill. *Water Waste Environ. Res.*, 1, 129-142.
- Zahra A, Hashmi MZ, Malik RN, Ahmed Z. (2014). Enrichment and geoaccumulation of heavy metals and risk assessment of sediments of the Kurang Nallah feeding tributary of Rawal Lake, Pakistan. Science of the Total Environment 470-471: 925–933. DOI:10.1016/j. scitotenv.2013.10.017.
- Zaigham Hassan, Zubair Anwar, Khalid Usman Khattak, Mazhar Islam, Rizwan Ullah Khan , Jabar Zaman Khan Khattak (2012), "Civic Pollution and Its Effect on Water Quality of River Toi at District Kohat, NWFP", Research Journal of Environmental and Earth Sciences, vol 4, 5
- Zezza, A., Tasciotti, L. (2010). Urban agriculture, poverty, and food security: Empirical evidence from a sample of developing countries. *Food Policy* 35(4):265-273.
- Zhang, F.S., Yamasaki S., Nanzyo, M. (2002). Waste ashes for use in agricultural production: I. liming effect, contents of plant nutrients and chemical characteristics of some metals. *Science of the total Environment*, 284: 215–225.
- Zhang, L. P., Ye, X., Feng, H. (2007). Heavy metals contamination in Western Xiamen Bay sediments and its vicinity, china Marine pollution bulletin, 54: 974-982.
- Zhang, W., Jiang, F., Ou, J. (2011). Global pesticide consumption and pollution: with China as a focus. *Proc Int Acad Ecol Environ Sci* 1:125–144.
- Zhu, D., Asnani, P. U., Zurbrugg, C., Anapolsky, S., Mani, S. (2008). Improving solid waste management in India. A sourcebook for policy makers and practioners. The World bank. Washington D.C.
- Zoller, W. H., Gladnedy, E. S., Duce, R. A., (1974). Atmospheric concentrations and sources of trace metals at the South pole. Science 183: 198-20.
- Zonta, R., Zaggia, L., & Argese, E. (1994). Heavy metal and grain-size distribution in estuarine shallow water sediments of the Cona Marsh, Venice Lagoon, Italy.

University of Education, Winneba http://ir.uew.edu.gh

Sci. Total Environ., 151, 19-28. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/0048-9697(94)90482-0</u>.

Zou, Y., Ma, K. and Tian, M. (2015). Chemical composition and nutritive value of hot pepper seed (Capsicum annuum) grown in Northeast Region of China. *Food Sci. Techno., Campinas,* 35, 659-663.



University of Education, Winneba http://ir.uew.edu.gh

APPENDICES

APPENDIX A

UNIVERSITY OF EDUCATION

DEPARTMENT OF CROPS AND SOIL SCIENCE EDUCATION. DUMPSITES FARMERS' SOIL PHYSICOCHEMICAL KNOWLEDGE IN KYEREMFASO IN MAMPONG MUNICIPAL, SUAME AND AYEDUASE IN KUMASI METROPOLIS IN THE ASHANTI REGION, GHANA.

QUESTIONAIRE

BACKGROUND DATA

- 1. Sex: (a) Male (b) Female
- 2. Age

3. Religion: (a) Christian (b) Moslem (c) Traditionalist

- 4. Marital Status (a) Married (b) Single (c) Divorced (d) Widow (e) co-habiting / Separated
- 5. Educational Background (a) No School (b) Basic/Primary (c.) Middle School/JHS
- (d) Secondary School/SHS (e) Tertiary (f) Other (specify).....
- 6. As a farmer what kind of crop do you grow?
- 7. Have you farm / farming on a dumpsite soil? (a) Yes (b) No. If No move to number 9
- 8. Any knowledge about the soil you farm on (a) Yes (b) No. If No move to number 18
- 9. What scientific knowledge do you have (a) physical (b) chemical (c) biological
- 10. How does soil physical knowledge affect your crops.....
- 11. How does soil chemical knowledge affect your crops.....
- 12. How does soil biological knowledge affect your crops.....

13. Have you had any education on soil? (a) Yes (b) No. If No move to number 18

14. If yes, from who? (a) extension agent (b) N.G.O (c) media (d) other farmers

15. Have you taken your soil to an analytical laboratory before? (a) Yes (b) No. If No move to number 17

16. How was the results explained to you? (a) soil had high beneficial nutrient content (b) low nutrient content soil (c) traces of heavy metals were found

17. Who made the explanations clearer. (a) extension agent (b) research scientist (c) other farmer

18. How do you compare dumpsite soil to others.

19. Why do you prefer farming on dumpsite soils to others? (a) fertile soil (b) only available land

(c) relatively cheaper cost

20. Do you know plants take whatever is in the soil? (a) Yes (b) No. If No move to 21

21. Are you aware dumpsite soils contain toxic elements? (a) Yes (b) No. If No move to 23

22. If yes what kind of toxic elements are you familiar with?.....

23. Are you aware heavy metal contaminated plants can affect human and animals? (a) Yes

(b) No. If No move to 24

24. Has any member of your family complained of any ailment after eating dumpsite soil products? (a) Yes (b) No. If Yes move to 25

25. What kind of ailment was that? (a) cholera (b) Diarrhea (c) Respiratory disease (d) others specify....